
Contact:  Sarah Baxter 
Tel: 01270 686462
E-Mail:          sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Environment and Regeneration Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee

Agenda
Date: Monday, 16th March, 2020
Time: 10.00 am
Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making and 
Overview and Scrutiny meetings are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to 
the Council’s website

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. Minutes of the Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 6)

To give consideration to the minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2020.

3. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

4. Whipping Declarations  

To provide an opportunity for Members to declare the existence of a party whip in 
relation to any item on the agenda.

Public Document Pack

mailto:sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk


5. Public Speaking/Open Session  

A total period of 15 minutes is allocated for members of the public to make a 
statement(s) on any matter that falls within the remit of the Committee.
 
Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes, but the Chairman will 
decide how the period of time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned, where 
there are a number of speakers.

Note: In order for officers to undertake any background research, it would be helpful if 
members of the public contacted the Scrutiny officer listed at the foot of the agenda, 
at least one working day before the meeting to provide brief details of the matter to be 
covered. 

6. Call In of Cabinet Decision-CE19/20-17 Well Managed Highway Infrastructure  
(Pages 7 - 258)

To consider the above call in.

7. Environment Strategy and Carbon Action Plan  (Pages 259 - 392)

To consider the Environment Strategy and Carbon Action Plan.

8. Review of TSS Commissioning including Flexi-Link Service  (Pages 393 - 400)

To review the TSS Commissioning including Flexi-Link Service.

9. Performance Scorecard  (Pages 401 - 408)

To give consideration to the performance scorecard for quarter 3.

10. Forward Plan  (Pages 409 - 422)

To give consideration to the areas of the forward plan which fall within the remit of the 
Committee.

11. Work programme  (Pages 423 - 428)

To give consideration to the work programme.

Membership:  Councillors S Akers Smith, L Braithwaite, S Brookfield, J Buckley, T Dean, 
A Farrall, JP Findlow (Chairman), P Groves, M Hunter (Vice-Chairman), D Jefferay, 
C Leach and K Parkinson



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Environment and Regeneration Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

held on Monday, 10th February, 2020 at Council Chamber, Municipal 
Buildings, Earle Street, Crewe CW1 2BJ

PRESENT

Councillor JP Findlow (Chairman)
Councillor L Crane (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors S Akers Smith, S Brookfield, J Buckley, T Dean, A Farrall, 
P Groves, S Hogben, M Hunter, D Jefferay, C Leach and K Parkinson

In attendance

Councillor L Crane-Deputy Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste
Councillor N Mannion-Portfolio Holder for Environment and Regeneration
P Bayley-Director of Environment and Neighbourhood Services
F Jordan-Executive Director-Place
P Skates-Director of Growth & Enterprise

Prior to the start of the meeting the Chairman advised that there was a book of 
condolence in the reception of the municipal building for anyone to sign in 
respect of the death of Councillor B Roberts who had been the Portfolio 
Holder for Highways and Waste and a frequent attendee to the Environment 
and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings.

Further to this the Democratic Services Officer on behalf of the Monitoring 
Officer gave the following advice in respect of purdah:-

Members and officers were aware that there was to be a by-election for Crewe 
South Ward on 27 February 2020 and therefore the pre-election period known 
as purdah currently applied.  Given the items on the agenda, the officer 
reminded everyone that the pre-election publicity rules sought to prevent any 
perception that the Council’s facilities and resources had been used or 
designed to affect public support for a political party or candidate.

57 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor L Braithwaite.

58 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 January 2020 be approved as 
a correct record and signed by the Chairman subject to point (v) under 
agenda item 6 Economic Strategy being amended to read as follows:-

Public Document PackPage 3 Agenda Item 2



‘It was queried how, when the local plan strategy focused on numbers of 
dwellings rather than type of tenure, how the Council would influence 
tenure types as suggested in the economic strategy.’

And subject to the inclusion of the following point:-

‘The theme 12 objective was to deliver the Visitor Economic Strategy.  
However, the current Visitor Economic Strategy covered the period 2016 - 
2020 and therefore expired this year.  It was queried as to whether or not 
an update to the Visitor Economic Strategy was scheduled to be 
completed this year?’

(During consideration of the item, Councillor J Buckley arrived to the 
meeting).

59 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

60 WHIPPING DECLARATIONS 

No declarations of a party whip were received.

61 PUBLIC SPEAKING/OPEN SESSION 

Carol Jones attended the meeting and spoke in respect of matters relating 
to the health and safety of Crewe bus station.

In response the Director of Growth & Enterprise stated that he would 
address a number of issues raised by the speaker under item 6 on the 
agenda.

62 UPDATE ON TOWN CENTRE PLANS 

The Director of Growth & Enterprise attended the meeting and gave a 
presentation on Crewe and Macclesfield town centres and the market 
towns.

In respect of Crewe town centre there were concerns that the 
redevelopment of the bus station was not being undertaken at the same 
time as the Royal arcade development.  It was felt critical that given the 
current state of the bus station this was developed prior to work being 
undertaken on the town centre in order to encourage people into the town.  
Members felt strongly that the work on the bus station should take priority 
or at least be undertaken in conjunction with the redevelopment of the 
town centre and not after as was being proposed.  Further questions were 
asked in respect of whether or not Arriva had a responsibility to maintain 
the station to an acceptable level, when was the Development Agreement 
due to be signed, how the community and Town Council would be involved 

Page 4



in the development of ideas to make of the towns fund or other 
grants/funding and lack of a twilight economy and what was being done to 
address this and what provision was being made for people to cycle into 
the new development.

In respect of Macclesfield town centre Members asked questions in 
respect of the revitalisation of the butter market, old police station and 
Lower Chestergate, the situation regarding Commercial Road depot, how 
the divide between Churchill Way and Lower Chestergate would be 
addressed, plans for cycling connectivity between the town centre and 
Alderley park and the funding situation regarding Macclesfield.

The reference to cycling within the development was welcomed but 
clarification was also sought as to whether or not the Travel Model Plan 
would be revisited as part of the process.

In respect of the market towns Members felt there had been considerable 
focus on the towns of Crewe and Macclesfield and that it was important for 
the Council to address the notion of other market towns ‘feeling left behind’ 
with specific references being made to the towns of Congleton, Knutsford, 
Nantwich and Wilmslow.  Members outlined a number of issues which 
market towns were currently suffering from including problems with 
parking, the public realm, the condition of pavements and the number of 
vacant businesses.  In addition to this it was felt that Neighbourhood Plans 
should be taken into account when deciding which towns would be 
included within the first phase of the production of the town centre vitality 
plans as they provided in-depth detailed information and therefore should 
be used as a starting point.  

RESOLVED

That the update be noted.

(Prior to consideration of the following item, the meeting was adjourned for 
a short break).

63 CREWE HUB STATION UPDATE 

The Head of High Growth City attended the meeting and gave a 
presentation updating Members on the Crewe Hub.

Included within the presentation was information on the opportunities, the 
essential components, the hub station scheme, the business case, the 
funding and financial proposition and the next steps.

Members raised matters relating to the funding of the project, involvement 
of local MP’s, the design of the Crewe hub plaza, the Access Strategy, the 
linkages between the station and the town centre, anticipated numbers of 
jobs to be provided, the resources in place to deliver the project and 

Page 5



whether or not there would be representations from Active Travel on the 
Integrated Programme Board and Sponsor Board.

RESOLVED

That the update be noted.

(During consideration of the item Councillors S Brookfield and K Parkinson 
left the meeting and did not return).

64 FORWARD PLAN 

Consideration was given to the areas of the Forward Plan which fell within 
the remit of the Committee.

RESOLVED

That the Forward Plan be noted.

65 WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the work programme.

It was agreed that a report on the Vulnerable and Older Persons Housing 
Strategy 2020-2023 be included in the work programme for June.

RESOLVED

That the work programme be approved subject to the addition of the 
Vulnerable and Older Persons Housing Strategy 2020-2023.

The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 1.00 pm

Councillor JP Findlow (Chairman)

Page 6



OFFICIAL

Environment and Regeneration Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting: 16 March 2020

Report Title: Call-In of Cabinet Decision - Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure

Portfolio Holder: Highways and Waste

Senior Officer: Jan Bakewell, Director of Governance and Compliance

1. Report Summary

1.1This report sets out the procedure for the Call-in of the decision of Cabinet on 4 
February 2020.

2. Recommendations

2.1That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers whether or not it wishes to 
offer advice to the decision maker (Cabinet) in response to the Call In.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1A valid Call-In has been submitted and therefore stands referred to the 
Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
consideration.

4. Background

4.1In accordance with Scrutiny Procedure Rule 4.27 any 6 or more Councillors can 
call in a decision.  In this case, 9 Members have called in the above decision for 
the reasons identified in Appendix 1.

4.2In accordance with Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rule 4.32, the Committee 
has two options in respect of any further action.  The Committee may decide to 
offer no advice, in which case the decision may be implemented.  Alternatively, 
the Committee may decide to offer advice, in which case, the matter must be 
referred to the decision maker, in this case the Cabinet, in order for a decision to 
be made upon it.  In accordance with Scrutiny Procedure Rule 4.34, the decision 
maker is not bound to accept any advice offered to it and will have sole 
discretion on any further action to be taken.  Such action may include:

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



OFFICIAL

(1) Confirming with or without amendment the original decision; or
(2) Deferring the matter pending further consideration; or
(3) Making a different decision.

4.3 Where the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to offer advice, this 
must be clearly documented in the minutes.

4.4 If the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides not to offer any advice, then 
the decision of the Cabinet can be implemented immediately. 

4.5 Full details of the Call-In Procedure can be found at Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules 4.25 to 4.38.

4.6 The Cabinet Member and relevant officers will attend the meeting to explain 
the background and reasons for the decision and to answer any questions the 
Committee may have. The Cabinet report of 4 February is attached at 
Appendix 2.

4.7 The response to the issues raised in the Call-In notice is attached at Appendix 
3.

4.8 The following records the decision of the Cabinet of 4 February 2020:

‘RESOLVED – That

‘That Cabinet

1. approves the adoption of the Resilient Network Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections; 

2. approves the adoption of the Highway Safety Inspection Policy 2020, Code of 
Practice for Highway Safety Inspections 2020, the Winter & Adverse Weather 
Policy 2020, Adverse Weather Plan 2020/21 and the Cheshire East Highways 
Resilient Network 2020; and

3. delegates authority to the Director of Highways and Infrastructure in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste to make minor operational 
changes to the Highway Safety Inspection Policy, Code of Practice for Highway 
Safety Inspections, the Winter & Adverse Weather Policy, Adverse Weather Plan 
and the Cheshire East Highways Resilient Network Strategy from time to time 
and as appropriate’.

5. Implications of the Recommendations

Page 8



OFFICIAL

5.1 Legal Implications

5.1.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

5.2.Finance Implications

5.2.1. Owing to the call in procedure, the council will not be able to implement 
the proposed changes for the winter period 2020/21.  The potential impact 
of this is a pressure of £230,000 within the place directorate.  The place 
directorate will therefore need to mitigate this by finding one – off savings in 
the 2020/21 financial year.

5.3.Policy Implications

5.3.1.  Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

5.4.Equality Implications

5.4.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

5.5.Human Resources Implications

5.5.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

5.6.Risk Management Implications

5.6.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

5.7.Rural Communities Implications

5.7.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

5.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children

5.8.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

5.9.Public Health Implications

5.9.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

5.10. Climate Change Implications

5.10.1 Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

6. Ward Members Affected

6.1.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

7. Consultation & Engagement

7.1.1. Contained within the attached Cabinet report.

Page 9



OFFICIAL

8. Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Call-In notice

Appendix 2 – Cabinet Report 4 February 2020

Appendix 3 – Response to the issues raised in a Call-In notice

9. Access to Information 

9.1 The background papers relating to this report and be inspected by contacting the 
report writer.

10.Contact Information

10.1 Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following officer:

Name: Sarah Baxter

Job Title: Democratic Services Officer

Email: sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 10

mailto:sarah.baxter@cheshireeast.gov.uk


Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



APPENDIX TWO

OFFICIAL

                                                                                        

Key Decision: Y

Date First Published:  
16/08/19

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 4th February 2020

Report Title: Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Brian Roberts – Highways and Waste

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan - Executive Director Place 

1. Report Summary

1.1. The national guidance to which the Council aligns its highway policies and 
operational procedures has been updated by the release of the ‘Well-
Managed Highway Infrastructure Code of Practice’ (WMHI).

1.2. Alignment of the key policies outlined in this report with the 
recommendations of WMHI will see actionable ‘pothole’ defects identified for 
treatment at a shallower depth, particularly reducing risk to cyclists and 
pedestrians. The introduction of these policies will see the better allocation of 
resource to address winter issues.

1.3. This report seeks approval from Cabinet to adopt changes to the following 
policies and plans to ensure that they align with this national code of 
practice.

1.3.1. Highway Safety Inspection Policy

1.3.2. Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections

1.3.3. Winter and Adverse Weather Policy

1.3.4. Adverse Weather Plan 

1.3.5. Cheshire East Highway Resilient Network Strategy

1.4. Approval to these changes would enable the Council to fulfil its key statutory 
duties in keeping the highway network safe for all road users.

Page 15



OFFICIAL

1.5. The Appendices referred to throughout this report are available on the 
Cabinet agenda web page.

2. Recommendations

That Cabinet

2.1. Approve the adoption of the Resilient Network Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections.

2.2. Approve the adoption of the Highway Safety Inspection Policy 2020, Code of 
Practice for Highway Safety Inspections 2020, the Winter & Adverse 
Weather Policy 2020, Adverse Weather Plan 2020/21 and the Cheshire East 
Highways Resilient Network 2020.

2.3. Delegate authority to the Director of Highways and Infrastructure in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste to make minor 
operational changes to the Highway Safety Inspection Policy, Code of 
Practice for Highway Safety Inspections, the Winter & Adverse Weather 
Policy, Adverse Weather Plan and the Cheshire East Highways Resilient 
Network Strategy from time to time and as appropriate.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. The guidance ‘ WMHI was commissioned by the Department for Transport 
(DfT).   It is not a statutory requirement to comply with this Code; however, it 
is recommended that the Code is adopted into the Council’s practice for the 
following reasons:

3.2. The guidance has been identified by the DfT as being best Practice and is 
seen as a more efficient way to prioritise the highway network for all highway 
users.

3.3. The DfT have made it clear that future maintenance funding through the 
Local Highway Maintenance Incentive Fund will be linked to compliance with 
this new Code.  Under the banding system used to allocate the incentive 
funding, Band 1 councils receive no funding and Band 2 councils recieve 
only 30%.   At present  Cheshire East are a Band 3 council and receive the 
full funding allocation of £1.751m. 

3.4. Under the Highway Service Contract the contractor is responsible for the 
management of all aspects of third party claims and indemnifies the Council 
against all third party claims that arise out of a failure to provide a service. As 
such, the failure to maintain an up to date Policy in line with the new Code 
could leave the Council liable.

Page 16



OFFICIAL

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. The Council could opt to continue with its current systems for inspections 
and winter maintenance. However, they do not fully address the risk 
management approach outlined in the revised Code of Practice. 

4.2. The Department for Transport have expressed a desire to tie elements of 
future funding to the implementation of the recommendations of The Code. 
Failure to adopt the recommendations would likely result in a reduction in 
funding from Central Government.  

5. Background

5.1. The documents which form the basis of this report represent the first of the 
highway service policies and procedures to be reviewed in light of WMHI. 
The remaining highway service documents are to be reviewed as part of a 
rolling programme.

5.2. In 2016 under the direction of the Department for Transport, the UK Roads 
Liaison Group replaced the highway management guidance document, Well 
Maintained Highways with Well Managed Highway Infrastructure.

5.3. The revision of national guidance documents has resulted in the Council 
undertaking a root and branch examination of the policies and processes that 
it uses to manage the network.  

5.4. The review identified a number of areas where changes are required to 
ensure best practice is being delivered. The documents reviewed under this 
cabinet report cover winter service, highway safety inspections and the 
resilient highway network.

Network Hierarchy

5.5. The Code recommends the development of a Network Hierarchy in order to 
prioritise areas of the network in accordance with their expected use, 
resilience and local economic and social factors such as industry, schools, 
hospitals etc. The approach recommended in The Code looks to move away 
from the traditional prioritisation of the network by road classification i.e. A, B 
and C etc. The proposed Network Hierarchy can be found in Appendix 2.

5.6. Under the proposed approach, in order to better manage risk, the travelling 
public will notice busier parts of the highway network receiving greater 
priority.

5.7. The proposed approach will be reviewed regularly to consider additions to 
the network such as Congleton Bypass. The addition of new roads will 
change driver behaviour and as such will amend the Network Hierarchy. The 

Page 17



OFFICIAL

proposed approach will also help pave the way for new technologies which 
will help to deliver a better understanding of highway usage and user needs.

5.8. Under the proposed approach, the greatest priority in the Network Hierarchy 
is afforded to the Resilient Network.

Resilient Network

5.9. Following the severe weather of 2013/14 the Government commissioned the 
Transport Resilience Review which was published in July 2014. A key finding 
of the review was the need for local councils to identify a resilient network to 
which they give priority, in order to maintain economic activity in times of 
extreme weather or during disruptive events.

5.10. Currently the Council delivers a Resilient Network in line with the current 
Adverse Weather Plan. This has been reviewed and revised in light of the 
new Code. The proposed roads shown in Table 1 have been identified as 
forming an appropriate Resilient Network:

CEC Roads Identified for Resilience
A34 A5020 A530 A538
A49 A5024 A532 A54
A50 A5033 A533 A555

A500 A51 A534 A556
A5015 A523 A536 A6

A5016 A525 A537

Table 1 – Proposed Resilient Network

5.11. A Resilient Network map together with the Resilient Network Strategy can be 
found in Appendix 3.

5.12. The proposed Resilient Network consists of the most important routes in the 
Borough in terms of connectivity and accessibility and also includes the 
roads used by Highways England as Emergency Diversion Routes and 
Advanced Diversion Routes.

5.13. The Resilient Network will be regularly reviewed to identify areas for 
inclusion or removal as the Network Hierarchy evolves over time.

Highway Safety Inspection Code of Practice and Policy

5.14. The proposed Network Hierarchy seeks to amend the current safety 
inspection frequencies in order to better address risk. When considering 
appropriate inspection frequencies of the Network Hierarchy, two options 
have been considered:

Page 18



OFFICIAL

5.14.1. Option 1: A Minimal Change Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections: This approach proposes the network prioritisation shown 
in Appendix 4 and is broadly comparable to the system currently 
operated under the guidance offered in Well Maintained Highways.

5.14.2. Option 2: A Resilient Network Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections: This approach, detailed in Appendix 4, looks to prioritise 
resources on the network in terms of risk and importance. With Special 
Interest Areas (high footfall areas) and the Resilient Network receiving 
the greatest number of safety inspections.

5.15. The proposed approach would see 843km of the most heavily trafficked 
roads in the Borough receive an increase in inspection frequency and 
516km of lesser used routes receiving a lower inspection frequency. Under 
the proposals, the most important roads in the Borough would receive 
inspections every month, whereas under the existing arrangements this is 
undertaken every two months. The Resilient Network Approach better 
aligns with the inspection regimes of our neighbouring authorities, a key 
requirement of the new Code.

5.16. It is recommended that the Resilient Network Approach is adopted as this 
aligns closely to the recommendations in The Code and will help to mitigate 
risk on the network.

5.17. Under the proposed approach, in some low risk areas it may take longer for 
the Council to identify defects; however, members of the public will still be 
able to report defects that they come across on the highway network, either 
through the contact centre or the Council’s online reporting tool.

Response Times and Investigatory Levels

5.18. The proposed approach sees a revision to the response times to the repair 
of defects. The current code of practice, aims to address the most 
dangerous actionable defects within 1.5 hours and less dangerous 
actionable defects within 5 days. The proposed code of practice aims to 
address emergency defects in 1 hour during the working day and 1.5 hours 
outside of working hours; however, defects that pose a lesser risk to the 
traveling public will be repaired between 2 and 20 working days from the 
point of identification by an inspector. Some defects may be identified to be 
rectified beyond this if they are covered as part of a programme of works 
depending on the risks. This will primarily be through larger patching 
schemes.

5.19. The move to this new way of working will mean that works will be able to be 
programmed with greater efficiency and planning meaning more permanent 
long term repairs can be delivered.  This should, with adequate 
maintenance funding, reduce the number of defects on the network.

Page 19



OFFICIAL

5.20. The proposed approach would see intervention levels revised to 
investigatory levels. Under the current approach defects are actioned at the 
specific intervention level.  Under the proposed approach defects are risk 
assessed at the investigatory level to determine the risk they pose to the 
public. Table 2 shows the proposed investigatory levels.

Defect

Intervention Level 
under the Current 
Policy and Code 

Investigatory 
Level Under the 
Proposed Policy 
and Code

Pothole 50mm 40mm
Localised 
carriageway edge 
deterioration 100mm 80mm
Footway/Cycleway 
defect 25mm 20mm
On carriageway 
marked cycle lane 
defect 50mm 20mm
Table 2- Comparison of intervention and investigatory levels

5.21. The proposed use of investigatory levels should see individual actionable 
defects on the carriageway for a reduced amount of time and this would 
reduce the level of risk to the travelling public.  In addition, the reduced 
investigatory levels should reduce the amount of unseen long term damage a 
defect inflicts upon the asset.

5.22. Approval of the proposed approach to Highway Safety Inspections would see 
the new way of working implemented by June 2020.

5.23. Details of the proposed Highway Safety Inspection Policy and Highway Safety 
Inspection Code of Practice can be found in Appendix 5.

The Winter and Adverse Weather Policy and Plan

5.24. Currently the winter service is delivered in accordance with Well Maintained 
Highways. The routes treated date back to the days of Cheshire County 
Council. 

5.25. At present, the Council treats around 1120km of the 2700km network  (41%). 

5.26. The Council also engages in cross boundary agreements where roads in 
other council’s areas are treated in return for the treatment of roads in 
Cheshire East.  These agreements are undertaken to deliver route 
efficiencies.  The Council presently treats 58km of other councils’ roads with 
19km of the CEC network treated in return.  Under the WMHI winter route 
optimisation exercise, these cross boundary routes will be reviewed and 
dialog has begun with the neighbouring authorities to discuss these changes. 

Page 20



OFFICIAL

5.27. The Code recommends that ‘local policies and service levels should be 
developed as far as reasonably possible with users and key stakeholders 
and should also be based on a risk assessment to define the scope of the 
service’.

5.28. The proposed winter treatment network has been developed using a risk 
based process to take into consideration local risk factors including usage, 
local amenities, vulnerable users, public transport and local risks such as 
steep gradients, cold spots and other known local issues.

5.29. Each section of highway within the Borough has been risk assessed in line 
with the risk assessment pro-forma which can be made available upon 
request.

5.30. This approach ensures a uniform and consistent approach across the 
network. 

5.31. As a result of the risk assessment process, 995km out of 2700km (37%) of 
the highway network has been identified as requiring routine winter 
treatment.

5.32. The proposed approach sees 103km of previously untreated roads added to 
the network.  892 km of previously treated roads remaining on the network 
and 230km of previously treated roads removed from the treated network.

5.33. Under the proposed approach the Council will retain the services of farm 
contractors, who in times of more extreme weather may be utilised to 
undertake winter maintenance to specific routes in the high east of the 
Borough.

5.34. The proposed approach to winter service will require a route optimisation 
exercise to ensure that the roads identified for treatment are included on 
driver routes that minimise vehicle mileage.  It is likely that the route 
optimisation exercise will see a small number of roads added to the treated 
network to aid operational efficiency.

5.35. In addition, a grit bin risk assessment has been developed to assess the 
suitability of locations with regards to the siting of grit bins.  This will help to 
provide communities with self help resources. A copy of the grit bin 
assessment form is available upon request.

5.36. Where roads have been removed from the treated network, a grit bin risk 
assessment will be undertaken to ascertain if a grit bin is required. Under the 
criteria of the grit bin risk assessment process these roads will receive an 
extra weighting due to the loss of service. 

5.37. All existing grit bins will be assessed against the proposed grit bin risk 
assessment form to ascertain whether they should be on the network.

Page 21



OFFICIAL

5.38. Approval of the proposed approach to winter service would see the new way 
of working implemented for the 2020/21 winter season.

5.39. Details of the proposed Winter and Adverse Weather Policy and Winter and 
Adverse Weather Plan along with the proposed treatment maps can be 
found in Appendix 6.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1.   Legal Implications

6.1.1. The recommendations of The Code are not statutory but provide highway 
authorities with guidance on highways management. Adoption of the 
recommendations within The Code is a matter for each highway authority, 
based on their own interpretation of local risks, needs and priorities. The 
Highways Act 1980 covers the legal elements of the management and 
operation of the road network within England and Wales and as such sets 
out the statutory duties of highway authorities. This includes the 
identification and rectification of defects and the provision of winter and 
adverse weather services. Further duties that the Highway Authority must 
address are covered under The Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003 
and the Traffic Management Act 2004.

The implementation of a new way of working which is in accordance with 
WMHI should strengthen the Council’s defence against third party claims 
under Section 58 Highways Act and would enable the Council to 
demonstrate that it is meeting its obligations relating to winter service under 
Section 41(1A) of the Highways Act 1980 (as amended by Section 111 of 
the Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003).  

6.2.   Finance Implications

6.2.1. The proposed approach to Highway Safety Inspections will see an increase 
in costs to cover the additional Safety Inspector and Driver/Inspector and 
the increase in defect repairs. 

6.2.2. The proposed increase in service levels in the Highway Safety Inspection 
Service Area will be offset by the savings generated by the proposed 
changes to the winter service.

6.2.3.  The new approach to comply with The Code is therefore expected to be 
cost neutral within the highway budget.

6.3.   Policy Implications

6.3.1. In order to comply with the recommendations outlined in The Code, the 
Council’s Highway Safety Inspection Policy and associated Code of 
Practice for Highway Safety Inspections and Winter & Adverse Weather 

Page 22



OFFICIAL

Policy and associated Adverse Weather Plan have required updating. In 
addition a Resilient Network Strategy has been developed.

6.3.2. The above mentioned documents have been updated to adopt a new 
approach to the management of the highways asset that is risk focused and 
enables prioritisation of resource to address risks.

6.3.3.  The reviewed approach to delivering highway services will help the Council 
to deliver the outcomes detailed in the 2017 - 2020 Corporate Plan, 
specifically Outcome 2 ‘Cheshire East has a strong and resilient economy’, 
Outcome 4 ‘Cheshire East is a green & sustainable place’ and Outcome 6 
‘A responsible, effective & efficient organisation’. Furthermore, the 
approach aligns with our Corporate Values of flexibility, innovation, 
responsibility, service and teamwork.

6.3.4. The adoption of the recommendations in this report will further help to 
deliver the aspirations of the Local Transport Plan (LTP).  

6.3.5. Adoption of the proposed approaches would see an annual review of the 
Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections, Winter & Adverse 
Weather Plan and Resilient Network Strategy to ensure a dynamic 
approach to the evolution of the highway network.

6.4.   Equality Implications

6.4.1. An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and can be found in 
Appendix 7.

6.5.   Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. The proposed increase in the frequency of inspection would increase 
staffing within our Highway Service delivery partner, Ringway Jacobs. This 
would include the need for 1 additional Highway Safety Inspector and 1 
additional Driver/Inspector.  An initial increase in defect repairs would 
require a corresponding increase in operational staff to deliver the works. 

6.5.2. Some further training will be required for highways staff in order to 
implement the new way of working.

6.5.3. For the winter service, the number of drivers required is anticipated to 
reduce by between 6 and 12, some of these drivers are sourced through 
supply chain partners who deliver the service as an additional duty, hence 
this will not result in redundancies. 

6.6.   Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. The approach to safety inspections may see some defects existing on 
lesser used roads for a longer length of time after identification. However 
the move to a 40mm investigation level from the current 50mm intervention 

Page 23



OFFICIAL

level is likely to mitigate this and should reduce the overall risk to the 
travelling public.

6.6.2. The approach to winter service has seen the removal of some roads from 
the winter treatment routes and the addition of others, this has been 
undertaken in accordance with the guidance provided in The Code and thus 
has seen a risk based approach to the inclusion of roads to the treated 
network.

6.6.3. The removal of some roads from the winter treatment network could 
increase the risk of accidents on the network; however, the risk assessment 
process adopted should mean this is a manageable risk.

6.6.4. The application of road salt to a highway doesn’t give an absolute 
guarantee that the road will remain free from ice and as such drivers should 
still drive to the weather conditions.

6.6.5. The reduction in winter fleet drivers is likely to result in less driver resilience 
during times of extreme weather. 

6.6.6. A risk matrix relating to this report can be found in Appendix 8.

6.7.   Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. 57% of the Cheshire East highway network is classed as rural serving over 
half of our population. The rural highway network is vital to the economy of 
the Borough.

6.7.2. The risk based approach to highway maintenance sees resources 
prioritised by road usage, risk and nature of the network and as such lesser 
used low risk routes may receive lower prioritisation than busier high risk 
main routes.

6.7.3. The removal of some of the rural roads may make access to some rural 
businesses and communities difficult during snow and icing conditions; 
however, the proposed assessment of the removed roads for a grit bin 
could help to mitigate this.

6.8.   Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. The new way of working considers levels of service where facilities serving 
children and young people are located.

6.9.  Public Health Implications

6.9.1. The new code of practice considers key infrastructure needs to promote 
sustainable modes of travel.

6.9.2. The new proposals also consider the LTP and as such look to reduce risks 
to walkers and cyclists and as such should reduce the risk of trips and falls. 

Page 24



OFFICIAL

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. The suggested approach to WMHI could reduce the climate impact of the 
service area by helping the Council implement longer lasting highway 
repairs and hence use less construction materials.

6.10.2. A further climate impact reduction could be achieved as a result of reducing 
the amount of salt spread on the highway and the distances travelled by the 
gritting fleet.

6.11. Ward Members Affected

6.11.1.  All wards and all ward members are affected by the implications of The 
Code.

7. Consultation & Engagement

7.1. The approach to The Code has been discussed with the Environment and 
Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 18/06/18, 15/10/18, 
15/07/19 and 21/01/20. 

7.2. From 2nd July to 27th August 2018 Cheshire East Council consulted on a 
number of draft policies in relation to Highway Safety Inspections and Winter 
Service activities. Respondents were provided with a summary of the five 
documents listed below:

 Draft Highways Inspection Policy
 Draft Code of Practice for Highways Safety Inspections
 Examples of the Old and New Inspection Process
 Draft Winter and Adverse Weather Policy
 Winter and Adverse Weather Plan Consultation 2018

7.3. The approach to community engagement was guided by the Council’s 
Research and Consultation Team.

7.4. The details of the consultees can be found in Appendix 9.

7.5. The Well Managed Highways consultation was advertised through the 
Cheshire East Council website and through social media, paper copies were 
made available at all Cheshire East libraries and at key contact centres.

7.6. The consultation was pushed through social media and was pushed to 3583 
Twitter accounts. The Council retweeted the consultation four times. 

7.7. In total, 93 responses were received from a variety of interested parties 
including local residents, town/parish Councillors and voluntary/community 

Page 25



OFFICIAL

organisations. A report on the public consultation can be found in Appendix 
10.

7.8. As a result of the consultation with Environment Regeneration and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee and the public consultation. The following amendments 
were made to the documents and proposed ways of working:

Highway Inspection Code of Practice and Policy 

7.9. Further consideration was given to cyclists and motorcyclist, and 
investigatory levels in on carriageway cycle lanes were revised from 40mm 
to 20mm.

Winter and Adverse Weather Plan

7.10. More information was added to the document around self-help.

7.11. A scoring factor was added to the risk assessment process to consider the 
National Cycle Network.

7.12. Consideration is being given to the way the Council communicate during 
weather events.

Resilient Highway Network

7.13. An additional consultation was carried out with regards to the Resilient 
Network. Details of the consulted stakeholders can be found in Appendix 9.

7.14. A limited response to the Resilient Network consultation was received, with 
only 3 responses received through the consultation web page. However, 
further to a meeting held with the Lead Emergency Planning Officer 
comments were received from the emergency services. 

7.15. Comments were also received from Highways England and as a result their 
emergency and planned diversion routes were added to the Resilient 
Network. 

Area Highway Groups

7.16. At the Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Comittee on 
15/07/19 it was agreed that the proposed winter treatment network should be 
consulted on with the Area Highway Groups (AHG). As a result over the 
summer and early autumn each AHG was visited and given opportunity to 
comment on the roads that are proposed to be gritted in their areas.  The 
AHGs suggested roads which they felt should be included on the treated 
network.  The roads highlighted had the risk assessment process repeated 
and in some instances roads were added in. Details of these roads can be 
found in Appendix 11.

Page 26



OFFICIAL

7.17. Following on from the AHGs a further update regarding the AHG comments 
was presented to Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 20/01/20.

8. Access to Information

8.1.  All supporting documents to this report can be found in the Appendices. 

8.2. List of Appendices:

Appendix 1 – Legislation, Guidance and Local Documents
Appendix 2 - Proposed Network Hierarchy
Appendix 3 - Resilient Network Strategy and Map
Appendix 4 - Inspection Frequency Options
Appendix 5 - Highway Safety Inspection Policy and Code of Practice
Appendix 6 - Winter and Adverse Weather Policy and Plan
Appendix 7 - Equality Impact Assessment
Appendix 8 – Risk Register
Appendix 9 - Public Consultation Consultee List
Appendix 10- Well Managed Highway Infrastructure –Summary of Results
Appendix 11 - Area Highway Group Comments

All appendices are available electronically by contacting Matthew Davenhill 
via: Matthew.Davenhill@cheshireeast.gov.uk or on the cabinet agenda 
webpage.

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name:   Matthew Davenhill

Job Title: Contract Asset Manager 

Email:    matthew.davenhill@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 27

mailto:Matthew.Davenhill@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.davenhill@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

Well Managed Highway Infrastructure Appendix 1 –

Legislation, Guidance and Local Documents

Page 29



OFFICIAL

Hierarchy of Legislation, Guidance and Local Documents

Page 30



Well Managed Highway Infrastructure Appendix 2 - 

Proposed Network Hierarchy 

Page 31



Category Criteria

Resilient 
Network

The most strategic roads within the Borough which are 
nationally and locally strategic.

Strategic 
Routes

Trunk and some Principal 'A' class roads between 
Primary Destinations, Routes for fast moving long 
distance traffic with little frontage access or pedestrian 
traffic. Speed limits are usually in excess of 40 mph 
and there are few junctions.

Main 
Distributors

Routes between Strategic Routes and linking urban 
centres to the strategic network with limited frontage 
access.

Secondary 
Distributors

B and C class roads and some unclassified urban 
routes carrying bus. In residential and other built up 
areas these roads have 20 or 30 mph speed limits and 
very high levels of pedestrian activity with some 
crossing facilities including zebra crossings.

Link Roads

Roads linking between the Main and Secondary 
Distributor Network with frontage access and frequent 
junctions. In urban areas these are residential or 
industrial interconnecting roads with 20 or 30 mph 
speed limits, random pedestrian movements and 
uncontrolled parking. In rural areas these roads link the 
smaller villages to the distributor roads.

Local Access 
Roads

Roads serving limited numbers of properties carrying 
only access traffic. In rural areas these roads serve 
small settlements and provide access to individual 
properties and land. They are often only single lane 
width and unsuitable for HGVs. In urban areas they are 
often residential loop roads or cul-de-sacs.

Page 32



1

Cheshire East Highways Resilient Network
2020

Page 33



2

Contents

Contents..................................................................................................................................2

1. Introduction .........................................................................................................................3

2. Methodology .......................................................................................................................3

3. Stakeholder Engagement ...................................................................................................4

4 Conclusion ...........................................................................................................................5

5. Reference ...........................................................................................................................5

6. Appendices .........................................................................................................................5

Revision Date Status
1 February 2019 Draft
2 Draft

Page 34



3

1. Introduction

1.1 In 2014 the Department for Transport (DfT) released the Transport Resilience Review as a 
result of the extreme weather experienced in the winter of 2013/14. The review assessed the 
resilience of all major modes of transport to extreme weather. The review made key 
recommendations aimed at improving the resilience of the UK’s transport systems. The 
importance of these findings within the review has been reinforced by the inclusion of the 
Resilient Highway Network into the DfT Highways Maintenance Funding Incentive Self-
Assessment Questionnaire.

1.2 The report recommended that Local Highway Authorities review their current resilient network 
in order to prioritise and identify resilience activities on more critical parts of the highway 
network which they maintain, with plans in place for the management of events including 
exceptional heat, industrial action, major incidents and other local risks. 

1.3 Cheshire East Highways is responsible for 2700km of Carriageways, 1900km of Footways, 
1700 highways structures and an array of other network infrastructure which is critical on a 
national, regional and local level.

1.4 The Cheshire East Emergency Response Plan links to the Highways Infrastructure Asset 
Management Plan (HIAMP) by identifying the critical network, which can then be utilised for 
maintenance prioritisation.

1.5 The Cheshire East Resilient Highway Network has been reviewed and refreshed as part of the 
Well Managed Highway Infrastructure review. The Cheshire East Resilient Highway Network 
forms the highest priority tier within the Network Hierarchy.

2. Methodology

2.1 The process for developing the Resilient Network followed the recommendations of the 2014 
Transport Resilience Review.

 2.2 Good asset management practice requires a Maintenance Hierarchy to be established to 
support the creation of levels of service and to aid the coordination and regulation of the 
occupation of the highway network when works are required. In 2016 the Code of Practice for 
Well-Managed Highway infrastructure reinforced the importance of a network hierarchy as a 
foundation of a risk-based maintenance strategy. 

It is important that the hierarchy adopted reflects the needs, priorities and actual use of each 
road in the network and plays a key role in a number of Cheshire East activities and services 
including the resilient network.

2.3 In determining the critical points on the network, the following areas were factored in 
maintaining economic activity:

 Access to main towns within the Borough and also outside Cheshire East using the principal 
and trunk road network.

 Access to town centres in the main towns.
 Access to principal employment areas.
 Access to key services.

2.4 The Primary and Winter Route Networks are the basis of the new Cheshire East Resilient 
Highway Network.  Certain elements of the Primary Route Network have been replaced in the 
Cheshire East Resilient Network by more locally critical routes. 

Page 35



4

2.5 Working with partner organisations, further work will be undertaken as part of future reviews to 
determine additional critical routes that may develop as the network evolves, with particular 
attention paid to the routes with little or no alternative.

2.6 Key asset locations have been received through consultation with emergency services, partner 
organisations and neighbouring authorities. 

2.7 Highways England manages the motorway and major trunk road network running through 
Cheshire East. Cheshire East Council’s highway network and that which is managed by 
Highways England are very much interwoven with regards to resilience. Highways England 
has provided strategic diversion routes which have been included in the Cheshire East 
resilient network.

2.8 The Major Road Network (MRN) is a proposed classification of local authority roads in 
England. The creation of the MRN consists of the most strategic local routes in England and 
the more major local authority controlled A roads. These are defined through a combination of 
quantitative and qualitative analysis in line with the Rees Jeffreys Road Fund report, which first 
proposed the concept of an MRN. These routes have been considered and included in the 
Cheshire East resilient network where necessary .

2.9 Cheshire East Highways Resilient Network was therefore developed in line with the above and 
is included in Appendix A. 

2.10 As a minimum the Cheshire East Resilient Highway Network will be reviewed biennially or 
after a major event in collaboration with partner organisations and neighbouring authorities.

 

3. Stakeholder Engagement

3.1 In 2018, consultation on the proposed resilient network was distributed to the following 
interested parties for feedback:

 Local transport operators
 Neighbouring authorities (including Highways England)
 The emergency services
 Transport for the North
 The Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)
 The local Chamber of Trade
 Manchester Airport
 Network Rail
 Local bus operators
 The Road Haulage Association

3.3 The Resilient Network was adjusted as a result of the consultation to take into consideration 
the feedback received from interested parties. The feedback played a predominant part in 
identifying the critical routes of the Borough. 

3.4 The network was drafted in co-ordination with the Cheshire Emergency Planning Team and 
the Cheshire East Major Emergency Response Plan.

Page 36



5

4 Conclusion

4.1 By identifying the Resilient Network, Cheshire East Council will be able to prioritise investment 
to ensure critical routes are protected and identify options for early interventions that will 
minimise disruption to the network and ensure resilience in extreme weather events. The 
network will be reviewed periodically to ensure that it is still relevant.

5. Reference

5.1 Reference material:

 Cheshire East Adverse Weather Plan
 Cheshire East Major Emergency Response Plan
 Cheshire East Council Highway Safety Inspections CoP
 Well Managed Highway Infrastructure CoP
 Cheshire East Council Local Transport Plan
 Cheshire East Winter Service Policy 
 DfT Transport Resilience Review
 DfT Highways Maintenance Incentive Funding Self-Assessment Questionnaire
 Consultation Strategy

6. Appendices

6.1 Road names of the Cheshire East Resilient Network

6.2 Cheshire East Resilient Network 2019

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Cheshire East Resilient Network Motorway
Resilient Network

Key

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Well Managed Highway Infrastructure Appendix 4 - 

Inspection Frequency Options

Page 41



Network 
Hierarchy km

New Inspections Freq 
per Year Total

Special Interests 15 12 185.99
Strategic Route 285 6 1708.97
Main Distributor 158 6 945.65
Secondary 
Distributor 872 3 2616.41
Link Roads 707 3 2121.51
Link Footways 101 3 307.98
Local Access 
Road Risk 80 3 233.19
Local Access 
Road 613 2 1230.60
Local Footways 28 2 53.34

Total 9404
Option One: A Minimal Change Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections 

Network  Hierarchy km
New Inspections Freq 
per Year Total

Special Interests 15 12 185.99
Resilient Network 311 12 3731
Strategic Route 43 6 258
Main Distributor 91 6 546
Secondary Distributor 870 3 2610
Link Roads 707 3 2121.5
Link Footways 101 3 307.98
Local Access Road 
Risk 80 3 233.19
Local Access Road 613 2 1230.6
Local Footways 28 2 53.34

Total 11278
Option Two: The Resilient Network Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections

Page 42



Final Draft October 2019

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTION POLICY 2020

Page 43



Final Draft October 2019

Policy: Highway Safety Inspections

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Statutory responsibility

The statutory basis for carrying out highways safety inspections is Section 41 of The 
Highways Act 1980 (The Act), which imposes a duty on the highway authority to 
maintain the highway.  In addition, Section 58 of The Act also provides the special 
defence in action against a highway authority for damages for non-repair of the 
highway. If the authority can demonstrate that it has taken all reasonable steps to 
keep the highway secure and free from danger, then any civil claim for damages can 
potentially be defended. Such reasonable steps would include the council’s system 
of inspection and repair.

1.2 National Guidance

Well Managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of Practice 2016 (WMHI), although 
not statutory, provides guidance to Highway Authorities on highways management.  
It promotes the adoption of an integrated asset management approach and 
establishment of local levels of service through risk-based assessment. 

2.0 Aims

2.1 The Council aims to:

 Carry out highways safety inspections of all adopted highways in accordance 
with its published Code of Practice.  

 Identify any defects which could potentially present a hazard to any highway 
user in accordance with the criteria detailed in the Code of Practice.

 Assess all defects identified and arrange for the appropriate level of repair as 
required, giving consideration to the type, severity and location of the defect in 
accordance with its Highway Inspection Code of Practice. 

 Carry out any repairs within the timescale that is reasonable in the opinion of 
the Highway Authority for the seriousness of the defect and the risk to the 
public as detail its Highway Inspection Code of Practice.

3.0 Policy

3.1 The Council will produce a Highway Safety Inspections Code of Practice, 
adopting the principles and recommendations of WMHI.  

3.2 The Code of Practice will identify the frequency of highway safety inspections 
for each road, based on its categorisation in the Council’s published Network 
Hierarchy.  

3.3 The Code of Practice will describe and illustrate the defects and investigatory 
levels to be identified during such inspections.

Page 44



Final Draft October 2019

3.4 The Council will review the frequency of highway safety inspections as a 
result of any changes to the Network Hierarchy.

3.5 This policy and the associated Highway Safety Inspection Code of Practice 
will be reviewed periodically & updated where necessary to ensure it takes 
account of significant change and remains effective at delivering its aims.

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 1 of 77

Highways Act 1980 Section 58
Highway Safety Inspections 

CODE OF PRACTICE
 

FOR

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

2020

Page 47



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 2 of 77

CODE OF PRACTICE

FOR

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTIONS

Contents

PART 1 – STRATEGY Page 3

PART 2 – INSPECTORS MANUAL Page 27

PART 3 – DETAILED GUIDANCE Page 43

Page 48



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 3 of 77

Highways Act 1980 Section 58
Highway Safety Inspections 

CODE OF PRACTICE
 

FOR

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

2020

PART 1 – STRATEGY

Page 49



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 4 of 77

CONTENTS
PART 1: STRATEGY 

 PAGE 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1  Cheshire East Council’s Policy 5 

1.2  This Document 5 

1.3  Highway Inspections 6 

2. LEGAL FRAMEWORK 

2.1  Highway Safety 7 

2.2  Definition of Maintenance 7

2.3  Highways Act 1980 7 

2.4  Ensuring a Defence 8 

2.5  Statutory Undertakers 8 

2.6  Other Authorities & Owners 9 

3. INSPECTIONS 

3.1  General 10 

3.2  Network Hierarchy 10 

3.3  Inspection Regime and Frequencies 11 

3.4  Defect Categories 13

3.5  Response Times 14

3.6  Defect Risk Assessment 14

3.7  How the Information is Recorded 19 

3.8  Locational Referencing 19

3.9  Archiving 19 

3.10  Emergency Procedures 20 

3.11  Highway Safety Inspectors 20

Annex 1: Photographic Illustrations 22

Page 50



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 5 of 77

CODE OF PRACTICE
 

FOR

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

PART 1 – STRATEGY

1 INTRODUCTION 

1.1. Cheshire East Council’s Policy: Highway Safety Inspections 

Cheshire East Council will carry out highway safety inspections of all adopted 
highways in accordance with its Highway Safety Inspections Policy and the Code of 
Practice for Highway Safety Inspections

1.2. This Document 

Safety inspections are an important means of keeping the highway safe for the travelling 
public. They are also vitally important in court cases for providing evidence that the Council 
takes a responsible attitude to it’s duties as Highway Authority, and to provide a defence 
against third party claims under Section 58 of The Highways Act 1980. If a member of the 
public has an accident which can be attributed to the condition of a section of highway, then 
the Highway Authority maybe liable to pay damages unless it can show that it has taken 
reasonable care to keep the highway safe; as is it’s duty under Section 41 of the Highways 
Act 1980. 

This document has been developed following the recommendations of ‘Well Managed 
Highway Infrastructure: A Code of Practice 2016’ (WMHI). Although not statutory, WMHI 
provides guidance to Highway Authorities on highways management.  It promotes the 
adoption of an integrated asset management approach and establishment of local levels of 
service through risk-based assessment.

Highway safety inspections are designed to identify, record and prioritise the repair of defects 
which may present an immediate danger or significant inconvenience to any users of the 
highway (Emergencies), present a hazard to any highway users or are likely to affect the 
structural condition of the highway structure or  assets (Category 1 Defects). In addition, they 
are used to identify defects of a lesser magnitude which may be included within future 
programmes of planned maintenance work (Category 2 Defects) or to indicate that a more in 
depth service inspection is required.  

In accordance with the guidance provided in WMHI, this document forms part of the 
Council’s wider Asset Management Strategy and helps to deliver an asset management led 
approach. Condition data from Highway Safety Inspections helps to inform future 
maintenance programmes, supporting the overall objectives of the Council’s Asset 
Management Strategy.

Highway safety inspections are supplemented by other inspections and assessments 
undertaken in line with national standards and/or good practice, including but not limited to:

 Ad-hoc inspections undertaken in response to specific matters identified through 
enquiries and correspondence 

Page 51



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 6 of 77

 Specialist inspections of certain assets within the highway boundary (for example 
street lighting and highway structures)  

 Technical assessments of carriageway condition generally undertaken using machine 
based equipment (for example SCANNER or SCRIM surveys)  

 Structural maintenance visual assessments (CVI or DVI)

 Streetworks inspections

The strategy used by the Council to determine  the frequency of inspections follows the risk- 
based approach for safety inspections promoted in ‘Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure A 
Code of Practice’ for highway maintenance management. The Strategy also aligns with the 
general approach adopted by the Midland Service Improvement Group (MSIG). MSIG is a 
collective of Midlands and North West English Shire Counties, Shire Unitaries and City 
Unitaries sharing Best Practice within the disciplines of Highways and Transportation.  In 
addition, consultation has taken place with all neighbouring authorities to ensure cross-
border consistency where possible.

This Code of Practice sets the standard for highway safety inspections on the roads of 
Cheshire East Council. In most cases, following the advice given will be adequate.  However, 
staff engaged on safety inspections will always be expected to apply a risk assessment 
approach as not every eventuality can be covered in this document. All details of inspections, 
defects and intended repairs must be recorded together with details of when subsequent 
repairs are carried out. In addition, inspections for road sections with no defects must be 
positively recorded. 

This document describes the safety inspections carried out by trained and competent 
inspectors.  It sets out the standards to be followed on the Borough’s highway network. It is 
to be used by all members of staff who may be required to report defects or to visit sites to 
check on defect reports from members of the public, police etc. 

Updated and amended versions of this document will be published as required. 

1.3. Highway Inspections 

Highway visual inspections used to record defects in highway condition are of three types: 

Safety 
To visit all adopted highways to a regular schedule, record actionable 
defects and initiate action to make safe within the required response times 
detailed in 3.5.

Detailed Annually to record hazards plus non urgent repairs that are to be 
considered for inclusion in planned works. 

Structural To assess the overall structural condition of Sections of the road network so 
that funds can be allocated where need is greatest. 

This Code sets out the criteria for safety inspections. It does not include inspections for ice & 
snow. Details relating to the Council’s winter service are contained in the Adverse Weather 
Plan.

Page 52



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 7 of 77

2 LEGAL FRAMEWORK 

2.1. Highway Safety 

The Highway Authority has a legal duty to maintain the highway. Under Section 41 of the 
Highways Act 1980, it may be exposed to the possibility of actions for breach of statutory 
duty if it fails to maintain a highway. 

The policy of regular inspections and the subsequent actions to repair are designed to meet 
that duty. The records maintained in the ‘Confirm’ Business Management System assist in 
establishing the facts and provide evidence of the current maintenance standards.

The regular inspection / recording / retrieval system and the consequent action provide both 
a formal record of the condition of the highway and the defence for the Highway Authority 
under Section 58 of the Highways Act 1980. The recording of inspections & investigations 
made following notification of a possible hazard by members of the public, the Police etc. or 
on the receipt of a Third Party Claim is essential in establishing a comprehensive defence. 

In order to provide a defence against a claim there must be written standards of 
maintenance, which are in accordance with nationally accepted criteria. The Highway 
Authority needs to show that it had effective policies and that they were adhered to. The 
‘Confirm’ Business Management System is designed to be a key element in that task. 

2.2. Definition of Maintenance and Repair 

The ordinary meaning of 'maintain' is to keep something in the state that enables it to serve 
the purpose for which it exists.  Haydon v Kent County Council [1978 Q.B. 343 et 364). It is 
broader than just matters of repair and keeping in repair. Maintenance is defined in the 
Highways Act 1980 Section 329(1) as including repair. A partial definition such as this 
suggests a wider meaning beyond mere repair, although this document is not intended to be 
a legal analysis for the purpose of any potential claim whether for an alleged statutory breach 
or in negligence. 

Maintenance does not mean improvement. There is no duty on a Highway Authority to 
improve highways. Thus there is no duty on the Highway Authority to widen an existing 
highway, even if an accident may be said to be attributable to the amount of traffic using a 
road which is too narrow. (Highway Law, S.J.Sauvain 1989 p 104 Sect 5-21). 

2.3. The Highways Act 1980 

The Act expressly provided that the reasonableness of the Council’s actions in attempting to 
perform the duty of maintenance could form a defence to the action. 

The burden of proof was to be on the Highway Authority to establish that it had taken such 
care as was in all the circumstances reasonably required to secure that the part of the 
highway to which the action related was not dangerous for traffic. This statutory defence is 
contained in the Highways Act 1980, Section 58. (Highway Law, S.J.Sauvain 1989 p95 Sect 
5-03).

The Highways Service has the task of providing for the defence of the Council on the roads 
within the Borough, by taking action to make safe. Insurance against third party highways 
claims is carried by Cheshire East Council for all adopted highways in the Borough. 

Page 53



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 8 of 77

The Council needs to establish that it has acted reasonably, which it would do by the 
production of adequate documentation and evidence in support of actions taken. In Cheshire 
East, these include a defined and monitored inspection regime, inspection records, the 
ordering of works of repair and the checking of compliance with instruction to repair. 

2.4. Ensuring a Defence 

A claimant must show that the highway was not in a reasonably safe state as a result of 
failure to maintain. The test is whether the state of the highway was such as to cause a 
reasonably foreseeable danger. 

For the purposes of a defence under subsection (1) of Section 58, the court shall in particular 
have regard to the following matters: 

 the character of the highway, and the traffic which was reasonably expected to use it;

 the standard of maintenance appropriate for a highway of that character and used by 
such traffic; 

 the state of repair in which a reasonable person would have expected to find the 
highway; 

 whether the Highway Authority knew, or could reasonably have been expected to 
know, that the condition of the part of the highway to which the action relates was 
likely to cause danger to users of the highway; 

 where the Highway Authority could not reasonably have been expected to repair that 
part of the highway before the cause of the action arose, what warning notices of its 
condition had been displayed; 

I agree this should be re-worded. Keep simple maybe something like this:

The burden of proof is  on the claimant to prove that the accident occurred as described and 
that such caused their losses and damage. It is also on the claimant to prove that the 
condition of any 'defect' in the highway was dangerous such to breach S.41 of the Highways 
Act 1980. 

If it is established that defect is dangerous then the burden of proof rests with the defendant 
to establish their S. 58 'special defence' and also to prove any allegations of contributory 
negligence. 

2.5. Statutory Undertakers 

Section 58 does not apply to damage resulting from Statutory Undertakers’ works or 
apparatus forming part of the highway surface. 

The following sections of the New Road and Street Works Act apply to reinstatements: 

Sections 70 & 71. The undertakers must ensure that their reinstatements conform to the 
requirements of the "Specification for the Reinstatement of Openings in Highways" published 
in 1991. 

Section 72. If a reinstatement is causing a danger, the Highway Authority may carry out 
appropriate work at the Statutory Undertakers’ expense. 

Page 54



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 9 of 77

The Highway Authority becomes responsible for a permanent reinstatement upon expiry of 
the guarantee period which is two years (three years in the case of openings deeper than 1.5 
metres). 

Statutory Undertakers are entitled to rely on the Highway Authority’s inspections where they 
do no inspections themselves. 

In Reid v British Telecommunications plc (1987) it was held that the Undertaker was not 
negligent in relying on a Highway Authority’s six monthly inspections rather than itself 
conducting regular inspections of the condition of its manhole covers. However, if an 
Undertaker did so rely, it was to be taken to have the same knowledge of their condition as it 
would or ought to have had if it had carried out its own inspection at the time of the Highway 
Authority’s inspection. To achieve this the Highway Authority must promptly inform the utility 
of any dangerous defect. 

Hazardous defects in Undertakers’ apparatus, insofar as it forms part of the highway surface, 
or reinstatements discovered during an inspection must be recorded and a report sent 
immediately to the appropriate Street Works Inspector in order that the correct statutory 
undertaker may be informed. 

Swift recorded action may be necessary by the Street Works Inspector by telephone or 
Email. Any failure to report such defects could place responsibility for damages partly on the 
Highway Authority. (Nolan v. North West Water & Merseyside County Council 1982). 

Action may need to be taken by the Highway Authority if the Undertaker does not respond  in 
accordance with The New Roads and Street Works Act 1991.

“The Nolan Principle” is often cited by Statutory Undertakers and their insurers in the event of 
a third party claim being made against them. If the principle is upheld the Highway Authority 
and the Undertaker share the costs on a 50:50 basis.  A Nolan agreement may be rejected 
by the Highway Authority when the Highway Authority has an effective inspection & repair 
system and can demonstrate that it was in use and that the Undertakers were told of the 
defect but failed to repair. 

2.6. Other Authorities & Owners 

An inspection or a visit to a site may reveal hazardous defects in street furniture, 
overhanging trees etc. which do not fall within the remit of the Highway Authority. Any 
hazards found must be recorded in the authority’s Asset Management System and a report 
sent immediately to the appropriate engineering supervisor in order that the correct street 
authority or owner may be informed. Swift action may be necessary by telephone or email. 
Any failure to report such defects could raise arguments in so far as liability  

Page 55



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 10 of 77

3. SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

3.1 General 

Highway safety inspections, defect identification and repair are the responsibility of the 
integrated service provider and will be delivered in accordance with this code. 

Regular inspections of the whole network are made by trained and competent personnel 
operating either from a slow moving vehicle or on foot, using hand-held tablet devices to 
record the date, location and nature of defects hazardous to highway users. 

The data from safety inspections is transferred to a central database and used as 
instructions to carry out the repairs or make safe the hazard.

3.2 Network Hierarchy  

In accordance with WMHI, the Council has developed a Network Hierarchy in order to 
prioritise its resources in the most effective way allowing it to better address the various risks 
and issues associated with the management of the highway network. Each road is 
categorised in accordance with the criteria outlined in Table 1 of WMHI: 

CATEGORY CRITERIA
Resilient Network The category of roads to which priority is given for maintenance 

and other measures to maintain economic activity and access 
key services.

Strategic Routes  Trunk and some Principal 'A' class roads between Primary 
Destinations, routes for fast moving long distance traffic with little 
frontage access or pedestrian traffic. Speed limits are usually in 
excess of 40 mph and there are few junctions.

Main Distributors Routes between Strategic Routes and linking urban centres to the 
strategic network with limited frontage access.

Secondary 
Distributors

B and C class roads and some unclassified urban routes carrying 
buses. In residential and other built up areas these roads have 20 or 
30 mph speed limits and very high levels of pedestrian activity with 
some crossing facilities including zebra crossings.

Link Roads Roads linking between the Main and Secondary Distributor Network 
with frontage access and frequent junctions. In urban areas these are 
residential or industrial interconnecting roads with 20 or 30 mph 
speed limits, random pedestrian movements and uncontrolled 
parking. In rural areas these roads link the smaller villages to the 
distributor roads.

Local Access Roads Roads serving limited numbers of properties carrying only access 
traffic. In rural areas these roads serve small settlements and provide 
access to individual properties and land. They are often only single 
lane width and unsuitable for HGVs. In urban areas they are often 
residential loop roads or cul-de-sacs.

Note: Special Interest Areas are defined as town centre areas etc.
 

Page 56



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 11 of 77

3.3 Inspection Regime and Frequencies 

In line with national codes of good practice (notably the new Code of Practice, Well Managed 
Highway Infrastructure, published on 28 October 2016) the characteristics of the inspection 
regime, including frequency of inspection, items to be recorded and nature of response, are 
defined following an assessment of the relative risks associated with the formation of defects 
within the highway boundary. 

The inspection regime is applied and recorded systematically and consistently. As well as 
information relating to defects, all inspections must also therefore record: 

 time of inspection and defect identification;
 weather conditions;
 any unusual circumstances of the inspection; 
 person(s) conducting the inspection.

Frequencies for safety inspections of individual network sections are based upon the 
Network  Hierarchy adopted by the Council, details of which can be found on the Council’s 
website.

Although the Network  Hierarchy will be the main determinant of inspection frequency, site 
specific factors may merit a decision to temporarily or permanently increase or reduce the 
frequency in a specific location (for example to mitigate the risk of unusually high defect 
levels or accident rates, or with consideration for vulnerable users). 

Frequencies of Inspection for each Network Hierarchy Category

Safety Inspection Frequency for Carriageways and Footways

Hierarchy 
Classification

Frequency of safety 
inspection per year

Hierarchy Category

S 12 Special Interest Areas

1R 12 Resilient Network

2 6 Strategic Road

3A 6 Main Distributor Road

3B 3 Secondary Distributor Road

4A 3 Local Link Road

4B 2 Local Access Road

Page 57



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 12 of 77

Safety Inspection Frequency for Cycleways 

Notes
 Total Number of Inspections in a year is shown in bold
 Inspections will ideally be scheduled evenly across the year however in time of 

adverse weather the time between inspections may vary
 Safety inspections will normally be carried out from a slow moving vehicle.  Where 

the inspector determines that, in their reasonable opinion, the inspection cannot be 
undertaken and defects effectively observed from the vehicle, the inspection will be 
carried out on foot;

 Safety inspections will be carried out during daylight hours and where weather 
conditions do not create poor visibility;

 Footway inspections will be carried out on foot when remote from carriageways;
 Cycleway inspections will be carried out on foot when remote from carriageways;
 Driven inspections will be carried out by two people, with the passenger being the 

inspector;
 Dual carriageway inspections will be carried out in both directions. 

 The table defines the minimum frequency at which inspections will be undertaken. 
Additional inspections may be planned in response to user or community concern, 
requirements for monitoring of structural concerns, as a result of incidents or in 
response to extreme weather conditions. 

Arrangements are made to review the inspection, assessment, frequency and recording 
regime at least annually. This review will be considered at a senior management level within 
Cheshire East Highways (CEH) and will consider:

 changes in network characteristics and use;
 completeness and effectiveness of data collected;
 trends within defect formation;
 success of repair programmes;
 the need for changes/amendments/additions to the inspection regime derived 

from risk assessment.

As a result of such reviews, proposals may be put forward to amend the inspection frequency 
or methodology should such alterations be deemed to be beneficial. Any such amendment 
will be considered, proposed to CEC and Cabinet Member for agreement and, if 
implemented, recorded as such in formal minute. 

Consideration will be made to reviewing and updating details of any Asset Management 
Plans as a result of any such changes. 

Cycleway Hierarchy 
Classification

Frequency of safety 
inspection per year

Hierarchy Category

1 As per carriageway frequency Cycle lane or on carriageway signed 
cycle route - contiguous with the 
carriageway

2 2 Cycle Track, Shared Cycle/Footway 
– a route for cyclists remote from the 
public footway or carriageway or a 
shared cycle/pedestrian path

3 1 Cycle trails - Leisure routes through 
open spaces which are the 
responsibility of the highway authority 
to maintain

Page 58



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 13 of 77

3.4 Defect Categories 

Having identified a defect, it is necessary for the Inspector to undertake a risk-assessment 
which informs the decision on what remedial action is required and the required response 
time. 

Once the defect & response time are determined, the defect is recorded and given one of 
three categories: 

 Emergency - those that require prompt attention because they represent an 
immediate hazard with potential for significant damage, serious injury or risk to 
life;

 Category 1 - those that require priority attention because they represent a 
potential risk to road users or to the integrity of the highway asset;  

 Category 2 - all other defects. 

Emergency defects will be corrected or made safe at the time of the inspection, if 
reasonably practicable. In this context, making safe may constitute displaying warning 
notices, coning-off or fencing-off to protect the public from the defect or other suitable action. 
If the inspection team cannot make safe the defect at the time of inspection then they will 
instigate the relevant emergency call procedures to ensure appropriate resources are 
mobilised to make the defect safe. It may be necessary for the Inspector to remain on site 
until the Response Team arrive and the defect can be made safe. These procedures aim to 
ensure initial attendance to the defect within 1 hour of notification (1.5 hours outside normal 
working hours of 0800 hours -1700 hours Mon – Fri).  

Category 1 defects may also be corrected or made safe at the time of the inspection, if 
reasonably practicable. If it is not possible to correct or make safe the defect at the time of 
inspection then an appropriate repair will be carried out within 2 working days of the 
identification of the defect. 

Category 2 defects are those which are deemed not to represent an immediate hazard and 
which can be repaired within longer timescales. 

Category 2 defects are categorised according to priority: High (Cat 2H), Medium (Cat 2M) 
and Low (Cat 2L), with response times defined within Section 3.3 ‘Time to Make Safe’. 
Guidance on appropriate classification of defects is provided in Inspectors Manual, Part 2 of 
this Code. The Manual provides examples of defects which may be encountered on the 
network and potential categorisation. However, on-site assessment will always need to take 
account of particular circumstances. 

The Inspector will also take into account the likelihood of further deterioration before the next 
scheduled inspection, and where this is a considered a high probability, a higher defect 
classification may be determined. 

Notes: 
 During periods of severe weather conditions it may not always be possible to meet 

the target response times for both highway safety inspections and defect repair.  In 
such circumstances, evidence of the best use of resources  should be considered as 
mitigation against any claims. 

 Full details of categorised highway defects and response times are contained within 
Part 3 - Detailed Guidance Codes.

Page 59



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 14 of 77

3.5 Response Times 

Clearly some defects need to be treated more urgently than others. In order to record how 
quickly action needs to be taken after an inspection, a “category” is applied to each individual 
defect.

Cheshire East 
Category

Description

E Repair or make safe within 1 hour of notification (1.5 hours outside 
normal working hours of 0800 hours -1700 hours Mon – Fri) 

1 Make safe/repair within 2 working  days

2H Make safe/repair within 5 working days

2M No temporary repair necessary. 
Attend and permanently repair within 20 working days

2L Consider repair within future programmes of 
planned maintenance works

The time scale for each category commences when the Highway Safety Inspector identifies 
and records the defect  

3.6 Defect Risk Assessment

The principals of a system of defect risk assessment for application to highway safety 
inspections are set out below. This has been designed following the guidance provided in 
‘Well Managed Highway Liability Risk’, produced by the Institute of Highway Engineers.  Any 
item with a defect level which corresponds to, or is in excess of, the Investigatory Levels 
described in Annex 1, is to be assessed using the risk assessment matrix and guidance 
within the Inspectors Manual. Risks will be assessed with consideration to a wide variety of 
factors including location, usage, local amenities, vulnerable users, public transport etc. 

A 4x4 matrix is used to allow sufficient flexibility when assessing risk and determining the 
appropriate level and speed of response.

By way of example that risk assessment process might be as described below:

Page 60



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 15 of 77

Impact
The impact of a risk occurring is measured on a scale of 1 – 4 (1 lowest, 4 highest) the 
following table gives guidance:

Impact Ratings
Impact 
rating Score Description Possible Indicators

High 4 The hazard presented by the 
defect, or due to the short 
term structural deterioration 
in the defect, could result in 
serious injury.

Highway users coming into contact with the 
defect could result in serious injury or 
damage to  property.
Highway users will instinctively react to avoid 
the defect, presenting a hazard to 
themselves and to others. Location may 
present specific hazards.

Medium 3 The hazard presented by the 
defect, or due to the short 
term structural deterioration 
in the defect, could result in 
injury.

Highway users coming into contact with the 
defect could result in injury or damage to 
property.
Highway users will instinctively react to avoid 
the defect, presenting a hazard to 
themselves and to others

Low 2 The Hazard presented by 
the defect, or due to the 
short term structural 
deterioration in the defect, 
could result in minor injury.. 
If untreated the defect will 
contribute to the 
deterioration in the overall 
condition of the highway 
asset. The defect is likely to 
deteriorate further before the 
next safety inspection.

Most impacts will not result in any injury or 
damage to property.
Highway users are unlikely to react to avoid 
the defect and the impact will not interrupt 
their passage.
The defect will be felt and recognised as a 
defect by most highway users. 
If untreated the defect will accelerate the 
local deterioration of the highway asset.

Very 
Low

1 The hazard presented by the 
defect, or due to the short 
term structural deterioration 
in the defect, is unlikely to 
result in injury, but the defect 
will contribute to the 
deterioration in the overall 
condition of the highway 
asset. The defect is unlikely 
to deteriorate further before 
the next scheduled safety 
inspection.

The defect will be recognised by Highway 
Safety Inspectors as requiring attention, but 
is unlikely to be felt and recognised as a 
defect by most Highway users.
The defect is very unlikely to cause injury or 
damage to property.

Page 61



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 16 of 77

Probability

The probability of a risk occurring is measured on a scale of 1 – 4
Probability Ratings
Probability 
Ratings Score Description Possible Indicators

High 4 More than a 75% chance 
of occurrence.

High use by all road users, higher category 
roads.
Vulnerable users and/or different transport 
modes regularly pass through the site.
The location and nature of the defect, as well 
as  the topography of the site will mean that it 
is difficult for the defect to be avoided
Forward visibility may be compromised.

Medium 3 40 – 75% chance of 
occurrence.

High use by all road users, higher category 
roads, but vulnerable users and/or differing 
modes are less likely to share the highway at 
this location.
Responsible highway users may be able to 
recognise and take action to mitigate the 
impact of the defect.
Forward visibility is good.

Low 2 10 – 40% chance of 
occurrence.

Use by all users is moderate or low.
Vulnerable users and/or different transport 
modes are unlikely to share the highway at 
this location.
The majority of responsible highway users 
will be able to recognise and take action to 
mitigate the impact of the defect.

Very Low 1 Less than 10% chance of 
occurrence.

Use by all users is  very low.
The speed differential between users is very 
likely to be low.
The majority of responsible highway users 
will be able to avoid the defect.

Risk Probability

The probability of a risk occurring is assessed as follows:

 Very low probability;
 Low probability;
 Medium probability;
 High probability.

The probability is quantified by assessing the likelihood of users, passing by or over the 
defect, encountering the risk. As the probability is likely to increase with increasing vehicular 
or pedestrian flow and local amenities, the network hierarchy and defect location are 
important considerations in the assessment.

Page 62



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 17 of 77

Risk Impact

The impact of a risk occurring, as adopted by CEC, is assessed as follows:

 Very low impact;
 Low impact;
 Medium impact;
 High impact.

The impact is quantified by assessing the extent of damage likely to be caused should the 
risk be realised. The main consideration of impact is the severity of the defect, although likely 
consequences should also be taken into account.  Other variables such as road speed may 
also affect the likely impact.

Risk Factor

The risk factor for a particular risk is 

Risk Factor = impact score x probability score. 

It is this factor that identifies the overall seriousness of the risk and consequently the 
appropriateness of the speed of response to remedy the defect.

Risk Management

Having identified a particular risk, assessed its likely impact and probability and calculated 
the risk factor, the category and the timescale to rectify the defect is either defined as an 
Emergency response, Category 1 response or allocated to one of the Category 2 defect 
types (Low, Medium or High).

To assist the inspector, a risk matrix is included within the Inspectors Manual, which 
considers the appropriate classification of defects when considering impact/severity against 
probability:

PROBABILITY
 Very Low (1) Low (2) Medium (3) High (4)

Very Low 
(1) Cat 2L (1) Cat 2L (2) Cat 2M (3) Cat 2M (4)

Low (2) Cat 2L (2) Cat 2M (4) Cat 2H (6) Cat 2H (8)

Medium (3) Cat 2M (3) Cat 2H (6) Cat 1 (9) Cat 1 (12)

High (4) Cat 2M (4) Cat 2H (8) Cat 1 (12) Emergency (16)

IM
PA

CT
/S

EV
ER

IT
Y

Emergency Emergency (16) Emergency (16) Emergency (16) Emergency (16)

 Risk Matrix for defect identification 

Cat 2L
Cat 2M
Cat 2H
Cat 1
Emergency

Score of 9 to 12
Score of Over 12

Score of 1 to 2
Score of 3 to 4
Score of 6 to 8

Page 63



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 18 of 77

 Scoring mechanism within Risk Matrix 

*Note: It should be recognised that an emergency response can be requested for any high 
impact defect regardless of road hierarchy. Examples may include fallen trees, subsidence or 
flooding, missing covers etc.  

Investigatory Levels

It is recognised that on any highway network, a multitude of minor defects will exist which do 
not pose any risk to either the safety or the integrity of the highway and for which it may be 
impractical and inefficient to expend limited financial resources to undertake repairs. Any 
defects which do not meet the Investigatory Levels (as defined within Annex 1) will be 
recorded should the Highway Safety Inspector deem this appropriate (for example, where a 
cluster of such defects may form a potential preventative maintenance scheme in the future). 
Where such defects are recorded, they will be recorded as Cat 2L defects.

3.6 Information from the Public or the Police 

Defects reported by the public or emergency services will be inspected in accordance with 
this code.  Should action be required, the defect will be recorded in the authority’s Asset 
Management System, in order to provide a reliable and documented history of reported 
highway defects. Completed defects are then entered into the authority’s Asset Management 
System to ensure that repair instructions and work completion dates are all recorded into the 
same database from which data for Third Party Claims reports and performance statistics will 
be drawn up. 

Page 64



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 19 of 77

 3.7 How the Information is Recorded 

A defect found on the highway has to be identified by its location on the road network. 
Without this information it would be impossible to direct a contractor to the right place to 
affect a repair. 

It would also be difficult to confirm or deny the presence of a defect alleged to have been the 
cause of injury or damage. The time of inspections and of when defects are found must be 
recorded. 

Defects found within the highway are grouped according to an “activity” such as work to the 
carriageway or to signs. Each type of defect is given a description such as “pothole” or 
“safety barrier too low”. 

Depending on the defect, its location and the materials of construction, a “treatment” is 
chosen from a range of permitted ones such as “adjust level” or “provide new”. 

The size of the defect is needed in order for the right quantity of materials to be provided to 
the repair gang. 

In order to make the business of recording all the information required as simple and quick 
as practicable, a coding system has been devised. 

Each road has a unique number. Each part of the highway has a position from the left or the 
right across the whole width between boundaries. Distance to a defect is measured, always 
in the same direction from a fixed origin. 

The coding system turns the English descriptions for defects and treatments into letter 
groups that are easy to remember because they are partly “mnemonic” and resemble the full 
words e.g. Ironwork difference in level = “IDLV” (the defect); Adjust level = “AJL” (the 
treatment).

3.8 Locational Referencing 

The transverse location of a defect is recorded by using the UKPMS cross-section position 
referencing. 

The Main Carriageway Lanes are numbered CL1 to 9 or CR1 to 9 from the edge toward the 
centre of the carriageway for the left and right respectively. The off carriageway features are 
numbered sequentially upward from L1 or R1 for the left or right respectively, away from the 
Carriageway. Kerbs and Kerb defects are referenced to LE ("Left Edge") or RE ("Right 
Edge"). 

The full code descriptions can be found in "the UKPMS user manual, Vol 2 Visual Data 
Collection for UKPMS, chapter 4: cross-Section Position Referencing. 

3.9 Archiving 

The details recorded into the authority’s Asset Management System of the inspections, 
findings and any subsequent actions are to be retained in archive form for six years following 
the date of inspection. 

Page 65



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 20 of 77

3.10 Emergency Procedures 

If a Highway Safety Inspector identifies a defect which is assessed to be sufficiently 
dangerous to require an emergency response, arrangements will be made to make the 
defect safe in accordance with the response times detailed within this document.

Operational procedures are in place to ensure that resources are available during and 
outside normal working hours to ensure that the required response times can be achieved. 

During normal working hours, third party reports are made to the Council’s Customer Contact 
Centre.  If it is determined that an emergency response is required, the details are passed 
directly to the appropriate operational team and resources deployed to meet the required 
response time. 

Outside of office hours, third party reports of dangerous defects made using the Council’s 
Out of Hours service will be reported to the on call Duty Inspector who will arrange the 
appropriate response within 1 ½ hrs of receiving the call.  Additional resources will also be 
available to attend to specific situations as determined by the Duty Inspector.

3.11 Highway Safety Inspectors

Roles and Responsibilities

 Carry out highway safety inspections in accordance with current policy, and the code of 
practice ;

 Ensure network condition data is identified and recorded accurately;
 Represent Cheshire East Highways when defending 3rd party liability claims;
 Act as representative of the service and deal with public enquiries whilst completing 

inspections duties;
 Work closely with the operations team to ensure defects are repaired to the appropriate 

standard and within the prescribed timescales;
 Assist Senior Safety Inspector with site audits.

Training and Competence

All personnel involved in Highway Safety Inspections must be competent and have 
successfully completed the UK Highway Inspectors Training and Certification Scheme 
approved by the UK Roads Board in 2010 or any subsequent revision.  It is desirable that all 
personnel should be included on the National Register of Highway Inspectors currently held 
by the Institute of Highway Engineers. Personnel undertaking a highway safety inspection 
must also demonstrate competency in the current Safety at Street Works and Road Works 
Code of Practice.

Highway Safety Inspectors will be trained to identify defects that may present a hazard to all 
highway users, including motorists, pedestrians, cyclists, motorcyclists, equestrians, 
wheelchair users, blind and partially sighted users and other vulnerable users.

Quarterly claims review meetings will be carried out with all Highway Safety Inspectors to 
ensure a culture or continual learning and a consistency of approach. 

Competency will be continually assessed through a sample audit programme.

Page 66



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 21 of 77

Page 67



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 22 of 77

ANNEX 1

PHOTOGRAPHIC GUIDE TO ILLUSTRATE EXAMPLES OF DEFECTS 

SHOWING THE TYPE, THE RESPONSE TIME AND THE INVESTIGATORY LEVEL 

ACTION TO BE CONSIDERED WHEN A DEFECT MEETS THE INVESTIGATORY LEVEL 

Page 68



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 23 of 77

Defect: Pothole (POTH)

Location: In the body of the carriageway

Category: E,1,2

Investigatory level:  40mm 

Defect: Pothole (POTH)

Location: On the edge of, and extending into the 
carriageway

Category: E,1,2

Investigatory level: 40mm

Defect: Localised Edge Deterioration (LODT)

Location: Cracking and breaking away on the 
edge of the carriageway not encroaching into the 
carriageway more than 250mm , and not 
requiring vehicles, motorcycles or bicycles to 
alter their course.

Category: E, 1, 2

Investigatory level: ≥100mm

Defect: Condition of Fittings (COFT)

Location: Signs over carriageways or footways.

Category: E, 1

Investigatory level: 
If in danger of falling on pedestrian or vehicle.

Page 69



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 24 of 77

Defect: Slurry or Mud on Road (SLOP)

Location: All roads Category: 1 (dependent on 
severity)

Investigatory level: Slippery surface

Notes: Contact person responsible, if known, and 
request signing/clean up. If no response, Local 
office to do work and recharge.

Defect: Unauthorised Obstruction/Enclosure 
of Verge (UNOB)

Location: All roads.

Investigatory level: 
Stones, cultivation, fencing, etc., on verge.

Notes: Local office to issue notice to person 
responsible, and ensure removal.

Defect: Slab Profile Uneven (SLPF)

Location: Urban footways and pedestrian areas.

Category: E, 1, 2

Investigatory level: ≥ 20mm

Notes: Use ‘Notes’ on DCD to record type and 
number of slabs/flags to be re-laid. If other 
slabs/flags are broken, number of new 
slabs/flags to be recorded also.

Defect: Concrete Blocks/Sets Missing (CBMS)

Location: Footways, pedestrian areas and cycle 
paths.

Category: E, 1, 2

Investigatory level: Missing blocks/sets

Notes: Use ‘Notes’ on DCD to record number of 
blocks to be replaced.

Page 70



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 25 of 77

Defect: Difference in level (IDLV)

Location: Footway, pedestrian area or cycleway

Category: E,1, 2

Investigatory levels:
≥ 20mm 

Notes: Use ‘Notes’ to inform Network 
Management Team of the type and owner (if 
apparent) of cover. If Utility owned, Network 
Management Team to contact Utility, and set 
time for response. Make safe in case of 
emergency.

Defect: Cracked or Broken cover (IBCK)
Location: All areas of highway

Category: E, 1, 2

Investigatory level: Cat E if in danger of collapse

Notes: Use ‘Notes’ to inform Network 
Management Team of the type and owner (if 
apparent) of cover. If Utility owned, Network 
Management Team to contact Utility, and set 
time for response. Make safe in case of 
emergency

Defect: Missing (MISS)

Location: All areas of highway

Category: E, 1, 2

Investigatory level: Cover not present

Notes: Use ‘Notes’ to inform Network 
Management Team of the type and owner (if 
apparent) of cover. If Utility owned, Network 
Management Team to contact Utility, and set 
time for response. Make safe in case of 
emergency

Defect: Obscured Sign (OBSG)

Location: All Roads

Category: 1, if at a junction with a busy or high 
speed road.

Notes: Applies to Stop, Give Way, Slippery Road,
junctions, bends and roadworks signs. Does not 
apply to direction signs.

Page 71



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 26 of 77

Defect: Flooding (FLOD)

Location: All Roads

Category: E 

Investigatory Level: Road obstructed by water.

Notes: Partial obstruction to be considered 
dependent on extent and location on the road. 
Area Office to establish cause and remedy.

Defect: Missing Door (MISP)

Location: All Roads

Category:  E 

Investigatory Level: 
Missing door (open, off or missing)

Notes: Telephone message to Street Lighting
Superintendent to arrange attendance within 
ONE hour.  Technician to stand by column until 
help arrives if in high risk location (play area, 
school, shops, busy footway, and the like). 
Inspector is NOT to touch column or replace 
door.

Defect: Blacktop Profile (BKTP)

Location: Footway, pedestrian area or cycleway 
with bituminous surface.

Category: 1, 2

Investigatory levels: 
≥ 20

Defect: Rocking Element (ROCK)

Location: Any element including ironwork on 
footways, pedestrian areas or cycleways.

Category: 1,2

Investigatory levels: ≥ 20mm when depressed at 
one end.

Notes: Use ‘Notes’ to record number of blocks to 
be relaid.

Page 72



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 27 of 77

Page 73



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 28 of 77

Highways Act 1980 Section 58
Highway Safety Inspections 

CODE OF PRACTICE
 

FOR

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

2020

PART 2 – INSPECTORS MANUAL

Page 74



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 29 of 77

CONTENTS
PART 2 INSPECTIONS MANUAL

PAGE

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Network Hierarchy 29

1.2 Inspection Regime and Frequencies 30

1.3 Defect Categories 32

1.4 Response Times 33

1.5 Emergency Procedures 37

2. ACTION

2.1 General 39

2.2 Marking-out Defects for attention 39

3. SPECIFIC ACTIVITIES

Flooding, grassed Areas, Hedges & Trees, 
and Sweeping & Cleansing

40

4. APPENDICES

4.1 Tables A, B, C, D & E of Surface & 
Materials Types, Road Stud Class & Traffic 
Signals 

41

Page 75



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 30 of 77

CODE OF PRACTICE
 

FOR

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

PART 2 - INSPECTIONS MANUAL

1. INTRODUCTION

Parts 2 & 3 of the manual are to be used by suitably trained and competent Highway Safety 
Inspectors (hereafter referred to as an "Inspector") from the Highways Service Provider to 
define a defect and record it in a form that may be entered into the authority’s Asset 
Management System. 

This may be achieved by using a PC Workstation in the office or a Data Capture Device 
(DCD) / or in the event of technical failure paper form (see Appendix 1) on site and uploading 
or entering the information onto the Asset Management System later.

Part 2 of the manual is set out firstly to describe a system based on a DCD such as the tablet 
devices currently carried by the Inspectors who perform the highway safety inspections of the 
Borough highway network.

All actionable defects identified by the Inspectors which meet the investigatory level detailed 
in Annex 1 will be recorded in accordance with this manual.  The Inspectors are trained and 
competent in the collection and recording of defects as detailed in this manual.

Having identified a defect which meets or exceeds the investigatory level in this Code, it is 
necessary for the Inspector to use his judgement, training and experience, based on the 
guidance given in this code, in deciding when remedial action will be necessary and to make 
recommendations on what work is required.

For safety inspections the response time is dependent on the severity of the defect and the 
usage of the highway.

A response may be called for under emergency provisions, or it may require a ‘within 2 
working days or 5 working day response’. Once the defect & response time are determined, 
the defect is recorded and given one of three categories.

1.1 Network Hierarchy  

In accordance with Well Managed Highway Infrastructure(WMHI) the Council has developed 
a Network Hierarchy in order to prioritise its resources in the most effective way allowing it to 
better address the various risks and issues associated with the management of the highway 
network. Each road is categorised in accordance with the criteria outlined in Table 1: 

Table 1
CATEGORY CRITERIA
Resilient Network The category of roads to which priority is given for maintenance 

and other measures to maintain economic activity and access 
key services. 

Strategic Routes  Trunk and some Principal 'A' class roads between Primary 
Destinations, routes for fast moving long distance traffic with little 
frontage access or pedestrian traffic. Speed limits are usually in 
excess of 40 mph and there are few junctions.

Page 76



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 31 of 77

Main Distributors Routes between Strategic Routes and linking urban centres to the 
strategic network with limited frontage access.

Secondary 
Distributors

B and C class roads and some unclassified urban routes carrying 
buses. In residential and other built up areas these roads have 20 or 
30 mph speed limits and very high levels of pedestrian activity with 
some crossing facilities including zebra crossings.

Link Roads Roads linking between the Main and Secondary Distributor Network 
with frontage access and frequent junctions. In urban areas these are 
residential or industrial interconnecting roads with 20 or 30 mph 
speed limits, random pedestrian movements and uncontrolled 
parking. In rural areas these roads link the smaller villages to the 
distributor roads.

Local Access Roads Roads serving limited numbers of properties carrying only access 
traffic. In rural areas these roads serve small settlements and provide 
access to individual properties and land. They are often only single 
lane width and unsuitable for HGVs. In urban areas they are often 
residential loop roads or cul-de-sacs.

Special Interest Areas are defined as town centre areas etc.
 

1.2 Inspection Regime and Frequencies 

In line with national codes of good practice (notably the new Code of Practice, Well Managed 
Highway Infrastructure, published on 28 October 2016) the characteristics of the inspection 
regime, including frequency of inspection, items to be recorded and nature of response, are 
defined following an assessment of the relative risks associated with the formation of defects 
within the highway boundary. 

The inspection regime is applied and recorded systematically and consistently. As well as 
information relating to defects, all inspections must also therefore record: 

 time of inspection and defect identification;
 weather conditions;
 any unusual circumstances of the inspection; 
 person(s) conducting the inspection.

Frequencies for safety inspections of individual network sections are based upon the 
Carriageway Maintenance Hierarchy adopted by the Council which can be found on the 
Council’s website

Although the carriageway maintenance hierarchy will be the main determinant of inspection 
frequency, site specific factors may merit a decision to temporarily or permanently increase 
or reduce the frequency in a specific location (for example to mitigate the risk of unusually 
high defect levels or accident rates, or with consideration for vulnerable users). 

Frequencies of Inspection for each Road 

Page 77



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 32 of 77

Safety Inspection Frequency for Carriageways and Footways

Safety Inspection Frequency for Cycleways 

Notes
 Total Number of Inspections in a year is shown in bold
 Inspections will ideally be scheduled evenly across the year however in time of 

adverse weather the time between inspections may vary
 Safety inspections will normally be carried out from a slow moving vehicle.  Where 

the inspector determines that, in their reasonable opinion, the inspection cannot be 
undertaken and defects effectively observed from the vehicle, the inspection will be 
carried out on foot.

 Safety inspections will be carried out during daylight hours and where weather 
conditions do not create poor visibility. 

 Footway inspections will be carried out on foot when remote from carriageways
 Cycleway inspections will be carried out on foot when remote from carriageways
 Carriageway inspections will be carried out on foot if being undertaken at the same 

time as footway inspections.  All other carriageway inspections will be driven
 Driven inspections will be carried out by two people, with the passenger being the 

inspector
 Dual carriageway inspections will be carried out in both directions. 

 The table defines the minimum frequency at which inspections will be undertaken. 
Additional inspections may be planned in response to user or community concern, 

Hierarchy 
Classification

Number of safety inspections 
per year

Hierarchy Category

S 12 Special Interest Areas

1R 12 Resilient Network

2 6 Strategic Road

3A 6 Main Distributor Road

3B 3 Secondary Distributor Road

4A 3 Local Link Road

4B 2 Local Access Road

Cycleway Hierarchy 
Classification

Number of safety inspections 
per year

Hierarchy Category

1 As per carriageway frequency Cycle lane - contiguous with the 
carriageway

2 2 Cycle Track, Shared Cycle/Footway 
– a route for cyclists remote from the 
public footway or carriageway or a 
shared cycle/pedestrian path

3 1 Cycle trails - Leisure routes through 
open spaces which are the 
responsibility of the highway authority 
to maintain

Page 78



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 33 of 77

requirements for monitoring of structural concerns, as a result of incidents or in 
response to extreme weather conditions. 

Arrangements are made to review the inspection, assessment, frequency and recording 
regime at least annually. This review will be considered at a senior management level within 
Cheshire East Highways (CEH) and will consider:

 changes in network characteristics and use;
 completeness and effectiveness of data collected;
 trends within defect formation;
 success of repair programmes;
 the need for changes/amendments/additions to the inspection regime derived 

from risk assessment.

As a result of such reviews, proposals may be put forward to amend the inspection frequency 
or methodology should such alterations be deemed to be beneficial. Any such amendment 
will be considered, proposed to CEC and Cabinet Member for agreement and, if 
implemented, recorded as such in formal minute. 

Consideration will be made to reviewing and updating details of any Asset Management 
Plans as a result of any such changes. 

1.3 Defect Categories 

Having identified a defect, it is necessary for the Inspector to undertake a risk-assessment 
which informs the decision on what remedial action is required and the required response 
time. 

Once the defect & response time are determined, the defect is recorded and given one of 
three categories: 

 Emergency - those that require prompt attention because they represent an 
immediate hazard with potential for significant damage, serious injury or risk to 
life;

 Category 1 - those that require priority attention because they represent a 
potential risk to road users or to the integrity of the highway asset;  

 Category 2 - all other defects. 

Emergency defects will be corrected or made safe at the time of the inspection, if 
reasonably practicable. In this context, making safe may constitute displaying warning 
notices, coning-off or fencing-off to protect the public from the defect or other suitable action. 
If the inspection team cannot make safe the defect at the time of inspection then they will 
instigate the relevant emergency call procedures to ensure appropriate resources are 
mobilised to make the defect safe. It may be necessary for the Inspector to remain on site 
until the Response Team arrive and the defect can be made safe. These procedures aim to 
ensure initial attendance to the defect within 1 hour of notification (1.5 hours outside normal 
working hours of 0800 hours -1700 hours Mon – Fri).  

Category 1 defects may also be corrected or made safe at the time of the inspection, if 
reasonably practicable. If it is not possible to correct or make safe the defect at the time of 

Page 79



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 34 of 77

inspection then an appropriate repair will be carried out within 2 working days of the 
identification of the defect. 

Category 2 defects are those which are deemed not to represent an immediate hazard and 
which can be repaired within longer timescales. 

Category 2 defects are categorised according to priority: High (Cat 2H), Medium (Cat 2M) 
and Low (Cat 2L), with response times defined within Section 3.3 ‘Time to Make Safe’. 
Guidance on appropriate classification of defects is provided in Inspectors Manual, Part 2 of 
this Code. The Manual provides examples of defects which may be encountered on the 
network and potential categorisation. However, on-site assessment will always need to take 
account of particular circumstances. 

The Inspector will also take into account the likelihood of further deterioration before the next 
scheduled inspection, and where this is a considered a high probability, a higher defect 
classification may be determined. 

Notes: 
 During periods of severe weather conditions it may not always be possible to meet 

the target response times for both safety inspections and defect repair, which the 
highway authority should not be penalised upon evidencing best use of resources in 
difficult conditions. 

 Full details of categorised highway defects and response times are contained within 
the Cheshire East highway inspections detailed guidance code.

1.4 Response Times 

Clearly some defects need to be treated more urgently than others. In order to record how 
quickly action needs to be taken after an inspection, a “category” is applied to each individual 
defect.

Cheshire East 
Category

Description

E Repair or make safe within 1 hour of notification (1.5 hours outside 
normal working hours of 0800 hours -1700 hours Mon - Fri 

1 Make safe/repair within 2 working  days

2H Make safe/repair within 5 working days

2M No temporary repair necessary. 
Attend and permanently repair within 20 working days

2L Consider repair within future programmes of 
planned maintenance works

The time scale for each category commences when the Highway Safety Inspector identifies 
and records the defect  

Page 80



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 35 of 77

Defect Risk Assessment

The principals of a system of defect risk assessment for application to highway safety 
inspections are set out below. This has been designed following the guidance provided in 
‘Well Managed Highway Liability Risk’, produced by the Institute of Highway Engineers.  Any 
item with a defect level which corresponds to, or is in excess of, the Investigatory Levels 
described in Annex 1, is to be assessed using the risk assessment matrix and guidance 
within the Inspectors Manual. Risks will be assessed with consideration to a wide variety of 
factors including location, usage, local amenities, vulnerable users, public transport etc. 

A 4x4 matrix is used to allow sufficient flexibility when assessing risk and determining the 
appropriate level and speed of response.

By way of example that risk assessment process might be as described below:

Impact
The impact of a risk occurring is measured on a scale of 1 – 4 (1 lowest, 4 highest) the 
following table gives guidance:

Impact Ratings
Impact 
rating Score Description Possible Indicators

High 4 The hazard presented by the 
defect, or due to the short 
term structural deterioration 
in the defect, could result in 
serious injury.

Highway users coming into contact with the 
defect could result in serious injury or 
damage to  property.
Highway users will instinctively react to avoid 
the defect, presenting a hazard to 
themselves and to others. Location may 
present specific hazards.

Medium 3 The hazard presented by the 
defect, or due to the short 
term structural deterioration 
in the defect, could result in 
injury.

Highway users coming into contact with the 
defect could result in injury or damage to 
property.
Highway users will instinctively react to avoid 
the defect, presenting a hazard to 
themselves and to others

Low 2 The Hazard presented by 
the defect, or due to the 
short term structural 
deterioration in the defect, 
could result in minor injury. If 
untreated the defect will 
contribute to the 
deterioration in the overall 
condition of the highway 
asset. The defect is likely to 
deteriorate further before the 
next safety inspection.

Most impacts will not result in any injury or 
damage to property.
Highway users are unlikely to react to avoid 
the defect and the impact will not interrupt 
their passage.
The defect will be felt and recognised as a 
defect by most highway users. 
If untreated the defect will accelerate the 
local deterioration of the highway asset.

Page 81



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 36 of 77

Very 
Low

1 The hazard presented by the 
defect, or due to the short 
term structural deterioration 
in the defect, is unlikely to 
result in injury, but the defect 
will contribute to the 
deterioration in the overall 
condition of the highway 
asset. The defect is unlikely 
to deteriorate further before 
the next scheduled safety 
inspection.

The defect will be recognised by Highway 
Safety Inspectors as requiring attention, but 
is unlikely to be felt and recognised as a 
defect by most Highway users.
The defect is very unlikely to cause injury or 
damage to property.

Probability

The probability of a risk occurring is measured on a scale of 1 – 4
Probability Ratings
Probability 
Ratings Score Description Possible Indicators

High 4 More than a 75% chance 
of occurrence.

High use by all road users, higher category 
roads.
Vulnerable users and/or different transport 
modes regularly pass through the site.
The location and nature of the defect, as well 
as  the topography of the site will mean that it 
is difficult for the defect to be avoided
Forward visibility may be compromised.

Medium 3 40 – 75% chance of 
occurrence.

High use by all road users, higher category 
roads, but vulnerable users and/or differing 
modes are less likely to share the highway at 
this location.
Responsible highway users may be able to 
recognise and take action to mitigate the 
impact of the defect.
Forward visibility is good.

Low 2 10 – 40% chance of 
occurrence.

Use by all users is moderate or low.
Vulnerable users and/or different transport 
modes are unlikely to share the highway at 
this location.
The majority of responsible highway users 
will be able to recognise and take action to 
mitigate the impact of the defect.

Very Low 1 Less than 10% chance of 
occurrence.

Use by all users is  very low.
The speed differential between users is very 
likely to be low.
The majority of responsible highway users 
will be able to avoid the defect.

Page 82



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 37 of 77

Risk Probability

The probability of a risk occurring is assessed as follows:

 Very low probability;
 Low probability;
 Medium probability;
 High probability.

The probability is quantified by assessing the likelihood of users, passing by or over the 
defect, encountering the risk. As the probability is likely to increase with increasing vehicular 
or pedestrian flow and local amenities, the network hierarchy and defect location are 
important considerations in the assessment.

Risk Impact

The impact of a risk occurring, as adopted by CEC, is assessed as follows:

 Very low impact;
 Low impact;
 Medium impact;
 High impact.

The impact is quantified by assessing the extent of damage likely to be caused should the 
risk be realised. The main consideration of impact is the severity of the defect. However, 
other variables such as road speed may also affect the likely impact.

Risk Factor

The risk factor for a particular risk is 

Risk Factor = impact score x probability score. 

It is this factor that identifies the overall seriousness of the risk and consequently the 
appropriateness of the speed of response to remedy the defect.

Risk Management

Having identified a particular risk, assessed its likely impact and probability and calculated 
the risk factor, the category and the timescale to rectify the defect is either defined as an 
Emergency response, Category 1 response or allocated to one of the Category 2 defect 
types (Low, Medium or High).

Page 83



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 38 of 77

To assist the inspector, a risk matrix is included within the Inspectors Manual, which 
considers the appropriate classification of defects when considering impact/severity against 
probability:

PROBABILITY
 Very Low (1) Low (2) Medium (3) High (4)

Very Low 
(1) Cat 2L (1) Cat 2L (2) Cat 2M (3) Cat 2M (4)

Low (2) Cat 2L (2) Cat 2M (4) Cat 2H (6) Cat 2H (8)

Medium (3) Cat 2M (3) Cat 2H (6) Cat 1 (9) Cat 1 (12)

High (4) Cat 2M (4) Cat 2H (8) Cat 1 (12) Emergency (16)

IM
PA

CT
/S

EV
ER

IT
Y

Emergency Emergency (16) Emergency (16) Emergency (16) Emergency (16)

 Risk Matrix for defect identification 

Cat 2L
Cat 2M
Cat 2H
Cat 1
Emergency

Score of 9 to 12
Score of Over 12

Score of 1 to 2
Score of 3 to 4
Score of 6 to 8

 Scoring mechanism within Risk Matrix 

*Note: It should be recognised that an emergency response can be requested for any very 
high impact defect regardless of road hierarchy. Examples may include fallen trees, 
subsidence or flooding, missing covers etc.

Investigatory Levels

It is recognised that on any highway network, a multitude of minor defects will exist which do 
not pose any risk to either the safety or the integrity of the highway and for which it may be 
impractical and inefficient to expend limited financial resources to undertake repairs. Any 
defects which do not meet the Investigatory Levels (as defined within Annex 1) will be 
recorded should the Highway Safety Inspector deem this appropriate (for example, where a 
cluster of such defects may form a potential preventative maintenance scheme in the future). 
Where such defects are recorded, they will be recorded as Cat 2L defects.

1.5 Emergency Procedures 

If a Highway Safety Inspector identifies a defect which is assessed to be sufficiently 
dangerous to require an emergency response, arrangements will be made to make the 
defect safe in accordance with the response times detailed within this document.

Operational procedures are in place to ensure that resources are available during and 
outside normal working hours to ensure that the required response times can be achieved. 

During normal working hours, third party reports are made to the Council’s Customer Contact 
Centre.  If it is determined that an emergency response is required, the details are passed 
directly to the appropriate operational team and resources deployed to meet the required 
response time. 

Page 84



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 39 of 77

Outside of office hours, third party reports of dangerous defects made using the Council’s 
Out of Hours service will be reported to the on call Duty Inspector who will arrange the 
appropriate response within 1 ½ hrs of receiving the call.  Additional resources will also be 
available to attend to specific situations as determined by the Duty Inspector.
.

LOCAL HIGHWAYS OFFICE CONTACT DETAILS 

LOCAL 
HIGHWAYS 

OFFICE

ADDRESS TELEPHONE NUMBER OUT OF 
HOURS

Wardle 
Depot

Cheshire East 
Highways

Wardle Deport
Green Lane

Wardle
CW5 6BJ

Phone: 0300 123 5020

Out-of Hours Emergencies:           
0300 123 5025

Brunswick 
Depot

Cheshire East 
Highways

Brunswick Wharf 
Deport

Brook Street
Congleton
CW12 1RG

Phone: 0300 123 5020

Out-of-Hours Emergencies:           
0300 123 5025

Page 85



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 40 of 77

2. ACTION

2.1 General

A decision made by the Highway Safety Inspector requires an action to be recorded in the 
DCD using the Safety Inspection Software.

2.2 Marking Out Defects For Attention

The defect is to be marked.  Marking should encompass the entire defect where practicable, 
include any adjacent area od deterioration in order to improve the effectiveness of the repair.

Page 86



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 41 of 77

3 SPECIFIC ACTIVITIES

Some activities require particular actions

(a)  Flooding
FL

This Code requires that action is dependant upon the nature & extent 
of flooding and in addition to recommending remedial action, a note of 
the cause of the flooding is required if this is obvious at the time of the 
inspection.  Engineer attendance may be appropriate to establish the 

cause and to consider possible remedial options.

(b)  Hedges and 
Trees

HT

Action that can be carried out or recommended by the inspector will be 
dealt with in the normal way.  Hedge & Tree Notices may need to be 

issued & followed up.

Most of the other defects (dead & dying) associated with trees should 
be referred to a suitably qualified person i.e. Borough Tree Officer who 

will advise the Highway Office on appropriate action.

(c)  
Embankments /  

Cuttings
EC

Failure indicators include water weeping from the slope, longitudinal 
cracking at the top & slumping of the slope.  Action is to be taken as 
soon as possible if hazardous but specialist advice may be needed.  
The Highways Office is to be informed and an engineer's inspection 

recommended /engineer’s visual inspection.

Page 87



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 42 of 77

4. APPENDICES

TABLE A SURFACE TYPES

1 HRA Hot Rolled 
Asphalt 10 OTHR Other

2 BITM Bit Macadam 11 SETT Stone Setts

3 CONC Concrete 12 HFSD High Frict S.  Dress

4 SDRE Surfaced 
Dressed 13 MFLG Mini-Flags

5 GRSS Grass 14 YKST York Stone
6 GRAV Gravel 15 COBB Cobbles
7 FLAG Concrete Flags 16 BLBR Block Pave (Brick)

8 BLCK Block Pave 
(Conc) 17 ANPD Anti-pedestrian

9 UNMD Unmade 18 TACF Tactile flags

TABLE B KERB TYPES

101 CONC Conc Half Batter 108 CBCK Concrete Block

102 STON Natural Stone 109 CONF Conc. Full Batter

103 EXTA Extruded 
Asphalt 110 CONB Conc. Bull Nose

104 OTHR Other 111 CONL Conc. Drop Left

105 BBCK Beaney Block 112 CONR Conc. Drop Right

106 SFTY Safety Kerb 113 CONQ Conc. Quadrant

107 BRIK Brick 114 SETT Setts

TABLE C COVER, GULLY, GRATING, FRAME OR BOX TYPES

201 PARL Parallel Gully 208 WATR Water Authority

202 CHAN Channel Gully 209 STAP Stop Tap

203 SIDE Side Entry 210 HYDT Hydrant

204 OSID Off-set 211 ELEC Electricity

205 SEWR Sewer 212 GASS Gas

206 TCOM Telecom 213 HIGH Highway Drainage

207 CABL Cable TV 214 UNKN Unknown

Page 88



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 43 of 77

TABLE D TRAFFIC SIGNAL LAMP DEFECT TYPES

301 ALLO All lamps out 303 AMBO Amber lamp out

302 REDO Red lamp out 304 GRNO Green lamp out

TABLE E  ROAD STUD CLASSES

401 CLA1 Class 1, 
Prohibitory

402 CLA2 Class 2, Warning 
& Informatory

Page 89



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 44 of 77

Highways Act 1980 Section 58
Highway Safety Inspections 

CODE OF PRACTICE
 

FOR

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

2020

PART 3 – DETAILED GUIDANCE:
CODES

Page 90



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 45 of 77

CONTENTS

PART 3: DETAILED GUIDANCE: CODES

ACTIVITY CODES PAGE
Permitted Codes 45

RESPONSE & INVESTIGATORY CODE
Flexible Carriageway MC 47

Concrete Carriageway CM 50

Footways & Cycle Tracks FC 51

Kerbs, Edgings & Channels KC 53

Covers, Gratings & Frames CG 54

Gullies & Catchpits GC 55

Piped Drainage PD 56

Piped Grips PG 57

Grips GP 58

Ditches DI 59

Filter Drains FD 60

Culverts CV 61

Flooding FL 62
Fences, Guard Rails & Safety 
Barriers FB - BT 63

Verges, Hedges & Trees HT 64

Roadstuds RS 65

Road Markings RM 66

Traffic Signs SG 67

Illuminated Traffic Signs SE 68

Lighting Columns & Points LP 70

Traffic Signals TS 71

Emergency Sweeping & Cleansing SC 72

APPENDIX: TREATMENT CODES

Activity Codes & Treatment Codes 73
Treatment Code Descriptions & 
Attributes 75

Page 91



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 46 of 77

CODE OF PRACTICE
 

FOR

HIGHWAY SAFETY INSPECTIONS 

PART 3 - DETAILED GUIDANCE: CODES

Investigatory levels:

Dimensions given with a ">" symbol: action is to be taken when the dimension is at or 
above the value stated.
Dimensions given with a "<" symbol: action is to be taken when the dimension is 
below the value stated.

PERMITTED ACTIVITY CODES

Carriageways Footways & Cycle Tracks
Flexible carriageway MC
Concrete carriageway CM
Footway and cycle tracks FC

Kerbs Edging & Channels
Kerbs, edging & preformed channel KC

Highway Drainage
Highway drain: covers gratings frames & boxes CG
Highway drain:  gully/ catchpit/ interceptor GC
Highway drain:  piped drain PD
Highway drain:  piped grips PG
Highway drain:  gGrips GP
Highway drain:  ditches DI
Highway drain:  filter drains FD
Highway drain:  culverts CV
Highway drain:  flooding FL

Fences & Barriers
Safety fences:  metal/concrete/timber FB
Safety fences:  steel - tensioned FN
Boundary fences:  metal/concrete BF
Boundary fences:  timber BT

Verges Hedges & Trees
Hedges and trees HT

Page 92



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 47 of 77

PERMITTED BOROUGH ACTIVITY CODES Cont…

Road Studs & Markings
Road studs:  general RS
Road markings RM

Traffic Signs
Non-Illd. Signs (face/struct/fixings) SG
Illuminated Signs SE

Road Lighting
Road lighting columns LP

Traffic Signals
Traffic signals hardware TS

Sweeping & Cleansing 
Carriageway & Footway SC

In brackets on each page by the Activity Description are given the Features Inventory 
Codes to which that Activity applies.

Treatment Codes are shown for each Activity and are described in the Appendix: 
Treatment Codes.

Page 93



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 48 of 77

FLEXIBLE CARRIAGEWAY (CW, LB, XO, CI, CR, HS) MC

NOTES:
Corrections of defects arising from the activities of public undertakers should not be charged 
to the CEC.  If the undertaker does not carry out repair work to a dangerous defect in the 
time given then work is to be carried out by CEC and a charge raised to the undertaker.  
Notification is to be given to the undertaker at all stages and documentation is to accompany 
any charge, which should be agreed where possible with the undertaker

Particular consideration should be given to defects, such as trips & potholes, which may 
constitute an immediate danger to pedestrians and/or cyclists, especially on cycle lanes, 
carriageways or carriageways used by pedestrians.

The table below sets out the Minimum Investigatory Level for consideration by the inspector 
when identifying a defect. Defects which do not satisfy these criteria will not generally be 
identified on a safety inspection, unless the inspector deems it necessary to do so. 

Note: Minimum Investigatory Levels are provided as a guide only. Should the inspector, 
following risk assessment, deem it necessary to record any specific defect at a higher level, 
then they should do so.  

For cycle lanes & pedestrian use the standards in FC apply, not MC
INCLUDE DEPTH OF POTHOLE IN TEXT

Treatment Codes:   / AJL / CPL / EVI / ESI / PRB / PRD / PRE / PRG / PRI / RPL / SOB / 
NON

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Localised Edge 
Deterioration
Surface + L x w + 
text

LODT

If difference in level is equal to or greater than 100mm.  
Cracking & breaking away confined to a discrete area of 

the carriageway and not associated with structural 
maintenance activities. (NOT edge potholes)

Missing carriageway 
element 
Surf+no.+depth+text

MISS If carriageway elements are missing forming a pothole.  
Investigatory level as for POTHOLE

Patch Difference in 
Level
Surface + L x w + 
text

PDLV

If difference in level is equal to or greater than 40mm .
  

Difference in level of a patch with the surrounding 
carriageway.

Pothole
Surface + L x w + 
text

POTH

If difference in level is equal to or greater than 40mm.
.  

May be on the edge or in the main part of the 
carriageway

Single Crack or gap
Surface + L x w + 
text

SCRK
If width of crack is equal to or greater than 20mm and 
equal to or greater than 40mm deep on carriageways 

subject to high to medium pedestrian usage.

Page 94



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 49 of 77

Surfacing Joint - 
Open or Excessive
Surface + L x w + 
text

SRJT
If width of joint is equal to or greater than 20mm and 
equal to or greater than 40mm deep on carriageways 

subject to high to medium pedestrian usage.

Isolated small 
depression or hump
Surface + L x w + 
text

SDPR If small depression or hump is equal to or greater than 
40mm.

Page 95



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 50 of 77

FLEXIBLE CARRIAGEWAY Cont….

SURFACE CODES & DESCRIPTIONS

1 HRA Hot Rolled Asphalt 10 OTHR Other

2 BITM Bit Macadam 11 SETT Stone Setts

3 CONC Concrete 12 HFSD High Frict S.  Dress

4 SDRE S. Dressed 13 MFLG Mini-Flags

5 GRSS Grass 14 YKST York Stone

6 GRAV Gravel 15 COBB Cobbles

7 FLAG Concrete Flags 16 BLBR Block Pave (Brick)

8 BLCK Block Pave (Conc) 17 ANPD Anti-pedestrian

9 UNMD Unmade 18 TACF Tactile flags

Page 96



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 51 of 77

CONCRETE CARRIAGEWAY (CW, LB, XO, CI, CR, HS) CM

Treatment Codes:  / EVI / ESC / RCS / SOB / STR / NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Joint seals
L x w + text JTSL

If width of joint is at or >20 mm and >40 mm deep on 
carriageways subject to pedestrian usage or is 

longitudinal and a danger to cyclists.

Deep spalling at 
joints
 L x w x depth + text

DSPL
At or >20mm in  carriageways subject to pedestrian 

usage.

Opening of 
longitudinal joint  L x 
w x depth + text

OLJT
If width of joint is at or >20 mm and >40 mm deep on 

carriageways subject to pedestrian usage or is a 
hazard to cyclists.

Pothole
L x w + text POTH

If difference in level is equal to or greater than 40mm.
May be on the edge or in the main part of the 

carriageway
Single Crack or joint 
gap

L x w + text

SCRK If width of crack is >20 mm and >40 mm deep on 
carriageways subject to pedestrian usage.

Stepping (trip) at 
joint/crack

L x height + text

STEP At or >20mm in carriageways

Vert movement 
under traffic

Height + text

VMVT At or > 20mm in carriageways 

Page 97



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 52 of 77

FOOTWAYS AND CYCLE TRACKS (FW, CT) FC

DEFINITION: An area for pedestrians/cyclist within the Borough road boundary, including 
subways, underbridges, overbridges and other footways which are the 
responsibility of Cheshire East Council.  Investigatory levels apply to the 
complete width of all cycle lanes and combined bus/cycle/taxi lanes, whether 
segregated from or within the carriageway.  Investigatory levels also apply to 
footway crossing areas on the carriageway, and pedestrianised areas of 
carriageway.

Treatment Codes: /AJL /FLT /EVI /ESI /MFJ /PRB /PRD /PRG /RFX /RPL /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Blacktop Pothole

Surface + L x W + 
text

BPOT Includes potholes and patches
equal to or greater than 20mm in all areas.

Missing
Surf + no. + ht  + text MISS Missing paving units (as pothole)

Trench 
Reinstatement - loss 
of material inc. 
paving units

Surface + L x W + 
text

RLMT

Loss of material (fretting) from a reinstated trench if it 
constitutes a trip or pothole equal to or greater than 20 
mm or cracks and gaps equal to or greater than 20 mm 

wide x 20mm deep. Notify Undertaker concerned.

Trench 
Reinstatement - 
subsidence or overfill
Surface + L x W + 
text

RDLV Ridges equal to or greater than 20mm.
Notify Undertaker concerned.

Isolated small 
depression or hump
Surface + L x W + 
text

SDPR Depressions or humps equal to or greater than 20mm 
deep/high and  less than 250mm wide.  

Surface Joint or Gap
Surface + L x W + 
text

SIFJ Cracks and gaps equal to or greater than 20mm.

Surface Profile 
Uneven
Surface + L x W + 
text

SRPF Ridges equal to or greater than 20 mm. Includes ridges, 
projections and sharp edges (trips),

Page 98



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 53 of 77

Rocking 

Surface + Number + 
Height + text

ROCK If rocking creates a ridge of at or equal to or greater than 
20 mm

SURFACE TYPES AND DESCRIPTIONS

1 HRA Hot Rolled Asphalt 10 OTHR Other

2 BITM Bit Macadam 11 SETT Stone Setts

3 CONC Concrete 12 HFSD High Frict S.  Dress

4 SDRE S. Dressed 13 MFLG Mini-Flags

5 GRSS Grass 14 YKST York Stone

6 GRAV Gravel 15 COBB Cobbles

7 FLAG Concrete Flags 16 BLBR Block Pave (Brick)

8 BLCK Block Pave (Conc) 17 ANPD Anti-pedestrian

9 UNMD Unmade 18 TACF Tactile flags

Page 99



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 54 of 77

KERBS, EDGINGS AND PREFORMED CHANNELS (KB, CH) KC

DEFINITION: This section relates to minor repairs to kerbs, edgings and preformed 
channels of all types.

Treatment Codes: /AJL /EVI /ESI /RFX /RPL /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Vertical projection or 
sunken 
Type + L + Ht + text

EVPJ CAT 1 only if adjoining a footway and creates a 
longitudinal trip equal to or greater than 20mm.

Horizontal projection
Type + L + Ht + text EHPJ

If equal to or greater than 50 mm where a kerb has been 
pushed out into the carriageway, facing traffic.  CAT 1 
only if on the inside of a curve where tyres could over-

ride & burst.

Loose/rocking

Type + L + Ht + text
ELRK Loose or rocking items equal to or greater than 20mm 

which are creating a hazard underfoot.

Missing

Type + L + No + text
MISS CAT 1 only if adjoining a footway and creates a 

longitudinal trip equal to or greater than 20mm.

KERB MATERIAL TYPES
101 CONC Conc Half Batter 108 CBCK Concrete Block
102 STON Natural Stone 109 CONF Conc. Full Batter
103 EXTA Extruded Asphalt 110 CONB Conc. Bull Nose
104 OTHR Other 111 CONL Conc. Drop Left
105 BBCK Beaney Block 112 CONR Conc. Drop Right
106 SFTY Safety Kerb 113 CONQ Conc. Quadrant
107 BRIK Brick 114 SETT Setts

Page 100



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 55 of 77

COVERS, GULLY GRATINGS, FRAMES AND BOXES CG
(CP, MH, GY, IN, PG, IW)
DEFINITION: This section relates to the repairs to and replacement of (where necessary) all 

types of covers, gratings, frames and boxes, which are the responsibility of the 
Borough Council or for which the Borough Council have a responsibility to report 
to the owners.

NOTES:

(i) The majority of covers in carriageways, footways and cycle tracks are the 
responsibility of the Statutory Undertakers and other parties.  Hazardous defects 
should be signed & coned and the owners notified by Highway Office staff by 
phone/FAX.  If repairs are not then carried out in the appropriate time by the 
owners, the authority should carry them out and seek to recover the costs from the 
owners.

(ii) Where defects arise in carriageways subject to medium or high pedestrian use, 
the standards given for footways & cycle tracks should be employed.

Treatment Codes: /AJL /EVI /ESI /FLT /LET /REP /RPL /NON
Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Difference in level 
with road
Type + Ht + text

IDLV

If equal to or greater than 40 mm in c/way or equal to or 
greater than 20mm in footway or cycle track .  

Differential levels between items and the abutting 
surface.

Difference in 
components level
Type + Ht + text

ICLV
If equal to or greater than 20 mm on  footway or a cycle 
track.  Differential levels between different components 

i.e. cover & frame.

Cracked or broken
Type + L + W + text IBCK

A cracked or broken item which is in danger of collapse 
or if an inspector is in doubt should be classed as a 

Category 1 defect.
Missing
Type + L + W + text MISS Missing items should be replaced as soon as possible.

Parallel gratings

Type + L + W + text
PARL

Gully and other gratings in carriageways and cycle 
tracks which have gaps more than 20 mm wide parallel 
to and within the normal line of movement of pedal and 
motor cycles should be corrected as soon as possible.  

Offset gratings unlikely to be Cat 1.

Smooth surface

Type + L + W + text
SMTH

Worn covers which constitute a skidding hazard to pedal 
and motor cycle users in wet conditions should be 
classed as Category 1 where they are located on a 
bend, at a junction or in an area of braking ahead of 

signals etc.
Notify Undertaker concerned.

Page 101



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 56 of 77

GULLIES, CATCHPITS AND INTERCEPTORS (GY, CP, IN) GC

DEFINITION: This section relates to the gully pot itself and any raising pieces below the 
cover.

Treatment Codes: /CLU /RPL /ESI /EVI /NON
Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Flooding
L x w x depth + text FLOD Record as FLOOD (FL).  Treatment as   /ESI to get 

Flood signs in place.

COVER, GULLY, GRATING, FRAME OR BOX TYPE
201 PARL Parallel Gully 208 WATR Water Authority

202 CHAN Channel Gully 209 STAP Stop Tap

203 SIDE Side Entry 210 HYDT Hydrant

204 OSID Off-set 211 ELEC Electricity

205 SEWR Sewer 212 GASS Gas

206 TCOM Telecom 213 HIGH Highway Drainage

207 CABL Cable TV 214 UNKN Unknown

Page 102



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 57 of 77

HIGHWAY DRAINAGE: PIPED DRAINAGE SYSTEMS PD
(FD, GY, CD, PG)

DEFINITION: All types of Piped Drainage Systems including slot drains.

NOTES: (i) Maximum use should be made of emptying & cleansing operations to check 
that piped drainage systems are operating satisfactorily.

(ii) Symptoms of blockage or fault which should normally prompt a detailed 
inspection are, backing up and flooding at the entry points to the system, dry 
outfalls, wet areas and the presence of lush vegetation.

(iii) Before any work is carried out, the ownership of the drainage system should 
be determined.

Treatment Codes: /CLU /EVI /ESI /PVN /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Flooding
L x W x Depth + text FLOD

If creating a dangerous flood on the highway. Treatment 
as /ESI to get Flood signs in place.  And inform highway 

office staff immediately

Flood nuisance to 
properties
text

NPRP flooding properties.

Page 103



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 58 of 77

HIGHWAY DRAINAGE:  PIPED GRIPS  (PG) PG

DEFINITION: Short lengths of pipe carrying water from a channel across the verge direct to a 
ditch, filter drain or soakaway, without a gully-pot but sometimes with a grating.

Treatment Codes: /CLU /EVI /ESI /RPL /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Flooding

L x w x depth + text
FLOD

A dangerous flood on the highway.  Record as FLOOD 
(FL).  Treatment as /ESI to get Flood signs in place.  

And inform highway office staff immediately

Page 104



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 59 of 77

HIGHWAY DRAINAGE:  GRIPS (GP) GP

DEFINITION: An open channel cut across rural verges leading to ditches or filter drains and 
ending at an appropriate distance from the carriageway or hard shoulder.

Treatment Codes: /CLU /ESI /EVI /NON

Safety Inspection 

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Flooding

L x w x Depth + text
FLOD

If causing a dangerous flood on the highway.  Treatment 
as /ESI to get Flood signs in place.  And inform highway 

office staff immediately

Page 105



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 60 of 77

HIGHWAY DRAINAGE: DITCHES (DI) DI

DEFINITION: A channel adjacent to the highway for drainage.  The ditch is not generally a 
part of the highway unless owned by the highway authority.  Check with Flood 
Risk Management Team.

NOTES: Ditches are not generally the responsibility of the Borough Council.  The 
riparian owner of the ditch is to be informed of the defect.

Treatment Codes: /CLU /EVI /ESI /LET /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

 Collapsed bank

L x W x Height + text
CLBK If undermining the carriageway or footway record as 

CAT 1 with a request for an Engineer to inspect.

Flooding

L x W x Height + text
FLOD

If dangerous flooding of the highway itself or adjacent 
property is also occurring.  Also record as FLOOD (FL).  

And inform highway office staff immediately

Page 106



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 61 of 77

HIGHWAY DRAINAGE:  FILTER DRAINS (FD, CD) FD

DEFINITION: A field drain, usually adjacent to a carriageway that may or may not 
incorporate a properly formed invert or collection pipe.

Treatment Codes: /EVI /ESI /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Flooding

L x W x Depth + text
FLOD

Dangerous flooding of the carriageway itself is 
occurring, record as FLOOD (FL).  Treatment as /ESI to 

get Flood signs in place. .  And inform highway office 
staff immediately

Page 107



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 62 of 77

CULVERTS (CV) CV

DEFINITION: This section relates to culverts with diameters at or less than 1.5m, culverts 
with diameters over 1.5m are to be reported to the Bridge Maintenance Section.

Treatment Codes: /CLU /EVI /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Free  flow impeded

percentage + text
FRFL If flooding of the highway is likely over full width or road 

width would be significantly reduced with poor visibility.

Flooding

L x w x depth + text
FLOD

If creating a dangerous flood on the highway.  Also 
record as FLOOD (FL).  Treatment as /ESI to get Flood 

signs in place.  And inform highway office staff 
immediately

Page 108



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 63 of 77

HIGHWAY DRAINAGE: FLOODING FL

(DI, CV, CH, PG, GY, MH, CP, FD, CD, BP, IN, CW, LB, CI, CR, HS, XO, FW, CT)

DEFINITION: Flooding of the highway caused by the inadequate provision or operation of 
highway drainage facilities.  If the cause can be established as an item of 
drainage inventory e.g. GY, that is the cause, then record that.  If the flooding is 
general to the carriageway, then record CW with the cause to be found on later 
investigation.

If the general area is flooded, record as CW or FW etc. so that warning signs 
may be provided.

NOTES: The cause of flooding shall be ascertained and if necessary proposals for 
action recommended.

Treatment Codes: /CLU /EVI /ESI /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Flooding 

L x w x depth + text
FLOD

If road flooded over full width or width significantly 
reduced with poor visibility.

Treatment as /ESI to get Flood signs in place.  And 
inform highway office staff immediately

Page 109



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 64 of 77

FENCES AND BARRIERS FB, FN, BF, BT

(SF, PR, RW, FB, OI)

DEFINITION: All types of boundary fences (including open iron b & w Cheshire fencing) and 
walls, antiglare screen fences, noise barriers, pedestrian guardrails and fences, 
and tensioned / untensioned vehicle safety fences/barriers.

Does not include parapets and guardrails on bridges and other structures or the 
structural elements of noise barriers.

Treatment Codes:  /AJL /EVI /ESI /REP /RPL /NON (FB, FN, BF, BT)

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Missing
L x w x ht + text MISS Only if part of a safety barrier or pedestrian guard-rail.  

Treat = /EVI

Damaged
L x w x ht + text DAMM Only if safety barrier bent / displaced.  Inform the owner 

of stock as if stock in the field.  Treat = /EVI

Page 110



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 65 of 77

HEDGES AND TREES (HG, TR, TC) HT

DEFINITION: This section relates to the maintenance of hedges and trees which are the 
responsibility of the Borough Council or which, although the responsibility of 
others are causing a nuisance or obstruction to the highway. contact: Borough 
Tree Officer.

Treatment Codes: /CUT /EVI /ESI /LET /TEL /NON

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Unstable/overgrown

L + number + text
UNST A branch or tree is clearly broken & swaying about 

above the road it is to be treated as an emergency.

Dead tree

height + text
DTRE A dead highway tree is clearly broken & leaning over 

above the road it is to be treated as an emergency.

Dying/dead branch

length x ht + text
DBRA If a dead branch is clearly broken & swaying about 

above the road it is to be treated as an emergency.

Obscured sign or 
Traffic Signal Head

text

OBSN 24 hour response only for Signal Heads, mandatory 
signs.

Overgrown & 
obstructing the way

Length + text

OVER

If the growth is forcing pedestrians off the footway into 
the path of traffic or if branches are projecting into 

carriageway.
Length = length of highway affected

Page 111



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 66 of 77

ROADSTUDS  (RS) RS

DEFINITION: Reflective and non-reflective road studs of all types and colours including 'Cats 
eyes'.

Treatment Codes:   /EVI /ESI /PRG /RFC /RFX /RPL /STK /NON

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Loose cats eye 
casing
Type + Number + 
text

LCAS Remove immediately then record another defect at this 
EXACT location as RS - MISC.

Type 401 = Class 1, prohibitory Type 402 = Class 2, warning & informatory

Page 112



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 67 of 77

ROAD MARKINGS (RM, LL, LH, PX, RF) RM

DEFINITION: This section relates only to mandatory road markings in paint or thermoplastic 
materials, these markings may be longitudinal, transverse, hatched & special 
road markings, but not to edge markings.

Treatment Codes: /EVI /REM /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Completely Missing 
Markings

Number + text

MISS

Only if a mandatory marking;
Stop or Give-way line.

Give way triangle
STOP wording

Page 113



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 68 of 77

TRAFFIC SIGNS (SG, SB, RF) SG

DEFINITION: This section relates to all non-illuminated road traffic signs & permanent 
bollards.  A special Section, SE, is provided for electrical faults in illuminated 
signs.

Treatment Codes: / CLO / ESI / EVI / LET / PVN / TEL / REP / RPL / RSL / NON

ID No. & Diag No. are prompted for just before "Defect Code".

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Physical condition of 
fittings.
text

COFT If in danger of falling into the road or onto pedestrians.

Physical condition of 
frame
text

COFR If in danger of falling into the road or onto pedestrians.

Physical condition of 
post
text

COPT If in danger of falling into the road or onto pedestrians.

Damaged.

text
DAMG

If in danger of falling into the road or if non-functional for 
Stop 601.1 & Give Way 602 at junctions with busy or 

high speed roads & Slippery Road 557 signs.
Post Leaning

text
LEAN

If clearly dangerous i.e. could fall.  In emergency, then 
phone message to Area highways office foe street 

lighting attendance and action.
Missing

text
MISS For Stop 601.1 & Give Way 602 signs at junctions with 

busy or high speed roads.

Pointing wrong way

text
RWAY

For Stop 601.1 & Give Way 602 signs at junctions with 
busy or high speed roads.

Do not record direction or other information signs.

Page 114



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 69 of 77

ILLUMINATED ROAD TRAFFIC SIGNS (SG, SB, RF) SE

DEFINITION: This section relates to all illuminated road traffic signs including permanent 
bollards.

NOTES During recent years some illuminated traffic signs have been replaced with non-
illuminated ones.  In many cases the old wide-based posts have been left, 
sometimes still containing an electrical supply.  Instances of such sign posts 
are to be recorded & reported to the Street Lighting Section, during office hours 
or the highway duty officer outside normal office hours in case of difficulty.

Treatment Codes:    /ESI /EVI /LET /PVN /TEL /REP /RPL /RSL /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Defects as for SG
COFT to 
DIRT & 
MISS

Guidance as for SG

Accident damage

Response time + text
DAMG

If the post is in an obviously dangerous state, immediate 
phone message to relevant Street Lighting Officer for 

contractor to respond within ONE hour.  Enter 
Response Time as 1½hrs.

Exposed wiring
Response time + text EXPW Phone as above.  Enter Response time as 1½ hrs

Electrical Arcing

text
EARC Phone as above.  Enter Response time as 1½ hrs.

Page 115



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 70 of 77

ILLUMINATED ROAD TRAFFIC SIGNS Cont

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Lantern Bowl 
hanging 

text

LBHG If bowl is hanging.

Post Leaning or 
Bracket Arm hanging 
by cable

Response time + text

LEAN

If clearly leaning at a dangerous angle or bracket is 
hanging by its cable, then phone message to relevant 
Street Lighting Client Officer to respond within 1½ 

hours.

Missing Door (Open, 
off or missing ) 
Response time + text

MISP
Phone message to relevant Street Lighting Officer to 

respond within 1½ hours.  If children near, stay by post.  
Do NOT attempt to touch post.

Pointing wrong way 
or twisted text RWAY

For Stop 601.1 & Give Way 602 signs at junctions with 
busy or high speed roads.

Do not record direction or other information signs.

Underground Cables 
Exposed Response 
time + text

UXPW If insulation damaged then phone message to relevant 
Street Lighting Officer to respond within 1½ hours.

Page 116



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 71 of 77

ROAD LIGHTING COLUMNS  (LP) LP

DEFINITION: This section relates to the routine maintenance of road lighting installations.

Treatment Codes:   /ESI /EVI /LET /PVN /REP /TEL /RSL /NON
Identity No. prompted for just before "Defect Code"

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Electrical Arcing/ 
buzzing
text

EARC The sound of electrical buzzing from within the column.

Exposed wiring

Response time + text
EXPW Telephone message to relevant Street Lighting Officer 

response time 1½ hours

Accident damage

Response time +  
text

DAMG
If the column is in an obviously dangerous state, phone 
message to relevant Street Lighting Officer, response 

time 1½ hours.

Lantern Bowl 
hanging or Bracket 
Arm twisted

text

LBHG If bowl is hanging or bracket arm is twisted.

Column Leaning 
unreasonably or 
Bracket Arm hanging 
by cable

Response time + text

LEAN

If clearly leaning at a dangerous angle or the bracket is 
hanging by its cable i.e. could fall, then phone message 

to relevant Street Lighting Officer, response time 1½ 
hours.

Missing Door (Open, 
off or missing)

Response time + text

MISP
Phone message to relevant Street Lighting Officer, 

response time 1½ hours..  Do not touch post.  If children 
near stay by post.

Underground Cables 
Exposed

Response time + text

UXPW If insulation damaged then phone message to relevant 
Street Lighting Officer, response time 1½ hours.

Page 117



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 72 of 77

TRAFFIC SIGNALS    (TS, DL) TS

DEFINITION: This section relates to the routine maintenance of road signal installations.  
Telephone message to Traffic Signals Section,  Immediate action taken = TEL 
to show that a phone message passed to the Traffic Signals Section.

Treatment Codes: /CUT /ESI /EVI /LET /RFX /REP /RPL /TEL /NON

Safety Inspection

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE COMMENTS

Alignment or 
Obscuration
Response time + text

ALOB

If drivers cannot see heads or alignment, cleanliness 
and visibility of signal heads Immediate phone message 

to Traffic Signals Section.
Enter reported to Traffic Signals Section.

Corrosion holes in 
post or box

Response Time + 
text 

CORR

Severe corrosion holes allowing access to electrical 
equipment, particularly on doors or near ground level. 
Immediate phone message to Traffic Signals Section.

Enter reported to Traffic Signals Section.

Damaged

Response time + text
DAMG

If non-functional.   All lights out immediate phone 
message to  Traffic Signals Section

Enter reported to Traffic Signals Section.
Lamp Out

Type + Response 
Time + text

LAMP Any lamps out immediate phone message to Traffic 
Signals Section.

Enter reported to Traffic Signals Section.

Post Leaning or 
Loose Signal Head
Response Time + 
text 

LEAN
If clearly dangerous i.e. could fall immediate phone 

message to Traffic Signals Section..   
Enter reported to Traffic Signals Section.

Missing Door

Response time + text
MISP Immediate phone message to Traffic Signals Section.

Enter reported to Traffic Signals Section.

Underground Cables 
Exposed
Response time + text

UXPW

If insulation damaged then immediate phone message 
to  Traffic Signals Section

Enter reported to Traffic Signals Section.

Page 118



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 73 of 77

SWEEPING & CLEANSING  (CI, CR, CW, HS, LB, XO) SC

DEFINITION: This section is included to deal with mud & debris on the highway.

Treatment Codes: /CLO /ESI /LET /SWP /NON

DESCRIPTION DEFECT 
CODE GUIDANCE

Mud on Road

L x w + text
SLOP

Slurry or mud on the road.  24 hour response if on a 
strategic route (2) or Main Distributor (3(a)) `or other 

busy road.  Notify those causing the problem.  
Immediate notification of Highways Office if road surface 

likely to be dangerous to get warning signs set up as 
soon as possible.

Council will inform Police and take action to have 
slippery surface cleaned at cost to those causing it if 

they do not take immediate action.

Material deposited on 
the highway surface

L x w x text

MUCK

Immediate action may be necessary to identify the 
source & cause of the danger and to notify those 
causing the problem that they face prosecution.  

Immediate notification of Highways Office.
"Material" includes Diesel oil spillage - make clear in 

text.

Excess Surface 
Dressing Chippings L 
x w x text

CHIP

The defect is most likely to be present following surface 
dressing of the road

Note as Contractor Works in text.
If “loose chippings” signs not present notify Highways 

Office immediately.

Page 119



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 74 of 77

APPENDIX: TREATMENT CODES

ACTIVITY 
CODE

ACTIVITY CODE 
DESCRIPTION TREATMENT CODE

BF Boundary fences: 
Metal/concrete /EVI /LET /REP /RPL /NON

BT Boundary fences: Timber /EVI /LET /REP /RPL /NON

CG Covers, gratings, frames and 
boxes /AJL /CLU /EVI /ESI /FLT /LET /REP /RPL /NON

CM Concrete carriageway repairs /EVI /ESI /RCS /SOB /STR /NON

CV Highway drainage: Culverts /CLU /EVI /NON

DI Highway drainage: Ditches /CLU /EVI /ESI /LET /NON

EC Embankments and cuttings /EVI /NON

FB Fences and barriers /AJL /EVI /ESI /REP /RPL /NON

FC Footways and cycle tracks /AJL /FLT /EVI /ESI /MFJ /PRB /PRD /PRG 
/RFX /RPL /SOB /NON

FD Filter Drain /EVI /ESI /NON

FL Highway drainage: Flooding /CLU /EVI /ESI /NON

FN Safety fences: Steel - tension /AJL /EVI /ESI /REP /RPL /NON

GA Grassed areas /CUT /EVI /ESI /LET /SBV /NON

PD Highway drainage: Piped 
drainage systems /CLU /EVI /ESI /PVN /NON

Page 120



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 75 of 77

APPENDIX: TREATMENT CODES

ACTIVITY 
CODE ACTIVITY CODE DESCRIPTION TREATMENT CODE

GC Highway drainage: Gullies, 
Catchpits, Interceptors /CLU /RPL /ESI /EVI /NON

GP Highway drainage: Grips /CLU /ESI /EVI /NON

HT Hedges and trees: General /CUT /EVI /ESI /LET /TEL /NON

KC Kerbs, edgings and preformed 
channels /AJL /EVI /RFX /RPL /NON

LP Road lighting /ESI /EVI /LET /PVN /REP /TEL /RSL /NON

MC Flexible carriageway repairs /AJL /CPL /EVI /ESI /PRA /PRB /PRD /PRE 
/PRG /PRI /RPL /SOB /NON

PD Highway drainage: Piped 
drainage systems /CLU /EVI /ESI /LET /PVN /NON

PG Highway drainage: Piped grips /CLU /EVI /ESI /RPL /NON

RM Road markings /EVI /ESI /REM /NON

RS Road studs: General /EVI /ESI /PRG /RFC /RFX /RPL /STK /NON

SE Illuminated Signs /CLO /ESI /EVI /LET /PVN /TEL /REP /RPL 
/RSL /NON

SG Road traffic signs /CLO /ESI /EVI /LET /PVN /TEL /REP /RPL 
/RSL /NON

SC Emergency Sweeping & 
Cleansing /CLO /ESI /LET /SWP /NON

TS Traffic signals /CUT /ESI /EVI /LET /RFX /REP /RPL /TEL 
/NON

Page 121



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 76 of 77

APPENDIX: TREATMENT CODES

TREATMENT 
CODE TREATMENT CODE DESCRIPTION DEFECT ATTRIBUTE DESCRIPTION

All may not be present for any defect
AJL Adjust level, refix/relay Height, text
CLO Clean only Length, width, text
CLU Clear/unblock Percentage, text
CPL Cold Planings (Surface) Type, length, width, text
CUT Cut/trim Length, width, height, text
ESI Emergency Sign/cone & maintain Length, width, height, text
EVI Engineer to Visit Site Text
FLT Fillet, mortar/asphalt Length, height, text
LET Notify owner: FAX/ Phone/ Letter Length, height, text
MFJ Mortar Fill to Joint (Surface) Type, length, width, text
PRA Patch - edge key & asphalt only (Surface) Type, length, width, text
PRB Patch - edge key & bitmac only (Surface) Type, length, width, text

PRD Patch-complete excavation & bitmac 
only (Surface) Type, length, width, text

PRE Patch-complete excav.& bitmac & 
asphalt (Surface) Type, length, width, text

PRG Patch - no excavation & bitmac only (Surface) Type, length, width, text

Page 122



 

Final Draft October 2019 Page 77 of 77

APPENDIX: TREATMENT CODES

TREATMENT 
CODE TREATMENT CODE DESCRIPTION

DEFECT ATTRIBUTE DESCRIPTION
All may not be present for any 

defect
PRI Patch using hot rolled asphalt (Surface) Type, length, width, text

PVN Provide new Emergency response, height, text

TEL Telephone Emergency Call Out Length, height, text

RCS Reconstruct Length, width, height, text

REM Re-mark Length, percentage remaining, text

REP Repair Length, text

RFC Remove Stud Fill Cavity Number, text

RFX Refix (Surface) Type, length, width, text

RPL Replace Length, width, height, text

RSL Inform Street Lighting Emergency Response, text

RTS Inform Traffic Signal Control Centre Emergency Response, text

SBV Side back verge Length, width, height, text

SOB Seal/overband Length, width, height, text

STK Renew Dual Coloured Stick on Studs Number, text

SWP Sweep (Surface) Length, width, text

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Final Draft October 2019

WINTER & ADVERSE WEATHER POLICY 2020

Page 125



Final Draft October 2019

Policy: Winter and Adverse Weather Service

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Statutory Responsibility

The statutory basis for winter service in England and Wales is Section 41 (1A) of the 
Highways Act 1980, which was modified on 31st October 2003, by Section 111 of 
the Railways and Transport Act 2003. 

This duty is not absolute given its qualification of reasonableness and practicability. It 
is not considered reasonably practicable or affordable to carry out planned 
precautionary treatment of the entire network, or that the treated network is kept free 
from snow and ice at all times.  In addition, the Traffic Management Act 2004 placed 
a network management duty on all local traffic authorities in England. It requires 
authorities to do all that is reasonably practicable to manage the network effectively 
to keep traffic moving. In meeting the duty, authorities should establish contingency 
plans for dealing promptly and effectively with unplanned events, such as 
unforeseen weather conditions, as far as is reasonable and practicable.

1.2 National Guidance

Well Managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of Practice 2016 (WMHI), although 
not statutory, provides guidance to Highway Authorities on highways management.  
It promotes the adoption of an integrated asset management approach and 
establishment of local levels of service through risk-based assessment. 

2.0 Aims

2.1 Subject to available resources, and as far as is reasonably practicable, The 
Council aims to:

 Safeguard the travelling public from the hazardous effects of snow and protect 
the public from adverse weather conditions such as extreme winds, flooding 
etc. 

 Consider integrating its winter and adverse weather response with wider 
objectives such as transport provision, network resilience, including access to 
key public service locations and emergency planning.

 During periods of prolonged severe weather events, monitor, review and 
deliver additional services.

2.2 Winter and adverse weather service should integrate with wider objectives 
such as transport, network resilience and emergency planning. 

Page 126



Final Draft October 2019

3.0 Policy

3.1 The Council will produce an annual Adverse Weather Plan (AWP), adopting 
the principles of WMHI.  The AWP will include details of the systems, 
resilience, resources and processes that will be utilised in responding to 
individual weather events including winter service.

3.2 Proactive winter service and other emergency operations will normally be 
undertaken based upon available weather forecast information, knowledge of 
prevailing local weather conditions and resource availability.  

3.3 The Council will, where reasonably practicable, carry out gritting of 
carriageway surfaces prior to the formation of ice on routes defined in the 
AWP (pre-treatment).  These routes will be designed in accordance with 
WMHI, adopting a risk-based approach using the network hierarchy and other 
local factors.

3.4 The Council may carry out treatments including gritting and ploughing, to 
address the formation of ice and/or fallen snow (post treatment).  

3.5 The routine precautionary treatment of footways and footway cycleways will 
not be carried out.

3.6 During prolonged severe winter weather conditions, all available resources 
may be continuously employed in maintaining the predefined road network. 
However, where possible, the Council will work in partnership with the Town 
and Parish Councils, and supply chain partners to arrange for snow clearance 
work on local roads and in town centre areas.

3.7 Consideration will be given to addressing winter conditions on areas of the 
public highway which are not included on the treated network.  This may 
include the provision of grit bins and salt piles to facilitate community self-
help.

3.8 Details of all planned winter service actions will be communicated via the 
Council’s website and social media accounts.  Information relating to actions 
planned in response to weather warnings and during snow and adverse 
weather events will also be provided.

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21           

 

   Page | 0  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2020/21 

Cheshire East Council 

Adverse Weather Plan 

Page 129



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 1  

 

  

Authors:  

Simon Davies  

John Tickle 

Organisation:  

Cheshire East Highways 

Page 130



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 2  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cheshire East Council  

Adverse Weather Plan 

 

2020 - 2021 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rev Date Status Written By Reviewed By 
Authorized 

By 

1  Draft 1 Simon Davies   

Page 131



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 3  

 

Contents 

Distribution List ......................................................................................................................... 7 

 General Arrangements .................................................................................................... 10 1.0

 Introduction and Purpose ................................................................................................ 10 1.1

 Definitions and Abbreviations ......................................................................................... 11 1.2

 Service Arrangements ...................................................................................................... 13 1.3

 Service Delivery ............................................................................................................... 19 1.4

 Fleet, Depots and Plant .................................................................................................... 23 1.5

 Performance Monitoring ................................................................................................. 26 1.6

 Weather forecasting & Climatic Domains ......................................................................... 27 2.0

 Decision Making .............................................................................................................. 29 2.1

 Treatments for Snow and Ice ........................................................................................... 33 2.2

 Treated Network Route Plans .......................................................................................... 36 2.3

 Secondary Route details .................................................................................................. 37 2.4

 Winter Stakeholder Communications .............................................................................. 37 2.5

 Information Recording and Monitoring ............................................................................ 39 2.6

 Response to Police or public calls..................................................................................... 41 2.7

 Non Winter Adverse Weather .......................................................................................... 42 3.0

3.0.1 Adverse Weather Warnings ...........................................................................................   43 

 Multi Agency Flood Response Plan .................................................................................. 44 3.1

 High Winds / Storms ........................................................................................................ 44 3.2

 Subsidence, Heave and High Temperatures ..................................................................... 45 3.3

 Appendices ...................................................................................................................... 46 4.0

Page 132



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 4  

 

 

  

Page 133



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 5  

 

List of Tables 

Table 1 - Definitions and Abbreviations ........................................................................................................... 11 

Table 2 - Season Definitions ............................................................................................................................. 14 

Table 3 - Network Hierarchy………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………15 

Table 4 - Minimum Treated Network .............................................................................................................. 16 

Table 5 - Additional Emergency Network Treatment Locations ...................................................................... 17 

Table 6 - Route Summary Information ............................................................................................................ 19 

Table 7 - Depot/Plant Availability .................................................................................................................... 23 

Table 8 - North Depot ...................................................................................................................................... 23 

Table 9 - South Depot ...................................................................................................................................... 23 

Table 10 - Salt Stock Levels .............................................................................................................................. 25 

Table 11 - Table HI - Decision Matrix ............................................................................................................... 31 

Table 12 - Table H2 .......................................................................................................................................... 32 

Table 13 - Effectiveness of 10g/m2 ................................................................................................................. 34 

Table 14 - Effective Required Spread Rate ...................................................................................................... 34 

 

 

  

Page 134



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 6  

 

List of Figures 

Figure 1 - Depot Locations ............................................................................................................................... 24 

Figure 2 - Weather Station Locations .............................................................................................................. 28 

Figure 3 - Adverse Weather Desk Hub ............................................................................................................. 40 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 135

file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/East%20Highway%20Services/Maintenance%20and%20Localities/Locality%20North%20and%20South/Well%20Managed%20Highway%20Infrastructure/Winter/Adverse%20Weather%20Plan%20draft%202019-20%20Rev%203%20SD.docx%23_Toc536088849
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/East%20Highway%20Services/Maintenance%20and%20Localities/Locality%20North%20and%20South/Well%20Managed%20Highway%20Infrastructure/Winter/Adverse%20Weather%20Plan%20draft%202019-20%20Rev%203%20SD.docx%23_Toc536088851
file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/East%20Highway%20Services/Maintenance%20and%20Localities/Locality%20North%20and%20South/Well%20Managed%20Highway%20Infrastructure/Winter/Adverse%20Weather%20Plan%20draft%202019-20%20Rev%203%20SD.docx%23_Toc536088852


Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21           

 

   Page | 7  

 

 

Distribution List 

Organisation  Name 
Copy Type / 
Number 

Comments 

Cheshire East 
Highways  

Chris Shields - Contract 
Director  

Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Ian McLellan - Contract 
Manager 

Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Gary Mallin – Contract 
Manager 

Link to pdf  

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Simon Davies - Operations 
Manager 

Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

John Tickle – Resilient 
Network  Manager 

P1   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Mike Evans - Depot Manager  
Wardle 

Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Chris Barton - Depot Manager  
Brunswick Wharf 

Link to pdf  

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Out Of Hours Duty Officer x6 Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Duty Supervisor x4 Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Duty inspector x2 Link to pdf  

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Carla Woolridge 
Communications Manager   

Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Lynne Nixon - Local Highways 
Officer Team Leader 

Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Paul Reeves - Flood Risk 
Manager 

Link to pdf  

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Network Intelligence  Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Mark Heywood - Capital 
Delivery 

Link to pdf   

Cheshire East 
Highways 

Jeff Quimby – H&S Advisor Link to pdf  

Cheshire East Council 
Paul Traynor - Strategic 
Commissioning Manager 

Link to pdf 
 

Page 136



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 8  

 

Cheshire East Council 
Matthew Davenhill – Contract 
Asset  Manager  

P2   

Cheshire East Council Communications Team pdf   

Cheshire East Council CCTV pdf   

Cheshire East Council Emergency  Planning Team pdf  

Stockport 
Metropolitan Borough 
Council  

Transport and Streets pdf  

Staffordshire County 
Council 

Transport and Highways  pdf   

Shropshire County 
Council   

Environmental Maintenance pdf   

Derbyshire County 
Council 

Strategic Director of  
Environmental Services 
Transport and Roads 

pdf 
 

Area 10  Amey  
Chris Chadwick -  Emergency 
Planning Officer  

pdf   

Cheshire West & 
Chester Council  

Mike Young Area Engineer, 
Contract Delivery 
Tel: 01244 973973 

 

pdf   

Cheshire Police 
Andy Eadon - Contingency 
Planner Cheshire Police 
Winsford  

pdf   

Cheshire Fire and 
Rescue 

 pdf  

Willis Bros Steve Willis -Director P3 
 

Dodgson’s Surfacing   Steve Dodgson - Director P4  

L&R Road Markings  Mark Oakes  – Contract Mgr P5  

National Health Service  Jim Deacon   pdf  

Ambulance Service  Mike Ashburner  pdf  

Education  Mark Bailey  pdf  

  
 

 

Page 137



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 9  

 

P = Paper Copy 
 

 
 

     
  

Page 138



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 10  

 

 General Arrangements 1.0

 Introduction and Purpose 1.1

This document describes Cheshire East Council’s strategy to prepare for, prevent and respond to the 
impact of adverse weather conditions on the highway network, particularly relating to ice and snow but 
also including storms, heavy rain, high winds and extreme heat.  The strategy covers arrangements for 
roads that are the responsibility of Cheshire East Council. It specifically excludes arrangements for roads 
within Cheshire East that are the responsibility of Highways England, i.e. 

 M6 and the slip roads throughout the Borough. 

 A556 Chester Road from Bowden to Junction 19 M6. 

 M56 from junction 9 to Borough boundary  

Local self-help plays an important part in dealing with snow and other adverse weather conditions. 
Arrangements for work which may be carried out by Town and Parish Councils are included in this plan. 

The Adverse Weather Plan will be reviewed annually. This plan is a live document and the Council reserves 
the right to update and amend it at any time.  

The Adverse Weather Plan can be read as a standalone document but should be read in conjunction with: 

 Cheshire East Council Winter Service Policy   

 Well Managed Highway Infrastructure, A Code of Practice 

 The Cheshire Health and Wellbeing (HWB) Major Emergency Response Update  

 The Cheshire East Council Flood Mitigation Policy  

 The Cheshire Severe Weather Plan  

  

Page 139



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 11  

 

 Definitions and Abbreviations 1.2

Table 1 - Definitions and Abbreviations 

 
Definition 

Network Hierarchy 
The classification of all roads based on use, resilience, local economic 
and social factors. 

Treated Network 
The defined roads in Cheshire East that will be pre-treated before the 
onset of ice or snow. 

Minimum Winter 
Network 

The Minimum Winter Network (MWN) provides a minimum essential 
service to the public, including links to the strategic network, access to 
key facilities and other transport needs.  

Resilient Network 
The category of roads to which priority is given for maintenance and 
other measures to maintain economic activity and access key services. 

Resilient Network 
Manager(RNM) 

The Resilient Network Manager coordinates winter service and 
emergency operations in accordance with the Adverse Weather Plan 
and is responsible for making daily weekday winter service decisions 
during normal working hours. 

Winter Service Duty 
Officer (WSDO) 

The Winter Service Duty Officer is responsible for making winter 
service decisions outside normal working hours during their period of 
duty. 

Winter Service 
Verification Officer 
(WSVO) 

The Winter Service Verification Officer supports the WSDO and 
verifies all decisions. 

Duty Supervisor (DS) 
The Duty Supervisor acts as the operational co-ordinator and ensures 
that instructions are carried out. 

Lead Winter Service 
Operative (LWSO) 

The Lead Winter Service Operative at each depot liaises with the Duty 
Supervisor and manages the operatives from that depot. 

Strategic Manager 
(Gold) 

Where a strategic level of management is required then the Strategic 
Manager will be a representative from the Cheshire East Borough 
Council management team. 

Tactical Manager 
(Silver) 

Where a tactical level of management is required then the Tactical 
Manager, from Cheshire East Highways, will provide operational 
management decisions and advice to the Strategic Manager where 
required. 

Adverse Weather 
Desk (AWD) 

Adverse Weather Desk – Operational procedures and central location 
for managing all adverse weather events.  

CEH Cheshire East Highways. 

CFRS Cheshire Fire and Rescue Service. 

DEPO Duty Emergency Planning Officer. 

EPU Emergency Planning Unit. 

Climatic Domain 
A geographical area that exhibits similar climatic properties. In 
Cheshire East there are three distinct climatic domains: East, Central 
and South. 

Page 140



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 12  

 

 
Definition 

Freezing Rain 
Freezing rain is a weather condition where rain falls and freezes on 
contact with the surface.  

g/m2 
Grams per square metre is the common method of expressing salt 
spread rates. 

Hoar Frost 
Where the temperature is below the dew point and below zero a hoar 
frost may form where small ice crystals will form on the surface.  

Ice 
Where there is water on the surface and temperatures fall below zero 
this will form ice. 

Pre Treatment 
Treatment that may be carried out either before the on-set of ice or 
snow. 

Post Treatment 
Treatment that may be carried out after the formation of ice or snow 
has fallen. 

Operational Area A geographical area for the purposes of operational management. 

RST Road Surface Temperature. 

Seepage 
Water may be on the surface for reasons other than rainfall, such as 
through surface water run-off from verges and drainage systems. 

Treatment 
Includes salting, gritting, snow ploughing, the application of any salt 
or equivalent solution, or any other process or activity that the 
Council use in carrying out this function. 

Wash Off 
When it rains following a salting treatment much of the salt can be 
washed off. If temperatures are below zero then additional 
treatments may be required. 

 

  

Page 141



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 13  

 

 Service Arrangements 1.3

 Statutory responsibility 1.3.1

The statutory basis for winter service in England and Wales is Section 41 (1A) of the Highways Act 1980, 
which was modified on 31st October 2003, by Section 111 of the Railways and Transport Act 2003. The first 
part of Section 41 now reads: 

“a) The authority who are for the time being the highway authority for a highway maintainable at 
the public expense are under a duty to maintain the highway. 

b) (1) In particular, a highway authority are under a duty to ensure, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, that safe passage along a highway is not endangered by snow or ice.” 

This duty is not absolute given its qualification of reasonableness and practicability. In addition, the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 placed a network management duty on all local traffic authorities in England. It 
requires Authorities to do all that is reasonably practicable to manage the network effectively to keep 
traffic moving. In meeting the duty, Authorities should establish contingency plans for dealing promptly 
and effectively with unplanned events, such as unforeseen weather conditions, as far as is reasonable and 
practicable. 

 National Guidance 1.3.2

Well Managed Highway Infrastructure: A Code of Practice 2016 (WMHI), although not statutory, provides 
guidance to Highway Authorities on highways management.  It promotes the adoption of an integrated 
asset management approach and establishment of local levels of service through risk-based assessment.  

Cheshire East Council (CEC) provides a robust adverse weather service, responding to winter and other 
adverse weather conditions. The extent of the service provided will vary depending upon the severity and 
nature of adverse weather conditions and availability of resources  

In practice CEC aims to safeguard the travelling public from the hazardous effects of snow, ice or other 
adverse weather conditions so far as it is practicably able to with the resources available. Proactive winter 
maintenance and other emergency operations will normally be undertaken based upon available weather 
forecast information, knowledge of prevailing local weather conditions and resource availability. 

 

  

Page 142



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 14  

 

 Winter Maintenance Season 1.3.3

The core winter service season is from the 1st November to 31st March with the option to extend from 
October to April as required. Table 2 below highlights the relative risks at various points throughout the 
season.  

Table 2 - Season Definitions 

Season 
Period 

Definition Months 
Likely 
Conditions 

High 

The period of the winter season when 
the frequency of freezing road 
conditions and/or snowfall is most 
likely. 

December, 
January, 
February 

Severe- 
Probable 

Medium 

The period of the winter season when 
the frequency of freezing road 
conditions and/or snowfall is 
expected but less likely.  

November, 
March 

Severe - May 
Occur 

Low 

The period of the winter season when 
the frequency of freezing road 
conditions and/or snowfall is least 
likely but still possible. 

October, 
April 

Severe - Not 
Expected 

 Winter Treatment Strategy 1.3.4

When icy road conditions are forecast precautionary salting will be carried out on routes detailed in the 
predefined treated road network.   These routes have been developed in accordance with guidance 
provided in WMHI and are based on the Council’s current Winter Service Policy. 

In accordance with WMHI the Council has developed a Network Hierarchy in order to prioritise its 
resources in the most effective way allowing it to better address the various risks and issues associated 
with the management of the highway network. Each road is categorised in accordance with the criteria 
outlined in Table 3 below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 143



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 15  

 

 

Table 3 Network Hierarchy 

CATEGORY CRITERIA 

Resilient Network  The category of roads to which priority is given for maintenance and 
other measures to maintain economic activity and access key 
services 

Strategic Routes   Trunk and some Principal 'A' class roads between Primary 
Destinations, routes for fast moving long distance traffic with little 
frontage access or pedestrian traffic. Speed limits are usually in 
excess of 40 mph and there are few junctions. 

Main Distributors Routes between Strategic Routes and linking urban centres to the 
Strategic Network with limited frontage access. 

Secondary 
Distributors 

B and C class roads and some unclassified urban routes carrying 
buses. In residential and other built up areas these roads have 20 or 
30 mph speed limits and very high levels of pedestrian activity with 
some crossing facilities including zebra crossings. 

Link Roads  Roads linking between the Main and Secondary Distributor Network 
with frontage access and frequent junctions. In urban areas these are 
residential or industrial interconnecting roads with 20 or 30 mph 
speed limits, random pedestrian movements and uncontrolled 
parking. In rural areas these roads link the smaller villages to the 
distributor roads. 

Local Access Roads Roads serving limited numbers of properties carrying only access 
traffic. In rural areas these roads serve small settlements and provide 
access to individual properties and land. They are often only single 
lane width and unsuitable for HGVs. In urban areas they are often 
residential loop roads or cul-de-sacs. 

With reference to the Network Hierarchy, all roads categorised as Resilient Network, Strategic Routes and 
Main Distributors will be included on the precautionary salting routes.  This will include all A class roads. All 
B class roads will also be included on the routes and are identified as Secondary Distributors.  Other roads 
categorised as Secondary Distributors, Link Roads, Local Access Roads and Minor Roads will be risk-
assessed for inclusion on the routes.   Risk assessments are undertaken by CEH Winter Service staff to 
determine the inclusion of an element of the network into the Treated Network, with consideration to a 
number of factors, including but not limited to: 

 Wider transport policy priorities 

 The Resilient Network 

 Safe and reliable access to emergency facilities such as Fire and Rescue, Police, Ambulance, 
hospitals and medical centres 

 Public service and critical infrastructure where maintenance of access may be critical 

 Public transport routes and access to railway stations, transport hubs, bus garages and depots 

 Safe and reliable access to main industrial and business centres of key importance to the local and 
regional economy 

Page 144



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 16  

 

 Any variations between summer and winter traffic 

 Accessibility dependencies of remote communities, particularly in the High East Domain 

 Special needs of disabled people or older people where these can be effectively targeted 

 Known geographical problems such as significant gradients, exposed areas, low-lying roads at risk of 
frost etc. 

 Climatic and thermal capacity differences within an area 

 Coordination and cooperation with neighbouring authorities 
 

CEC Treatment Network covers xxx km of its road network. Detailed route descriptions are defined in 
Section 2.  

1.3.4.1 Severe Weather Conditions 

It is recognised that during severe winter weather conditions, e.g. snowfall or prolonged freezing 
conditions, all available resources may be continuously employed in maintaining the predefined road 
network. During such periods, CEC will work in partnership with the Town and Parish Councils and supply 
chain partners to arrange for snow clearance work on local roads and in town centre areas. 

1.3.4.2 Minimum Winter Network 

During prolonged periods of snow or extremely low temperatures which in turn cause problems with salt 
deliveries, in consultation with senior managers of the Council, consideration will be given to reducing salt 
usage by limiting salting operations to the defined Minimum Winter Network, as per Table 4 below.  

Table 4 - Minimum Winter Network 

A51 A6 A5078 

A49 A556 A54 

A534 A500 A555 

A50 A530 A538 

A537 A525 A5102 

A523 A5020 A34 

A536 A532 A5011 

A533 A5022 A529 

A5015 A5016 A5024 

A5033   

 
  
The Minimum Winter Network includes within it the roads identified in the Council’s Resilient Network.  In 
times of exceptional adverse winter conditions, the Council may consider reducing the Minimum Winter 
Network to the Resilient Network, along with any other roads which may be determined as part of any 
wider multi-agency emergency response. 

In the event of the Treated Network being reduced to either the Minimum Winter Network or the Resilient 
Network, the additional roads identified in Table 4 will also be treated. 

Page 145



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 17  

 

 

 

Table 5 - Additional Treatment Locations 

Parish  Establishment Road Description 

Macclesfield Accident and Emergency  
Victoria Road, 
Fallibroome 
Road  

From B5087 through to 
Broken Cross 
roundabout 

Leighton Accident and Emergency Smithy Lane  
From A530 to Barrows 
Green Roundabout 

Crewe  Ambulance Station  Badger Avenue 
From Vernon Way to 
Broad Street Junction  

Congleton  None A&E Hospital Canal Road  
From Biddulph Road 
traffic lights to 
Mountbatten Way  

Sandbach  Ambulance/Fire Station  
Congleton 
Road 

A534 Old Mill Lane to 
A533 Middlewich Road  

Alsager  Fire Station  Crewe Road  
From Lawton Road 
Traffic Lights to 
Junction 16 

Knutsford  Fire Station 
Mobberley 
Road 

From A537 Brook 
Street to A34 
Pendleton Way 

Styal Prison / Rail / Airport  Styal Road 
From A538 Alderley 
Road to Borough 
boundary 

 

 Footways 1.3.7

1.3.7.1 Treatment of Pedestrian Areas  

In accordance with the Council’s Winter Service Policy, routine pre-salting of footway and footway 
cycleways will not be undertaken. However, in the event of snow and subject to resources being available, 
CEC may clear and treat key footway routes in priority order within the first 24 – 48 hrs. Resources to treat 
footways will be allocated based on a number of factors including population, town centres, routes to 
transport hubs, hospitals, schools, medical facilities. 

Footway treatment will be prioritized using an assessment of the risk presented by the conditions. The 
standard treatment is for a 2m wide path along the length of the footway to provide a safe corridor for 
pedestrians and other users. 

 

  

Page 146



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 18  

 

  

Page 147



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 19  

 

 Service Delivery 1.4

 Treated Network Routes 1.4.1

The mobilisation time for precautionary salting will be one and a half hours. The completion time for 
precautionary salting routes will not be more than four hours (from start of salting to completion of salting 
routes). Depending on forecast weather conditions and wherever reasonably practicable, morning 
treatments will be completed before the start of the morning rush hour. Routes to be confirmed following 
route optimisation exercise. 

Table 6 - Route Summary Information 

Route Number 
Treated 

kms 

Free 
Running 

kms 
Total kms 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

 

Page 148



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 20  

 

 Operational Management 1.4.2

Cheshire East is divided in two for normal non-winter operational purposes (North and South) with an 
operational depot in each area at Brunswick Wharf for the North and Wardle Depot for the South, each 
under the control of a Depot Manager.  

There are two Winter Maintenance Depots within the Borough: 

 North Depot located at London Road, Macclesfield. 6,500 tonnes rock salt is stored within a barn 
for operational use.  

 South Depot located at Green Lane, Wardle. 1,500 tonnes of rock salt is stored within a barn for 
operational use. 
Both depots have facilities for the storage of gritters and welfare for staff.  
 

All weather related matters are managed by the Resilient Network Manager (RNM) who covers the whole 
Borough and is overseen by the Operations Manager. 

1.4.2.1 Forecasting and Monitoring 

A network of weather stations is installed across the Borough to monitor weather conditions.  Information 
from the weather stations is made available via the Winter Manager System (Vaisala Manager or similar) 
and weather forecast information by the Weather Forecast Provider.  

1.4.2.2 Decision Making 

During office hours, treatment decisions will be made by the RNM, in liaison with the Winter Service Duty 
Officer (WSDO). If the RNM is absent, the WSDO will make the decision in consultation with the Winter 
Service Verification Officer (WSVO). During out of office hours, the WSDO will make or review decisions in 
accordance with the decision-making matrix and in liaison with the WSVO. During severe winter weather 
or other adverse weather conditions activities will be coordinated by the RNM, or the on call WSDO, by the 
establishment of the Adverse Weather Desk which will be normally based at Brunswick Wharf Depot, 
Brook Street, Congleton, CW12 1RG. Adverse Weather Response – see Appendix 2. 

 

  

Page 149

file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/East%20Highway%20Services/Winter%20plan%202015-6/Adverse%20Weather%20Plan%20Docs%202015-16/Appendices%202015-16/CM02.docx


Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 21  

 

1.4.2.3 Cross Boundary Arrangements 

The Council has a number of cross-boundary agreements to maximise efficiency and consistency of 
treatment with adjacent authorities on reciprocal treatment arrangements on certain roads.  

Cheshire West and Chester Borough Council 

TBC 

Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 

TBC 

Derbyshire County Council 

TBC 

1.4.2.4 Collaboration and Resilience 

The resources in place to deal with severe weather events during the winter period are considered 
sufficient. However, to ensure the effectiveness of the Adverse Weather Plan, it is important to ensure that 
collaborative arrangements are in place, where these may aid or improve performance during severe 
weather events or unforeseen circumstances on the network. As a consequence we have reciprocal 
relationships with both supply chain partners and adjacent Local Authorities. 

  

Page 150



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 22  

 

1.4.2.5 Other Carriageways 

These will only be treated after all the Treated Network are treated and open to traffic and when snow or 
ice is likely to persist for a continuous period of 24 hours. This will also depend upon available resources. 

Local accesses and minor highways serving isolated farms or houses where it is expected that residents 
could make their way with little difficulty in all but abnormal conditions, would not normally be treated 
unless for pressing or notified medical reasons relevant to a particular household conditions were severe 
enough to prevent the passage of emergency vehicles in response to a call. 

1.4.2.6 Farmers Routes 

In order to fulfil the requirement to consider accessibility dependencies of remote communities, additional 
resource may be provided to deliver winter service to roads in the High East Domain which do not meet 
the criteria for inclusion on the winter treatment network.  Local farm contractors may be employed to 
treat defined routes when requested.  Generally, treatment will only be requested for conditions requiring 
higher spread rates, typically where roads are wet following significant or prolonged rainfall, or during 
snow conditions. 

 

  

Page 151



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21  

Page | 23  

 

 Fleet, Depots and Plant 1.5

There are 2 winter depots available in Cheshire East, the details are as follows: 

Table 7 - Depot/Plant Availability 

Depot 
Number of Routes / 
(Vehicles) 

Loading Shovels 

North Depot 9 (10) 1 

South Depot  10 (11) 1 

Table 8 - North Depot 

Depot address North Depot 
London Road 
Nr Macclesfield 
Cheshire 
SK11 OJX 

Depot contact John Tickle 

Wash down facilities High flow water attachment  

Salt storage capacity Barn - Max capacity: 6500 tonnes. Resilience -2000 sheeted  
Minimum operational stock requirement: 1500 tonnes 

Salt specification 6mm Thawrox to BS 3247 

Salt storage Enclosed salt barn with sealed floor and dry store sheeting.  

Table 9 - South Depot 

 South Depot 
Green Lane 
Wardle  
Nantwich, Cheshire, CW5 6BN.  

Depot contact John Tickle 

Wash down facilities Yes 

Salt storage capacity Barn – Max capacity 1500 tonnes.  Minimum operational stock 
requirement: 800 tonnes 

Salt specification 6mm Thawrox to BS 3247 

Salt storage Enclosed salt barn with sealed floor and dry store sheeting 

Page 152



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21           

 

   Page | 24  

 

 

Figure 1 - Depot Locations 

P
age 153



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20 

Page | 25  

 

 Salt Stock 1.5.1

Road salt complying with the requirements of British Standard BS 3247:1991 will be provided.  

At the start of the winter period the maximum available stock level will be approximately 8000 
tonnes distributed throughout the depots as shown in Table 10 below. Additional salt supplies will 
be ordered when stock levels fall below 80% of the maximum available stock level. Full stock levels 
will be maintained going in to the Christmas period. 

Table 10 - Salt Stock Levels 

Depot Material Actual Opening Balance 

North Depot 6mm dry Rock salt 6500 

South Depot 6mm dry Rock salt 1500 

 Totals 8000 

 Public Self Help 1.5.2

Guidance to the public has been published by DfT detailing how they can assist with the clearance 
of snow and ice in their local communities  

CEC will provide salt bins at locations not on the precautionary gritting routes where it can be 
demonstrated that snow or ice could present a hazard.  Typically this will be at junctions and bends, 
particularly with steep gradients.  These bins will be filled at the beginning of the winter season and 
replenished with salt as and when required 

In addition, salt bins or small salt stocks can be provided to parish councils and other stakeholders 
in order to help them to keep local areas free from ice and snow.  Local volunteer groups may also 
provide support clearing footways. Support and advice will be provided to ensure that suitable risk 
assessments and method statements are in place which ensure that such work is carried out safely 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 154



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20 

Page | 26  

 

 Performance Monitoring 1.6

Winter Service performance will be monitored by the Resilient Network Manager (RNM) 
throughout the winter months, and reflected in the subsequent updates of this plan. The following 
is a list of data and information that may be required in future reviews and reports 

 Adequacy of response 

 Accuracy of Winter Daily Record Sheets 

 Response times 

 Treatment times 

 Level and justification of public complaints/compliments 

 Number of winter related collisions 

 Third Party Claims 

 Treated Route Audit 

 Salt usage 

  Performance Measures 1.6.1

The RNM will monitor and report the following: 

1. % of routes treated before the onset of ice or snow 
2. % of routes treated within the prescribed time (4 hrs) 
3. Cumulative spend of the winter service budget 

 Lessons Learnt                1.6.2

Prior to the start of the winter maintenance activities or following a snow/adverse weather event, 
lessons learnt sessions will be held to ensure that all opportunities to learn/improve are taken and 
implemented where appropriate. 

 

 

  

Page 155



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20 

Page | 27  

 

 Weather forecasting & Climatic Domains 2.0

Weather forecasts are made available to CEH staff by the Weather Forecast Provider as follows: 

 24-hour forecast (generally provided at 1200hrs and updated at 1600hrs and 2200hrs) 

 2-5 day forecast (generally provided at 1200hrs) 

A 24-hour consulting service is also provided by the Weather Forecast Provider to allow clarification 
of weather forecast information.  

 Location of weather stations shown  2.0.1

A networks of weather stations are installed across the Borough at the following locations: 

 A537 Cat and Fiddle. Fitted with observation camera.  

 A534 Fullers Moor. Fitted with observation camera. 

 A34 Siddington  

 A51 Bridgemere Observation Site. 

These weather stations are shown in Figure 2 and in addition to those above located in Cheshire 
East, access to information from the following ‘out of Borough’ sites are also available: 

 A494 Shotwick (Owned by Highways England) 

 M6 Hassall Green (Owned by Highways England) 

 A54 Salterswall Roundabout 

 A533 Dones Green 

 A56 Daresbury 

 A53 Royal Green (Staffordshire County Council) 

These measure road surface temperature, air temperature, residual salt, dew point and wind 
speed. The information from these sites is accessible to CEC staff via the Weather Monitoring 
System. 

Forecasting 

The 1200hrs weather forecast provided by the Weather Forecast Provider summarises the expected 
conditions for the Borough. In terms of forecasting the Borough is divided into 3 weather domains 
East, Central and South. This, on marginal nights allows CEH to treat zonally. 

Page 156



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20 

Page | 28  

 

 

Figure 2 - Weather Station Locations 

P
age 157



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 29  

 

 Weather Warnings 2.0.2

Weather warnings are provided by the Weather Forecast Provider and other agencies using 
the National Severe Weather Warning System (NSWWS). There are two different types of 
notification: 

 Warnings - issued up to 24hrs ahead 

 Alerts - issued more than 24hrs ahead 

The Resilient Network Manager (RNM), or their delegate, will ensure that weather forecasts 
are monitored on a daily basis and appropriate actions determined. Procedures for winter 
response decisions are shown in Appendix 1 

If the weather conditions change from the forecast the Weather Forecast Provider will 
contact the RNM or the Winter Service Duty Officer (WSDO) out of hours via SMS and email 
and the RNM/WMDO will then take the decision for the whole Borough. 

 Decision Making 2.1

  Appendix H – The National Winter Service Research Group 2.1.1
(NWSRG) Practical Guidance for Winter Service 

Appendix H recommendations taking into account wind speed and moisture content which 
influence the spread rates will continue to form part of the decision making process. 
App H Compliance register.  This document is currently under review and will be 
replaced when published. 

 Decision Matrix 2.1.2

Decision making matrix below, Table 11 - Table HI - Decision Matrix, should be followed as 
part of the decision making process procedure for decision making on precautionary salting. 
This should be modified as necessary to suit local circumstances and the timing of 
operations should be mainly influenced by the timing of expected weather conditions rather 
than other considerations. The following notes relate to the letters on the table: 

a) Particular attention should be given to the possibility of water running across 
carriageways and other running surfaces e.g. off adjacent fields after heavy rains, 
washing off salt previously deposited. Such locations should be closely monitored 
and may require additional treating in the evening and morning and possible other 
occasions. 

 
b) When a weather warning contains reference to expected hoar frost considerable 

deposits of frost are likely to occur. Hoar frost usually occurs in the early morning 
and is difficult to cater for because of the probability that any salt deposited on a dry 

Page 158



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 30  

 

road too soon before its onset may disperse before it can become effective. Close 
monitoring is required under this forecast condition which should ideally be treated 
just as the hoar frost is forming. Such action is usually not practicable and salt may 
have to be deposited on a dry road prior to and as close as possible to the expected 
time of the condition. Hoar frost may be forecast at other times in which case the 
timing of the salting operations should be adjusted accordingly. 

 
c) If, under these conditions, rain has not ceased by early morning, crews should be 

called out and action initiated as rain ceases. 
 
d) Under these circumstances rain may freeze on contact with running surfaces and full 

pre-treatment should be provided even on dry roads. This is a most serious condition 
and should be monitored closely and continuously throughout the danger period. 

 
e) Weather warnings are often qualified by altitudes in which case differing action may 

be required from each depot. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 159



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 31  

 

Table 11 - Table HI - Decision Matrix 

Table H1 – Sample Decision Matrix Guide 

Road Surface 
Temperature 

Precipitation 
Predicted Road Conditions 

Wet Wet Patches Dry 

May fall 
below 1°C  

No rain  

No hoar frost 

No fog 

Salt before frost 

Salt before frost 
(see note a) 

No action likely, 
monitor 
weather (see 
note a) 

Expected to 
fall below 
1°C 

No rain 

No hoar frost 

No fog 

Expected hoar 
frost 

Expected fog 

Salt before frost (see note b) 

Expected rain 
BEFORE freezing 

Salt after rain stops (see note c) 

Expected rain 
DURING freezing 

Salt before frost, as required during rain and again 
after rain stops (see note d) 

Possible rain 

Possible hoar 
frost 

Possible fog 

Salt before frost 
Monitor 
weather 
conditions 

Expected snow Salt before snow fall 

The decision to undertake precautionary treatments should be, if appropriate, adjusted 
to take account of residual salt or surface moisture. 

All decisions should be evidence based, recorded and require continuous monitoring and 
review. 

A suggested treatment guide is given in Table 12. Rates of spread for Cheshire East are given 
for rock salt. The spread rates should be adjusted to take account of residual salt. 

 

Page 160



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 32  

 

Table 12 - Table H2 

Weather Conditions 

Road Surface Conditions 

Road Surface Temperature (RST) 

 

Air 
Temperature 

Dry Salting 
(g/m2) 

 

Rock salt 

Ploughing 

Frost or forecast frost RST at or 
above -2°C 

 10 No 

Frost or forecast frost RST below -
2°C and above - 5°C 

 20 No 

Frost or forecast frost RST at or 
below - 5°C and above -10°C and 
dry or damp road conditions 

 20 No 

Frost or forecast frost RST at or 
below - 5°C and above -10°C and 
wet road conditions (existing or 
anticipated) 

 2 x 20 No 

Light snow forecast (<10mm)  20 No 

Medium/heavy snow forecast  2 x 20 No 

Ice formed (minor accumulations) above -5°C 20 No 

Ice formed 
at or below 

-5°C 
2 x 20 No 

Snow covering exceeding 30mm  
20 – 40 
successive 

Yes (note 
b) 

Hard packed snow/ice above -8°C 
20 – 40 
successive 

No 

Hard packed snow/ice 
at or below 

-8°C 

salt/abrasive 
(successive) 
(note a) 

No 

Footways  30 No 

 

 

Page 161



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 33  

 

 

 Treatments for Snow and Ice  2.2

 General  2.2.1

 It is impractical to spread sufficient salt to melt anything other than very thin layers 
of snow and ice. 

 Ploughing is the only economical, efficient, effective and environmentally acceptable 
way to deal with all but very light snow.  

 Ploughing down to the road surface is preferred. However, snow ploughs should be 
set to avoid risk of damage to the plough, the road surface, street furniture and level 
crossings. 

 Ploughing to the road surface minimises salt usage and makes salt treatments more 
effective. 

 Drainage should not be obstructed when ploughing. Windrows or piles of snow 
should be removed or be positioned to allow melt water to reach the drains. If 
necessary, piles of snow should be removed so that melted snow does not overload 
drainage systems or run back onto the road. 

 Windrows should be removed or ploughed back when further periods of heavy snow 
are anticipated. This will provide space to plough further snowfalls. 

 Preparation before ice and snow  2.2.2

To prepare for and facilitate ice and snow treatments the following should be considered: 

 When snow is forecast, ploughs and snow blowers should be prepared and 
positioned in order that snow clearance can start without delay as and when 
required.  

 To facilitate the breakup and dispersal of ice and snow by trafficking, treatments 
must be made before snowfall or freezing rain so that sufficient de-icer is present on 
the surface to provide a de-bonding layer.  

 Although it will increase salt usage, before snowfall and where practicable, 
consideration should be given to spreading salt on as much of the network as 
possible (i.e. beyond the normal precautionary salting network). This will provide a 
de-bonding layer and facilitate the break up and dispersal of snow by traffic in areas 
where subsequent treatments may not take place for some considerable time or at 
all.  

  

Page 162



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 34  

 

 Effectiveness of Salt 2.2.3

On a well-drained road during and after rain, the thickness of the water film typically varies 
between 0.08mm and 0.50mm.  Once rain has ceased to fall, traffic quickly reduces the 
water film thickness.  Thin films of ice formed by the freezing of water on road surfaces are 
usually less than 0.25mm thick. 

Tables 13 and 14 below provide guidance on the effectiveness of precautionary salt 
treatments in preventing the water film freezing.   

Table 13 considers the effect of a treatment of 10g/m² on the freezing point of the 
water/salt solution.   

Table 13 - Effectiveness of 10g/m2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 14 considers the spread rate required to ensure treatment is effective down to a 

temperature of -5C. 

Table 14 - Effective Required Spread Rate 

Water Film Thickness (mm) Required Spread Rate 

0.08 15g/m² 

0.1 15g/m² 

0.2 15g/m² 

0.25 20g/m² 

Assuming that the water film thickness will generally not be greater than 0.25mm when 
precautionary treatment is being considered, a spread rate of 10g/m² will thus prevent the 

formation of ice unless temperatures fall below -2.4C.  Should lower temperatures be 

anticipated, however, a rate of spread of 20g/m² will prevent freezing down to -5.0C. 

Water Film Thickness (mm) Freezing Point 

0.08 -8.6C 

0.1 -6.5C 

0.2 -3.0C 

0.25 -2.4C 

0.3 -2.0C 

0.5 -1.2C 

Page 163



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 35  

 

Salt is considerably less effective if applied after icy conditions have developed.  If ice has 
formed, a spread rate of 10g/m² will not be sufficient to ensure rapid melt and restore 
skidding resistance to the road quickly. 

 Snow Ploughing 2.2.4

In prolonged heavy snowfall the priority will be to maintain a single lane open with 
clearance of other lanes as conditions improve. The aim is to clear all lanes as soon as 
conditions permit. Clearance work shall therefore proceed continuously without pause to 
prevent a build-up of snow. Speeds of snow ploughing vehicles will be regulated at 
particular features such as under bridges where snow could be thrown over the parapet and 
adjacent to central reserves where snow could be pushed onto opposing carriageway. Care 
will also be taken adjacent to temporary road works, traffic management and permanent 
safety barriers to prevent ramping of snow and decreasing the effective height of the safety 
barrier. Prompt snow ploughing is recommended on porous asphalt and ploughs will be 
fitted with rubber skirts to avoid surface damage. 

 Response and Treatment Times 2.2.5

The response time is defined as the time taken from the instruction to undertake the 
treatment being received by the Duty Supervisor, to the time at which gritters have received 
pre check, loaded, manned, and ready to leave the depots and travel from the depot gate to 
the start of their route where the first application of salt is applied. This applies within and 
outside of normal working hours. 

The treatment time is defined as the time taken from arriving at the start of the route to be 
treated, to arrival back at the depot following completion of the treatment.  Travel FROM 
the depot to the start of the treatment route is NOT included in the treatment time.  In 
exceptional circumstances, this treatment time may be extended – usually in the case of 
extreme weather conditions, or if conditions dictate treatment is instructed during rush 
hour.   

 

 

 

 

  

Page 164



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 36  

 

 Treated Network Route Plans 2.3

To be included on completion of route review 

                                           

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Page 165

file://///ourcheshire.cccusers.com/files/East/East%20Highway%20Services/Maintenance%20and%20Localities/Winter%20Service%202017_18/Primary%20Routes/Route%20details/North%20-%20Lyme%20Green/North%20A%20Route%20(LGA).xlsx


Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 37  

 

                                                            

 Secondary Route details  2.4

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 Winter Stakeholder Communications 2.5

Daily Reports 

Elected Members, Town and Parish Councils, schools and the public, shall be kept informed 
of winter operations via email. 

Duty Officers will notify all proposed treatments to Highways England, Emergency Services 
and adjacent Highway Authorities, along with the contacts distribution list, once known. 
This will be no later than 13:00 each day. 

Any other or subsequent actions, including changes to planned treatments, reactive 
treatments and snow clearance will be notified accordingly. 

Web-based Information 

Twitter will be used to provide real time information regarding winter actions. The highways 
pages of the CEC website will also display Treated Network Routes, vehicle tracking and a 
link to the Weather Forecast Provider weather alerts. 

 

  

Page 166



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 38  

 

Winter Service Leaflet 

A public advice and information leaflet, ‘Travelling on our Roads in Winter’, will be available 
via public libraries, CEC information centres, town and parish councils and via the CEH 
website.   

Engagement Events 

Any engagement activities undertaken with Elected Members, Town and Parish Councils, 
schools and the public throughout the winter period will feature topical information 
regarding winter maintenance operations. 

All our information directs the public to the Snow Code provided on the DfT website. 

Liaison with Neighbouring Authorities 

All adjacent Highway Authorities, stakeholders and designated organisations, will receive a 
copy of the Adverse Weather Plan prior to the start of the season. 

All adjacent Highway Authorities will be advised by CEC of the daily network treatment 
decision via e-mail during the Winter Season.  If adverse weather impacts upon the use of e-
mail or landline telephone, then ad-hoc arrangements will be implemented and contact 
made with adjacent authorities by other means, including mobile telephone or other 
appropriate mechanisms.   

Adverse Weather Communications / Weather Warning Communications 

Weather warnings will be prepared by the RNM (where appropriate) and sent to the CEC 
Communications Officer, CEC Customer Contact Centre, members of the winter service 
distribution list and CEC Managers, who in turn, will distribute amongst operational 
managers and staff.  

During normal conditions all out of hours emergency calls are received by Cheshire East 
Council’s CCTV Centre 0300 123 5025 and redirected to the Duty  Officer.  

During periods of adverse weather the Adverse Weather Desk (AWD) will be activated 
where close coordination will be maintained with the police. A dedicated telephone number 
for the AWD will be made available to  the police, who will be informed when  the AWD is in 
operation. During these periods the CCTV out of hours control room/CEC Contact Centre are 
not used 

Details of our planned operations will be shared with our neighbouring authorities to ensure 
we provide a consistent approach across boundaries.  

 

Page 167

http://www.cheshireeasthighways.org/Uploads/CEH_Winter2013_leafletweb.pdf


Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 39  

 

Proactive Communications 

The CEH Communications Team will actively seek out opportunities to promote both CEC 
and CEH and its various teams, particularly those involved in the winter service delivery, 
using the media. All press releases and other media contact must be approved and 
distributed via CEC Communication & CEH Communication Teams. Media communications 
are generally fronted by the CEC Portfolio Holder for Highways. 

Reactive Communications 

As indicated above, all media contact for CEH and CEC shall be directed to the Media 
Relations Officers, within the CEC Communications Team:  

Tel: 01260 686577 or communications@cheshireeast.gov.uk or via the Media Hub on the 
CEC Website. 

The CEC Communications Team will contact the CEH Communications Manager and the CEH 
Senior Management Team (SMT) regarding any media comments connected with CEH.  

Crisis or Emergency Response 

All incidents / events that could have a significant impact on the operation of the Cheshire 
East road network should immediately be shared with the CEH SMT and CEH 
Communications Manager. The procedure in the CEH Emergency Response Plan must be 
followed, in order to keep all interested parties informed.  

 Information Recording and Monitoring 2.6

Records of winter weather forecasts, treatment decisions and operations will be recorded 
on the Weather Management System.  

When emergency operations occur, the Adverse Weather Desk will maintain a diary of each 
emergency, with a running record of all reports, times and action taken and will report 
appropriately to the RNM actions and road conditions. 

Any severe weather event may result in an Adverse Weather Desk (AWD) being activated, 
this may occur proactively or reactively.  

In the instance of forecast severe weather the RNM will arrange for suitable cover. This will 
be based on 2 staff members covering no more than an 8 hour period for as long as 
required, no members of staff will undertake more than one 8 hour shift in any 24 hour 
period. 

During adverse winter weather supervisors will operate a similar shift pattern and will be 
called to man the adverse weather desk. This may also require an ‘Emergency’ situation to 

Page 168

mailto:communications@cheshireeast.gov.uk


Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 40  

 

be called thus enabling the operatives to work twelve hour shift. This situation will need to 
be approved by the Service Leader 

In periods of non-winter related adverse weather, where out of hours call levels are likely to 
be high, the adverse weather desk will be staffed by a combination of duty officers and duty 
supervisors. The AWD will act as the communication hub with all calls relating to the event 
being managed by staff on the AWD. Figure 6 below shows the likely communication links. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Following each severe weather event, hot and cold de-briefs will be undertaken with those 
relevant staff involved in the event, this will ensure that there is continual improvement in 
the process 

  

CEH Adverse 
Weather Desk 

Communications Hub 

Customer 
Service 
Centre 

CEH 

Depots 

Local Area 
Officers 

CEC Web 
service 

Bus 
Companies 

Elected 
Members 

Public 

Emergency 
Services 

EPU/CEH 
on call Senior 

Management 

Media via CEC’s 
Communications 

team 

Borough, Town 
and parish 
Councils 

Figure 3 - Adverse Weather Desk Hub 

Page 169



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 41  

 

 Response to Police or public calls 2.7

Winter Treatment Network  

If a call is received requesting salting or re-salting to a section of the treated network the 
following will need to be considered when making a decision. 

1. Has the road been treated in the past 24 hrs 
2. What are the prevailing and forecast weather conditions (improving or deteriorating) 
3. Can the site conditions be confirmed as coming from a reliable source 
4. Is it an isolated call 

In general, if a request comes from a reliable source,  an appropriate response will be made. 
If the source was unconfirmed then the site will need to be checked by the Incident 
Response Unit (IRU) or similar, prior to any treatment being arranged 

Untreated Network 

Any call relating to a request for treatment of a road not included on the Winter Treatment 
Network will be declined.  The options available are: 

1. Erect ‘slippery road’ signs (diag. 557, TSRGD) either side of affected area 
2. Implement an emergency Temporary Road Closure (TTRO) if the situation is likely to  

be an on-going issue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 42  

 

 Non Winter Adverse Weather 3.0

 

 Adverse Weather Warnings 3.0.1

The Weather Service Provider will issue severe weather warnings and flash messages to the 
Borough Council’s Emergency Planning Team, the RNM and operational managers. These 
are based on the descriptions and conditions below, other than for snow and ice. Motoring 
warnings will also be given when conditions are difficult but less severe than these 
described below: 

 Gales  3.0.2

 Severe gales with gusts of 70 mph or more 

 Severe gales - storms with gusts over 80 mph 

 Heavy Rain  3.0.3

Heavy rain expected to persist for at least 2 hours and to give at least 15 mm within a 3-
hour period.  

 Fog  3.0.4

 Thick fog - visibility generally less than 200 metres 

 Dense fog - visibility generally less than 40 metres  

 Heat 3.0.5

The Heat-health watch system comprises four levels of response based upon threshold 
maximum daytime and minimum night-time temperatures. These thresholds vary by region, 
but an average threshold temperature is 30°C by day and 15°C overnight. 

When emergency operations occur, the Adverse Weather Desk may be implemented and 
staff will maintain a diary of each emergency, with a running record of all reports, times and 
action taken and will report appropriately to the RNM on actions and road conditions. 

 Flooding from Rivers 3.0.6

The CEH EP has elected to receive flood guidance statements for situations of medium risk 
or higher affecting the following counties: Cheshire East, Cheshire West and Chester, 
Shropshire and Staffordshire. 

Page 171



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 43  

 

The Environment Agency will normally issue flood warnings affecting Cheshire East to the 
Council’s Emergency Planning Team. This information will be passed to the on call Duty 
Officer as it is known. These warnings take the form of: 

 Flood watch  

 Flood warning 

 Severe flood warning  

 All clear 

The information is also available via the Environment Agency website:  

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency 

For more information regarding river flooding and flood warning, please refer to the Multi 
Agency Flood Response Plan (Section 3.1). 

The response to flooding situations and flood conditions will depend upon the 
circumstances but could include:  

 Signing and maintaining diversions  

 Inspection, clearance and maintenance of drainage systems  

 Provision of sandbags  

 General support to Emergency Services 

All sites that have experienced greater than expected flooding will be logged onto a flood 
register will be investigated in liaison with Cheshire East Highways Flood Risk team. 

In addition to this, the Environment Agency has installed flood warning devices in areas of 
Cheshire East. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 172



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 44  

 

 Multi Agency Flood Response Plan 3.1

This flood management protocol has been agreed by the Environment Agency (EA) and Joint 
Cheshire Emergency Planning Team. 

 It outlines the steps to be taken by the EA and JCEPT when a predicted flood makes it 
necessary to close relevant roads. 

A schedule of signs and barriers held at Brunswick Wharf and Wardle Depots plus maps 
showing where these signs and barriers are to be positioned 

For further information refer to Cheshire East Multi Agency Flood Response Plan. 

 High Winds / Storms 3.2

Weather warnings for high winds will provide the following advice on circumstances and 
likely damage:  

 50 mph gusts - difficult driving conditions for high-sided vehicles, especially on 
exposed roads and bridges. 

 60 mph gusts - difficult driving conditions. Un-laden high-sided vehicles at risk of 
being overturned. Some damage to trees and falling branches. 

 70 mph gusts - hazardous driving conditions. Un-laden high-sided vehicles at risk of 
being overturned and motorists advised to drive with particular care. Damage to 
trees, falling branches with some being uprooted. Minor damage to some buildings, 
particularly to tiles, slates and chimneys. 

 80 mph gusts - dangerous driving conditions. High-sided vehicles at risk of being 
overturned and motorists advised to avoid driving if possible. Considerable damage 
to trees with significant tree uprooting. Extensive minor damage, particularly to tiles, 
slates and chimneys, with some structural damage to chimneys. 

 90 mph gusts - driving extremely dangerous, widespread uprooting of trees, 
widespread damage to buildings, with potential for severe structural damage. Public 
advised not to venture out of doors unless really necessary.  

Subject to the extent and effect of the wind one or more of the following may be required: 

 Signing and maintaining temporary closures and diversions . 

 Clearance of fallen and potentially dangerous trees, this may be undertaken by 
specialist arboricultural contractors. 

 Clearance and removal of debris. 

 General support to emergency services. 

Page 173



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 45  

 

Where these conditions persist and there is a possibility of high emergency call levels it may 
be necessary to instigate an adverse weather desk. This will either be preplanned of at the 
discretion of the on call Winter Duty Supervisor. 

 Subsidence, Heave and High Temperatures  3.3

The effect of high temperatures on running surfaces will be the main consideration for the 
Cheshire East highway maintenance section.  High temperatures can damage bituminous 
surfaces both by reducing skid resistance and increasing susceptibility to rutting. This is 
commonly referred to as the road surface becoming ‘fatted’. 

Where required CEH will apply sand to surfaces which can mitigate the effects of the 
reduction of skid resistance, but structural damage may require more substantial work than 
just to the surfacing material. 

Where road surfaces are subject to melt or deformation it may be necessary to apply an 
Emergency Temporary Road Closure (TTRO) to a section of road until the prevailing 
conditions have abated. 

A log of all reported ‘fatted’ roads will be collated during periods of continued high 
temperatures and will be passed to the CEH Asset Management team who may use the 
information as part of the assessment process for works on a future highway maintenance 
programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 174



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 46  

 

  Appendices 4.0

 Appendix 1 - Winter Service Process (CM03) 4.0.1

CM03 
Local Process Core Maintenance 

Provide Winter Service 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Process 
1. RNM / WSDO review the daily Met Office 
forecast in liaison with WSVO using decision 
matrix. Marginal amber forecasts to be referred 
to the Operations Manager for confirmation. 

2. A forecast of 
snow or severe 

weather? 

RNM / WSDO / WSVO 

3. Refer to Adverse 
Weather Process 
CMO2. 

No 

Yes 

4. WSDS is informed by phone and email of 
decision. 

5. WSDS to notify workforce of decision and any 
action necessary. 

6. Is the 
operative on 

duty? 

RNM / WSDO / WSVO 

WMDS 

No 

8. Send the operatives home to return in the 
evening if the decision requires. 

WMDS 

9. Treatment carried out and record of treatment 
collected. 

10. Completed 
successfully? 

12. Retain operational records for Winter 
Manager and monthly review. 

WMDS 

7. Cover 
arrangements in 

place? 

No 
11. Identify reasons 

and resolve. 

WMDS 

11. Identify reasons 

and resolve. 

WM 

Decision Matrix 

Related processes and documents 

CM02 Adverse 

Weather 

Winter Service 

Operational Plan 

Reporting Sheets 

Responsibilities 

RNM Resilient Network Manager 

WSDO Winter Service Duty Officer  

WSVO Winter Service Verification 
Officer 

 

 

WMDS Winter Maintenance Duty 
Supervisor 

Local Owner 

Winter Manager – Mark Swindells 

 

 

Senior Owner 

Strategic Ops Manager – Ian McLellan 

 

 

V3.0 

 

July 2015 

Page 175



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 47  

 

 

  Appendix 2 - Adverse Weather Incident Response (CM02) 4.0.2

CM02 
Local Process Core Maintenance 

Adverse Weather Incident Response 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendix 3 – Cheshire Weather  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Process 

1. Resilient Network Manager reviews the Met 
Office weather warnings. 

2. If action is required Contract Manager, Depot 
Managers informed. 

3. Each team to mobilise and implement 
associated plans. 

4. Supervisors mobilise the gangs and resources 
as required. 

5. Adverse 
weather/snow 
desk required? 

7. Establish Adverse Weather / Snow Desk. 

8. Escalation 
required? 

10. Keep log of all incidents associated with 
weather event. 

11. Suspension of 
OPI required. 

13. Stand-down on cessation of adverse weather 
event.  

6. Standard incident 

response procedure. 

Yes 

No 

No 

Yes 
9. Escalation and de-

escalation as required.  

Yes 
12. Request for OPI 

suspension from 

Contract Manager.  

RNM 

RNM 

All 

 

 

LSC/DM 

TM 

TM 

All 

Related processes and documents 

Incident Response - 

CM04 

Winter / Adverse 

Weather Plan 

Emergency Plan 

Green Claim Process 

Responsibilities 

AWM Adverse Weather Manager 

CM Contract Manager 

DM Depot Manager 

LSC Local Service Centre 

S Supervisor 

Local Owner 

Depot Manager – Mark Swindells 

 

Senior Owner 

Page 176



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 48  

 

  Appendix 3 – DfT Snow Code 4.0.3

www.direct.gov.uk/en/Nl1/Newsroom/DG_191868 

Clearing Snow and Ice from Pavements Yourself 

There's no law stopping you from clearing snow and ice on the pavement outside your 
home or from public spaces. It's unlikely you'll be sued or held legally responsible for any 
injuries on the path if you have cleared it carefully. Follow the snow code when clearing 
snow and ice safely. 

The snow code – tips on clearing snow and ice from pavements or public spaces.  

Prevent slips – pay extra attention to clear snow and ice from steps and steep pathways, 
you might need to use more salt on these areas. 

If you clear snow and ice yourself, be careful - don’t make the pathways more dangerous by 
causing them to refreeze. But don’t be put off clearing paths because you’re afraid someone 
will get injured. 

Remember, people walking on snow and ice have responsibility to be careful themselves. 
Follow the advice below to make sure you clear the pathway safely and effectively. 

Clear the snow or ice early in the day 

It’s easier to move fresh, loose snow rather than hard snow that has packed together from 
people walking on it. So if possible, start removing the snow and ice in the morning. If you 
remove the top layer of snow in the morning, any sunshine during the day will help melt any 
ice beneath. You can then cover the path with salt before nightfall to stop it refreezing 
overnight. 

Use salt or sand - not water 

If you use water to melt the snow, it may refreeze and turn to black ice. Black ice increases 
the risk of injuries as it is invisible and very slippery. You can prevent black ice by spreading 
some salt on the area you have cleared. You can use ordinary table or dishwasher salt - a 
tablespoon for each square metre you clear should work. Don’t use the salt found in salting 
bins - this will be needed to keep the roads clear. 

Be careful not to spread salt on plants or grass as it may cause them damage. If you don’t 
have enough salt, you can also use sand or ash. These won’t stop the path icing over as well 
as salt, but will provide good grip under foot. 

  

Page 177



Cheshire East Council Adverse Weather Plan 2019-20       

 

Page | 49  

 

Take care where you move the snow 

When you’re shovelling snow, take care where you put it so it doesn’t block people’s paths 
or drains. Make sure you make a path down the middle of the area to be cleared first, so 
you have a clear surface to walk on. Then shovel the snow from the centre of the path to 
the sides. 

Offer to clear your neighbours’ paths 

If your neighbour will have difficulty getting in and out of their home, offer to clear snow 
and ice around their property as well. Check that any elderly or disabled neighbours are 
alright in the cold weather. If you’re worried about them, contact your local council. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 178



Included within Precautionary Route:
Falmouth Drive
Astbury Lane Ends
Lamberts Lane
Links Way
Lenthall Avenue

P
age 179



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 183



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 185



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 187



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Risk Register Last updated 10/12/2019

Well Managed Highway Infrastructure Updated By MHD

Impact Likely-hood
Untreated 

score (don't 

write in here)

Proximity  i.e. when will 

this risk impact
Action By when By Whom Impact Likely-hood

Residual 

score

Commercial 

Risk

Safety Inspection 

Political 1
If cabinet members reject the proposed approach to WMHI, then it would be potentially more difficult to defend 

third party claims as we could not demonstrate that we are operating within current guidance and best practice.
4 3 12 sign off

Fully brief the Portfolio Holder, ensure 

cabinet paper fully outlines the risks of not 

complying with the code.

Dec-19 MHD 4 2 8 MHD MHD Feb-20

Delivery 2
If it is not possible to recruit and train sufficient additional Highway Safety Inspectors, then the introduction of the 

requirements of WMHI and the new code of practice will be delayed.
3 4 12 Implementation

Carry out recruitment and arrange 

appropriate training course.
Feb-20 SD 3 3 9 SD MHD Feb-20

Delivery 3
If the changes proposed are implemented then and the approach is found to be flawed by the courts then there 

could be an increase in successful claims against the Authority once implemented. 
3 2 6 delivery

A robust approach to developing the new 

working practices has been adopted by the 

project working group.  Delegated powers 

to be given to the Director of Highways and 

Infrastructure in consultation with the 

Portfolio Holder to ensure that speedy 

minor amendments to the Policies and 

Codes can be undertaken if required.

Feb-20 MHD 2 2 4 MHD MHD Feb-20

Winter Activities 

Delivery 4
If there is a delay in the approval process for the review of the winter service, Then it will delay the Route 

Optimisation, delaying confirmation of fleet requirements.
4 4 16 Oct-19

Some elements of fleet may need to be 

hired, reducing cost efficiency.
Feb-20 MHD/SD 3 3 9 SD MHD Feb-20

Delivery 5
If there is a delay in approving the proposed changes beyond February 20 by Cabinet, then it may not be possible 

to introduce the changes for the 2020/21 winter season. 
4 4 16 Sign off

Ensure the service is in a position to begin 

implementation as soon as approval is 

achieved.

Feb-20 SD 4 3 12 MHD MHD Feb-20

Political 6 Negative press associated with the removal of roads from the treated network. 3 4 12 sign off
Communicate methodology around the new 

network.
summer 20 MHD 2 4 8 MHD MHD Feb-20

Delivery 7
Speculative accident claims relating to skidding accidents on roads that have been removed from the treated 

network.
3 3 9 operational

Robust policy that evidences the approach 

used.
complete MHD 2 3 6 MHD MHD Feb-20

Delivery 8
If the depot strategy is not implemented, Then it will not be possible to provide the pre-season stock levels 

required by the Quarmby report.
3 3 9 Delivery

Continue to consider options for operational 

and resilient stock.
Feb-20 MHD/SD 3 3 9 MHD MHD Feb-20

Delivery 9
If the highway service is required to add the A6 MARR to winter treatment routes, then it will be necessary to 

consider provision of additional gritter and drivers.
4 2 8 Delivery

At present the Cheshire East lengths of the 

A6MARR are treated by Stockport, more 

permanent arrangements need agreeing 

through the A6MARR maintenance 

agreement.

Feb-20 MHD 1 1 1 MHD MHD Feb-20

Risk Type Ref
Description of risk, i.e. what is the threat or opportunity to the achievement of a business/project objective, 

use format "If <event happens> then <consequence of event>"

Assessment of untreated risk
Risk Treatment i.e. what are we going to  do about this risk

Last review
Next review 

date
Risk Comments

Assessment of residual risk

Owner

P
age 203



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Well Managed Highway Infrastructure Appendix 9 - 

Public Consultation Consultee List

Page 205



The WMHI consultation consulted with the following:

 All Cheshire East Residents via the website and public libraries
 Elected Members
 Parish Councils
 The LEP
 Transport for the North
 Local Transport Operators
 Neighbouring Authorities (including Highways England)
 Cheshire East Claims Handlers and Insurers
 The Emergency Services
 Manchester Airport
 Network Rail
 HS2
 Local Bus Operators
 The Road Haulage Association
 Freight Transport Association
 Sustrans
 Local Cycling Groups
 NHS and Health Service Providers 

The Resilient Network consultation consulted the following:

 Local Transport Operators
 Neighbouring Authorities (including Highways England)
 The Emergency Services
 Transport for the North
 The LEP
 The Local Chamber of Trade
 Manchester Airport
 Network Rail
 HS2
 Local Bus Operators
 The Road Haulage Association
 Freight Transport Association
 Utility Operators 
 The NHS and Health Service Providers
 Council Delivery Partners (ie Ansa and TSS etc)
 Compass Minerals
 HS2

Page 206



 

OFFICIAL 

 

Cheshire East Council  

Well Managed Highway Consultation  

Summary of results 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Production date: 21/09/2018 
 
Report produced by:  
 
Research and Consultation Team  
Business Intelligence  
Cheshire East Council  
Westfields  
Middlewich Road  
Sandbach  
CW11 1HZ  
 
Email: RandC@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

Page 207

mailto:RandC@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

OFFICIAL 

Introduction  

Background and Methodology  

From 2nd July to 27th  August 2018 Cheshire East Council consulted on a number of draft policies 

in relation to Highway Safety Inspections and Winter Service activities. Respondents were 

provided with a summary of the five documents listed below: 

 Draft Highways Inspection Policy 

 Draft Code of Practice for Highways Safety Inspections 

 Examples of Old and New Inspection Process 

 Draft Winter and Adverse Weather Policy  

 Winter and Adverse Weather Plan Consultation 2018 

The consultation comprised of two sections the Highways Inspection Policy 2018 (section one), 

and Winter and Adverse Weather Policy (section two).  Respondents were asked for feedback to 

help align the management of the highway network with risk and usage levels.  

The Well Managed Highways consultation was advertised through the Cheshire East Council 

website and through Social Media. It was predominantly online, however, paper copies were made 

available at all Cheshire East Libraries and key contact centres.  

In total, 93 respondents replied to the online/ paper questionnaire, this report is a summary of the 

findings from this questionnaire. Responses were received from a variety of interested parties 

including local residents, town/parish Councillors and voluntary/community organisations.   In 

addition 3 e-mail responses were received, these can be seen in appendix two.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 208



 

OFFICIAL 

Part One: Highway Inspection Policy 2018 

Section one considered the Highways Inspection Policy 2018. This document promotes the 

adoption of an integrated asset management approach to highway infrastructure based on local 

levels of service through risk-based assessment. It provides a number of key recommendations, 

particularly relating to the development of a network hierarchy as well as establishing the theme of 

a risk-based approach. Respondents were asked four questions regarding this policy as detailed 

by Figure 1.  

Figure 1. To what extent to you agree or disagree with the following?  

 

Respondents were generally split around the Council’s proposed approach to delivering risk based 

highway safety inspections with 38% in agreement and 34% in disagreement.  Respondents were 

more likely to disagree (47%) that the proposed approach to highway safety inspections caters for 

all highway users (26% agreement). Respondents were clearly in support that the repair of defects 

should be prioritised by the risk they pose to the public as 76% agreed. Respondents also agreed 

that taking longer to deliver high quality long lasting repairs was a preferred approach (63%). 

Respondents were asked to explain their reasoning if they disagreed with any of the above. A total 

of 37 comments were left which for the purpose of analysis have been coded into three main 

themes of repair of defects (26 references), cater for all highways users (12 references) and 

consideration of local roads (9 references), these are detailed further on the next page.  

Page 209



 

OFFICIAL 

Repair of defects (26 references): Respondents felt that the schedule of repair works and 

inspections needed to be undertaken more frequently and that a more proactive approach should 

be adopted (8 comments). They also felt that quick/temporary fixes should be carried out as soon 

as possible to prevent damage with a scheduled longer term fix (7 comments) although some 

respondents felt that these were a waste of money and that long term repairs should be the priority 

(3 comments). Respondents felt that more money should be spent on road maintenance, with no 

cuts or reductions in service (5 comments). Overall respondents felt that repairs needed to be 

completed as soon as possible and to a high standard (3 comments).  

Cater for all Highway Users (12 references): Certain respondents indicated that they disagreed 

with aspects of the policy as they felt it did not cater for all highway users, of particular concern 

were cyclists and pedestrians. These respondents felt that not enough consideration was given to 

road defects that have a bigger impact on these groups than on vehicles, especially in regard to 

pothole depth (12 comments).  

Consideration of Local roads (9 references): Respondents felt there was a lack of 

consideration given to local roads and the usage of these requesting that they required a greater 

level of inspection and maintenance as they were considered as vital local links (9 comments).  

 

Respondents were also asked if there were any further considerations which should be taken into 

account with regard to the Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections. A total of 23 

comments were received in response to this.  Further considerations included the following: 

 The need for more comprehensive repair work (repairing potholes in proximity), rolling 

maintenance and more patrols (8 comments)  

 The poor quality repair work currently being undertaken, which needed improvement (5 

comments) and the need for quick action to undertake repairs (2 comments)  

 Concerns about specific areas such as Altrincham Road on approach to Styal school, 

should be given more priority (4 comments) 

 Proper maintenance and inspection of cycle ways (2 comments) and more enforcement 

around roadside parking (1 comment) 

 A consideration for alternative routes that are used to circumvent traffic and therefore 

have a high volume and use than would be expected (2 comments) 

 

Page 210



 

OFFICIAL 

Part Two: Winter and Adverse Weather Policy 

Section two considered the Winter and Adverse Weather Policy. This policy has evolved over a 

number of years to take into consideration best practice. The last revision of the policy was 

developed to take into consideration the guidance provided in Well Maintained Highways, 

published in 2005 by the UK Roads Liaison Group (UKRLG). Respondents were asked three 

questions regarding this policy as detailed by Figure 2.  

Figure 2. To what extent to you agree or disagree with the following? 

 

Respondents agreed that local roads should be gritted based upon usage, local risks and 

surrounding amenities (75%). More respondents agreed that local radio and television are good 

ways of keeping them informed about local road conditions (68%) than social media (63%).  

Respondents were asked to explain their reasoning if they disagreed with any of the above. A total 

of 27 comments were left which for the purpose of analysis have been coded into three main 

themes of communication methods (17 references), roads (7 references) and consideration of 

rural areas and cycle ways (4 references), these are detailed further on the next page. 

 

 

 

 

Page 211



 

OFFICIAL 

Communication Methods (17 references): Certain respondents indicated that they disagreed 

with aspects of the policy as they felt that not everyone has access to social media, and that it has 

a limited impact (13 comments). However some respondents felt that all forms of communication 

should be supported (2 comments). While others felt that a better solution was needed (2 

comments), especially for those already on the road at the time of incident (2 comments).  

Roads (7 references): Respondents felt that more roads should be gritted, including local streets 

(5 comments). Respondents also felt that generally more money needed to be spent on gritting 

roads and pavements (2 comments).  

Consideration of rural areas and cycle ways (4 references): Certain respondents indicated that 

they disagreed with aspects of the policy as they felt it would have a larger impact on rural 

communities and could potentially isolate individuals during bad weather (2 comments). 

Respondents also criticised the lack of support for cycle ways and pavements in the allocation of 

pre-treatments (2 comments).  

 

Respondents were asked if there were any further considerations that should be taken into 

account with regard to the draft Winter Adverse Weather Strategy. A total of 28 comments were 

received in response to this. Further considerations included:  

 Greater consideration for rural areas, having access to salt and grit (2 comments) and 

the feeling that local and rural roads/pavements should still be a priority for gritting (7 

comments) 

 More money to be spent on gritting roads (3 comments) and more timely gritting of 

roads (2 comments) 

 Gritting of cycle ways and pavements should still be considered to prevent accidents (3 

comments) 

 Specific requests for gritting were received such as: Gaw End Lane to allow Arriva 

buses to leave the Lyme Green depot in Macclesfield (1 comment), and Altrincham 

Road to allow safe access to Styal Primary School (8 comments). 

 The use of text alerts for communication (1 comment) 

 Clarification around severe weather conditions and how town and parish councils are to 

assist without the provision of equipment (1 comment) 

Page 212



 

OFFICIAL 

Summary and Conclusions 

Overall, average general support for aspects of the ‘Highway Inspection Policy’ (25%) was weaker 

than for aspects of the ‘Winter and Adverse Weather Policy’ (34%). This is mainly driven by the 

high disagreement rate expressed to Q2 that the policy caters for all highways users. Analysis of 

the comments reveals that this disagreement is likely to be driven by concerns for cyclists and 

pedestrians. Cyclists in particular were highlighted as an ‘at risk’ group and respondents felt they 

should be a priority and a greater consideration when assessing pothole depth.  

Respondents also expressed concerns about the impact of both the ‘Highway Inspection Policy’ 

and the ‘Winter and Adverse Weather Policy’  on rural areas, suggesting that they would have a 

much harsher impact and that the policies were designed to cater to urban populated areas, 

neglecting the rurality of Cheshire East.  

Despite these concerns respondents were in agreement that repair defects should be prioritised if 

they were a risk to the public (76%) and that taking longer to deliver high quality long lasting 

repairs was a better approach than temporary fixes (63%). Respondents agreed that local roads 

should be gritted based upon usage, local risks and surrounding amenities (75%) 

While respondents expressed concerns about the use of social media as a sole source of 

information, generally all information types were considered to be helpful with further suggestions 

such as more local radio involvement and text alerts suggested by respondents.  

Finally there were some specific requests for consideration from respondents such as the gritting 

of Altrincham Road to allow access to Styal Primary School and Gaw End Lane for the bus 

network to run in wintery conditions. Clarification was also requested on the role that Town and 

Parish Councils were required to undertake in extreme weather conditions as this is currently 

unclear in the policy.  

 

 

Next steps 

For the relevant department to review the above findings in relation to the proposed policies and to 

consider the comments made by respondents.  

 

Page 213

1170313
Text Box
The feed back is to be presented to the project board for consideration in the formulation of the approach to Well Managed Highway infrastructure.



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix One: Demographic Tables 

Which of the following best describes who you are responding as? - Multiple choice 

Row Labels Count % 

A Local Resident 21 51 

A local business 1 2 

A member of a voluntary or community organisation 3 7 

An elected town or parish councillor in Cheshire East 8 20 

An elected Member of Cheshire East 3 7 

Other 5 12 

Withheld Data* 52*  

Total number of respondents 
41 

 

How do you normally travel in or through Cheshire East? - Multiple choice 

Row Labels Count % 

In a car/van as the driver 36 95% 

In a car/van as a passenger 12 32% 

On a bus 9 24% 

On a motorcycle 1 3% 

On foot 23 60% 

On a bicycle 12 32% 

Other 3 8% 

Withheld Data* 55*  

Total number of respondents 
38 

 

Why do you travel in or through Cheshire East? - Multiple choice 

Row Labels Count % 

Live in Cheshire East 37 97 

Work/Study 15 39 

Visit local town centre/shops 28 74 

Use health and Social Care facilities 21 55 

Use local leisure facilities 18 47 
Other 6 16 

Withheld Data* 55*  

Total number of respondents 
38 

 

What is your gender identity? 

Row Labels Count % 

Female (including trans female) 15 44% 

Male (including trans man) 18 53% 

Other gender identity  1 3% 

Withheld Data* 59*  

Grand Total 34 100% 

Page 214



 

OFFICIAL 

What age group do you belong to? 

Row Labels Count % 

16-24 0 0% 

25-34 1 3% 

35-44 4 12% 

45-54 8 24% 

55-64 6 18% 

65-74 9 26% 

75-84 5 15% 

85 and over 0 0% 

Withheld Data* 60* 
 Grand Total 33 100% 

 
 
What is your ethnic origin? 

Row Labels Count % 

White British / English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / Irish 25 83% 

Any other White background 2 7% 

Asian / Asian British 1 3% 

Mixed: White and Black Caribbean / African / Asian 1 3% 

Withheld Data* 64* 
 Grand Total 29 100% 

 
 
Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, 
or is expected to last, at least 12 months?  

Row Labels Count % 

No 28 97% 

Yes 1 3% 

Withheld Data* 64*  

Grand Total 29 100% 

 

 

*Under GDPR Compliance respondents can select to submit a survey response with no 

demographic data attached to it. Out of the total 93 respondents, 52 respondents abstained from 

providing personal data, and 59 from sensitive data and respondents are also able to select a 

‘prefer not to say option’. Due to this high number those who ‘withheld’ data they are not included 

in the percentage base of the demographics tables. 

 

Page 215



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix Two: E-mail Responses 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Email Response 1.1 

P
age 216

1170313_1
Text Box



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

Email Response 1.2 

Email Response 1.3 

P
age 217

1170313_2
Text Box



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AHG Roads Identified Parish

Final risk assessment 

score Comments Outcome of review

Congleton Moss Lane Sandbach 0

The bus route turns off and travels down Salt Line Way. 

There is nothing of note along the remainder of Moss 

Lane. However, there is the small industrial estate to 

the north (Norton Way) off Moss Lane, which has been 

scored at 25. Not included

Congleton Church Bank Goostrey 0

This road travels north off the pre-salt route, which in 

turn links onto the rural road network. All of which 

have scored zero. Thre is nothing along the section that 

falls within the criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Crewe Colleys Lane Wistaston 0

Both sections of Colleys lane score zero. There are a 

alternatives route to the southwest (A51 Nantwich 

Bypass) and northeast  (Wistaston Green Road) which 

are recommended for inclusion on the precautionary 

network. Not included

Crewe Wistaston Green Road Wistaston 100

Risk assessment reviewd and score revised due to bus 

route and requirement to treat full road length

Added to treatment network

Crewe Weston Lane Weston 10

Nothing apart from the bridge deck over the railway 

bridge. Similarly for Weston Lane, Basford. Not included

Crewe Broughton Road Crewe 25

The northern end of the road is subject to run off from 

adjacent land which is caused by poorly maintained 

land drainage systems. Not included

Crewe Mablins Lane Crewe 25

The junction with Parkers Road is subject to run off 

from adjacent land in extreme weather conditions, 

only. Not included

Crewe Maw Green Lane Crewe 100

Albeit the road has been scored 100 the spreader can 

only treat the first section up to the new roundabout. 

There is no suitable turning area for the section leading 

to the land-fill site. Beyond the landfill entrance, there 

is a railway bridge which has an oblique turning and is 

subject to both width & height restrictions. Not included

Crewe Selworthy Drive Crewe 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Furthermore, there is 

no suitable turning point for the spreader. Not included

Macclesfield Havannah Lane Eaton 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Macclesfield School Lane Marton 75

Risk assessment score below threshold. Currently on a 

secondary route. Score reflects National Cycle Network 

and urban Primary school (with 30mph zone). Not included

Macclesfield Dark Lane Gawsworth 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Macclesfield Longbutts Lane Gawsworth 0

Urban unclassified road with a risk assessment score 

below the required threshold. Cul-de-sac with no 

suitable turning point. Not included

Macclesfield Gawsworth Road Gawsworth 50 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Macclesfield Byrons Lane Macclesfield 125

Risk assessment score reviewed - designated route to 

Sutton community Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Ridge Hill Sutton 115

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Church Lane Sutton 150

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route Added to treatment network

Macclesfield High Street Bollington 100

Risk assessment score reviewed, particularly with 

reference to the gradient Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Lord Street Bollington 100

Risk assessment score reviewed, particularly with 

reference to the gradient Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Chancery Lane Bollington 110

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route (Lord Street to High 

Street section, only) Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Moss Brow Bollington 125

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route Added to treatment network

Nantwich Queens Drive Nantwich 200

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route Added to treatment network

Nantwich Monks Lane Nantwich 100

Compilation of criteria which in total lends the road to 

be included on the precautionary network  - low score 

bus route, NCN and natural progression of vehicular 

traffic etc. Added to treatment network

Poynton Brookledge Lane Adlington 100 Risk assessment reviewed and score revised Added to treatment network

Poynton Shrigley Road Pott Shrigley 75

Altitude above 200m and Cat 3 gradient. Risk 

assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Mill Lane Mottram St Andrew 35

Unsuitable for Heavy Goods Vehicles. Risk assessment 

score below threshold Not included

Poynton Anson Road Poynton 10 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Counting House Road Disley 25 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Chantry Road Disley 25 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Redhouse Lane Disley 35 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Light Alders Lane Disley 25 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Wilmslow Lincoln Road Wilmslow 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Wilmslow Tudor Road Wilmslow 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Wilmslow Heyes Lane Alderley Edge 75 & 0

Railway Station (Urban Commuter) (75)  first 15 m 

from London Road only. Risk assessment score below 

threshold Not included

Wilmslow Hough Lane Alderley Edge 0 & 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Wilmslow Chapel Road Alderley Edge 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Wilmslow Mottram Road Alderley Edge 50 & 50 

Shaded/cold spots scored at 50. Risk assessment score 

below threshold Not included

Wilmslow Chorley Hall Lane Alderley Edge 35 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Wilmslow Trafford Road Alderley Edge 0 & 0

Cat 4 gradient (25) and bridge deck (10) Risk 

assessment score below threshold Not included

NOTE: - Roads scoring 100 or greater are identified for inclusion in the winter treatment network.

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX THREE

OFFICIAL
1

Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date of Meeting:  16 March 2020

Report Title: Well Managed Highway Infrastructure Call in Response

Portfolio Holder:  Cllr Craig Browne –Deputy Leader

Author: Matthew Davenhill –Contract Asset Manager

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan - Executive Director - Place

1. Introduction and Policy Context

1.1. On the 04/02/20 a paper ‘Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure’ was 
presented to Cabinet for consideration outlining proposed changes to the 
Highway Safety Inspection Policy, Highway Safety Inspection Code of 
Practice, The Winter and Adverse Weather Policy, The Adverse Weather 
Plan and the Resilient Network.  Included in these proposals were 
proposed changes to the winter treatment network.

1.2. Figure 1 below outlines the policy context of the documents presented for 
consideration.

Page 221



OFFICIAL

 

Figure 1 – Policy Context

1.3. At the meeting Cabinet approved the proposals in the paper; however, a 
call-in request has subsequently been received which is to be considered 
by the Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on 16 March 2020.

2. Background 

2.1. During the discussions that were held in Cabinet, a number of members 
highlighted concerns with the levels of consultation that had been 
undertaken and the provision of winter service to primary schools, amongst 
other things.

3. Briefing Information

3.1. A public consultation was undertaken between 2nd July and 27th August 
2018 (8 weeks) to seek the opinion of interested parties with regards to the 
Council’s approach to Well Managed Highway Infrastructure (WMHI). 
Guidance on consultations suggests that a proportionate amount of time 
should be allowed, typically the Council allows between 4 and 12 weeks. In 
this instance 3.5 weeks of the consultation fell in schools term time.

Page 222



APPENDIX THREE

OFFICIAL
3

3.2. The consultation was undertaken by the Council’s Research and 
Consultation Team. All officers in the Research and Consultation Team are 
accredited members of the Consultation Institute and follow best practice 
consultation processes. The public consultation was designed to follow the 
Council’s established processes, being published on the Council’s website 
during the period that the consultation was live, utilising both paper and 
digital surveys alongside engagement directly with key statutory and non-
statutory stakeholders as detailed in Appendix 1. Paper copies of the 
consultation documentation, freepost envelopes and questionnaires were 
made available in all libraries across Cheshire East and customer service 
desks in Crewe and Macclesfield, with supporting guidance for officers in 
those locations, and copies in large print or alternative languages also 
made available upon request.

3.3. The “Gunning” principles on consultation, along with others, have been 
followed during the policy formation process. The principles set out:

 Consultation should occur when proposals are at a formative 
stage. Case law has examined the phrase “formative stage” and 
determined that this is where the mind of the decision maker is 
open to change. 

 Consultation should give sufficient information or reasons for 
any proposal to permit intelligent consideration.

 Consultations should allow adequate time for consideration and 
response.

3.4. As a result of the consultation 93 responses were received, with comments 
from members of the public, town and parish councils and school 
representatives. 

3.5. A summary of the consultation results can now be found on the Councils’ 
consultation results website and in Appendix 2. 

3.6. Figure 2 below shows the consultation undertaken.

Page 223



OFFICIAL

Figure 2– Consultation time line

The Highway Safety Inspection Policy 2020 and The Code of Practice for 
Highway Safety Inspections 2020.

3.7. The Highway Safety Inspection Policy 2020 sets out the principles 
overarching the Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections.

3.8. The Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections 2020 defines how the 
aspirations of the Highway Safety Inspection Policy 2020 will be 
operationally delivered.

3.9. These documents were consulted on through the Well Managed Highway 
Infrastructure Consultation.  

3.10. The consultation included examples of the existing and proposed 
inspection regime.

3.11. As a result of the consultation, further consideration was given to cyclists 
and motorcyclist, and investigatory levels for on carriageway cycle lanes 
were revised from 40mm to 20mm.

3.12. The consultation results were discussed at length with Environment and 
Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 15/10/18.

Page 224



APPENDIX THREE

OFFICIAL
5

3.13. The consultation and the amendments made as a result of the consultation 
were discussed at length by the Environment and Regeneration Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 15/07/19.

The Winter and Adverse Weather Policy 2020 and The Adverse Weather Plan 
2020/21

3.14. The Winter and Adverse Weather Policy 2020 sets out the principles 
overarching the Adverse Weather Plan 2020/21.

3.15. The Adverse Weather Plan 2020/21 defines how the aspirations of the 
Winter and Adverse Weather Policy 2020/21 will be operationally delivered.

3.16. As a consequence of the consultation and the feedback received, the 
Winter and Adverse Weather Policy 2020 and Adverse Weather Plan 
2020/21 were amended and a scoring factor was added to the risk 
assessment process to consider the National Cycle Network.

3.17. In addition, the proposals outlined in the Cabinet paper were considered by 
the Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(EROSC) on the following dates: 18/06/18, 15/10/18, 15/07/19 and 
20/01/20.

3.18. The consultation results were discussed at length with Environment and 
Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 15/10/18.

3.19. At EROSC on 15/07/19 the proposals were discussed for approximately 2 
hours and in depth detail was given with regards to the scoring matrix. At 
the request of EROSC, the proposals, including maps which showed the 
full extents of the proposed amendments and the scoring matrix were 
presented to the 7 Area Highway Groups (AHGs) between 29th July and 
30th September 2019. From this further and comprehensive consultation, 
the AHGs suggested a number of roads for inclusion on the Winter 
Treatment Network. These suggested locations were re-analysed to take 
into consideration the local factors highlighted and a number were added to 
the proposed winter treatment network.  A list of these roads can be found 
in Appendix 3.

The Cheshire East Highways Resilient Network 2020 & Map

3.20. The Cheshire East Highways Resilient Network 2020 & Map identify the 
roads in the Borough that are key to maintaining economic activity and 
access to key services during extreme weather.

Page 225



OFFICIAL

3.21. This refresh aligns with the Department for Transport’s (DfT) 2014 
Transport Resilience Review and forms part of with the Council’s proposed 
Network Hierarchy.

3.22. The requirement for a separate consultation to the main WMHI consultation 
was identified. For this consultation a specific stakeholder group was 
identified and steps were taken to engage with this stakeholder group.

3.23. As a result of the consultation, Highways England’s Emergency Diversion 
routes were added to the Resilient Network.

Specific Issues Raised in the Call in

3.24. The call in raised a number of issues on the following grounds ‘4.28.2 
Inadequate consultation relating to the decision.’ and ‘4.28.3 relevant 
information not considered’.

3.25. The points raised in the call in are noted in bold, with a corresponding 
response below.

3.26. 4.28.2 Inadequate consultation relating to the decision

3.27. Our concerns focus specifically on the Consultation Processes 
conducted prior to the Cabinet Decision to approve the Well-Managed 
Highways Infrastructure Strategy and the impact on Cheshire East 
Gritting Polices.

3.28. Highways gritting policy is alluded to in the Cheshire East Local 
Transport Plan (LTP) (Action 9.1.5, page 115) but was not included in 
the LTP consultation (1st May 2018 to 25th June 2018).

3.29. The Local Transport Plan Action 9.1.5 states ‘We will seek to ensure that 
the transport network is increasingly secure against extreme weather 
events and disruption.’ Under the proposal outlined in the Cabinet report, 
the development of the Network Hierarchy helps to prioritise the network for 
resilience during extreme weather. This is further enhanced by the review 
and refresh of the Resilient Network which has been undertaken as part of 
this exercise.

3.30. This was followed by a consultation related to the Well Managed 
Highways Policy Infrastructure Strategy. This was conducted during 
the summer months (July/August 2018) therefore the prominence of 
the consultation was diminished.

3.31. There is no guidance given on the timing of a consultation exercise or the 
impact this has on the effectiveness of a consultation. It could be 

Page 226



APPENDIX THREE

OFFICIAL
7

considered that undertaking a consultation in the winter is likely to be less 
successful as consultees may have greater difficulties accessing areas 
where consultation information is displayed. In addition, delaying the 
consultation exercise into the winter would have further delayed the 
implementation of best practice. To establish the prominence of the 
consultation in the local area, a Google search can be undertaken. This 
reveals that a number of parish council’s made use of their own websites to 
promote the consultation and some of the first pages discovered following 
the search for ‘WMHI consultation’ relate to the Cheshire East Council 
WMHI consultation.

3.32. Consultation related to Winter and Adverse Weather would have been 
better served as a stand-alone engagement.

3.33. Both the Highway Safety Inspection Policy 2020 and its associated Code of 
Practice and the Winter and Adverse Weather Policy 2020 and associated 
Plan are documents which cover highway safety and are heavily influenced 
by the Network Hierarchy. It was therefore considered better to review the 
highway safety inspection activities, winter service activities and the 
Resilient Network as a package.

3.34. NO record of any consultation related to Well Managed Highways 
Strategy (July/August 2018) or the results of such a survey has ever 
been up-loaded onto the relevant ‘Consultation Results’ page of the 
Cheshire East Council website for public scrutiny. This is contrary to 
CEC Policy.

3.35. Although the consultation results were not initially published on the 
consultation results page, the results were published on the meetings page 
as part of a briefing report to the Environment and Regeneration Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (EROSC) titled ‘Well Managed Highway 
Infrastructure Public Consultation Feedback’ which was discussed on 
15/10/18, with the results included as an appendix to the briefing report. In 
addition, the results were included in the briefing to EROSC on 15/07/19 
and as part of the report pack. This information is readily available on the 
Council’s web page. There is no fixed policy relating to the publishing of 
consultations. 

3.36. The Winter and Adverse Weather Policy (included as Appendix 6 on 
04.02.2020) states: “Risk assessments are undertaken by CEH Winter 
Service staff to determine the inclusion of an element of the network 
into the Treated Network, with consideration to a number of factors”

3.37. The risk assessment framework and associated results of this 
exercise should have been publicly available prior to the decision 

Page 227



OFFICIAL

being taken.  Insufficient weight was given to local knowledge with no 
acknowledgement or discussion of relevant feed-back.

3.38. The scoring matrix was discussed at length with EROSC on 15/07/19 and 
the scoring matrix was explained in detail with all the scoring factors 
explained. The proposed network was drawn up in consultation with Local 
Highway Officers and Highway Safety Inspectors who have an in depth 
knowledge of the network. Further to this the proposed routes were 
discussed with the Local Area Highway Groups (AHG) between 29th July 
and 30th September 2019. This AHG consultation process involved the risk 
matrix and maps relevant to each AHG being thoroughly explained and 
discussed. These maps showed roads which were to remain on the treated 
network, roads to be added to the treated network and roads to be removed 
from the treated network.  As a result of this consultation, the AHGs 
highlighted roads which they thought should be considered for treatment. 
This resulted in a number of roads being included following a further risk 
assessment. The proposed treatment maps showing roads to remain on 
the treated network, roads to be added and roads to be removed were 
available to EROSC prior to the meeting on 20/01/20. At this meeting the 
AHG consultation and the amendments made to the proposals were 
discussed. The Cabinet report in paragraph 5.29 identifies that the risk 
scoring matrix can be made available upon request.  

3.39. At the cabinet meeting of 04/02/20 Council Members, members of our 
teaching community, and members of the public expressed concerns 
about the removal of winter gritting to multiple routes throughout our 
borough; all agreed there had been poor communication since the 
Consultation in 2018.

3.40. As outline above, extensive communication has been undertaken with 
EROSC and the AHGs who represent the electorate and as such it is felt 
that sufficient communication has been undertaken.  

3.41. Under 100 respondents to the consultation from a population of 
375,000 gives rise to the question how well did we promote the 
consultation? 

To put this level of response in context; 103 responses were received to the 
Councils’ Budget Consultation 20/21, 94 responses were received to the 
HS2 Southern Link Road Bridge options consultation and 57 responses 
were received to the SEMMMS consultation. The WMHI consultation 
attracted 93 responses.

Page 228



APPENDIX THREE

OFFICIAL
9

3.42. Only 1 school responded to the consultation.

3.43. The consultation ran from 2nd July to the 27th August 2018, the school 
holidays ran from 27th July to 3rd September; hence this allowed time for 
the schools to comment. Under the proposals all secondary schools receive 
a treated route due to the large number of pupils and catchment areas. It 
isn’t practicable that every primary school receives a treated route; the cost 
of providing a route to every primary school would be a minimum of 
£150,000-£200,000 during an average winter season. Given the range of 
risk factors identified, the proposed approach gives greater consideration to 
local roads in the vicinity of more of our primary schools. 

3.44. Insufficient weight has been given to member feedback and their local 
knowledge.

3.45.  The proposals were extensively discussed with the AHGs and feedback 
was received and taken into consideration. As a result of this feedback a 
number of roads were added to the proposals, the details of which can be 
found in Appendix 3.

3.46.  ‘No confidence in, or evidence given that the cabinet gave due 
consideration to Scrutiny’s recommendations’

3.47. As a result of EROSC recommendations the proposals were taken to the 
AHGs. 

3.48. At EROSC on 20/01/20 no objection was raised to the proposals.  

3.49. Both Cllrs Corcoran and Browne summarised the points that were raised 
during the meeting and offered commitment that further information would 
be made available and that the process would receive annual review. 
Further information was added to the Council’s website on 19/02/20.

3.50. The following points were raised under 4.28.3 of the call in process.

3.51.  No grit bin policy has been made available to support the decision. 
This is essential based on the significance of this policy. 

3.52. The placement of grit bins on the network will be determined through a risk 
assessment exercise; as outlined in the Cabinet report in paragraph 5.35, 
the pro-forma for this was available on request. This is now available on the 
Council’s website.

3.53. The risk assessment scoring criteria that determines which roads are 
to be gritted(or not), were not made public in advance of Cabinets 
Decision.

Page 229



OFFICIAL

3.54. As previously stated this information was available upon request. 

3.55. To date, this data has still not been published (12.02.20)

3.56. This information was published on 19/02/20 and can be found via the below 
web link:

3.57. https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/road-
maintenance/well-managed-highway-infrastructure.aspx

3.58. Cabinet were asked by Councillors and members of the public to 
reconsider or defer this decision, despite the lack of transparent 
information and limited historic consultation data, Cabinet proceeded 
to approve a policy which is unsatisfactory and potentially 
jeopardises the safety of our residents.

3.59. In summarising the Cabinet’s decision, Cllr Browne committed to publish 
the relevant information on the Council’s website, this was undertaken on 
19/02/20.  The information relating to many of the areas discussed was 
available either as part of the Cabinet report pack or on request.

4. Implications

4.1. Legal Implications 

4.1.1. As a result of the call in, all work on the proposals have stopped. 

4.1.2. The recommendations of the Well Managed Highway Infrastructure 
‘The Code’ are not statutory but provide highway authorities with 
guidance on highways management. Adoption of the recommendations 
within the Code is a matter for each highway authority, based on their 
own interpretation of local risks, needs and priorities. The Highways Act 
1980 covers the legal elements of the management and operation of 
the road network within England and Wales and as such sets out the 
statutory duties of highway authorities. This includes the identification 
and rectification of defects and the provision of winter and adverse 
weather services. Further duties that the Highway Authority must 
address are covered under The Railways and Transport Safety Act 
2003 and the Traffic Management Act 2004.

4.1.3. The implementation of a new way of working which is in accordance 
with WMHI should strengthen the Council’s defence against third party 
claims under Section 58 Highways Act and would enable the Council to 
demonstrate that it is meeting its obligations relating to winter service 
under Section 41(1A) of the Highways Act 1980 (as amended by 
Section 111 of the Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003).  

Page 230

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/road-maintenance/well-managed-highway-infrastructure.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/highways_and_roads/road-maintenance/well-managed-highway-infrastructure.aspx


APPENDIX THREE

OFFICIAL
11

4.1.4. The delay in implementation increases legal risk to the Council under 
the Acts outlined above. A failure to adopt the Code will likely increase 
the number of successful claims against the Council along with 
associated costs.

4.2. Financial Implications

4.2.1. As a result of the call in, the costs to the service in the 2020/21 financial 
year will increase by approximately £230,000. This figure is split across 
highway safety inspections and winter service.

4.2.2. The £230,000 increase in costs is unbudgeted and as such is a 
financial pressure. Should the number of 3rd party claims against the 
Council increase, the cost to the authority will increase above 
£230,000.

4.3. List of Appendices

Appendix A – List of Consultees

Appendix B -  WMHI Consultation Summary

Appendix C – AHG Responses

Page 231



OFFICIAL

Page 232



OFFICIAL

Appendix A  – List of Consultees 

Part A: Well Managed Highway Infrastructure Consultation

Page 233



OFFICIAL

Organisations and Groups  
  
 The Local Enterprise Partnership  
  
 TfN
  
 Disability Information Bureau
  
 Living Streets
  
 Better Transport
  
 North West transport Activists Round Table
  
 Friends of the Peak District and CPRE South Yorkshire
  
 Age UK
  
Local Transport Operators  
 ARRIVA North West
  
 D & G Bus
  
 First Potteries
  
 Hollinsheads Coaches
  
 Ladyline Coaches
  
 High Peak Buses
  
 Tomlinson Travel
  
 Selwyns Travel
  
 Mikro Coaches
  
Neighbouring Highway Authorities  
  
 Cheshire West and Chester
  
 Derbyshire

Page 234



OFFICIAL

 Neighbouring Highway Authorities Cont.  

 Staffordshire
  
 Shropshire
  
 Trafford
  
 Stockport
  
 City of Manchester
  
 Warrington
  
 Stoke on Trent City Council
  
 Transport for Greater Manachester
  
 Highways England
  
Claims Handlers and Insurers  
  
 Weightmans
  
 Risk Management Partners
  
Emergency Services  
  
 Police
  
 Fire 
  
 Ambulance
  
Delivery Partners  
  
 Transport Service Solutions
  
 Ansa
  
Transport Operators  
  

Manchester Airport
  
 Network Rail

Page 235



OFFICIAL

 Transport Operators cont.  
 HS2
  
Haulage Associations  

Road Haulage Association

  
 Road Freight Association
  
Cycling Groups  

Sustrans

 cyclingUK
  
Local Cycling groups  
 Sandbach

 Crewe & Nantwich

 Congleton

 Macclesfield

 Wilmslow

 Middlewich

 Audlem
  
NHS and Health Service Providers  
  

 
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

(doctors surgeries)
  
 NHS
  
 Leighton Hospital
  
  
Parish Councils  
  
 Acton PC (Clerk) 
 Adlington PC (Clerk)
 Agden PM (Clerk)
 Alderley Edge PC (Clerk)

Page 236

mailto:tom.guha@cyclinguk.org


OFFICIAL

Parish and Town Councils Cont.
 Alpraham PC (Clerk)
 Alsager TC (Clerk)
 Arclid PC (Clerk)
 Ashley PC (Clerk)
 Aston-by-Budworth PC (Clerk)
 Audlem PC (Clerk) 
 Bickerton & Egerton (Clerk)
 Bollington TC (Clerk)
 Bosley PC (Clerk)
 Bradwall PC
 Brereton PC (Clerk)
 Brindley & Faddiley PC (Clerk)
 Buerton PC (Clerk)
 Bulkeley & Ridley PC (Clerk)
 Bunbury PC (Clerk)
 Burland PC and Barthomley PC (Clerk)
 Calveley PC (Clerk)
 Chelford PC (Clerk)
 Chomondeston & Wettenhall PC
 Chorley PC (Clerk)
 Church Lawton Parish Council
 Church Minshull PC (Clerk) 
 Congleton Town Council

 
Cranage PC, Somerford PC, Hulme Walfield PC, Newbold 

Astbury (Clerk)
 Crewe Green PC (Clerk)
 Crewe TC (Clerk)
 Disley Parish Council (Clerk)
 Dodcott-cum-Wilkesley PC (Clerk)
 Doddington PC & Betchton PC (Clerk)
 Eaton PC (Clerk)
 Gawsworth PC (Clerk)
 Goostrey PC (Clerk)
 Great Warford PC
 Handforth PC
 Hankelow PC & Shavington PC Cholmondeley PC (Clerk) 
 Haslington PC (Clerk)
 Hassall PC (Clerk)
 Hatherton & Walgherton PC (Clerk)
 Haughton PM (Clerk)
 Henbury PC (Clerk)
 High Legh PC (Clerk)
 Higher Hurdsfield PC (Clerk)
 Holmes Chapel PC (Clerk)

Page 237



OFFICIAL

 Hough & Chorlton PC (Clerk)

Parish and Town Councils Cont.
 chalc.org.uk
 Kettleshulme PC
 Knutsford TC (Clerk)
 Little Bollington PM (Clerk)
 Little Warford PC (Clerk) 
 Lower Peover PC (Clerk)
 Lower Withington PC (Clerk)
 Macclesfield Forest & Wildboarclough PM
 Macclesfield TC (Clerk)
 Marbury & District PC (Clerk)
 Marton PC (Clerk)
 Mere PC (Clerk)
 Middlewich TC (Clerk)
 Millington Parish Council
 Minshull Vernon & District (Clerk)
 Mobberley PC (Clerk)
 Moston Parish Council
 Mottram-St-Andrew PC (Clerk)
 Nantwich TC (Clerk)
 Nether Alderley PC
 Newhall PC & Sound PC (Clerk)
 North Rode PC (Clerk)
 Odd Rode PC (Clerk)
 Ollerton with Marthall PC (Clerk)
 Over Alderley PC (Clerk)
 Peckforton PC
 Peover Superior PC (Clerk)
 Pickmere PC (Clerk)
 Plumley with Toft & Bexton PC (Clerk)
 Pott Shrigley PC (Clerk)
 Poynton TC (Clerk)
 Prestbury PC (Clerk)
 Rainow PC (Clerk)
 Rope PC (Clerk)
 Rostherne PC (Clerk)
 Sandbach TC (Clerk)
 Siddington PC (Clerk)
 Smallwood PC (Clerk)
 Snelson PC (Clerk)
 Spurstow PC
 Stapeley & District PC (Clerk)
 Stoke & Hurleston PC

Page 238



OFFICIAL

 Styal PC (Clerk)

Parish and Town Councils Cont.
 Sutton PC (Clerk)
 Swettenham PC (Clerk) 
 Tabley PC (Clerk)
 Twemlow PC
 Wardle PC (Clerk)
 Warmingham PC (Clerk)
 Weston & Basford PC (Clerk) 
 Willaston PC (Clerk)
 Wilmslow TC (Clerk)
 Wincle PM (Clerk)
 Wistaston PC (Clerk)
 Worleston & District PC (Clerk)
 Wrenbury-cum-Frith PC (Clerk)
  
Cheshire East Borough Council 
Departments  

 CEC Adult and Social Care Services
 CEC Childrens' Services
 Skills and Growth Company
 Countryside Access Forum
 Parent Carer Forum
 CEC Youth Council
 CEC Youth Council
 Childrens' Centres 
 Cheshire Emergency Planning Unit 
 Transport Policy

Page 239



OFFICIAL

Part B: Resilient Network Consultation 

Page 240



OFFICIAL

Local Transport Operators  
 ARRIVA North West
  
 D & G Bus
  
 First Potteries
  
 Hollinsheads Coaches
  
 Ladyline Coaches
  
 High Peak Buses
  
 Tomlinson Travel
  
 Selwyns Travel
  
  
 Mikro Coaches
  
Neighbouring Highway Authorities  
  
 Cheshire West and Chester
  
 Derbyshire
  
 Staffordshire
  
 Shropshire
  
 Trafford
  
 Stockport
  
 City of Manchester
  
 Warrington
  
 Highways England
  
 Transport for Greater Manchester

Page 241



OFFICIAL

  
 Stoke on Trent City Council
  
Emergency Services  
 Police
  
 Fire 
  
 Ambulance
  
Organisations and Groups  
 TfN
  
 The Local Enterprise Partnership
  
The Chamber of Trade  
 East Cheshire Chamber of Commerce and Enterprise
  
 North Cheshire Chamber of Commerce and Enterprise
  
 South Cheshire Chamber of Commerce
  
Transport Operators  
 Manchester Airport
  
 Network Rail
  
 HS2
  
Haulage Associations  
 The Road Haulage Association
  
 Road Freight Association
  
Utility Operators  
 United Utilities Water
  
 Cadent Gas
  
 BT Openreach
  
 Scottish Power Energy Networks
  
 Electricity North West
  

Page 242



OFFICIAL

 Virgin Media

Utility Operators Cont.

 Western Power Distribution

  
 Network Rail
  
 Energetics Gas
  
 Energetics Electric
  
 ES Pipelines
  
 Fulcrum Pipelines
  
 Telefonica
  
 T Mobile
  
 Vodafone
  
 Gas Transportation
  
NHS and Health Service Providers  

 
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(doctors surgeries)

  
 NHS
  
 Leighton Hospital
  
Delivery Partners  
 Transport Service Solutions
  
 Ansa
Salt Suppliers  
 compass minerals
  
Internal Departments and Partners  
 Emergency Planning Unit
  
 Transport Policy
  
 Skills and Growth Company

Page 243



OFFICIAL

Page 244



 

OFFICIAL 

 

Cheshire East Council  

Well Managed Highway Consultation  

Summary of results 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Production date: 21/09/2018 
 
Report produced by:  
 
Research and Consultation Team  
Business Intelligence  
Cheshire East Council  
Westfields  
Middlewich Road  
Sandbach  
CW11 1HZ  
 
Email: RandC@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

Page 245

mailto:RandC@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

OFFICIAL 

Introduction  

Background and Methodology  

From 2nd July to 27th  August 2018 Cheshire East Council consulted on a number of draft policies 

in relation to Highway Safety Inspections and Winter Service activities. Respondents were 

provided with a summary of the five documents listed below: 

 Draft Highways Inspection Policy 

 Draft Code of Practice for Highways Safety Inspections 

 Examples of Old and New Inspection Process 

 Draft Winter and Adverse Weather Policy  

 Winter and Adverse Weather Plan Consultation 2018 

The consultation comprised of two sections the Highways Inspection Policy 2018 (section one), 

and Winter and Adverse Weather Policy (section two).  Respondents were asked for feedback to 

help align the management of the highway network with risk and usage levels.  

The Well Managed Highways consultation was advertised through the Cheshire East Council 

website and through Social Media. It was predominantly online, however, paper copies were made 

available at all Cheshire East Libraries and key contact centres.  

In total, 93 respondents replied to the online/ paper questionnaire, this report is a summary of the 

findings from this questionnaire. Responses were received from a variety of interested parties 

including local residents, town/parish Councillors and voluntary/community organisations.   In 

addition 3 e-mail responses were received, these can be seen in appendix two.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 246



 

OFFICIAL 

Part One: Highway Inspection Policy 2018 

Section one considered the Highways Inspection Policy 2018. This document promotes the 

adoption of an integrated asset management approach to highway infrastructure based on local 

levels of service through risk-based assessment. It provides a number of key recommendations, 

particularly relating to the development of a network hierarchy as well as establishing the theme of 

a risk-based approach. Respondents were asked four questions regarding this policy as detailed 

by Figure 1.  

Figure 1. To what extent to you agree or disagree with the following?  

 

Respondents were generally split around the Council’s proposed approach to delivering risk based 

highway safety inspections with 38% in agreement and 34% in disagreement.  Respondents were 

more likely to disagree (47%) that the proposed approach to highway safety inspections caters for 

all highway users (26% agreement). Respondents were clearly in support that the repair of defects 

should be prioritised by the risk they pose to the public as 76% agreed. Respondents also agreed 

that taking longer to deliver high quality long lasting repairs was a preferred approach (63%). 

Respondents were asked to explain their reasoning if they disagreed with any of the above. A total 

of 37 comments were left which for the purpose of analysis have been coded into three main 

themes of repair of defects (26 references), cater for all highways users (12 references) and 

consideration of local roads (9 references), these are detailed further on the next page.  

Page 247



 

OFFICIAL 

Repair of defects (26 references): Respondents felt that the schedule of repair works and 

inspections needed to be undertaken more frequently and that a more proactive approach should 

be adopted (8 comments). They also felt that quick/temporary fixes should be carried out as soon 

as possible to prevent damage with a scheduled longer term fix (7 comments) although some 

respondents felt that these were a waste of money and that long term repairs should be the priority 

(3 comments). Respondents felt that more money should be spent on road maintenance, with no 

cuts or reductions in service (5 comments). Overall respondents felt that repairs needed to be 

completed as soon as possible and to a high standard (3 comments).  

Cater for all Highway Users (12 references): Certain respondents indicated that they disagreed 

with aspects of the policy as they felt it did not cater for all highway users, of particular concern 

were cyclists and pedestrians. These respondents felt that not enough consideration was given to 

road defects that have a bigger impact on these groups than on vehicles, especially in regard to 

pothole depth (12 comments).  

Consideration of Local roads (9 references): Respondents felt there was a lack of 

consideration given to local roads and the usage of these requesting that they required a greater 

level of inspection and maintenance as they were considered as vital local links (9 comments).  

 

Respondents were also asked if there were any further considerations which should be taken into 

account with regard to the Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections. A total of 23 

comments were received in response to this.  Further considerations included the following: 

 The need for more comprehensive repair work (repairing potholes in proximity), rolling 

maintenance and more patrols (8 comments)  

 The poor quality repair work currently being undertaken, which needed improvement (5 

comments) and the need for quick action to undertake repairs (2 comments)  

 Concerns about specific areas such as Altrincham Road on approach to Styal school, 

should be given more priority (4 comments) 

 Proper maintenance and inspection of cycle ways (2 comments) and more enforcement 

around roadside parking (1 comment) 

 A consideration for alternative routes that are used to circumvent traffic and therefore 

have a high volume and use than would be expected (2 comments) 

 

Page 248



 

OFFICIAL 

Part Two: Winter and Adverse Weather Policy 

Section two considered the Winter and Adverse Weather Policy. This policy has evolved over a 

number of years to take into consideration best practice. The last revision of the policy was 

developed to take into consideration the guidance provided in Well Maintained Highways, 

published in 2005 by the UK Roads Liaison Group (UKRLG). Respondents were asked three 

questions regarding this policy as detailed by Figure 2.  

Figure 2. To what extent to you agree or disagree with the following? 

 

Respondents agreed that local roads should be gritted based upon usage, local risks and 

surrounding amenities (75%). More respondents agreed that local radio and television are good 

ways of keeping them informed about local road conditions (68%) than social media (63%).  

Respondents were asked to explain their reasoning if they disagreed with any of the above. A total 

of 27 comments were left which for the purpose of analysis have been coded into three main 

themes of communication methods (17 references), roads (7 references) and consideration of 

rural areas and cycle ways (4 references), these are detailed further on the next page. 

 

 

 

 

Page 249



 

OFFICIAL 

Communication Methods (17 references): Certain respondents indicated that they disagreed 

with aspects of the policy as they felt that not everyone has access to social media, and that it has 

a limited impact (13 comments). However some respondents felt that all forms of communication 

should be supported (2 comments). While others felt that a better solution was needed (2 

comments), especially for those already on the road at the time of incident (2 comments).  

Roads (7 references): Respondents felt that more roads should be gritted, including local streets 

(5 comments). Respondents also felt that generally more money needed to be spent on gritting 

roads and pavements (2 comments).  

Consideration of rural areas and cycle ways (4 references): Certain respondents indicated that 

they disagreed with aspects of the policy as they felt it would have a larger impact on rural 

communities and could potentially isolate individuals during bad weather (2 comments). 

Respondents also criticised the lack of support for cycle ways and pavements in the allocation of 

pre-treatments (2 comments).  

 

Respondents were asked if there were any further considerations that should be taken into 

account with regard to the draft Winter Adverse Weather Strategy. A total of 28 comments were 

received in response to this. Further considerations included:  

 Greater consideration for rural areas, having access to salt and grit (2 comments) and 

the feeling that local and rural roads/pavements should still be a priority for gritting (7 

comments) 

 More money to be spent on gritting roads (3 comments) and more timely gritting of 

roads (2 comments) 

 Gritting of cycle ways and pavements should still be considered to prevent accidents (3 

comments) 

 Specific requests for gritting were received such as: Gaw End Lane to allow Arriva 

buses to leave the Lyme Green depot in Macclesfield (1 comment), and Altrincham 

Road to allow safe access to Styal Primary School (8 comments). 

 The use of text alerts for communication (1 comment) 

 Clarification around severe weather conditions and how town and parish councils are to 

assist without the provision of equipment (1 comment) 

Page 250



 

OFFICIAL 

Summary and Conclusions 

Overall, average general support for aspects of the ‘Highway Inspection Policy’ (25%) was weaker 

than for aspects of the ‘Winter and Adverse Weather Policy’ (34%). This is mainly driven by the 

high disagreement rate expressed to Q2 that the policy caters for all highways users. Analysis of 

the comments reveals that this disagreement is likely to be driven by concerns for cyclists and 

pedestrians. Cyclists in particular were highlighted as an ‘at risk’ group and respondents felt they 

should be a priority and a greater consideration when assessing pothole depth.  

Respondents also expressed concerns about the impact of both the ‘Highway Inspection Policy’ 

and the ‘Winter and Adverse Weather Policy’  on rural areas, suggesting that they would have a 

much harsher impact and that the policies were designed to cater to urban populated areas, 

neglecting the rurality of Cheshire East.  

Despite these concerns respondents were in agreement that repair defects should be prioritised if 

they were a risk to the public (76%) and that taking longer to deliver high quality long lasting 

repairs was a better approach than temporary fixes (63%). Respondents agreed that local roads 

should be gritted based upon usage, local risks and surrounding amenities (75%) 

While respondents expressed concerns about the use of social media as a sole source of 

information, generally all information types were considered to be helpful with further suggestions 

such as more local radio involvement and text alerts suggested by respondents.  

Finally there were some specific requests for consideration from respondents such as the gritting 

of Altrincham Road to allow access to Styal Primary School and Gaw End Lane for the bus 

network to run in wintery conditions. Clarification was also requested on the role that Town and 

Parish Councils were required to undertake in extreme weather conditions as this is currently 

unclear in the policy.  

 

 

Next steps 

The feedback is to be presented to the project board for consideration in the formulation of the 

approach to Well Managed Highway Infrastructure. 

 

Page 251



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix One: Demographic Tables 

Which of the following best describes who you are responding as? - Multiple choice 

Row Labels Count % 

A Local Resident 21 51 

A local business 1 2 

A member of a voluntary or community organisation 3 7 

An elected town or parish councillor in Cheshire East 8 20 

An elected Member of Cheshire East 3 7 

Other 5 12 

Withheld Data* 52*  

Total number of respondents 
41 

 

How do you normally travel in or through Cheshire East? - Multiple choice 

Row Labels Count % 

In a car/van as the driver 36 95% 

In a car/van as a passenger 12 32% 

On a bus 9 24% 

On a motorcycle 1 3% 

On foot 23 60% 

On a bicycle 12 32% 

Other 3 8% 

Withheld Data* 55*  

Total number of respondents 
38 

 

Why do you travel in or through Cheshire East? - Multiple choice 

Row Labels Count % 

Live in Cheshire East 37 97 

Work/Study 15 39 

Visit local town centre/shops 28 74 

Use health and Social Care facilities 21 55 

Use local leisure facilities 18 47 
Other 6 16 

Withheld Data* 55*  

Total number of respondents 
38 

 

What is your gender identity? 

Row Labels Count % 

Female (including trans female) 15 44% 

Male (including trans man) 18 53% 

Other gender identity  1 3% 

Withheld Data* 59*  

Grand Total 34 100% 

Page 252



 

OFFICIAL 

What age group do you belong to? 

Row Labels Count % 

16-24 0 0% 

25-34 1 3% 

35-44 4 12% 

45-54 8 24% 

55-64 6 18% 

65-74 9 26% 

75-84 5 15% 

85 and over 0 0% 

Withheld Data* 60* 
 Grand Total 33 100% 

 
 
What is your ethnic origin? 

Row Labels Count % 

White British / English / Welsh / Scottish / Northern Irish / Irish 25 83% 

Any other White background 2 7% 

Asian / Asian British 1 3% 

Mixed: White and Black Caribbean / African / Asian 1 3% 

Withheld Data* 64* 
 Grand Total 29 100% 

 
 
Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health problem or disability which has lasted, 
or is expected to last, at least 12 months?  

Row Labels Count % 

No 28 97% 

Yes 1 3% 

Withheld Data* 64*  

Grand Total 29 100% 

 

 

*Under GDPR Compliance respondents can select to submit a survey response with no 

demographic data attached to it. Out of the total 93 respondents, 52 respondents abstained from 

providing personal data, and 59 from sensitive data and respondents are also able to select a 

‘prefer not to say option’. Due to this high number those who ‘withheld’ data they are not included 

in the percentage base of the demographics tables. 

 

Page 253



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix Two: E-mail Responses 

 

 

Email Response 1.1 

P
age 254



 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Email Response 1.2 

Email Response 1.3 

P
age 255



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AHG Roads Identified Parish

Final risk assessment 

score Comments Outcome of review

Congleton Moss Lane Sandbach 0

The bus route turns off and travels down Salt Line Way. 

There is nothing of note along the remainder of Moss 

Lane. However, there is the small industrial estate to 

the north (Norton Way) off Moss Lane, which has been 

scored at 25. Not included

Congleton Church Bank Goostrey 0

This road travels north off the pre-salt route, which in 

turn links onto the rural road network. All of which 

have scored zero. Thre is nothing along the section that 

falls within the criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Crewe Colleys Lane Wistaston 0

Both sections of Colleys lane score zero. There are a 

alternatives route to the southwest (A51 Nantwich 

Bypass) and northeast  (Wistaston Green Road) which 

are recommended for inclusion on the precautionary 

network. Not included

Crewe Wistaston Green Road Wistaston 100

Risk assessment reviewd and score revised due to bus 

route and requirement to treat full road length

Added to treatment network

Crewe Weston Lane Weston 10

Nothing apart from the bridge deck over the railway 

bridge. Similarly for Weston Lane, Basford. Not included

Crewe Broughton Road Crewe 25

The northern end of the road is subject to run off from 

adjacent land which is caused by poorly maintained 

land drainage systems. Not included

Crewe Mablins Lane Crewe 25

The junction with Parkers Road is subject to run off 

from adjacent land in extreme weather conditions, 

only. Not included

Crewe Maw Green Lane Crewe 100

Albeit the road has been scored 100 the spreader can 

only treat the first section up to the new roundabout. 

There is no suitable turning area for the section leading 

to the land-fill site. Beyond the landfill entrance, there 

is a railway bridge which has an oblique turning and is 

subject to both width & height restrictions. Not included

Crewe Selworthy Drive Crewe 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Furthermore, there is 

no suitable turning point for the spreader. Not included

Macclesfield Havannah Lane Eaton 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Macclesfield School Lane Marton 75

Risk assessment score below threshold. Currently on a 

secondary route. Score reflects National Cycle Network 

and urban Primary school (with 30mph zone). Not included

Macclesfield Dark Lane Gawsworth 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Macclesfield Longbutts Lane Gawsworth 0

Urban unclassified road with a risk assessment score 

below the required threshold. Cul-de-sac with no 

suitable turning point. Not included

Macclesfield Gawsworth Road Gawsworth 50 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Macclesfield Byrons Lane Macclesfield 125

Risk assessment score reviewed - designated route to 

Sutton community Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Ridge Hill Sutton 115

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Church Lane Sutton 150

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route Added to treatment network

Macclesfield High Street Bollington 100

Risk assessment score reviewed, particularly with 

reference to the gradient Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Lord Street Bollington 100

Risk assessment score reviewed, particularly with 

reference to the gradient Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Chancery Lane Bollington 110

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route (Lord Street to High 

Street section, only) Added to treatment network

Macclesfield Moss Brow Bollington 125

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route Added to treatment network

Nantwich Queens Drive Nantwich 200

Link road between sections of network identified for 

inclusion on precautionary network. Travel by spreader 

to rejoin precautionary route Added to treatment network

Nantwich Monks Lane Nantwich 100

Compilation of criteria which in total lends the road to 

be included on the precautionary network  - low score 

bus route, NCN and natural progression of vehicular 

traffic etc. Added to treatment network

Poynton Brookledge Lane Adlington 100 Risk assessment reviewed and score revised Added to treatment network

Poynton Shrigley Road Pott Shrigley 75

Altitude above 200m and Cat 3 gradient. Risk 

assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Mill Lane Mottram St Andrew 35

Unsuitable for Heavy Goods Vehicles. Risk assessment 

score below threshold Not included

Poynton Anson Road Poynton 10 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Counting House Road Disley 25 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Chantry Road Disley 25 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Redhouse Lane Disley 35 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Poynton Light Alders Lane Disley 25 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Wilmslow Lincoln Road Wilmslow 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Wilmslow Tudor Road Wilmslow 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Wilmslow Heyes Lane Alderley Edge 75 & 0

Railway Station (Urban Commuter) (75)  first 15 m 

from London Road only. Risk assessment score below 

threshold Not included

Wilmslow Hough Lane Alderley Edge 0 & 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Wilmslow Chapel Road Alderley Edge 0

There is nothing along the section that falls within the 

criteria set on the scoring matrix. Not included

Wilmslow Mottram Road Alderley Edge 50 & 50 

Shaded/cold spots scored at 50. Risk assessment score 

below threshold Not included

Wilmslow Chorley Hall Lane Alderley Edge 35 Risk assessment score below threshold Not included

Wilmslow Trafford Road Alderley Edge 0 & 0

Cat 4 gradient (25) and bridge deck (10) Risk 

assessment score below threshold Not included

NOTE: - Roads scoring 100 or greater are identified for inclusion in the winter treatment network.

Page 257



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

                                                                                        

Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 

Date of Meeting:  16 March 2020

Report Title: Environment Strategy and Carbon Action Plan

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Nick Mannion, Environment and Regeneration

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place

1. Report Summary

1.1. The Council has developed an Environment Strategy to respond to the 
global threat of climate change and protect and enhance the local 
environment within our borough. 

1.2. Cabinet decided on 10 September 2019 to consult on the draft Environment 
Strategy. This report provides a summary of the consultation responses 
that were received. It summarises the changes to the strategy as result of 
the consultation and to reflect progress since September.

1.3. The Council has committed to be carbon neutral by 2025 and to work to 
encourage businesses, residents and organisations in Cheshire East to 
reduce their carbon footprint. The Carbon Action Plan sets out how the 
Council will achieve carbon neutrality by 2025 and influence emission 
reduction across the Borough. 

2. Recommendations

2.1. That the Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
considers the draft Environment Strategy and Carbon Action Plan and 
provides feedback and recommendations to Cabinet.

3. Reasons for Recommendation/s

3.1. On 22 May 2019, Cheshire East Council approved the following Notice of 
Motion relating to Climate Change. 

“This Council notes that on 1 May Parliament declared an environment 
and climate emergency and 

Page 259 Agenda Item 7



OFFICIAL

a) Requests that a Cheshire East Environmental Strategy is brought 
forward as a matter of urgency; 

b) Commits to the target of Cheshire East Council being carbon neutral 
by 2025 and asks that details of how to meet this commitment are 
included in the Environmental Strategy; 

c) Will work to encourage all businesses, residents and organisations 
in Cheshire East to reduce their carbon footprint by reducing energy 
consumptions and promoting healthy lifestyles.” 

3.2. The Council has developed its Environment Strategy with the following 
strategic goals:

 Cheshire East Council will be carbon neutral by 2025
 Reduce waste
 Improve air quality
 Ensure new development is sustainable
 Increase sustainable transport and travel
 Protect and enhance our natural environment

3.3. The Environment Strategy will be delivered through a suite of action-
oriented strategies and plans. The Carbon Action Plan is the delivery plan 
that sets out how the Council will be carbon neutral by 2025 and how it will 
influence carbon emission reduction across the borough. 

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. The Council could ‘do nothing’, but that would mean that the Council will 
take no action to protect, sustain and improve the environment in support of 
local, national and global priorities.

5. Background

5.1. The Climate Change Act 2008 introduced a legally binding target for the UK 
to reduce greenhouse gases by 80% by 2050 against a 1990 baseline. In 
June 2019 the UK Prime Minister announced a revised target - the UK will 
cut emissions to net zero by 2050.

5.2. The Government published its 25-Year Environment Plan in 2018.  Central 
to this plan is climate change and it sets out its goals for cleaner air and 
water, thriving plants and animals, and a cleaner, greener country for us all. 
The Government’s Plan acknowledges that it will require work across 
society - citizens, businesses, local councils, charities and other non-profit 
organisations - to make sure that responsible attitudes towards the 
environment become the norm to secure lasting change.

Page 260



OFFICIAL

5.3. Environment Strategy Consultation

5.4. The Council consulted on its draft Environment Strategy during October 
and November 2019. The consultation received a high number of 
responses from a wide range of stakeholders, including 384 survey 
responses, 32 formal written responses, and 54 social media comments. 
Respondents seemed particularly passionate on the topic. 

5.5. On the whole, the draft Environment Strategy was well received with very 
large proportions of respondents agreeing the Strategic Goals were 
relevant (89%) – this suggests the strategy focuses on the right areas. 
However, respondents felt more detail and greater urgency is needed for 
the delivery of a successful Environment Strategy

5.6. Respondents called for the council to be clearer in the strategy about what 
its role would be in tackling the climate emergency, with some calling for 
the council to lead on this issue throughout the borough. Some suggested a 
sub-regional Carbon Strategy.

5.7. Throughout the consultation respondents highlighted some of the key 
challenges the council will need to meet to face the climate emergency:

5.7.1. Economic growth – respondents felt that economic growth has in 
many ways only been possible at the expense of the environment, with 
a “throw-away” economy, increasing populations and constant 
development. They questioned how the council will balance economic 
growth with environmental sustainability. The Council has developed its 
new Economic Strategy that promotes a ‘sustainable approach’ to 
growth. Delivering sustainable infrastructure and business 
environments could be a significant attractor for business to invest in 
the borough.

5.7.2. Development - Respondents provided strong views regarding the 
levels of new housing and development within the borough. They 
questioned how the council will balance demands for new housing, and 
new roads, with environmental sustainability. The Environment Strategy 
explains that the Local Plan, the Council’s plan to manage growth and 
development over future years, seeks to meet the objectively assessed 
needs for development which includes accommodating a realistic 
element of economic growth-derived development need. A strong 
economy offering sustainable growth is essential in maintaining the 
borough’s prosperity, but the objective is not economic growth at any 
price; rather it is the sustainable development of Cheshire East.

5.7.3. Reliance on cars – Respondents are aware of their reliance on cars, 
even for short journeys, but feel that there is currently no practical, 
viable alternative. They felt that current development is not supportive 

Page 261



OFFICIAL

of this aim – it is “out of town” and therefore car dependent, little green 
infrastructure is being built, and cuts to bus service subsidies lessen 
the sustainable transport options available. Electric cars are presented 
as a solution, but there is doubt that these are environmentally friendly 
enough to provide a long-term viable alternative. The Environment 
Strategy acknowledges the reliance on cars within the borough, 
reporting that Cheshire East has one of the lowest levels of per capita 
bus use in England. It commits to develop a new Cheshire East Bus 
Strategy and an Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy.  

5.7.4. Reducing waste – Reduction of the amount of waste produced by 
residents was seen as a high priority – achieving this with an affluent 
population will be a challenge, particularly in a consumer economy, as 
will reducing use of packaging and single use plastic by manufacturers 
and retailers. Not producing waste in the first place is by far the best 
environmental and economic solution to tackling waste, then reusing it 
followed by recycling and composting. Through a range of waste 
education and awareness initiatives, the Council is encouraging 
residents to make waste prevention, reduction and reuse a priority over 
recycling and disposal.  

5.8. The consultation asked whether the delivery of the Environment Strategy 
should be subsidised from local taxation or cost neutral to the council, i.e. 
by relying on government grants and other external funding. Respondents 
favoured delivery of the strategy being cost neutral to the council – though 
opinion was fairly split on this. 47% felt delivery of the strategy should be 
cost neutral to the council, 34% felt it should be subsidised from local 
taxation, while the remaining 19% were unsure. The adoption of the 
Environment Strategy will help ensure the financial decisions the Council 
makes in future are increasingly influenced by carbon accounting principles 
and the impact on climate change.

5.9. The Strategy is designed to provide the policy framework for the Council to 
evaluate strategies, policies, plans, projects, service delivery and 
partnerships to consider the environmental and climate change impact. It 
will ensure that the Council provides strong environmental leadership and 
stewardship, leading local action in support of the Government’s 25-Year 
Environment Plan to make sure that responsible attitudes towards the 
environment become the norm to secure lasting change. 

5.10. There have been wide-ranging changes to the Environment Strategy to 
acknowledge and respond to the consultation feedback and in particular the 
key challenges highlighted by respondents. The Strategic Goals have 
remained the same, albeit re-worded to reflect the sense of urgency.

Page 262



OFFICIAL

5.11. The strategy has also been updated to reflect the progress made against 
the priority actions identified in the draft strategy. For example, the Carbon 
Action Plan, Local Transport Plan, Municipal Waste Strategy and Green 
Infrastructure Plan have all been completed and provide the more detailed 
action plans that respondents to the consultation were seeking. 

5.12. The strategy identifies that there are further key strategies that will be 
brought forward to support the achievement of our goals, in particular:

 Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (Local Plan 
part 2)

 Minerals & Waste Development Plan Document (Local Plan part 3)
 Cheshire East Bus Strategy
 Town Delivery Plans
 Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy

5.13. Carbon Action Plan

5.14. The scope of the carbon neutral ambition for 2025 are those emissions 
over which the Council has direct operational control. The current carbon 
footprint of the Council has been assessed to be 15,447 t/CO2e (tonnes of 
carbon dioxide equivalent). These include the nationally recognised scope 
1 (direct fuel/gas use) and scope 2 (direct electricity use). Some elements 
of Scope 3 (indirect) have been included, where the council has a high level 
of control even when procured/commissioned and are consistent with the 
wider environmental messaging around sustainable travel, waste and water 
use. 

5.15. The scope does not include emissions from schools and commuting given 
the council does not have the ability to directly influence. The scope also 
does not include the remainder of Scope 3 emissions concerned with 
emissions from the wider array of goods and services procured or 
commissioned, given that the council does not directly control and they are 
impossible to measure accurately.

5.16. The Carbon Action Plan acknowledges the varying influence the Council 
has on its own emissions versus borough wide emissions. As a result, the 
Action Plan firstly address topics directly under the Council’s control and 
then expands the scope to address areas of medium and weaker influence 
in the borough. Some actions relate to the 2025 target whereas others 
relate to the broader borough-wide ambition.

5.16.1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy - Actions that focus on 
internal policy, culture and behaviour of the council (e.g. decision-
making and procurement process). Changes in this category are 
generally the least financially intensive and can be initiated quickly. It 

Page 263



OFFICIAL

is also important to drive actions in this area as an enabler and 
stimulus of further action in the wider borough.

5.16.2. Energy Demand Reduction - Focused on council operations and 
assets (e.g. council buildings, fleet), but unlike the above, relates to 
more tangible, capital investment related actions that the council can 
take to use less energy and fuel, and improve efficiency.

5.16.3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply - Alongside a reduction in 
energy demand, it is necessary to improve the supply of energy from 
renewable sources. This includes both a council and borough-wide 
focus for action, as measures will commonly deliver benefits at scale 
that can provide opportunity for stakeholders beyond just the council. 

5.16.4. Natural Capital - Similar to energy supply – the council has the 
opportunity to progress action both on its own land estate and within 
the borough more widely. 

5.16.5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions - Although these emissions may 
be under the least influence from the council, in-borough emissions 
must also reach net zero to keep the UK on track with the national 
target. The council’s role becomes one of a partner or facilitator 
amongst the community and local businesses, but there is the 
potential to offset direct council emissions through this work. The 
Council will develop communication resources and toolkits to assist 
parish town councils and communities in calculating, reducing and 
offsetting Carbon.

5.17. These actions, alongside decarbonisation of the electricity grid, are 
expected to reduce the Council’s carbon emissions by 6,095 t/CO2e, a 39% 
reduction on 2019. The Council will therefore need to plan to offset a 
minimum of 9,352 t/CO2e. This will be done through two mechanisms:

5.17.1. Green Electricity – the residual carbon from electricity can be offset 
with purchase of green electricity, this includes an allowance of 10% 
electrification of heat and fleet emissions. The Council will prioritise 
purchase from local energy generating projects where available. This 
is expected to save 2,191 t/CO2e.

5.17.2. Authority Based Insets – the remaining 7,058 t/CO2e will be offset 
through local offsetting projects. These local offsets being described 
as ‘insets’ because they are within the scope of the council’s control, 
in this instance the borough. It is anticipated that this will be a 50/50 
split between carbon sequestration and reduction projects, but this will 
be reviewed following the development of detailed implementation 
plans. 

Page 264



OFFICIAL

5.18. The Council is engaging with sub-regional partners through the Local 
Enterprise Partnership (LEP) to consider our common goals and how our 
stronger, collective voice can have a better impact, in particular in 
influencing government and business.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. There is no legal obligation to publish an Environment Strategy, but 
doing so resonates with the approach taken by government in respect 
of its 25 Year Plan and the draft Environment (Principles and 
Governance) Bill 2018. It ensures the Council is well positioned in 
respect of the direction of travel at national and international level.

6.1.2. There are no implications from the Environment Strategy, as its 
purpose is to guide the formulation of other strategies and plans with a 
focus on environmental matters. There may well be legal implications 
that arise from the formulation or implementation of those other 
strategies and plans, but those will be addressed on a case by case 
basis.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. To support the delivery of this strategy, the Council has included 
investment totalling £12.7m (revenue and capital) within the 2020/24 
Medium Term Financial Strategy supporting the development of a 
range of measures including:

 Improving energy efficiency across the Council’s buildings estate
 Improving active and sustainable travel options
 Exploring and developing local schemes for sustainable energy 

production
 Investing in locally focused carbon offset schemes including 

large-scale tree planting, hedgerow replacement and peat moss 
regeneration

 Establishing crowd funding applications and policies to allow 
local communities to contribute to carbon offset through 
community tree planting.

6.2.2. Further investment requirements will need to be incorporated into the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy as projects complete initial 
feasibility and business case planning stages.

6.3. Policy Implications

Page 265



OFFICIAL

6.3.1. The Environment Strategy sets out priorities and actions that will 
contribute to priorities at a borough, national and global level. The 
strategy contributes to two of the Council’s strategic outcomes: that 
Cheshire East is a green and sustainable place and that People live 
well and for longer. 

6.3.2. The Carbon Action Plan will have policy implications across the council, 
in order to introduce carbon budgets and targets and assess projects 
on a carbon benefit, in addition to cost benefit.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. An Equality Impact Assessment has been conducted and concluded 
that there are no direct equality implications. 

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no implications for human resources from the strategy. Any 
new projects initiated as a result of the Environment Strategy will 
assess their specific HR implications through the business case 
process. 

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. The Environment Strategy has been developed to help mitigate the risk 
of further harm to our environment.

6.6.2. The key risk to the delivery of the Environment Strategy and Carbon 
Action Plan will be competing priorities within the council. 

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. The Environment Strategy will help to protect and enhance the 
character of our rural areas and support rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. Improving our environment benefits all people, but taking action on 
climate change will help to leave the environment in a better state for 
the next generation. Young people in many parts of the world have 
been actively protesting that their environment is being destroyed and 
calling on governments to take urgent action on climate change. This 
has led to the UK Government to announcing that a group of young 
people will advise the government on priorities for environmental 
action.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. Spending time in the natural environment improves mental health and 
feelings of wellbeing. The Environment Strategy seeks to protect, 

Page 266



OFFICIAL

develop and enhance our green spaces and in so doing help people of 
all ages access and benefit from their use. Encouraging active travel 
such as cycling or walking will also be beneficial.

6.9.2. The strategy also recognises the impact air quality can have on public 
health and reinforces our commitment to improve the air quality 
environment in Cheshire East.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. The key purpose of the Environment Strategy to set out the strategic 
goals and priority actions the Council will take to respond to the global 
challenge of climate change. The Carbon Action Plan will have a 
positive impact on climate change through delivering carbon neutrality 
for the Council’s operations and promoting climate action mitigation 
measures across the Borough.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. All wards.

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. The Council consulted on its draft Environment Strategy during October 
and November 2019. Three reports have been produced to report on the 
consultation: a summary report, which is included as appendix 2 to this 
report; a full report, and a report containing all formal response. All reports 
will be published on the council’s website.

9. Access to Information

9.1. The Council’s Environment Strategy is provided as appendix 1 to this 
report.

9.2. The Environment Strategy Consultation – Summary Report is provided as 
appendix 2.

9.3. The Carbon Action Plan is provided as appendix 3.

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Paul Bayley

Job Title: Director of Environment and Neighbourhood Services

Email: paul.bayley@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 267

mailto:paul.bayley@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

Cheshire East Council

Environment Strategy 2020-24

Page 269



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 2 April 2020

Page 270



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 3 April 2020

INTRODUCTION

At the Council meeting on 22 May 2019 the Elected Members of Cheshire East Council 
approved the following Notice of Motion1:

“This Council notes that on 1 May Parliament declared an environment and climate 
emergency and 

a) Requests that a Cheshire East Environmental Strategy is brought forward as a 
matter of urgency;

b) Commits to the target of Cheshire East Council being carbon neutral by 2025 and 
asks that details of how to meet this commitment are included in the Environmental 
Strategy;

c) Will work to encourage all businesses, residents and organisations in Cheshire East 
to reduce their carbon footprint by reducing energy consumptions and promoting 
healthy lifestyles.”

It is widely accepted that climate change is happening as a result of human activity, as is 
the fact that we need to do things differently, both to adapt to the impact and reduce the 
extent of change in the long term. The effects are being felt at a global level with higher 
land and sea temperatures, rising sea levels and extreme weather patterns. The impact of 
extreme weather is being felt at a local level also, whether it be the impact on homes and 
businesses from increased incidents of flooding or the impact on the elderly and 
vulnerable from extreme heat. 

The Climate Change Act 20082 introduced a legally binding target for the UK to reduce 
greenhouse gases by 80% by 2050 against a 1990 baseline. In June 2019 the UK Prime 
Minister announced a revised target - the UK will cut emissions to net zero by 20503. 

The UK Government published its 25-Year Environment Plan4 in 2018.  Central to this plan 
is climate change and it sets out its goals for “cleaner air and water; plants and animals 
which are thriving; and a cleaner, greener country for us all.” The Government’s Plan 
acknowledges that it will require work across society - citizens, businesses, local councils, 
charities and other non-profit organisations - to make sure that responsible attitudes 
towards the environment become the norm to secure lasting change. 

The Environment Bill5, designed to deliver against the priorities set out in the 25-Year 
Environment Plan, was re-introduced to parliament on 30 January 2020 following the 
general election. Upon introducing the Bill, the Secretary of State wrote to local authority 
Chief Executives across the UK reaffirming the importance of central and local government 
working together to protect and improve the environment, and explaining how the Bill 
would bolster the role of local government in responding to environmental issues at a local 
level, leading specific and locally appropriate responses and driving innovation. 

As well as responding to climate change, the Council is committed to protecting and 
enhancing the built and natural environment of the borough and how this relates to 

Page 271



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 4 April 2020

residents, visitors and business. Spending time in the natural environment also has a 
positive impact on people’s mental and physical health and wellbeing, helping people to 
live well and for longer. 

This Environment strategy sets out our strategic goals and summarises the key strategies 
and action plans that will ensure we deliver these goals through our service delivery, 
regulatory activity, projects, and partnerships. It also provides a policy framework for the 
Council to evaluate all emerging strategies, policies, action plans, and projects to consider 
the environmental and climate change impact and how they can contribute positively to the 
goals of this strategy. It will ensure that the Council provides strong environmental 
leadership and stewardship. Everything we do as a council should consider the 
implications on climate change and the natural environment. 

1. Cheshire East Council will be carbon neutral by 2025
 Carbon Action Plan

2. Reduce waste
 Municipal Waste Strategy

3. Improve air quality
 Air Quality Strategy, Air Quality Action Plan

4. Ensure new development is sustainable
 Local Plan

5. Increase sustainable transport and travel
 Local Transport Plan

6. Protect and enhance our natural environment
 Green Infrastructure Plan

The Council has developed a new Economic Strategy for the Borough that outlines the 
main priorities that will support inclusive and sustainable growth. This promotes a 
‘sustainable approach’ to growth through encouraging businesses, residents, visitors and 
organisations across Cheshire East to reduce their carbon footprint and to protect and 
enhance our natural environment. There are interdependencies between the Environment 
and Economic strategies that need to be closely managed to ensure economic aspirations 
do not have a detrimental effect on the environment. However, delivering sustainable 
infrastructure and business environments could be a significant attractor for business to 
invest in the borough.

The Environment Strategy also complements the Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy6 as attractive and accessible green spaces enable people to access outdoor 

Page 272



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 5 April 2020

space for the mental and physical health benefits. We will promote access to our natural 
environments and inspire more people to use green spaces for the health benefits. 

ENCOURAGING BEHAVIOUR CHANGE

Supporting and encouraging changes in day to day behaviour, habits and expectations of 
residents, Council staff, council customers, local businesses and other stakeholders will be 
an important part of the council’s activities to deliver this strategy.

The council has a number of platforms and opportunities to engage and educate different 
audiences about climate change and the environmental impacts of their day to day lives. 
This includes access to local media through media releases and feature articles, social 
media activity, web content, and internal communications activity. 

A programme of campaigns will be delivered to raise awareness of issues and nudge 
people towards simple changes and the day-to-day lifestyle choices that they can make in 
order to reduce their carbon footprint and protect and enhance our environment.  This 
programme will be coordinated with the work of partners, commissioned services and 
national and international awareness days / weeks, to maximise reach and traction. This 
will include content and opportunities to engage around issues such as sustainable travel, 
recycling, household energy, making space for wildlife, and reducing energy consumption 
in the workplace.

MEASURING PROGRESS

We will measure and report progress and impact through key outcome indicators such as 
carbon emissions, waste re-use and recycling rates, and air quality. Our decision-making 
reports now include a section to consider the implications of the recommendations on 
climate change. Carbon accounting will be embedded into our business planning and 
financial investment practices and procedures.

We will produce a report in 2022 to update on progress against our goals and review our 
action plans to ensure they reflect our broader strategic planning and learning.

Page 273



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 6 April 2020

1. A CARBON NEUTRAL COUNCIL BY 2025

Climate change is a global issue, threatening unpredictable and potentially irreversible 
damage to our planet. It is in everyone’s interest to be part of the solution and the Council 
will lead by example locally by taking action to reduce our carbon emissions and become a 
Carbon Neutral Council by 2025.   

The Council has already reduced carbon emissions by 55% since 2010 through initiatives 
to reduce carbon and introduce renewal energy sources to our buildings and streetlighting. 
The Council has produced its Carbon Action Plan7 to set out how it will achieve carbon 
neutrality by 2025 and how it will influence wider carbon emission reductions across the 
borough. 

The current carbon footprint of the Council has been assessed to be 15,447 t/CO2e 
(tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent). To achieve carbon neutrality the Council recognises 
that it has a range of influences on carbon emissions depending upon the amount of 
control it has. The scope of the carbon neutrality ambition for 2025 are those emissions 
which the Council has direct operational control.

Currently carbon for the Borough is estimated to be 2,518,000 t/CO2e, of which 38% is 
On-Road Non-Electric (transport fuels), 35% is Stationary Energy Non-electric (heating 
and process gas), and 24% is Stationary Energy Electric (electricity use). The residual are 
small amounts of landfill and rail emissions. Going forward the emissions in the Borough 
should decrease in line with the UK Government’s 2050 zero carbon objective; however, 
there is a significant amount of influence the council will bring locally to facilitate this.

The action plan to reduce emissions is broken down into 5 areas:

 Behaviour Change and Internal Policy - Actions that focus on internal policy, 
culture and behaviour of the council (e.g. decision-making and procurement 
process). Changes in this category are generally the least financially intensive and 
can be initiated quickly. It is also important to drive actions in this area as an 
enabler and stimulus of further action in the wider borough.

 Energy Demand Reduction - Focused on council operations and assets (e.g. 
council buildings, fleet), but unlike the above, relates to more tangible, capital 
investment related actions that the council can take to use less energy and fuel, and 
improve efficiency.

 Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply - Alongside a reduction in energy demand, 
it is necessary to improve the supply of energy by using renewable sources. This 
includes both a council and borough-wide focus for action, as measures will 
commonly deliver benefits at scale that can provide opportunity for stakeholders 
beyond just the council.

 Natural Capital - similar to energy supply, the council has the opportunity to 
progress action both on its own land estate and within the borough more widely. 

Page 274



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 7 April 2020

 Reducing Borough-wide Emissions/External Policy - Although these emissions 
may be under the least influence from the council, in-borough emissions must also 
reach net zero to keep the UK on track with the national target. The council’s role 
becomes one of a partner and facilitator amongst the community and local 
businesses, but there is the potential to offset direct council emissions through this 
work. 

It is anticipated that these actions, alongside decarbonisation of the electricity grid, will 
save 6,315 t/CO2e, a 41% reduction. The Council will therefore need to plan to offset a 
minimum of 9,132 t/CO2e. This will be done through two mechanisms: 

 Green Electricity – the residual carbon from electricity can be offset with purchase 
of green electricity. The Council will prioritise purchase from local energy generating 
projects where available. This is expected to save 2,051 t/CO2e.

 Authority Based Insets – the remaining 7,081 t/CO2e will be offset through local 
offsetting projects, described as ‘insets’ because they are within the scope of the 
council’s control, in this instance the borough. It is anticipated that this will initially 
be an even 50/50 split between carbon sequestration, such as large-scale tree-
planting, and reduction projects, such as renewable energy generation. 

The below diagram outlines the relative contribution of all activity to achieve carbon 
neutrality by 2025.

Page 275



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 8 April 2020

In order to ensure that this level of emissions is reached, each service area within the 
Council will be allocated a carbon budget and will be required to develop a costed 
implementation plan to deliver this. Progress against these carbon budgets will be reported 
though the Council’s performance management system. 

Page 276



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 9 April 2020

2. REDUCE WASTE 

A key objective of sustainable development is to produce less waste and as far as possible 
use it as a resource. In Cheshire East the waste produced in our community needs to be 
sustainably managed in order to protect the environment and help to achieve the 
Government’s key aim of moving towards a ‘zero waste economy’.  

In 2018 the Government published its Resources and Waste Strategy – Our Waste, Our 
Resources: A strategy for England. This set out the ambition to preserve material 
resources by minimising waste, promoting resource efficiency, and moving towards a 
circular economy. It also advocated minimising the damage caused to our natural 
environment by reducing and managing waste safely and carefully, and by tackling waste 
crime. 

The draft Environment Bill will take forward the ambitions set out in the Government’s 
Resources and Waste Strategy and will ensure that, under the ‘polluter pays’ principle, 
producers can be held responsible for the full net costs of managing the packaging that 
they produce at the end of its life, reducing local authorities’ financial burdens from waste 
management. The draft Bill also includes the powers to introduce a deposit return scheme 
whereby consumers pay a deposit for the single-use container (e.g. a plastic bottle) at the 
point of purchase which is then returned to the consumer where they bring back the 
container for recycling. 

It should be noted that the Government has also proposed minimum service standards 
designed to ensure consistency in the materials collected for recycling by all English local 
authorities. However, there are certain aspects, such as separate collections of dry 
recyclables and weekly food waste collections, that may require changes to our current 
service. Further consultation on the details of these schemes is expected in 2020.

The Council has produced its revised Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2030 to 
ensure its objectives are still relevant in the changing waste industry and national policy 
framework. The Council is responsible for the management of all household waste within 
the borough. This means making adequate provision for a range of waste management 
facilities which enable waste to be re-used, recycled or recovered wherever possible, and 
only disposed of as the last option in accordance with the overarching principle of the 
‘Waste Hierarchy’. In 2018/19 total local authority collected waste was 181,288 tonnes. 
Just over half of this was recycled, composted or re-used (52%); the majority of the 
remainder was sent to an energy from waste facility, with only around 5% going to landfill. 
Since 2012 the Council has consistently exceeded the national 2020 recycling target of 
50%.

The Council provides a range of services for the collection of municipal waste and litter, 
including:

 Kerbside collections – non-recyclable waste, recycling and garden and food waste

 A bulky waste collection service

Page 277



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 10 April 2020

 Household waste recycling centres (HWRCs)

 Bring banks

 Street cleansing

 Litter and dog waste bins

 Litter picking

 Clearing of fly tipped waste.

The Municipal Waste Management Strategy is underpinned by the principles of the waste 
management hierarchy that prioritise not producing waste in the first place, then reusing it 
followed by recycling and composting. Not producing waste in the first place is by far the 
best environmental and economic solution to tackling waste. 

The Strategy includes objectives to help reduce waste through a range of waste education 
and awareness initiatives to make waste prevention, reduction and reuse a priority over 
recycling and disposal. One of the challenges that the authority faces is that Cheshire East 
is a good place to live and that levels of income are higher than the national average and 
this is reflected in the higher levels of waste produced per household. At the most local 
level – at home – reducing what is put in the bin (perhaps by making decisions in the 
supermarket not to accept over-packaging or using food waste to make compost) all 
contributes to the objective of reducing the amount of waste produced across Cheshire 
East. The Council provides a collection service for bulky waste such as items of furniture 
through a partnership with a third sector partner.  In many cases these items can be re-
used either almost immediately or after some repair and refurbishment.  This provides 
many opportunities to use the waste to the benefit of less advantaged members of our 
community. We also plan to set up a re-use shop at Macclesfield household waste 
recycling centre. This will be a pilot for the council and we will see what materials are 
brought to the site that could be made available through the re-use shop.

CASE STUDY – FOOD WASTE CAMPAIGN

40% of residual waste in our black bin is food waste. In order to address this high figure, 
Cheshire East has been working hard to encourage residents to waste food by encouraging 
them to buy less, use leftovers, freeze when possible and from January 2020 to recycle food 
waste. Our campaigns have aimed to address these issues head on, indicating to residents that 
by wasting less food they could potentially save themselves around £70 per month (updated 
from £60 in 2019). Each year we reach on average 7,000 schoolchildren and approx. 8,000 
adults during our engagement events. A common theme of our food waste dialogue is clearing 
confusion over sell-by, use-by and best before dates on packaging as uncertainty around these 
areas has a direct impact on the volume of food waste collected.

We will also to continue to work in partnership with the commercial and charitable sectors, 
such as supermarkets and housing trusts, schools and higher education establishments to 
promote waste reduction, re-use and recycling. We will also continue to build and utilise 

Page 278



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 11 April 2020

our waste prevention volunteer network in communities across the borough. We will 
continue to support and equip local Clean Teams who come together as volunteers to 
organise litter picks and clean their local areas.

With an increasing awareness of the harm that our waste can cause to the environment 
and the need to offer as many opportunities to recycle as possible, the Council will be 
increasing the number of opportunities to recycle ‘on the go’.  This will mean a move away 
from a traditional litter bin only and see the introduction of bins that enable residents to 
recycle their waste. These bins will initially be located in high footfall areas and some 
parks.

We will measure the impact of our activity to reduce the overall volume of waste and 
increase re-use through the Council’s performance management system.

Page 279



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 12 April 2020

3. IMPROVE AIR QUALITY

Pollution by particulate matter (PM10 and PM2.5) and nitrogen dioxide (NO2) can impact 
public health and cause short and long term health effects. These pollutants also 
contribute to climate change by affecting sunlight reflection and absorption.

The protection and improvement of the air quality environment is both a national and local 
priority. Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 requires local authorities to review air quality 
in their area and designate air quality management areas (AQMA) if improvements are 
necessary. Where an AQMA is designated an air quality action plan (AQAP) describing the 
pollution reduction measures must then be put in place to contribute to the achievement of 
air quality objectives at local level. Local Authorities are required to produce an Annual 
Status Report describing the strategies employed to improve air quality, the progress 
made in implementing actions, and to review the planned actions to ensure they reflect the 
latest understanding of effective air quality mitigation measures. The Air Quality Action 
Plan and Annual Status Report must be submitted to Defra for assessment and feedback.

The Cheshire East Air Quality Strategy (AQS)10 was updated in 2018. It provides an 
overarching strategic framework to deliver air quality improvements within the borough.  Its 
purpose is to support the achievement of the national air quality objectives and raise air 
quality as an issue for consideration within a wide range of local and regional frameworks 
including transport and strategic planning.  The strategy also acknowledges the need to 
raise awareness of air quality and its impact upon health within the local community to help 
residents understand the role that they can play in reducing pollutant concentrations.  

The Council adopted an updated Air Quality Action Plan11 in 2018. This contains general 
measures that will help improve air quality across the borough and specific measures for 
each Air Quality Management Area. The measures target traffic management, 
development control, alternative and active travel, low emission technology and public 
awareness and education. The actions required to improve air quality in an area requires 
the active cooperation and commitment of a wide range of council services, partners and 
the local community.

The Council has published the 2019 Air Quality Annual Status Report12 which provides an 
overview of air quality across the borough for the 2018 calendar year. It sets out the 
results of monitoring, discusses trends in air quality data and outlines strategies employed 
by Cheshire East Borough Council to improve air quality including any progress with 
regards to actions contained in the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan. Defra have provided 
their appraisal of the latest Annual Status Report and accepted the report, commenting 
that the measures within the adopted Air Quality Action Plan are highly detailed and show 
that the Council have great consideration for improving air quality within their borough. 
They also commented that the AQMA and diffusion tube mapping is comprehensive and 
clearly demonstrates the monitoring network, and that monitoring quality assurance/quality 
control is considered robust.

Page 280



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 13 April 2020

Air quality in the borough is generally good, but there are areas where the measured 
nitrogen dioxide concentrations are exceeding the annual average objective, which is 
40μg/m3. There are currently 19 Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) within the 
borough, however, trend data indicates that air quality is starting to improve and some 
AQMAs may be considered for revocation in the 2020 Annual Status Report.

It is apparent that the main source of air pollution across the borough is due to vehicular 
emissions and in particular where there are areas of poor traffic flow. For example, as a 
result of the construction of a bypass for Mere traffic within the AQMA has decreased and 
this is reflected in the monitoring results. Given this, measures to improve air quality within 
Cheshire East are focused on reducing vehicular emissions and easing/improving traffic 
flows through traffic management, development management, alternative and active 
travel, low emission technology, and also public awareness. 

CASE STUDY – AIR QUALITY EDUCATION IN SCHOOLS

The level of air pollution is currently a regular item on national and local media reports. 
Therefore, Cheshire East is currently looking at all options to try and educate and where 
possible, change perceptions with regards to air pollution. To help with this, the air quality team 
have produced an education package for delivery in schools to raise awareness within Key 
Stage 2 (KS2), specifically years 5 and 6.

The aim of the education package is to educate children about air pollution and the effects it 
can have on health. It is hoped that this will enable the children to have a better understanding 
about the choices they make and the effects these can have on both the environment and their 
health. The education awareness package includes a short session with hands on activities for 
the children, delivered by members of the air quality team. It gives children the opportunity to 
discuss the causes, effects and potential solutions to air pollution.

The number of Air Quality Management Areas is monitored through the Council’s 
performance management system. The overall number of AQMAs should not be 
considered an indicator of good or bad as identifying AQMAs and actions to improve air 
quality is positive action. However, the revocation of AQMAs once monitoring confirms a 
sustained improvement in air quality is the key measure of success. The Annual Status 
Report is submitted to Defra for assessment and feedback, and is presented to the 
Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee before being published 
on the Council’s website.

Page 281



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 14 April 2020

4. ENSURE NEW DEVELOPMENT IS SUSTAINABLE

4.1 Planning Policy

The Local Plan is the Council’s plan to manage growth and development over future years. 
It governs all new development, including the change of use of land, and allocates land for 
new developments such as housing, employment, retailing, infrastructure and community 
facilities. The Local Plan seeks to meet the objectively assessed needs for development 
which includes accommodating a realistic element of economic growth-derived 
development need. The overall growth proposition set out in the Local Plan Strategy, 
adopted in 2017, is to deliver at least 36,000 new homes and around 31,000 additional 
jobs by 2030. A strong economy offering sustainable growth is essential in maintaining the 
borough’s prosperity, but the objective is not economic growth at any price; rather it is the 
sustainable development of Cheshire East.

The National Planning Policy Framework14 (NPPF) explains that the purpose of the 
planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. At a very 
high level, the objective of sustainable development can be summarised as meeting the 
needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their 
own needs. Achieving sustainable development means that we must develop both 
economically and socially, but in a way that contributes to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, helping to 
improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, 
and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy. 

At the heart of the NPPF and the Cheshire East Local Plan is a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. This is set out in the Local Plan Strategy by the overarching all-
embracing Policy MP 1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development. Further 
policies in the Local Plan Strategy provide clear guidance on how the Presumption in 
Favour of Sustainable Development will be applied locally.

The Local Plan is in three parts:

 The Local Plan Strategy (adopted July 2017) – this provides the overall framework 
for growth up to 2030 and includes the key strategic policies necessary to achieve 
sustainable development.

 The Site Allocations and Development Policies Document (SADPD) - this plan 
provides further detailed planning policies and site Allocations to support the 
strategic policies and sites contained in the Local Plan Strategy. This includes more 
detailed policies to manage the impact of new development on the natural 
environment, climate change mitigation, renewable energy, flood risk management, 
and natural resources. The Council consulted on its draft SADPD during Autumn 
2019 and is undertaking a further review because of the significant number of 
representations received, and this may require a further round of public consultation 
prior to its submission to the Secretary of State for examination.

Page 282



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 15 April 2020

 The Minerals & Waste Development Plan Document (MWDPD) - this is a plan to 
govern and manage natural resources. It plans for the extraction and exploitation of 
earth minerals in all their forms: sand, aggregate, hard rock, salt, coal, shale gas 
and peat. It also plans for how the sustainable management of waste in the 
Borough to 2030. A first draft of the MWDPD is being prepared for initial 
consultation during 2020. A further consultation will be undertaken on the 
publication draft in 2021 before that plan is also submitted for examination

4.2 Development Management

The delivery of sustainable development is central to the determination of planning 
applications ensuring that any new developments comply with appropriate National and 
Local Plan policies.  New developments are required to have regard to all relevant material 
planning considerations which includes key environmental factors such as air quality, 
access to sustainable transport, and protection and enhancement of the natural and built 
environment. 

New developments are required to achieve no ‘net loss’ of biodiversity and deliver a 
positive net gain for the borough. This can be achieved through financial contribution 
secured through s106 legal agreements and/or the provision of land to deliver off-site 
habitat creation. The draft Environment Bill proposes a mandatory requirement for 
biodiversity net gain in the planning system, to ensure that new developments enhance 
biodiversity and create new green spaces for local communities to enjoy. 

To date the Council has secured financial contribution for biodiversity through section 106 
agreements associated with planning permissions with a total value of £1.7m. Funding for 
biodiversity has also been secured through non-section 106 sources including HS2 Phase 
2a - £875,000. The following habitat creation measures have been implemented using 
contributions secured for biodiversity through the section 106 process:

Habitat Type Quantity
Native Species 
Hedgerows

1080m new native species hedgerow

Species Rich 
Grassland / 
Wildflower Meadow

In partnership with Cheshire Wildlife Trust’s ‘Pollinating Cheshire’ 
project 13.4ha have been enhanced as species rich grassland. 

Barn Owl A number of contributions have been received to offset the loss of 
barn owl foraging habitat which has been used to deliver a 
substantial number of barn owl boxes in partnership with the Local 
Barn Owl Groups.

Ponds One new pond created, one existing pond restored, and marginal 
planting completed at Queens Park Lake.

Lowland Raised Bog 
and associated 
habitats

£50,000 worth of habitat restoration underway at Wybunbury 
Moss. £3,780 worth of fencing installed at Blakenhall Moss local 
Wildlife Site to prevent damage to this Lowland Raised Bog Local 

Page 283



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 16 April 2020

Wildlife Site.

CASE STUDY – MITIGATING BIODIVERSITY LOSS FROM INFRASTRUCTURE 
DEVELOPMENT

The planning application for the widening and dualling of 3.3km of the A500 between Junction 
16 of the M6 and the Mere Moss Roundabout was approved in April 2019. The existing habitats 
within the boundary of the planning application were assessed using the Defra Biodiversity 
Metric in order to determine their nature conservation importance in an objective standardised 
manner. The proposals to widen the road will result in the loss of a range of habitats including 
scrub, broad-leaved plantation woodland and mixed deciduous woodland. Most of the habitats 
lost to the scheme were considered to be of low to medium value, but there will be the loss of 
0.29ha of high value woodland.  The total loss of habitat associated with the scheme was 
anticipated to equate to 43.78 biodiversity units.

The A500 widening scheme included proposals for the enhancement of a number of retained 
habitats including one and three-quarter hectares of species rich grassland and a small area of 
marshy grassland.  The scheme also included proposals for the planting of new areas of native 
woodland and scrub. Despite these on-site measures, the scheme was found to result in the 
loss of a number of biodiversity units. This deficit was mainly the result of the time that newly 
created or enhanced habitats take to achieve their target condition, which limits the number of 
units that can be achieved and the lack of opportunities within the boundary of the scheme to 
undertake further habitat creation measures.

In order to address the shortfall in biodiversity units resulting from the scheme, Cheshire East 
Highways proposed the payment of a financial contribution to facilitate further off-site habitat 
creation. The contribution will likely be used towards the creation of species rich grassland in 
partnership with Cheshire Wildlife Trust as part of the Trust’s Pollinating Cheshire Project.  A 
potential site for offsite habitat creation has already been identified.

The Council has a large infrastructure programme to support the delivery of the growth 
ambitions in the Local Plan Strategy. Schemes such as Congleton Link Road, Middlewich 
Eastern Bypass, Poynton Relief Road, and the North West Crewe highway package, 
which all facilitate housing and jobs growth, are either in preparation for delivery or are 
under construction. As promoter of these schemes, the Council will ensure that any 
environmental harm is effectively and proportionately mitigated in line with the appropriate 
planning policies; being mindful at all times of the need to balance the costs of such 
mitigation against the desire to ensure the schemes are affordable and deliver the desired 
benefits.  

4.3 Building Control

Since 1965 the Building Regulations have been the means by which we regulate for 
minimum energy efficiency standards in new build and extended homes. Essentially the 
Building Regulations set standards for how new buildings must be constructed and 
existing buildings altered to achieve a minimum level of acceptable performance through a 

Page 284



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 17 April 2020

framework of nationally developed standards applied locally. Part 6 of the Building 
Regulations imposes specific requirements for energy efficiency. Schedule 1 Part L – 
“Conservation of Fuel and Power” provides guidance for the conservation of fuel and 
power by producing heat and gases and providing building services which are energy 
efficient and have effective controls.  

Homes account for 20% of greenhouse gas emissions in the UK which have reduced by 
approximately 20% since 1990 through the continued application of the regulations. 

In 2019 the Government consulted on the proposed Future Homes Standard15 for new 
build homes to be future-proofed with low carbon heating and world-leading levels of 
energy efficiency, including proposals to improve the energy efficiency of new homes from 
2020 as a meaningful and achievable stepping stone to the Future Homes Standard. The 
Future Homes Standard will provide a consistent national standard, removing the ability of 
local planning authorities to be able to demand different energy efficiency standards. 
Implementation is planned for 2025 and will seek to improve carbon reduction emissions 
by up to 31%.

CASE STUDY – HANDFORTH GARDEN VILLAGE

The Council is planning to deliver an exemplar sustainable community through its strategic 
development site at Handforth Garden Village, one of the 14 garden villages selected by 
Government. A garden village is a development of between 1,500 – 10,000 homes, with an 
emphasis on high quality design and community benefits. The Strategic Planning Document for 
the site sets out our vision and aspirations, including:

 A village to meet every day needs for the village residents and minimise the need to 
travel by car, as well as a ‘car and cycle club’ environment to minimise use and 
dependence on the car, and walking, cycling and bus connectivity to Handforth railway 
station.

 A ‘smart village’ environment, embracing digital technology and providing shared 
workspace facilities, including the provision of electric charging vehicle infrastructure 
throughout the site.

 An integrated district heating network extending across the site to reduce dependency 
on non-renewable energy sources.

 Incorporation of water efficiency measures and sustainable drainage systems for the 
management of surface water.

 A net gain for biodiversity through a package of mitigation and enhancement measures 
on and off site, including green infrastructure that connects and extends existing and 
newly created habitats to facilitate the movement of species between them, with existing 
grassland, trees, hedgerows and ponds retained where possible, and new water 
features designed to maximise their biodiversity value

 Habitat creation by incorporating green roofs and green walls as a way of greening the 
village centre, residential and employment areas.

 A network of footpaths, cycleways, and green spaces to encourage healthy activity for 
people of all ages.

Page 285



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 18 April 2020

5. INCREASE SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT AND TRAVEL

In Cheshire East our transport infrastructure and services are vital to meet our community 
needs for connectivity to employment, education, health care, shopping and leisure., 
However, on-road transport is the largest source of carbon emissions in Cheshire East and 
is a significant contributor to air pollution within Cheshire East is road transport. This 
impact is indicative of relatively high car ownership in Cheshire East with 40% of 
households having two or more cars against a UK average of 29%. Greater use of 
sustainable transport will help improve air quality and contribute to the decarbonisation of 
the borough.  This means making adequate provision for a range of sustainable transport 
opportunities to enable travel on foot, by cycle or by public transport wherever possible, 
thereby reducing reliance on private cars – especially single-occupancy cars.  

The Council’s Local Transport Plan16, adopted in October 2019, considers all forms of 
transport and how transport will support wider policies to improve our economy, protect our 
environment and make attractive places to live, work and play. A series of Town Delivery 
Plans are now in development to focus on how the issues and opportunities identified in 
the Borough wide Local Transport Plan relate to specific areas, setting out schemes and 
interventions to improve the transport network and choices. The Town Delivery Plans will 
also consider the surrounding rural areas and smaller settlements which is vital given the 
Borough’s rural population and economy.

5.1 Local Bus Services

As the predominant mode of public transport bus must be central to decarbonisation. A 
double decker bus can take 75 cars off the road. Even small changes in travel behaviour 
can make a big difference. If everyone switched just one car journey a month to bus it 
would mean one billion fewer car journeys on our roads and a saving of two million tonnes 
of CO2 every year.

Cheshire East has one of the lowest levels of per capita bus use in England, with an 
average of only 10.6 trips annually per resident by bus.  Bus patronage declined by 22% 
between 2009-16 in Cheshire East; a more significant decline than occurred nationally.  
Contributory factors to this decline include the geographical nature and demography of the 
borough, with high car ownership levels and a number of remote rural areas which are 
challenging to serve with conventional bus services.  Congestion is also identified as one 
of the causes of reduced bus patronage, owing to adverse impacts on the reliability and 
attractiveness of bus travel.  The trends in local bus patronage place considerable 
pressure on the viability of commercial bus services, whilst requirements for additional 
public subsidy place increasing pressures on scarce Council budgets. 

The Cheshire East bus network comprises of a mix of commercial and supported 
(subsidised) services. Commercial bus services are operated by private sector companies 
in response to levels of travel demand that provide greater potential for revenue 
generation through bus fares. The Council has only limited opportunity to influence 
commercial services, since these are controlled by commercial private operators that 

Page 286



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 19 April 2020

include national groups e.g. Arriva, larger regional companies e.g. D&G Buses, and a 
number of smaller independent bus and coach operators. The Council provides financial 
support (subsidy) to operate socially-necessary bus services in the Borough.  These 
services enable residents to benefit from local bus services in areas where commercial 
services do not operate given ongoing Council budget pressures and the subsequent de-
registration of commercial services 

The coverage of our local bus network is a critical determinant of sustainable transport 
choices.  Currently, accessibility by local bus across Cheshire East is sufficient to provide 
many of the essential linkages between towns across the Borough although there are a 
number of localities that do not meet even minimum standards for bus provision. The 
areas shaded grey on the below map represent those areas within 400 metres of a bus 
stop which is within 60 minutes public transport travel time of a Principal Town or Key 
Service Centre. The areas shaded red are not within 400 metres of a bus stop. 
Importantly, however, these minimum standards increasingly fail to meet passenger’s 
expectations for frequency, duration and reliability of service.  Hence, where people have a 
choice, they are more likely to choose alternatives to the bus network.  

Bus Accessibility Across Cheshire East

The quality of bus infrastructure is also a vital component in making bus services attractive 
to users. Stations and stops are an integral part of the bus-users experience, as these are 
the places that provide the waiting room for local bus. All too often the experience is 

Page 287



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 20 April 2020

miserable, leaving passengers without adequate information, comfort or shelter during 
their wait for the bus.  A significant uplift in the passenger waiting environment is 
necessary to ensure that local bus use is attractive for modern users. The Council is 
progressing with a town centre regeneration programme for Crewe that incorporates a new 
bus interchange.

CASE STUDY – FLEXIBLE TRANSPORT SERVICE

The Council recognises that traditional, scheduled bus services may not be feasible in all areas 
of the Borough or meet the needs of all residents and communities in Cheshire East.  The 
Council has provided a flexible demand responsive transport service for a number of years. 
This service provides a safety net for isolated communities or passengers with particular 
mobility needs. The service is regularly used by a relatively small but important group of users, 
who consider it is critical to meeting their local travel needs. Those users typically comprise of 
vulnerable users across the borough, including the elderly and mobility impaired. 

Development of Flexible Demand-responsive Transport offers interesting opportunities for the 
future of local bus.  There is a need to test the commercial viability of various models of flexible 
transport, which potentially provide more bespoke services both to individual users or to 
specific user-groups e.g. corporate travel, or links to education or training.

A key drawback of local bus provision is the lack of integrated ticketing options for 
customers.  Most commercial operators across Cheshire East provide a range of ticket 
options which are exclusive to their own services.  Whilst these undoubtedly provide 
benefits to those users who can rely on only one operator, there are major price penalties 
for any trip requiring interchange between operators. Development of a system of 
integrated tickets is a key priority for Transport for the North. Cheshire East will benefit 
considerably from this outcome, which should enable local people to make cost-effective 
journeys that rely on more than one local bus company, or require both local bus and local 
rail services.   

The government has recently pledged £5bn over the next five years to improve bus and 
cycling services in England. To ensure the Council is able to benefit from these funding 
opportunities, we will:

 Develop a Cheshire East Bus Strategy that defines a future vision for our local bus 
network;

 Develop Town Delivery Plans to identify the schemes and interventions required to 
improve the transport network and choices within each locality;

 Identify and prioritise local infrastructure improvements to support bus networks; 
 Work in partnership with bus operators and neighbouring councils to enhance the 

quality, reliability and sustainability of local bus networks;
 Maximise investment in the local bus network through bids to national and regional 

funding streams.

5.2 Electric Vehicle Infrastructure

Page 288



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 21 April 2020

The Government has announced that a ban on selling new petrol, diesel or hybrid cars in 
the UK will be brought forward from 2040 to 2035, and could come even earlier if possible. 
Electric vehicles provide an opportunity to reduce carbon emissions and other vehicle 
emissions. Electric Vehicles will become ever more popular, with experts forecasting that 
the purchase price of electric vehicles will reach rough parity with fossil fuel cars by the 
middle of the decade. Therefore, it is important that there is the necessary infrastructure to 
cope with this. 

The Council has already provided six 50kV rapid charging units in car parks in Congleton, 
Wilmslow and Nantwich. The sites have been chosen as they are close to destination 
points such as supermarkets and coffee shops, where drivers can pass 20 minutes or so 
while waiting for their vehicle to charge. As the Local Planning Authority, the Council is 
able to request charging points are installed where appropriate as part of the approval 
process for both domestic and commercial planning applications. 

The Council will produce an Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Strategy which will outline the 
ambition to increase electric charging infrastructure provision, and seek funding 
opportunities and initiatives which encourage the uptake of electric vehicle usage. The 
Strategy will also determine the most appropriate locations across the borough depending 
on the need, land availability, power provision and types of charging points to be installed. 

The annual National Travel Survey17, undertaken by the Department for Transport, will 
enable us to monitor the uptake of sustainable transport and travel, and compare with 
national trends.

Page 289



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 22 April 2020

6. PROTECT AND ENHANCE OUR NATURAL ENVIRONMENT

Our natural environment provides us with multiple benefits including improving air quality, 
conserving biodiversity, reducing flood risk and capturing carbon. It contributes to our 
‘Quality of Place’ and enables people to enjoy the outdoors contributing to their physical 
and mental wellbeing and to our economy. However, we cannot take this for granted and if 
economic growth is to be sustainable, we must ensure a parallel increase in the quality of 
our natural environment. 

Our Local Plan strategy sets a vision for growth, but one that is balanced in a sustainable 
way. It envisages a green infrastructure network that will increase the provision of 
accessible green spaces, supporting flora, fauna and improving general wellbeing. 
Cheshire East aspires to a comprehensive and connected green infrastructure that will 
meet the needs of people and nature in the 21st century. We aim to pass on a better 
environment to the next generation.

We aim to deliver a high quality and accessible network of green spaces for people to 
enjoy, providing a range of social, environmental, economic and health benefits. We will 
take a coordinated approach to the management of the green infrastructure the Council is 
responsible for (such as open space, countryside sites, public rights of way, parks, playing 
pitches, water bodies, highways and our farm estates) to protect, develop and enhance 
these green spaces for all. We will seek to protect the health of existing ecosystems, 
encourage the restoration of degraded ecosystems and enhance the biodiversity of the 
borough. In doing so we will improve people’s health and wellbeing by encouraging people 
of all ages use and have access to green spaces.

The Council has published a Green Infrastructure Plan18 for Cheshire East to 2030 as a 
road map for a more comprehensive and connected green infrastructure. The Plan 
provides an evidence base and framework to guide future decision-making, investment 
and action for like-minded organisations or individuals who share a vision for excellent 
green infrastructure. While it has been commissioned by Cheshire East Council, it will be 
delivered through collective contributions with the involvement of partners, communities, 
landowners and developers. The Plan identifies key activities that can be aligned to 
projects and particular interest groups:

 Urban greening – creating and maintaining vibrant, healthy and inspiring places 
where people want to live and work.

 Getting outdoors easily – engaging people and improving community access 
to, and enjoyment of, green infrastructure for health and wellbeing.

 Rivers and valleys – catchment-wide activity to improve water quality, natural 
flood management, re-naturalisation and tranquil enjoyment of watercourses and 
waterways.

 Thriving nature – creating and safeguarding well-connected networks of 
habitats.

Page 290



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 23 April 2020

 Working alongside major infrastructure – integrating green infrastructure into 
major new infrastructure projects and retrofitting green infrastructure alongside 
existing infrastructure.

 A distinctive place for culture, heritage and tourism - enhancing the setting of 
and access to heritage, landscape and outdoor recreational assets.

 Environments for business – creating an attractive and accessible setting for 
centres of employment and economic activity, both in towns and the countryside.

 Farmland and soils – enabling land management which conserves and restores 
soil productivity and improves carbon sequestration.

The Plan applies these activities at both a landscape scale in urban fringe and rural areas, 
and to urban projects in the principal towns and key service centres. 

While the Council will maintain a commitment to leadership of the Green Infrastructure 
Plan, it cannot deliver the plan on its own and will require collective contributions from like-
minded partners. A key priority for the Council is to develop a range of partnerships at both 
a landscape and community level to deliver the opportunities and benefits outlined in the 
plan.

The South West Peak Landscape Partnership is an example of a successful place-based 
collaborative approach. Utilising Heritage Lottery Funding combined with contributions 
from a range of delivery partners, the partnership is delivering initiatives across a defined 
rural landscape area, engaging communities, enhancing habitats and species, generating 
wider environmental benefits and building stronger connections with the landscape to 
encourage stewardship. 

The Cheshire Local Nature Partnership is another example of collaborative working that 
has a key role to play in helping Cheshire and Warrington to thrive by championing natural 
capital benefits for business, people and biodiversity. It brings together a range of 
organisations involved in improving the local natural environment. The Green 
Infrastructure Plan identifies that the Local Nature Partnership offers an existing 
mechanism that presents an opportunity to support partnership working in Cheshire East 
and more widely across the area.

Page 291



OFFICIAL

Draft v1.1 24 April 2020

REFERENCES
1. Council Notice of Motion 22 May 2019

2. Climate Change Act 2008

3. Prime Minister: We will end UK contribution to climate change by 2050

4. 25 Year Environment Plan

5. Environment Bill

6. Cheshire East Health and Wellbeing Strategy

7. Cheshire East Carbon Action Plan

8. Our Waste, Our Resources: A strategy for England

9. Cheshire East Municipal Waste Management Strategy 2030

10. Cheshire East Air Quality Strategy

11. Cheshire East Air Quality Action Plan

12. 2019 Air Quality Annual Status Report

13. Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy

14. National Planning Policy Framework

15. Future Home Standard Consultation

16. Cheshire East Local Transport Plan

17. National Travel Survey

18. Cheshire East Green Infrastructure Plan

Page 292

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=239&MId=7075&Ver=4
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/prime-minister-we-will-end-uk-contribution-to-climate-change-by-2050
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/environment-bill-sets-out-vision-for-a-greener-future
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/health_and_wellbeing_board/health_and_wellbeing_board.aspx
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=241&MId=7465&Ver=4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=241&MId=7466&Ver=4
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/local_air_quality.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/local_air_quality.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/environmental_health/local_air_quality/review_and_assessment/review_and_assessment.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/local-plan-strategy/local_plan_strategy.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/cheshire_east_local_plan/local-plan-strategy/local_plan_strategy.aspx
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/public_transport/local_transport_plan/local_transport_plan.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-travel-survey-statistics
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_infrastructure_framework.aspx


 

 

Cheshire East Council’s 

Environmental Strategy Consultation 

      Summary report 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 293



 

2 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Contents 

Conclusions ................................................................................................................ 2 

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 5 

Delivering the strategy ................................................................................................ 6 

Contradictions between current policy, and Environmental Strategy aims ................. 9 

Rating the strategic goals ......................................................................................... 12 

Comments on the strategic goals ............................................................................. 14 

 

Conclusions 

A passionate response 

The Environment Strategy consultation received a high number of responses, from a 

wide range of stakeholders. Responses received were extremely lengthy, detailed 

and covered a wide scope.  

Respondents seemed particularly passionate on the topic, and as such it may be in 

the council’s long term best interests to ensure it listens to, and acts on, this 

response. 

On the whole, Cheshire East Council’s draft Environment Strategy was well 

received, with very large proportions of respondents agreeing the Strategic Goals 

were relevant (89%) – this suggests the strategy focuses on the right areas. 

More detail needed 

However, lower proportions of respondents felt the Strategic Goals were 

comprehensive (64%). This point was repeatedly emphasised throughout written 

consultation feedback, with respondents feeling that much more detail will be needed 

for the strategy to be effective. 

Page 294



 

3 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Greater urgency needed 

Similarly, respondents felt the strategy required a much greater sense of urgency. If 

this council truly believes there is a climate emergency, fundamental policy changes, 

and council transformation, may be required to meet the challenge – potentially 

leading to fundamental change in the way we live, and in the way our communities 

function. 

Key challenges 

Throughout the consultation respondents highlighted some of the key challenges the 

council will need to meet to face the climate emergency: 

Economic growth – Respondents felt that economic growth has in many ways only 

been possible at the expense of the environment – on a “throw away” economy, 

increasing populations and constant development. They questioned how the council 

will balance economic growth with environmental sustainability, and whether there 

needs to be a move towards a circular economy. 

Development – Respondents are extremely agitated at current and planned levels 

of new housing and development within the borough – they felt there has been too 

much and want it to stop. They fail to see how this development, and associated 

increases in traffic and loss of green space, is environmentally friendly, and urge a 

full and comprehensive review of the Local Plan in light of the climate emergency. 

The questioned how the council will balance demands for new housing, and new 

roads, with environmental sustainability.  

Reliance on cars – Respondents are clearly aware of their reliance on cars, even 

for short journeys, but feel that there is currently no practical, viable alternative. The 

challenge of moving people out of cars, and onto more sustainable forms of transport 

is formidable – significant infrastructure investment may be required. Current 

development is not supportive of this aim – it is “out of town” and therefore car 

dependent, little green infrastructure is being built, and cuts to bus service subsidies 

lessen the sustainable transport options available. Electric cars are presented as a 

solution, but there is doubt that these are environmentally friendly enough to provide 

a long term viable alternative. 

Page 295

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Circular_economy


 

4 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Reducing waste – Reduction of the amount of waste produced by residents was 

seen as a high priority – achieving this with an affluent population will be a challenge, 

particularly in a consumer economy, as will reducing use of packaging and single 

use plastic by manufacturers and retailers. 

Further to these key challenges, respondents highlighted many other challenges and 

suggestions, which will need consideration in the fight against climate change. 

The council’s role 

Respondents called for the council to be clearer in the strategy about what its role 

would be in tackling the climate emergency. Some called for the council to lead on 

this issue, and felt that its strategy should not be solely internal facing, but that the 

council should lead on a process of change throughout the whole borough. They felt 

that unless it does, efforts will not do much for Cheshire East unless the council 

brings the whole population with it. 

Some suggested a sub-regional Carbon Strategy which “clearly identifies the role all 

partners, residents, businesses and policy can play in achieving carbon zero, with 

clear targets and measurables that can be reported against”. 

Future engagement 

Fighting the climate emergency is a global, national and local issue. Cheshire West 

and Chester Council recently declared a climate emergency, stating “radical change” 

will be need to meet the challenge, committing £16 million towards this aim. 

For Cheshire East Council, this consultation will be the beginning of an ongoing 

engagement process on a challenging and emotive issue, which will need to be well 

resourced and carefully managed to be successful. 

 

  

Page 296

https://www.northwichguardian.co.uk/news/18160193.cheshire-west-aim-carbon-free-2045-needs-radical-change/
https://www.cheshire-live.co.uk/news/chester-cheshire-news/cheshire-west-council-commits-16m-17617263


 

5 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Introduction 

During October and November 2019 Cheshire East Council consulted on its first 

draft of an Environment Strategy for 2019 – 2024. 

The consultation was widely promoted and received a significant response, including 

384 survey responses, 32 formal written responses, and 54 social media comments. 

Responses were received from a wide range of stakeholders, including CEC 

Environmental Health Team, Cheshire CCG, Cheshire East Climate Alliance, 

Cheshire East Countryside Access Forum, Cheshire Local Nature Partnership, 

Congleton Cycling Campaign, Congleton Sustainability Group, Councillor Akers-

Smith, Goostrey Parish Council, Holmes Chapel Parish Council, Holmes Chapel 

Village Volunteers, National Trust, Natural England, NFU North West, Pickmere 

Parish Council, Poynton Town Council, Sandbach Town Council, Scotwood Nursery 

Shavington-cum-Gresty Parish Council, The Environment Agency, The Tatton 

Group, Transition Wilmslow, Walkers Strings Limited, and Weston & Basford Parish 

Council. 

The 3 reports being released as part of this consultation are: 

1. This summary report 

2. A full report 

3. All formal responses. 

  

Page 297



 

6 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Delivering the strategy 

Throughout consultation feedback, respondents highlighted the following aspects 

they felt would be important for the delivery of a successful Environmental Strategy. 

Greater urgency needed 

Respondents emphasised a sense of urgency which they felt was not reflected within 

the strategy – “The IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) gave us a 

decade to turn things around, and we are already two years into this period. We 

cannot waste time. Every action counts”. 

Some felt the strategy appears cursory, is “all talk no action”, and thought more 

passion is needed. They stated that: 

 The strategy is not in-line with the UK’s overall commitment to the Paris 

Agreement 

 The strategy doesn’t reflect the level of pressure the environment is under, as 

set out in the State of Nature report 2019 

 The scale of the challenge being faced is more clearly set out in the Greater 

Manchester 5-year Environment plan. 

Ultimately respondents felt that “whilst the council wants to be carbon neutral by 

2025, it seems unlikely to be able to meet that without much bolder policies”. They 

were also disappointed that the strategy “gives no indication of the level of ambition” 

being aimed for. 

More detail needed 

Respondents felt the Strategic Goals were “non-specific”, contained “broad brush 

wordy phrases”, and as such required significant, more detailed targets adding, 

alongside target dates and estimated costings, in order to be effective. 

They suggested the strategy should set clear and quantifiable targets for residents, 

businesses, and other organisations within the borough to aim for, and, at the very 

Page 298

https://www.ipcc.ch/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Paris_Agreement
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Paris_Agreement
https://nbn.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/State-of-Nature-2019-UK-full-report.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/media/1986/5-year-plan-branded_3.pdf


 

7 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

least, should “establish a current emissions baseline to (define) the trajectory 

required to reach net zero by 2025”. Respondents stressed that target dates for the 

achievement of actions were either missing or unrealistic. 

The council’s role in delivering change 

Respondents also wondered what role the council should play in facing the climate 

emergency, and felt this needed to be made clearer within the strategy. 

On the one hand some felt the council is “best placed and indeed the only actor with 

the authority to lead and facilitate a process of change”, and should act as a leader 

on this agenda. They felt the council should impel stakeholders rather than just 

encourage them to become more environmentally friendly, perhaps through 

enforcement or monetary penalty. 

On the other hand some felt it was a good “lead by example strategy”, with 

suggestions that the council should act as a "fast follower" (e.g. an organisation that 

quickly imitates the innovations of its competitors), rather than being a leader in this 

area. 

Engage more widely to develop and deliver the strategy 

Respondents felt the strategy should involve, refer to and engage a wider range of 

stakeholders – they felt all stakeholders in Cheshire East must play their part, rather 

than just the council, to reduce energy consumption and carbon footprints. 

Potential stakeholders included residents, businesses, Councillors, Town and Parish 

Councils, neighbouring Local Authorities, Central Government, developers, charities, 

local schools, health organisations, police and fire, local environmental groups, 

environment agencies, volunteer groups, wildlife conservationists and experts, Local 

Enterprise Partnerships, and local land owners. 

Respondents also suggested ways this engagement could take place, including 

through community information hubs, public update reports, consultation and 

engagement events, public meetings, People’s Assemblies, Natural Capital Audits, 

and community environment audits. 

Page 299



 

8 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Produce a sub-regional carbon strategy 

Respondents suggested having “an overarching Carbon Strategy, which clearly 

identifies the role all partners, residents, businesses and policy can play in achieving 

carbon zero, with clear targets and measurables that can be reported against”. 

Others called for a sub-regional Carbon Strategy, to galvanise collective activity, and 

to be monitored and reported on. 

  

Page 300



 

9 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Contradictions between current policy, 

and Environmental Strategy aims 

Respondents highlighted the following contradictions between current council policy, 

and Environmental Strategy aims – they felt there is a disconnect between what the 

council says it will do, and what it is actually doing: 

1. Economic growth Vs Environmental sustainability 

Respondents felt economic growth has only been possible at the expense of the 

environment, and wondered how the council will balance economic activity with 

environmental sustainability in future. 

They wondered at what point the cost of economic growth becomes environmentally 

unacceptable, and felt that to meet this balance significant behaviour change will be 

required. They wondered how the borough will move towards a circular economy, 

and felt that the council’s Environmental Strategy contradicts the council’s Economic 

Strategy. 

2. Housing completions Vs Environmental sustainability 

Respondents were strongly aggrieved by what they saw as too much development in 

Cheshire East, feeling that there appears to be “no control on new developments”. 

Some simply wanted the council to “stop building”, while others strongly opposed 

development on greenfield sites, wondering how loss of green space and natural 

habitat for development was environmentally sustainable. 

Some urged a “full, urgent and comprehensive review of the Local Plan in response 

to the climate change emergency motion”, feeling the “number of new homes 

required in the Local Plan has been vastly overstated, and does not comply with 

more recent Government requirements and ONS data”. They felt that some of the 

current Local Plan sites would simply not be accepted against the current 

Environmental Strategy. 

Page 301

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Circular_economy


 

10 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

3. Housing build quality Vs Environmental sustainability 

Respondents felt recent and planned housing was not as environmentally friendly as 

it must be to meet the challenge of the climate emergency. They felt new 

development must be built to much higher environmental standards, such as the 

Passivhaus standard, to help tackle the emergency effectively. 

4. Green infrastructure Vs Environmental sustainability 

Respondents felt that the council’s current planning policy contradicts its aims to 

increase sustainable transport and travel. They felt current development was “out of 

town”, and therefore car dependent, and that housing, services and employment 

centres were not close enough together, or well enough linked, to enable sustainable 

travel. 

They felt new housing developments include “token” cycling and walking provision, 

and “does nothing to link the new development to adjacent shopping, primary and 

secondary schools”. Respondents felt sustainable transport is not taken into account 

in planning applications. 

5. Reliance on cars Vs Environmental sustainability 

Respondents were concerned that a reliance on cars is not environmentally 

sustainable, and felt changing this reliance would be difficult in an affluent and rural 

borough, where personal car ownership is high. They felt cars are too convenient for 

people, and that unless travellers have the assurance of efficient, hassle free trips, 

devoid of danger, they will continue to use their own vehicles. 

Some simply wanted the council to stop building new roads, despairing at “the 

number of extra highways being built to accommodate the increased use of cars and 

other vehicles”. They wondered how this policy could address the issue of 

sustainable transport. 

Others felt the Local Plan aim for increased road capacity appears to contradict the 

Environmental Strategy aim for sustainable transport and less reliance on cars. 

Page 302



 

11 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

6. Electric cars Vs Environmental sustainability 

Respondents felt electric vehicles provide “only part of the answer” for environmental 

sustainability. Electric vehicles were felt to be unaffordable for the majority, while 

some suggested it is a “myth” that electric cars are more environmentally friendly 

than petrol / diesel cars. 

They were concerned that promotion of electric cars would proliferate the use of 

private transport, when they felt public transport, cycling, and walking were better for 

environmental sustainability. 

7. Bus service cuts Vs Environmental sustainability 

Respondents felt that current bus services are “absolutely dire”, or are “sparse, 

erratic, finish early, doesn't exist at weekends, or just doesn't exist (at all)”. They felt 

bus services needed to be more frequent, more reliable, better quality, cleaner, and 

more affordable. 

Respondents questioned why the council has cut bus services in recent years, and 

felt proposals in the Environment Strategy “will be met with hollow laughter by 

residents who have had bus service funding withdrawn”. Some wondered whether 

this strategy represents a U-turn on the policy of bus service cuts, or whether this 

strategy is just paying “lip service to this concept”. 

8. High levels of waste Vs Environmental sustainability 

Respondents felt there should be an emphasis on reducing waste in the first 

instance, rather than on increasing recycling levels. They felt an emphasis on 

recycling encourages people to be wasteful, and that people must change their 

“throw away lifestyles” instead. 

Some suggested the level of affluence in the borough meant people could afford to 

be wasteful, as one respondent suggested “I have noticed that the wealthier my 

friends, the more the throw out”. They felt “zero waste” should be the aim. 

  

Page 303



 

12 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Rating the strategic goals 

In total, 384 respondents submitted their consultation response via an online survey. 

The following section summarises all responses to the quantitative questions in this 

survey. 

Overall Approval Ratings 

Respondents to the survey, conducted as part of the consultation, were asked to 

state whether they thought each of the Strategic Goals were relevant, good, 

comprehensive, and whether they felt the priority actions were the right areas to be 

focusing on. 

Overall, respondents were most likely to agree the Strategic Goals were relevant 

(89% agreed overall), but least likely to agree they were comprehensive (64%). 

Overall Approval Ratings are calculated as averages of these ratings. 

 

Overall Approval Ratings for the Strategic Goals 

Strategic Goal 2 (Waste and pollution will be reduced) received the highest Overall 

Approval Rating of 81%, with Strategic Goal 5 (Sensitive and sustainable new 

development) receiving the lowest Overall Approval Rating of 67%. 

89% 

73% 

71% 

64% 

74% 

Relevant

Good

The Priority Actions are the right areas to be
focusing on

Comprehensive

Overall Approval Rating

Page 304



 

13 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

 

Delivering the Environment Strategy 

Respondents favoured delivery of the strategy being cost neutral to the council – 

though opinion was fairly split on this. 

47% felt delivery of the strategy should be cost neutral to the council, 34% felt it 

should be subsidised from local taxation, while the remaining 19% were unsure. 

 

  

81% 

79% 

78% 

71% 

70% 

67% 

Waste and pollution will be reduced

Protect and enhance our natural environment

CEC will be Carbon Neutral by 2025

Increase sustainable transport/travel

Air quality will improve

Sensitive and sustainable new development

Overall Approval ratings for each of the Strategic Goals: 

Number of respondents between 326 and 360 

47% 

34% 

19% 
Cost neutral to the council

Subsidised from local taxation

Don't know / Not sure

Do you think that delivery of the Environment Strategy should be subsidised 
from local taxation, or cost neutral to the council e.g. by relying on government 
grants and other external funding? 

Number of valid responses = 343 

Page 305



 

14 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Comments on the strategic goals 

The following section presents a summary of respondent comments on each of the 

Strategic Goals in the Environmental Strategy. Full summaries can be found in the 

main report. 

Waste and pollution will be reduced 

The main aim here should be to reduce the amount of waste being produced as far 

as possible, the borough should be aiming for zero waste, and there is over-

emphasis on recycling and recycling rates. Some felt that: 

 The level of affluence in the borough meant people could afford to be wasteful  

 Behaviour change is needed – consumer and eating habits need to alter to 

help reduce waste 

 Retailers must be encouraged to reduce the amount of packaging 

 Single use plastic must be eliminated as far as possible 

 Clear targets should be set in the pursuit of zero waste. 

Respondents wanted the number of items that can be recycled to be expanded, to 

include items such as all plastics, household items, shoes, clothes, and other fabric 

goods. They wanted clearer guidance about what can and cannot be recycled, 

particularly with regard plastics and food waste, and wanted improved transparency 

on what actually happens to their recyclable waste once collected. 

Respondents suggested a number of recycling schemes they felt should be 

embraced/embraced further within the strategy, including Recycling On The Go, 

Terracycle, Freecycle, smart bins, composting, water collection, reverse vending 

machines, paper recycling, and business waste collection / recycling. 

Finally, some felt that “pollution” is not given any attention within this Strategic Goal, 

and that it either needs removing from the Strategic Goal heading and tackling 

separately, or given more attention within this Strategic Goal. 

Page 306

https://www.wrap.org.uk/content/recycle-go-england
https://www.terracycle.com/en-GB/
https://www.freecycle.org/
http://www.reversevending.co.uk/
http://www.reversevending.co.uk/


 

15 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Protect and enhance our natural environment 

Respondents emphasised the importance of green space to for people’s health and 

wellbeing, and felt that safe, accessible green space should be available to as large 

a proportion of the population as possible, within a short walking distance. They felt 

investment was needed in green space, PROW, and green corridors, and that more 

green space is needed. They suggested the council should: 

 Plant more trees – Set targets for the percentage of tree cover to aim for e.g. 

Friends of the Earth propose 20% 

 Create “wildlife corridors” throughout the borough – To improve biodiversity, 

increase insects, wildlife, and native wildflowers/pollinators. Some suggested 

rewilding of hedges and verges. 

 Encourage farmers to be more environmentally responsible 

 Take environmental and wildlife considerations in all new planning and 

development 

 Have better flooding management 

 Restrict chemical use. 

Some felt that constant population increases were not compatible with protecting the 

natural environment, and that the council’s planning policy contradicts this Strategic 

Goal. 

CEC will be Carbon Neutral by 2025 

Suggestions for the council in becoming carbon neutral: 

 Increase the amount of homeworking and shared offices for staff, have fewer 

face to face meetings 

 Encourage staff to use more public transport, have more cycle to work 

schemes, encourage more staff to walk to work 

 Cancel car parking subsidies, sell the car parks, increase car sharing 

Page 307



 

16 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

 Embed carbon reduction into procurement processes 

 Use alternative fuels in its whole fleet 

 Use renewable energy in all council buildings  

 Ensure carbon reduction targets apply to arms length companies and 

contractors e.g. ANSA, Orbitas, bus companies 

 Bulk buy electricity 

 Become 100% paperless. 

Suggestions for residents in becoming carbon neutral: 

 Change behaviour through education and financial incentive 

 Reduce car use – Cheshire East should aim for 40% of commuter journeys 

being made by public transport, cycling and walking, up from the 19% 

currently (Friends of the Earth Climate Check calculator) 

 Improve public transport – Public transport is not a viable alternative to car 

use and needs improving, expanding and promoting. Reverse bus cuts 

 Increase walking and cycling – Walking and cycling as an alternative to car 

use was not a viable option as it is unsafe, there are not enough cycle paths, 

and roads in Cheshire are too narrow to cycle on 

 Increase EV use – Increase EV use, install more electric car charging points, 

change the fleet to EVs 

 Plant more trees and hedges, ban fires, go plastic free, cut down on waste 

 Gravitricity – Store renewable energy down mine shafts, or down the Salt 

Mines  

 Carbon offsetting – By 2025 the process of grid decarbonisation will be far 

from complete, so a high level of offsetting of the residual emissions will still 

be needed post-2025 – this challenge merits specific treatment in the strategy 

Page 308

https://www.gravitricity.com/


 

17 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Increase sustainable transport / travel 

Respondents felt that reducing car use, and a reliance on cars, was a high priority. 

They felt cars are too convenient for people, particularly for more affluent residents, 

or those living in rural areas, and that people need to be actively discouraged from 

using them. Unless people have the assurance of efficient, hassle free travel on 

sustainable transport, devoid of danger, they will continue to use their own vehicles. 

Suggested ways of reducing car use included: 

 Have congestion charges, ban petrol and diesel cars / have car free days in 

town centres 

 Reduce and slow traffic down to reduce emissions 

 Deter people from making short trips by car, including to and from school 

 Encourage ride sharing, and shared vehicle ownership 

 Develop co-working spaces closer to where people live, consider whether 

centralised education facilities are needed in the 21st Century 

 Introduce workplace parking levies 

 Change all council vehicles to electric, have council cycle to work weeks. 

Some felt the council’s current planning policy contradicts sustainable transport – 

they felt development was “out of town”, car dependent, only includes “token” cycling 

and walking provision, and that the council should stop building new roads. 

Better public transport, particularly bus services, are needed. Some felt current bus 

services are “absolutely dire”, or are “sparse, erratic, finish early, doesn't exist at 

weekends, or just doesn't exist (at all)”. They wanted more frequent, more reliable, 

better quality, cleaner, and more affordable services. They wondered why the council 

has cut bus services in recent years, if it wishes to increase travel by public 

transport. 

Investment in cycling and walking infrastructure is also needed, perhaps with a 

Page 309



 

18 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

commitment to invest a certain % of the highways budget on cycling and walking 

provision. People will only cycle or walk more if it becomes safe, easier, and quicker 

than driving. 

Electric vehicles are “only part of the answer” – Some felt EVs are not affordable, 

and lack sufficient charging infrastructure to be practical. Others felt it is a myth that 

electric cars are more environmentally friendly than petrol/diesel cars, feeling that 

over their whole lifetime their carbon footprint is still very significant, with carbon 

released during their manufacture and recycling. 

Air quality will improve 

Respondents cited traffic congestion, and increased levels of development as the 

main causes of air pollution. 

They felt congestion, especially during rush hour, leads to increased air pollution, 

exacerbated by idling vehicles and “dirty” diesel buses. They felt that new housing, 

new roads, and the continued development of Manchester Airport would lead to 

worse air quality. 

They felt air pollution could be tackled by promoting green travel, planting more 

trees, reducing pollution at source, educating people to be greener e.g. on driving 

habits, focusing on the worst areas, and extending air quality measurements. 

Some felt the council has a lot to do to regain trust on the issue of air quality, given 

the past issues around air quality data falsification. 

Sensitive and sustainable new development 

Many respondents simply wanted new housing / development in the borough to stop 

– respondents felt the borough was too populated, that there had been too much 

development recently, and that there appears to be “no control on new 

developments”. They implored the council not to build on greenbelt, or greenfield 

sites. 

Some felt that “the whole planning system needs overhauling”, that they do not trust 

the council with planning applications and development. 

Page 310



 

19 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

Others felt developers must be held more to account, and made more responsible 

for development in Cheshire East. They felt they should be discouraged from putting 

profit first, and prioritising development over the environment. 

They felt new development should: 

 Comply with the council’s environmental  and carbon strategies 

 Adhere to the highest building regulations and standards (which some felt 

current development does not) e.g. Passivhaus standards 

 Be carbon neutral (both when lived in, and when being built), or be Net Zero 

Carbon Buildings (as defined by the UK Green Building Council) 

 Integrate with green infrastructure including roads, cycle lanes and facilities 

 Have access to good public transport networks 

 Be close to, or well linked to, local services such as shops, schools and GPs 

etc. 

 Be eco-friendly and sustainable e.g. incorporating solar panels, triple glazing 

or thermal insulation, smart meters, EV charging points, ground source heat 

pumps or district heating, green walls / roofs 

 Be eco-friendly and sustainable e.g. incorporating water collections tanks for 

rainwater harvesting, built-in wildlife habitat such as swift boxes, bat boxes 

and bee bricks, gardens that have compost bins, ponds, trees, good quality 

soil, small trees and wildlife friendly hedges, roads that have amphibian 

friendly crossings and kerbs 

 Be affordable, and built by local firms using local materials. 

Respondents also felt that the council’s key policy documents need updating in light 

of the declared “climate emergency”, that they were written and consulted on at a 

different time, and that in light of the climate emergency, are not fit for purpose and 

require re-writing. They felt: 

Page 311



 

20 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

 The “number of new homes required in The Local Plan has been vastly 

overstated, and does not comply with more recent Government requirements 

and ONS data”, and urged “a full, urgent and comprehensive review of the 

Local Plan in response to the climate change emergency motion” 

 The SADPD does not reflect the Climate Emergency strongly enough, that it 

continues to propose developments on green belt “with no real justification”, 

that “urban sprawl” across CEC continues, and that the time period for 

adoption of the SADPD seemed ambitious 

 The Minerals and Waste Plan this plan should commit to keeping coal, gas 

and shale in the ground. 

Measuring progress 

Respondents suggested that metrics used to measure progress should be: realistic, 

measurable (e.g. SMART), accurate, joined-up, and benchmarked (e.g. SCATTER). 

They also felt they should be transparent (e.g. RAG, trend, or hotspot data), 

reviewed regularly, and well publicised.  

A number of metrics were suggested, including: car ownership levels, numbers of 

vehicles on the roads by type (e.g. EV, petrol, diesel), the length (km) of new or 

improved “routeways” for cycling and walking, the numbers of people cycling, bus 

and train annual passenger numbers, public transport reliability figures, public 

transport passenger satisfaction surveys, congestion levels, the number of events 

where emissions exceeded acceptable levels, the type of waste being processed 

and where it originates from, the amount of waste produced per person, the amount 

of packaging, the number of houses being built, the ratio of green space to built 

environment in CEC at local and overall levels, wildlife levels, species diversity, 

amount of habitat created, biodiversity net gain, tree and hedgerow coverage, 

numbers of trees planted each year, energy consumption of buildings, overall council 

emissions, and the proportion of petrol / diesel council vehicles vs proportion of 

electric council vehicles. 

  

Page 312

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/SMART_criteria
https://scattercities.com/
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Traffic_light_rating_system


 

21 

 

Research and Consultation  |  Cheshire East Council 

 

 

Page 313



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 314



Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 2020-2025

January 2020

Cheshire East Council

Page 315



Contents

Introduction & Context Page 3

1. Process Page 6

2. Council Influence Page 7

3. Carbon Neutrality Page 10

4. Current Emissions Profile and Pathways Page 11

5. The Action Plan Page 16

Topic 1: Behaviour Change and Internal Policy Page 18

Topic 2: Energy Demand Reduction Page 29

Topic 3: Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply Page 38

Topic 4: Natural Capital Page 48

Topic 5: Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/External Policy Page 54

6. Summary of Measures Page 73

2

Page 316



Introduction and Context

Broader 
Environmental 

Strategy 

1) Target Cheshire East Council to be carbon 
neutral by 2025

2) Work to encourage all businesses, 
residents and organisations to reduce 
emissions

The council will:

Action Plan and 
Supplementary 

Annex

Outputs from this work:

Wider Council 
Strategies

Introduction

At the Council meeting on 22 May 2019 the Elected Members of Cheshire East Council (CEC) 
approved the following Notice of Motion relating to Climate Change. 

“This Council notes that on 1 May Parliament declared an environment and climate emergency and 
a) Requests that a Cheshire East Environmental Strategy is brought forward as a matter of urgency; 
b) Commits to the target of Cheshire East Council being carbon neutral by 2025 and asks that 
details of how to meet this commitment are included in the Environmental Strategy; 
c) Will work to encourage all businesses, residents and organisations in Cheshire East to reduce 
their carbon footprint by reducing energy consumptions and promoting healthy lifestyles.” 

This work is being commissioned by Cheshire East Council in response to this motion.

Document purpose

This Carbon Neutral Action Plan is focused on actions that CEC should consider deploying directly 
in support of the carbon neutral 2025 target. 

A separate Supplementary Annex document provides further detail, analysis and recommendations 
in respect of the following topics:

o CEC’s own carbon footprint from 2011 to present;
o Cheshire East borough’s carbon footprint from 1990 to present, including emissions from 

agriculture and land use;
o An indicative ‘route map’ to 2050 which seeks to define the nature and extent of emissions 

reduction measures to reach carbon neutrality, for both the Council itself and the wider borough; 
and

o Carbon Neutrality definitions, challenges and case studies

Figure 1: Summary of actions agreed within the notice of motion 
and how these link to outputs from this work  

3

Page 317



Introduction and Context

Global emissions performance

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) 
special report on the impacts of global warming of 
1.5 oC above pre-industrial levels, was issued in 
October 2018, and serves as a stimulus of Local 
Authorities to act on the ‘climate emergency’. This 
report stated that in order to remain within a 1.5 oC
increase, governments must cut emissions of 
greenhouse gases (globally) by 45% by 2030.

The UN Environment Programme also recently 
published their 2019 Emissions Gap Report, which 
found that the Nationally Determined Contributions 
were insufficient to ensure that global 
temperature rises stays below 1.5oC, and that nations 
must triple their efforts in order to meet even a 2oC 
target. It also found that global emissions had 
increased in 2018 after a period of stability between 
2014 and 2016.

A key finding of the report is that: ‘…non-state and 
subnational action plays an important role in 
delivering national pledges. Emission reduction 
potential from non-state and subnational action could 
ultimately be significant, allowing countries to raise 
ambition.’

Research by the Global Carbon Project issued in 
December 2018 reported that since 1990, there has 
been a 43% increase in total radiative forcing – the 
warming effect on the climate – by long-lived 
greenhouse gases. 

In November 2019, the World Meteorological 
Organization reported that during 2018 
concentrations of CO2 peaked at 407.8 parts per 
million – a level last seen 3 million years ago when 
average global temperatures were 2-3 oC warmer.

The Climate Change Act 2008 introduced a legally 
binding target for the UK to reduce greenhouse gases 
by 80% by 2050 against a 1990 baseline. In June 
2019 the UK Prime Minister announced a revised 
target - the UK will cut emissions to net zero by 2050 
(relative to the 1990 baseline). 

The above evidence makes clear that immediate and 
drastic action is required to avoid global warming to 

dangerous levels, whilst encouraging sub-national 
policy measures and action as a necessary means of 
reducing emissions.

Building the case for action

It is widely accepted that decarbonising will offer 
many co-benefits. These include:

Health improvements – Due to cleaner air, warmer 
homes, more exercise and better mental health.

Quality of Place – Less traffic congestion, job 
creation in the low-carbon sector, operational cost 
savings via increased energy efficiency and waste 
reduction 

Green Infrastructure1 – investments in natural 
solutions to climate change (i.e. tree planting, 
peatland management, etc)2 can have a wide range of 
additional benefits including: 

• Biodiversity – natural spaces in urban and rural 
settings create refuges for wildlife.

• Water management – regulation of water 
availability & quality and flooding.  

• Heat regulation – vegetation provides cooling/ 
warming in the summer/ winter, respectively 

• Economic benefits – e.g. increased productivity 
through greater wellbeing; new revenue streams.

• Health & wellbeing – e.g. increased recreation; 
reduced stress; spiritual connection to nature.

However, recent science indicates that 
decarbonisation needs to accelerate, and as a result, 
not only are we forgoing opportunities to live better, 
healthier lives, we are exposing ourselves to more 
frequent, extreme weather events, such as flooding 
and heat stress (among many  other adverse 
impacts). 

References

o Council announcement
o IPCC 1.5 Report
o Emissions Gap Report
o Global Carbon Project research
o World Meteorological 

Organization publication

4

Page 318

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/council_information/media_hub/media_releases/council-leader-calls-for-action-on-climate-change-emergency.aspx
https://www.unenvironment.org/interactive/emissions-gap-report/2019/
https://www.earth-syst-sci-data.net/10/2141/2018/
https://public.wmo.int/en/media/press-release/greenhouse-gas-concentrations-atmosphere-reach-yet-another-high


Introduction and Context

5

Key definitions:

• Carbon Budget: The allowed cumulative total of 
emissions over a period of years which ensures 
temperature change remains below dangerous 
levels. Defined by The Tyndall Centre for Climate 
Change Research. 

• Carbon Neutral: Refer to Section 3 of the Action 
Plan for a definition of carbon neutral as multiple 
definitions are available. 

• CO2e: This stands for carbon dioxide equivalent. 
This allows the comparison and inclusion of other 
GHGs (e.g. nitrous oxide and methane) as well as 
carbon dioxide. It represents the corresponding 
amount of carbon dioxide that would be required 
to produce the same level of radiative forcing and 
thus warming as these other GHGs.

• Co-benefit: The positive effects that a policy or 
measure aimed at one objective might have on 
other objectives.1

• Decarbonisation: Reducing the carbon emissions 
from an energy system. 

• Ecosystem services: These refer to the benefits 
that ‘flow’ from natural capital (such as fertility 
from soils, or fuel and fibre from forests). 

• GHG: Greenhouse Gases.

• Green Infrastructure: This refers to the network of 
multi-functional green (and blue) space and other 
features, both urban and rural, which can deliver 
quality of life and environmental benefits for 
communities. It includes everything from nature 
reserves, woodlands and hedgerows to farmland, 
roadside verges, and green roofs. 

• Insetting: A similar principle to offsetting, however 
the carbon saving occurs within an organisation’s
supply chain or local authority region.

• Nature-based solutions: These employ natural 
phenomena to help address problems such as 
climate change mitigation and adaptation. In 
terms of climate mitigation (as is the subject of 
this report), they focus on carbon sequestration. 
Examples include tree and hedgerow planting and 
restoration of ecosystems including wetlands, 
peatland, grasslands, pasture, and soils. Nature-
based solutions are championed in the U K 
Government’s draft Environment Bill.  

1 – IPCC Glossary definitions 
2 – As defined by the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research   

• Natural Capital: This refers to the ‘stocks’ of 
renewable and non-renewable natural resources 
available to society. It refers to nature in the 
context of the five capitals model in economics 
(i.e. financial, manufactured, social, human and 
natural capital). It is associated with monetary or 
other valuation and accounting techniques. 
Examples include soil, water, and forests. 

• Offsetting: Carbon offsetting refers to the 
purchase of a tradeable unit, representing 
emissions rights or emissions reductions, to 
balance the climate impact of an organisation, 
activity or individual. Although they can be stored 
and traded like a commodity, they are not material 
things; offset credits are not literally “tonnes of 
carbon” but stand in for them and are better 
regarded as intangible assets or financial 
instruments. To act as an offset, units must be 
cancelled to represent a reduction and prevent 
further trading.2

• Residual emissions: The estimated emissions 
remaining or left-over after reductions have been 
applied.

• SCATTER: Setting City Area Targets and 
Trajectories for Emissions Reduction. This is the 
tool used throughout the report to look at 
borough-wide emissions and future emission 
pathways.

• Scope 1 (at the borough level): Direct GHG 
emissions from sources located within the local 
authority boundary. 

• Scope 2 (at the borough level): Indirect GHG 
emissions occurring as a consequence of the use 
of grid-supplied electricity, heat, steam and/or 
cooling within the local authority boundary. 

• Scope 3 (at the borough level): All other GHG 
emissions that occur outside the local authority 
boundary as a result of activities taking place 
within the local authority boundary.

• Scope 1, 2 and 3 (at an organisational level): 
These differ from the definition at a borough level 
and are defined on page 8.

• Sequestration: The uptake of carbon-containing 
substances, in particular carbon dioxide from the 
atmosphere.1

Page 319

https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/
https://scattercities.com/


1. Process

The following diagram represents the processes and exercises that have been carried out in 
collaboration with Cheshire East Council in order to inform the Action Plan. This has been delivered 
alongside the Council's own internal work including conversations around cabinet facilities, 
engagement of Brighter Future Champions and officer competitions for ideas.

Initial Scoping

• To determine the scope, objectives and key stakeholders for the project.

Cheshire East Council current and future emissions

• Provision of the Council's present direct and indirect emissions (Scope 1, 2, & 3) 
to provide a baseline from which to measure progress.

• Breakdown of emissions into sub-sectors to identify priority areas for action.
• Analysis of potential future emissions pathways to raise awareness of the scale 

and extent of action required for the council to achieve carbon neutrality by 2025.

Cheshire East Borough wide current and future emissions

• Generation of the most recent year inventory of direct and indirect emissions 
using SCATTER tool (Scope 1 & 2) to provide a baseline from which to measure 
progress.

• Breakdown of emissions into sectors and sub-sectors to identify priority areas 
for action.

• Analysis of potential future emissions pathways to raise awareness of the scale 
and extent of action required for borough emissions to be reduced

• Comparison with a science-based target to provide context for whether the 
nature, timing and extent of planned activities are ambitious enough.

Stakeholder Engagement workshop

• To provide key stakeholders with an opportunity to inform, critique and prioritise 
content for the Carbon Neutrality Action Plan. 

• Identification factors that may enable or challenge various council emissions 
reductions activities.

Further research into proposed actions

• To consolidate and develop ideas from the stakeholder engagement session 
• Assessment of the potential of proposed actions in terms cost, benefits and 

implementation.

Carbon Neutrality Action Plan 

• Formulation of a plan of actions for the council to work towards carbon neutrality 
by 2025 for their own operations and options for the wider borough.

6

Page 320



2. Cheshire East Council Influence

7

Linking the motion to influence

Cheshire East Council’s motion covers two key areas of action:
i) the council’s own emissions; and
ii) other emissions that occur within the borough.

The difference between these two areas is the level of influence the council has over the emissions 
sources. In theory, CEC has the ability to directly control their own emissions whereas they can influence 
and encourage reductions in the borough emissions. The Direct Control emissions are the focus of the 
Council’s carbon neutrality commitment by 2025, however, it is important that the Council seeks to 
minimise emissions in other areas of influence to fulfil its climate change motion and support national 
and international ambitions.

Therefore, the first stage of this Action Plan is to determine those emissions within direct control of the 
council. Following this, the level of influence over other emissions has been defined in terms of stronger, 
medium and weaker influence. 

CEC Motion Emissions Source

i) Target Cheshire East Council to be carbon neutral by 2025 
and asks that details of how to meet this commitment are 
included in the Environmental Strategy.

Direct Control

ii) Encourage all businesses, residents and organisations in 
Cheshire East to reduce their carbon footprint by reducing 
energy consumptions and promoting healthy lifestyles.

Stronger, Medium and Weaker 
influence

Table 1: Council motion and the associated level of influence. 

The chart opposite illustrates the 
varied and complex influence of 
CEC across the different activities 
that occur within their own 
operations and across the borough. 
This crude comparison made in 
Figures 2 is intended to facilitate 
easier comparisons of emissions 
impact magnitude. These bandings 
are also not necessarily mutually 
exclusive of each other.

Weaker influence

Medium
influence

Stronger 
influence 

Direct 
Control

Borough
boundary

Figure 2: CEC Spheres of influence within the borough 

[Chart is illustrative only and not to scale]

Page 321



2. Cheshire East Council Influence

1.https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7
94557/Consumption_emissions_April19.pdf27 8

Council influence is varied

Influence bandings are based on Anthesis’ judgment following discussion with officers, and are by no 
means definitive. The examples that relate to each banding may highlight opportunities for CEC to apply 
their influence in areas or ways previously not fully explored (e.g. by using ‘convening power’ and/or policy), 
as opposed to representing any form of current statutory duty.

[redacted] influence does extend beyond the borough boundary, whereby their demand (and supply) of 
goods and services drive emissions in supply chains around the world. Such emissions are also referred to 
as consumption based emissions1, or ‘Scope 3’ emissions. Please note that:
• The borough’s consumption based emissions have not been estimated within the scope of this 

commission, however;
• Procurement related emissions (which would constitute part of the borough’s consumption and 

production based emissions) are all assumed to occur within the Cheshire East borough. In reality, a 
significant proportion of these emissions will occur outside of the borough, and even outside of the UK.

Aligning influence to recognised accounting methodologies

Cheshire East have adopted an operational control approach on the basis that it was felt to better 
represent their influence (or potential to influence), than other approaches available (i.e. financial or 
equity share). However, there were certain instances, where the accounting rules didn’t offer complete 
clarity, so some judgement has been applied and documented below. 

The Greenhouse Gas Protocol (2019) states that operational control exists where the organisation has 
the “authority to introduce and implement its operating policies at the operation”. If the entity or asset is 
deemed to fall within CEC’s operational control, associated emissions should be accounted for under 
Scope 1 or 2. If not, it is likely that the source will still be accounted for, but within Scope 3. For example, 
if council fleet may not been owned, but if held on an operating lease and used exclusively on council 
terms, it would fall under Scope 1. A financial control approach would account for this in Scope 3. Our 
presentation of ‘influence’ (overleaf) further adds to the transparency given by the accounting standards.

Definitions: “Scope 1/2/3” are accounting terms taken from 
the GHG Protocol accounting standard. Scope 1 emissions 
primarily relate to natural gas for heating and fuel used by 
owned or controlled vehicles. Scope 2 relates to purchased 
electricity, Scope 3 emissions include schools, waste, 
procurement activities and employee commuting. 
Commercial estate has not been accounted for within 
Scope 3 due to limitations in data availability.  

Influence Banding Footprint Description

Direct Control 15 ktCO2e Emissions sources are directly owned or operationally controlled by the 
Council. Includes all Scope 1 & 2

Stronger influence 40 ktCO2e Owners and operators of emissions sources are clearly defined but are 
not directly owned or operated by the Council. Emissions include specific 
council procurement  activities and school buildings. 

Medium influence 155 ktCO2e Emissions sources do not relate to council owned or operated assets, but 
relate to residual procurement activities not deemed ‘stronger’. This may 
be larger if influence via ‘convening power’ were to be included. Note this 
assumes all procurement emissions occur within the district boundary.  

Weaker Influence 2,518 ktCO2e Owners and operators of emissions sources are not clearly defined, 
influence limited to lobbying central government or trade associations.  

92% of CEC related emissions are defined 
as Scope 3 (142,574tCO2e), with 3% in 
Scope 2 (5,115 tCO2e) and 5% in Scope 1 
(7,414 tCO2e).

Table 2: Footprint by influence banding 

Page 322

https://ghgprotocol.org/corporate-standard


The table below provides further detail of the operational control approach that has been applied and the 
rationale behind the inclusion/exclusion of key entities. 
Table 3: Matrix showing level of Council control

Entity Asset
Entity level Asset Level

Comments
Operational 

Control
Financial 
Control

Operational 
Control

Financial 
Control

Schools Buildings    

With the exception of 
Academy Trusts (where no 
influence exists) CEC has 
some involvement with 
utility contracts and has 

some visibility over 
consumption. However CEC 
does not have the authority 

to operate the heating or 
electricity consumption at 
Schools. CEC are therefore 
deemed to have ‘stronger 
influence’ only. Schools to 

be included within Scope 3. 

ASDVs

Fleet (Inc. 
Ansa 

Waste 
Collection)

 ✓

✓ ✓

All Alternative Service 
Delivery Vehicles (ASDVs),  

including waste 
management organisation, 
ANSA, are wholly owned by 
CEC however commission 

all services via ‘arms length’ 
procurement contracts. The 

use of the Ansa waste 
collection vehicles is directly 
influenced by CEC, as is the 

energy operations of 
building that Ansa and other 
ASDVs occupy.  Both fleet 

and the CEC buildings used 
by ASDVs to be included 

within Scope 1 & 2. 

CEC 
Buildings 
Used (Inc. 
Environm-
ental Hub

✓ ✓

Jacobs

Fleet

 

✓ 

Jacobs are a national 
company with their own 
policies and operations. 

Two specific asset 
categories controlled by 

Cheshire East are the 
highways/maintenance 

fleet, and the building within 
which the Cheshire East 

team are based.  Both asset 
categories to be included 

within Scope 1 & 2

CEC 
Building 

(Delamere 
House)

✓ ✓

9

2. Cheshire East Council Influence

Page 323



Context

Cheshire East Council passed a motion on 22nd

May 2019 that committed the council to becoming 
‘Carbon Neutral’ by 2025. Additionally the draft 
Cheshire East Environment Strategy 2019-24 
acknowledged Parliament’s legally binding Net 
Zero by 2050 target. 

No Local Authority (LA) has yet achieved certified 
Carbon Neutral status. This work seeks to explore 
what Carbon Neutral and Net Zero could mean and 
how this might be achieved by Cheshire East 
Council. 

Introducing the term Carbon Neutral

Generally speaking, ‘carbon neutral’ or ‘net zero’ 
typically mean the same thing: that some 
carbon/GHG emissions remain but are then ‘netted 
off’ or ‘offset’ through carbon dioxide removal. 
Such removal may occur due to Negative 
Emissions Technologies (NETs) such as geo-
sequestration or biomass energy with carbon 
capture and storage, or, natural sequestration via 
means such as afforestation. The boundary of the 
carbon neutrality target is important as this defines 
what activities and greenhouse gases are in scope 
for reduction and/or off-setting, if such a claim is 
to be made. 

For example, the UK’s Net Zero by 2050 target 
includes all Greenhouse Gases emitted by the UK 
i.e. methane emissions from agriculture are 
included as well as just carbon dioxide from fossil 
fuel combustion within the energy system. 
Consumption based (supply chain) emissions from 
outside of the UK are not included within this 
target. 

Defining Carbon Neutrality for Cheshire East 
Council

In order to establish a robust definition of Carbon 
Neutrality for Cheshire East, a few points have 
been considered:

i. Likelihood of requiring offsets to achieve the 
2025 target – It is highly likely offsets will be 
required unless radical, unprecedented levels 
change occur. Some of this change is outside 
of CEC’s control and influence.

ii. The scope and boundary of neutrality – All of 
Direct Control Scope 1, 2 emissions plus 
Scope 3 and waste treatment only. 

iii. The scope and boundary of offsetting – Local 
(in-borough) voluntary standards may exist 
such as the UK’s Woodland Carbon Code, 
however there are none in CE at present and 
the current nature, extent, cost of offsets 
needs to be determined. 

iv. The cost of offsetting vs other low carbon 
investments – Very diverse range of cost and 
‘quality’ of offsets, whereby the additionality 
and permanence of carbon saving may vary. 

v. The value that certified ‘Carbon Neutral’ status 
offers the public – CEC may wish to define 
Carbon Neutral in their own way or not use the 
term at all if attaining such certification 
requires diverting savings and benefits out of 
the region. 

We have then presented a number of 
recommendations and options available for 
Cheshire East. A summary of these is provided 
below. 

3. Carbon Neutrality

Summary of recommendations

Cheshire East Council should:
• Understand the timing, availability and cost of 

using accepted, local offsets to achieve Carbon 
Neutral status under PAS 2060 (or equivalent). 
No previously established options exist. 

• If existing, accepted, local offsetting schemes 
are not available or suitable due to cost and/or 
emissions impact, then consider forgoing 
certified ‘Carbon Neutral’ status to avoid 
financial investment and co-benefits being 
diverted outside of the borough and/or the UK 
on international offsetting projects.

• Prioritise investment in the Cheshire East 
Borough as opposed to investment in Offsetting 
schemes ‘out of borough’. However this does 
not preclude investment in appropriate offset 
schemes outside of the borough.

• Develop a standard with other authorities enable 
more transparent, reliable and consistent 
reporting of council led actions against such 
neutrality targets and claims. 

• Review ‘traditional’ certified offsets/carbon 
neutrality standards again closer to 2025 – the 
option to go down the international offset and 
certification route will still remain then, however 
standards and offset types may have changed 
during this interim period.

10

Page 324



1%

6%

16%

23%

25%

29%

Figure 3: tCO2e of ‘Direct Control’ activities only

Waste ( <1%)
Owned Building Water (1%)
Business Travel (6%)
Street Lighting Electric (16%)
Fleet (23%)
Owned Building Electric (25%)
Owned Building Gas (29%)

4. Current Emissions Profile and Pathways
CEC Carbon Neutrality (Council Motion part i) 

Direct Control

The following chart sets out the direct control footprint of Cheshire East Council 2018-
2019. This total is the focus of the 2025 carbon neutral target. 
Further details on boundary assumptions and methodologies are included within the 
Supplementary Annex. 

2018/19:

15,447

tCO2e

11

The elements classed under ‘direct control’ will relate to the core emission sources that the Council 
considers ‘in scope’. This covers all Scope 1 & 2 emissions (definitions on page 8) sources having 
applied an operational control boundary. It also includes Scope 3 waste treatment. This would form 
the basis of any such future ‘carbon neutrality’ claim that the council is looking to make (see also 
Section 3).

Page 325



0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

20
36

20
37

20
38

20
39

20
40

20
41

20
42

20
43

20
44

20
45

20
46

20
47

20
48

20
49

20
50

Elec Gas Fleet Waste Water

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

20
10

20
12

20
14

20
16

20
18

20
20

20
22

20
24

20
26

20
28

20
30

20
32

20
34

20
36

20
38

20
40

20
42

20
44

20
46

20
48

20
50

Direct Control Scenario Analysis to 2050

The below analysis shows an emissions scenario for the emissions classified as 
‘Direct Control’. The only variable changed is the electricity grid carbon intensity. This 
tracks the BEIS Energy and Emissions Projections.

This analysis shows 2 key things:
• Emissions reductions 2010 to 2019 have benefited from the decarbonisation of the national grid and 

asset management.
• Significant increases in efficiency and application of demand reduction measures will be required to 

get anywhere near carbon neutral, without investing a significant amount in carbon offsets (which 
presents various challenges, as explored in Section 3). 

Figure 5: Direct Control ‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) – All ‘Direct Control’ categories (tCO2e)

2025: 11,357 tCO2e 

(-26% from 2019)

Figure 4: Direct Control CEC Emissions past performance + BAU 2010-2050 (tCO2e), Waste and Water excluded

2019: Reduced by 

55% from 2010

Note: 
• Pre-2019 emissions may not be comparable like for like due to the completeness, classification or 

methodological differences.  
• Water and waste have been excluded post 2019 (inclusive) to enable greater comparability.

12

2010: 33,105 tCO2e

4. Current Emissions Profile and Pathways
CEC Carbon Neutrality (Council Motion part i) 

Page 326

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/793632/data-tables-1-19.xlsx


2%

7%

9%

10%

11%

16%

18%

27%

Figure 6: tCO2e of ‘Stronger Influence’ activities only

Waste (<1%)
Owned Building Water (<1%)
Schools Water (<1%)
Business Travel (2%)
Street Lighting Electric (7%)
Fleet (9%)
Owned Building Electric (10%)
Owned Building Gas (11%)
Schools Electric (16%)
Schools Gas (18%)
Commuting (27%)

2%
2%

2%
3%

4%

7%

8%

12%

54%

Fleet (Other) (<1%)
Waste (<1%)
Water (<1%)
Schools Water (<1%)
Fleet (CEC) (<1%)
UMS Elec WTT + T&D (<1%)
Owned Building WTT (Gas) (<1%)
Owned Building WTT + T&D (Elec) (1%)
Schools WTT (Gas) (1%)
Business Travel (1%)
Schools WTT + T&D (Elec) (1%)
UMS Electric (1%)
Owned Building Elec (2%)
Fleet (ANSA) (2%)
Owned Building Gas (2%)
Schools Electric (3%)
Schools Gas (4%)
Commuting (7%)
Procurement (Ansa) (8%)
Procurement (Jacobs) (12%)
Procurement (54%)

4. Current Emissions Profile and Pathways
Borough-wide action (Council motion part ii)

Medium influence

This is the most complete 
account of the CEC, including all 
Scope 1, 2 and 3 categories. The vast majority 
(82%) of the total is made up by procurement 
spend.

Figure 7: Total footprint tCO2e by Category and Scope

2018/19:

155,103

tCO2e
2

13

Stronger Influence

With the exception of Academy
Trusts, schools were viewed by 
the council to be within a stronger 
influence boundary. CEC have strong 
relationships in place across the borough. 
Additionally, council staff commuting was 
deemed to represent opportunities for 
stronger influence. 

2018/19:

39,516

tCO2e
1

1- The footprint associated with each sphere of influence is 
cumulative and so this figure also includes the emissions 
associated with Direct Control activities.

2- The footprint associated with each sphere of influence is 
cumulative and so this figure also includes the emissions associated 
with Direct Control and Strong Influence activities.

Page 327



Stationary 
Energy - Electric 

(24%)

Stationary Energy -
Non-electric (35%)

On-road -
Non-electric 

(38%)

Stationary Energy - Electric (24%)
Stationary Energy - Non-electric (35%)
On-road (non-electric) (38%)
Rail (non-electric) (<1%)
Landfill (1%)
Water (<1%)

Residential 
Buildings 

(28%)

Commercial 
Buildings (5%)Institutional 

Buildings 
(15%)Industrial Buildings 

(10%)

On-road 
transport 

(38%)

Residential Buildings (28%) Commercial Buildings (5%) Institutional Buildings (15%)

Industrial Buildings (10%) On-road transport (38%) Rail (<1%)

Solid waste disposal (1%) Wastewater (<1%)

Weaker Influence

The council’s own emissions represent around 3% of the total 
borough’s emissions. The figure below displays the current 
district emissions relating to the area 
administered by Cheshire East Council. 
It shows the subsector inventory 
for direct and indirect emissions
calculated using SCATTER
(excluding agriculture, 
forestry and land-use). 

Note that key authority-
level data sets are 
published 2 years in 
arrears. Full method 
available at 
https://scattercities.com/

The figure opposite shows 
the proportion of electric vs 
non-electric energy 
consumption.
Stationary energy 
describes all emissions 
arising from buildings.

For a more granular 
breakdown
of the types of ‘non-electric’ 
fuel used by each sub-
sector, 
please see the 
Supplementary Annex 
Appendices.

Figure 8: Borough wide emissions  
profile

Figure 9: Borough wide electric vs non-electric consumption

14

2017: 

2,517,700 

tCO2e

2017: 

2,517,700 

tCO2e

4. Current Emissions Profile and Pathways
Borough-wide action (Council motion part ii)

Page 328

https://scattercities.com/


0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

3.5

4

4.5

1990 1993 1996 1999 2002 2005 2008 2011 2014 2017 2020 2023 2026 2029 2032 2035 2038 2041 2044 2047 2050

M
tC

O 2
e

Borough-wide Emissions Future Pathways 

The graph below shows two possible future emissions pathways up to 2050, as 
modelled by the SCATTER pathways tool.1

• Business as usual  (BAU) assumes minimal action beyond current, national policy (where sufficiently 
defined by sector or measure) and nationally led decarbonisation of the electricity grid. This still 
requires a significant level of effort locally.

• Science based budget is based on climate science rather than tangible energy supply and demand  
measures used in SCATTER. This pathway is one way of allocating a finite carbon budget (the area 
underneath). Alternatively the same budget would last 7 years at current emission levels. This is 
beyond the current, statutory duties of local councils. Please refer to the work performed by the 
Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research for further details. 

An estimation of CE emissions from 1990-2005, along with the BEIS local authority emissions data 
2005-2017, shows that the emissions reductions will have to increase at a greater rate compared to 
that previously seen, if they are to get anywhere near the science based budget. 

2005: 3.4 % 
Reduction

2017: 28.8% 
Reduction

2050: 61.3 % 
Reduction

2050: 99.8 % 
Reduction

Figure 10: Borough-wide emissions scenarios to 1990 to 2050

Estimated historic 
emissions

BEIS historic 
emissions

15

2050: 95.4 % 
Reduction

Tyndall Paris-
aligned carbon budget

1 - For full SCATTER method and description see Section 3 in the Supplementary Annex,

2027: Carbon 
budget 

exhausted if 
no further 
emissions 
reduction 

4. Current Emissions Profile and Pathways
Borough-wide action (Council motion part ii)

Page 329

https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/


5. The Action Plan 
Introducing the actions

Given the varying influence of CEC across council and borough wide emissions, the type of action 
must be tailored to the level of influence. As a result, the Action Plan is formatted to firstly address 
topics directly under the council’s control and then expands the scope to address areas of medium 
and weaker influence in the borough. Some actions relate to the 2025 target whereas others relate 
to the broader borough-wide ambition

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy

Actions that focus on internal policy, culture and 
behaviour of the council. Changes in this category are 
generally the least financially intensive and therefore 
represent ‘quick-wins’. It is also important to drive 
actions in this area as an enabler and stimulus of 
further action in the wider borough.

2. Energy Demand Reduction

Focused on council operations and assets (e.g. council 
buildings, fleet), but unlike the above, relates to more 
tangible, capital investment related actions that the 
council can take to use less energy and fuel, and 
improve efficiency.

Stronger 
influence 

Direct 
Control

Medium
influence

Stronger 
influence 

Direct 
Control

Weaker Influence

Medium
influence

More

C
o

u
n

c
il
 I
n

fl
u

e
n

c
e

Less

3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Alongside a reduction in energy demand, it is 
necessary to improve the supply of energy by using 
renewable sources. This includes both a council 
and borough-wide focus for action, as measures 
will commonly deliver benefits at scale that can 
provide opportunity for stakeholders beyond just 
the council. 

4. Natural Capital

Similar to energy supply – the council has the 
opportunity to progress action both on its own 
land estate and within the borough more widely. 
Both warrant consideration in the Action Plan. 

5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/External 
Policy

Although these emissions may be under the least 
influence from the council, in-borough emissions 
must also reach net zero to keep the UK on track 
with the national target. The council’s role 
becomes one of a partner or facilitator amongst 
the community and local businesses. 

16

Page 330



5. The Action Plan
Structure of the Action Plan

Action and Target
An overall action for what the council need to achieve and specific target have been included. This is 
based on reductions achieved elsewhere in the UK or using the SCATTER pathways tool (see 
Supplementary Annex). 

Measures
This outlines the method for ‘how’ each action can be achieved

Estimated Costs
Indicative potential costs of each measure have been provided where possible. Due to limitations of 
budget and scope, this is not comprehensive cost analysis but provides an indication of relevant financial 
costs based on publicly available data. As such, we advise:
• Associated assumptions are reviewed and fully understood by the Council
• No reliance by the council (or any other party) should be placed on these figures due to the inherent 

limitations in assumptions – these are simply intended to help inform relative priority of actions and 
how more robust estimates could be performed. 

Implementation
This outlines the first next steps to be taken for each measure and the council stakeholders needed to 
deliver them.

Benefits
An estimation of the magnitude of carbon savings that could be achieved by the action is included. Note 
this is an indication that should only be used to provide an idea of the scale of savings. It does not directly 
correspond to the achievement of the overall target. Potential co-benefits of the measures are also listed. 
Similar to Estimated Costs:
• Associated assumptions are reviewed and fully understood by the Council
• No reliance by the council (or any other party) should be placed on these figures due to the inherent 

limitations in assumptions – these are simply intended to help inform relative priority of actions and 
how more robust estimates could be performed. 

Monitoring indicators
This outlines how the council may review and track performance against each suggested action. The 
indicators should be interpreted as what should be achieved during the initial phase of delivery. A specific 
time-frame for the indicator has not been provided and should be confirmed by CEC on an action-by-
action basis. 

Scope
The council-led actions and measures are not limited to those in the table and CE should continually look 
for further ways to reduce emissions as new practices and innovative solutions emerge.

17

Page 331



Topic 1: Behaviour Change 

and Internal Policy 

18

Page 332



Case study: HOME Manchester 5

The arts and cultural venue is recognised 
as a platinum carbon literate organisation. 
100% of staff are trained in carbon literacy 

and all new starters are trained within 6 
months of joining.

Action 1.1: Increase engagement and awareness of staff
Target: All staff will be carbon literate and have a carbon-related goal formalised into the appraisal 
process, leading to a reduction in energy consumption and waste.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Design a new 
communication 

campaign, different 
to previous 

approaches, to 
inform people of 

the facts/urgency 
of the situation and 

motivate staff to 
proactively act and 
support activities.

£5,000 per annum 
(within existing 

budgets).1

Promote previous successes and 
'champions' who have made 

positive changes or who have learnt 
from mistakes 

Review the previous communication 
strategy and design a campaign 

that takes a new, refreshed 
approach 

Ensure all members of staff and 
departments are involved and 

emphasise the need for involvement 
from everyone.

Lead Authority: Communications

Carbon Literate citizens 
have typical realised 

carbon savings of 5-15% 
per person.3

Raising awareness 
amongst staff of energy 
efficiency measures at 

Islington borough council 
saved 196 tCO2 per year.4

Staff can take lessons 
learnt beyond the office 

and into their 
communities.

Staff may be more likely 
to support more 

ambitious policies to 
reduce carbon. 

b. Training for all 
relevant staff to 

become certified as 
carbon literate and 
understand climate 

impacts on their 
services.

Less than £5,000 for 
training and 

certification.2

Decide whether to run training 
externally or internally.

Prioritise training of senior 
management team.

Deliver a training session to all 
members of staff.

Embed carbon literacy training into 
new starter process.

Lead Authority: Communications

Monitoring indicators
• Staff feedback on campaign (embed a hit counter, or include some sort of ‘sign up’ or ‘pledge to 

support’ response)
• Maintain a log of staff that have received carbon literacy training

19

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy 

Page 333



Action 1.2: Incorporate carbon impact into decision making and procurement.
Target: Demonstrate that the carbon neutral ambition has been considered in every major investment 
and policy decision.6

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Allocation of 
carbon budgets to 
each department 
enable periodic 
comparison of 
performance

£10,000 (Within 
existing budgets).1

Calculate total carbon budget for 
council per year using Tyndall 

carbon budget tool.8

Develop framework for designating 
budgets per department or project 
based on previous year emissions 

contribution. 

Lead Authority: Finance

Along with preventing 
emissions increases, 
Cheshire East Council 

estimate that identifying 
carbon impacts/benefits 
in decisions may achieve 

a 2% reduction in 
emissions per annum, 
which is equivalent to 

1,500 tCO2e.7

Staff may be more likely 
to support more 

ambitious policies and 
investment decisions to 
reduce carbon. Reduces 

the risk that lower carbon 
attributes are ‘value 

engineered’ out solely on 
cost, if carbon is more 

formally embedded 
within appraisal criteria.

For example, the absence 
of a robust carbon 

assessment criteria led 
to the value engineering 

out of low carbon 
investment (EV charging) 

at Tatton Park.   

b. Introduce carbon 
pricing or more 
rigorous carbon 

consideration into 
capital investment 

decisions

£20,000 cost to 
develop and then an 
additional £5,000 per 

annum.3

Review current investment appraisal 
processes, and identify where better 

'carbon impact' control could be 
introduced. 

Review best practice from other 
councils or organisations in the field 

of carbon pricing. 

Lead Authority: Finance

c. On a rolling basis 
pass all policies 
being reviewed 

through the Carbon 
Neutral Team to 
ensure that they 

include measures 
and aspirations for 
carbon reduction.

£84,000 for additional 
staff within business 

case.1

Designate members that to provide 
carbon neutral scrutiny.

Establish a monitoring framework to 
be put in place, including mid 

programme reviews.

Lead Authority: Environment Team

d. Develop a full 
carbon trajectory 
for borough-wide 

emissions.

£20,000 consultancy 
costs.1

Develop a strategy for ‘carbon 
neutrality’ for the borough based on 

SCATTER tool projections (See 
Supplementary Annex for the 
borough-wide carbon budget).

Lead Authority: Environment Team

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy 

Case Study: Stockport Borough Council. 9

The council are currently undertaking work 
on developing a mechanism for 

incorporating carbon pricing into financial 
appraisals.

20

Page 334



Case study: Metropolitan City of Rome Capital.11

The inclusion of green criteria in procurement 
resulted in a saving of 749 tCO2 from 2011-2014. 
They have now integrated the monitoring system 

with accounting systems.

Action 1.2: Incorporate carbon impact into decision making and procurement
Target: Demonstrate that the carbon neutral ambition has been considered in every major investment 
and policy decision.1

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

d. Change in 
Procurement Policy 

to incorporate 
carbon neutral 
consideration 

including through 
social value and 

increased 
weighting.

Within existing 
budgets.1

Review current policy and use of 
social value section

Define the carbon performance 
indicators to be included and how 

they will be assessed

Lead Authority: Procurement.

It is estimated that a 5% 
reduction in emissions 

from procurement could 
save 5,779 tCO2e over a 

fiscal year.10

Opportunity to influence 
suppliers and contractors 

to reduce their 
emissions.

e. Work with all 
commissioned 

services and major 
procurements to 
ensure they have 
carbon reduction 

policies and 
procedures in 

place.

Within business case.1

Continue work to establish baseline 
of top 50 suppliers. 

Develop criteria and guidance for 
service providers and major 

procurements. 

Lead Authority: Environment Team

f. Continue to 
explore divesting 
from fossil fuel 

investments in the 
council pension 

fund.

Within existing 
resources.

Currently awaiting a revised draft of 
the Cheshire Pension Fund’s 

Responsible Investment Policy. 

Lead Authority: Environment Team

Not possible to estimate 
carbon savings without 

current data.

Opportunity to look at 
wider environmental, 

social and governance 
criteria.

Risk management: 
avoids ‘stranded asset’ 
risk to portfolio values 
from climate change.

Monitoring indicators:
• Confirm if carbon budgets have been allocated & whether effective
• Confirm if carbon pricing or more rigorous carbon considerations are embedded in investment 

decision making process.
• Confirm carbon budget and target for borough-wide emissions.
• Review all new policies to understand if carbon aspirations were included
• Confirm if the carbon/environmental elements within scoring and social value assessment have been 

updated.
• Confirm the process of reviewing pension investments has begun.

21

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy 

Page 335



Case study:

Action 1.3: Reducing emissions from business travel.
Target: Travel reduced by 17% in 2025 relative to 2015 levels.12

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Invest in better 
communications 

technology to 
promote more 

remote meetings

Technology costings:13

Software licence: 
Under £50 per user per 

month.14

Headphones: 
approximately  £20-

£30.15

Spider phone: £90.16

TBC nominal costs of 
£100,000 allocated.1

Assess type and quantity of IT 
packages and equipment required.

Aiming for every member of staff 
and meeting room to be better 

equipped.

Produce full order costings, install 
packages, buy equipment and 

distribute.

Lead Authority: IT

It is estimated that the IT-
enabled carbon 

abatement potential of e-
work in the UK is 12 

MtCO2 by 2030. This is 
equivalent to reducing 

the UK's current carbon 
emissions by 2.36% in 

2030.17

Applying this reduction 
to the CE fleet would 
equal 20.8 tCO2 per 

year.18

Lower fuel costs and 
greater productivity. e.g. 

reducing the mileage of a 
driver covering 12,000 

business miles a year by 
10% would save around 
£150 on fuel costs and 

release around 30 hours 
for productive work.19

b. Provide training 
in use of 

technology to 
ensure maximum 

use

Time cost for staff 
attending half a day of 

training

Identify key knowledge and 
understanding gaps by consulting 

staff.

Design comprehensive training 
session for all abilities.

Run training for every member of 
staff.

Lead Authority: IT

c. Produce a 
business travel 

plan and 
framework

£50,000 budget for 
travel co-ordination 

officer and promotion 
per year.1

Review the current distances 
travelled for meetings

Produce a document outlining 
policies for business travel and a 
decision flow chart for business 

travel

Lead Authority: Highways

Case study: PwC 20

PwC reduced their emissions from 
business travel by 4% from 2007 to 2017. 

This included reducing unnecessary 
journeys by encouraging the use of 

technology e.g. in 2012 they launched a 
campaign to increase online meetings and 

trained over 5000 staff.8

22

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy 

Page 336



Case study: West Yorkshire Police 25

West Yorkshire Police introduced 
telematics into 700 operational vehicles 

which led to the defleeting of 120 vehicles. 
This reduced the total mileage between 

2012/13 and 2016/17 by 2.6 million miles.

Action 1.3: Reducing emissions from business travel
Target: Travel reduced by 17% in 2025 relative to 2015 levels.12

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

d. Driver training: 
Equip any drivers of 

council vehicles 
with the necessary 
knowledge to more 
appropriately plan 

journeys in order to 
minimise disruption 

and maximise 
carbon saving. 

The Energy Saving 
Trust currently offer 

subsidised driver 
training 

programmes.21

If data is not available, 
then investment in 
telematics may be 
required to monitor 

mileage. 
One telematics 

platform Appy Fleet 
estimates £48 per 

vehicle (based on £4 
per driver, per month)22

Introduce a fleet management 
system and telematics to monitor 

pool car usage and mileage.

Establish who should benefit from 
driver training and organise training 

sessions.

Lead Authority: Facilities. 

If CE were to achieve a 
similar reduction in 

mileage to West 
Yorkshire Police (2.6 
million miles over 4 
years), it could save 
approximately 565 

tCO
2
e.23

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

Encourages safer driving 
practices. 

Research suggests that 
the introduction of a 

mileage management 
system produces a 
saving of £281 per 

driver.24

Monitoring indicators:
• Report capital investment in communication technology, and compare against the prior year(s).
• Record any specialist training sessions that take place.
• Confirm if a business travel plan and framework as been produced
• Confirm if investment has been made in telematics technology and report any associated trends (i.e. 

diversity in carbon intense vs low carbon driving behaviour). 

Case Study:  Oxford City Council 26

All registered drivers at the council were required 
to complete the EST smarter driving course. This 
achieved a 17% reduction in fuel use in the first 

year. This level of reduction could save the 
council an estimated £69,000 and 150tCO2. per 

year.

23

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy 

Page 337



Case Study: BT 27 28

A roll-out of homeworking at BT saved 14 
ktCO2e over a period of 12 months. This 

equates to approximately 2% of 
emissions.

Action 1.4: Reduce staff commutes
Target: Travel reduced by 17% in 2025 relative to 2015 levels.12

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Update HR policy 
to encourage 

working from home
Within existing 

budgets.1

Assess the suitability of each 
department for staff to increase 

home working.

Develop a policy to encourage home 
working where possible.

Publicise option for home working.

Lead Authority:  HR

By working from home 
two days a week for a 
year, an average UK 

employee can save 390 
kgCO2e. It is estimated 
that if 10% of council 

staff worked from home 
it could save 199 tCO2e.27

This could save the 
average UK employee 50 
hours commuting time 

and £450 including travel 
costs. It could also 

reduce energy and water 
consumption in council 

offices.27

b. Provide training 
in use of 

technology to 
enable remote 

working

Within existing 
budgets.1

Provide training to all departments 
suitable for home working and 

emphasise benefits.

Lead Authority: IT
Monitoring indicators:
• Confirm if any updates to HR policy in respect of low-carbon, flexible homeworking have been made
• Record any specialist training sessions that take place. 

24

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy 

Page 338



Action 1.5: Reduce emissions from staff commuting by encouraging alternative 
transport and green vehicles
Target: Less than 62% of staff commuting is by car.29

64% of cars are EV, PHEV or FCV.30

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Conduct a review 
of current staff 

travel to establish a 
baseline

Within current 
budgets.1

Produce a staff survey on 
commuting, including information of 

barriers to more sustainable 
transport.

Present results showing baseline, 
comparison with national statistics 

and areas for improvement.

Produce a plan on how to address 
key barriers.

Conduct a follow up survey 

Lead Authority: Highways

Potential carbon savings: 
not possible to quantify. 

Potential to improve 
staff engagement and 

awareness. 

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.b. Develop 
communications 

programme to 
encourage 
alternative 
transport 

Within Travel Co-
ordinator budget.1

Using results from staff survey to  
Identify areas for improvements.

Develop a sustainable travel plan. 

Provide guidance documents on 
alternative transport options. 

Lead Authority: Highways 

Case Study: Lancaster University 31

Lancaster University implemented a travel plan in 2005, 
achievements include a 24% reduction in carbon emissions 

from staff and  student commuting and the proportion of 
staff commuting by car alone has reduced from 58% to 43%. 

Initiatives included a smartphone app for buses and 
dedicated parking facilities for bicycles across the campus.

25

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy 

Page 339



Action 1.5: Reduce emissions from staff commuting by encouraging alternative 
transport and green vehicles
Target: Less than 62% of staff commuting is by car.29

64% of cars are EV, PHEV or FCV.30

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

c. Further promote 
cycling incentives, 
including cycle to 
work scheme and 

cycle mileage.

Administrative time 
plus £10,000 

marketing and 
promotion budget.1

Actual savings for 
staff are borne out of 

tax benefits, not gifted 
by the Council.

Liaise with HR, Finance and other 
relevant departments to further 

promote a Cycle to Work scheme 
and then publicise to staff. 

Lead Authority: Highways

If 9% of staff commute a 
5 mile journey by bike 
instead of car it could 

save around 65 tCO2.33

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

Increasing cycling also 
has health benefits. 

Cycling 5 miles to work 
burns, on average, over 

2,000 calories in a 
week.34

d. Develop a 
programme to 

incentivise staff 
who drive low 

emission vehicles 

TBC nominal cost of 
£5,000 allocated.2

Dependent on chosen 
incentive.32

Assess potential incentives to 
provide for those who invest in 

lower emission cars.

Promote amongst staff and assess 
impact and uptake of project. 

Lead Authority: Highways/HR

Potential carbon saving 
of 2,617 tCO2 per year if 
64% staff drive electric 

vehicles.35

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.
Monitoring indicators
• Confirm if travel survey has taken place
• Confirm if communications campaign includes any transport specific programme
• Monitor uptake of Cycle to Work scheme updates via HR
• Confirm if any new incentives have been introduced.

26

1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy 

Page 340



1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy – Sources  

27

1.1
1 – Based on Cheshire East Council estimates as documented within the internal document “Action Plan” 24/12/2019. Such information has not 
been subject to Anthesis’ review or verification. 
2 – Based on email correspondence with the Carbon Literacy Project (05/12/19). Estimate includes cost for training and certification: £10 per 
applicant certification and £500-£750 for criteria checking. Option 1: Hire consultant for approximately £600/day to deliver training. Option 2: 
Cheshire East deliver training. Carbon Literacy Project are in the process of developing a Local Authorities toolkit to help with the design of 
training. 
3 – The Carbon Literacy Project allows citizens to acquire the knowledge and skills to lower their carbon footprint, with typical realised carbon 
savings of 5-15% per person (Jacobs 2018).
4 – Case Study Islington Borough Council
5 – HOME Manchester

1.2
6– Option for council to determine what constitutes a major investment or policy decision. 
7 – Based on Cheshire East Council estimates as documented within the internal document “191122 CEC Carbon Neutrality Projects 22/11/2019”. 
Such information has not been subject to Anthesis’ review or verification. 
8 –Tyndall Carbon Budget is based on translating the “well below 2°C and pursuing 1.5°C” global target and equity principles in the Paris 
Agreement to a national carbon budget which is then split between sub-national areas. 
9 – Based on current Anthesis project with Stockport Council. Contact details for Stockport officers leading this project available upon request.
10 – Method in Supplementary Annex. Note that 5% is arbitrary and intended as indicative only, rather than a suggested target.
11 – European Sustainable Procurement Network: Developing a monitoring system for GPP in Rome

1.3
12– Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathway for the wider borough (as council want to be exemplar). SCATTER estimates in 2025 that travel demand 
should have reduced by 17% from 2015 levels (See Supplementary Annex). 
13 – TBC by CEC nominal costs allocated:
14 – Based on Anthesis’ own commercial experiences with Microsoft Office 365 (includes, user licences, conferencing features, PSTN/DID) 
15 – Based on Amazon search for Plantronics audio headset
16 – Based on Jabra Speak model 
17 – In the absence of data on the breakdown of CEC business travel, National level predictions have been used to estimate the magnitude of 
savings. The Role of ICT in Reducing Carbon Emissions in the UK estimates that ICT-enabled carbon abatement could help to shrink the UK’s 
identified emissions gap of 187 Mt CO2e by 121.7 Mt CO2e. This 122 Mt CO2e reduction is equivalent to reducing the UK’s current carbon 
emissions by 24% in 2030. It is estimated that the IT-enabled carbon abatement potential of e-work in the UK is 12 MtCO2 by 2030.
So 122MT=24% reduction. E-working is 9.83% of the 122MT reduction. This means that e-working is responsible for a 2.36% reduction in UK 
emissions. 
18 – Previous estimate applied to the estimated emissions from CEC fleet (for method see Supplementary Annex). 2.36% of 884 tCO2.
19 – Energy Saving Trust Manage Mileage Information on typical business miles from staff not available at time of writing, therefore the number 
of miles is not scaled to CE.
20 – PwC Case Study We acknowledge that PwC are a very different organisation and this case study is not intended to provide a direct estimate 
of savings for CEC. 
21– Subsidised Eco driving Training
22 – Appy Fleet When estimating total carbon savings, Appy Fleet uses £48 per vehicle per year from the savings (£4 per driver, per month) Data 
on number of vehicles and typical mileage not available at the time of writing.
23 – In the absence of data on the breakdown of CEC business travel and fleet management data, savings are based on West Yorkshire Police 
Case Study: reduction of 4,184,294 km over 4 years, emissions factor for a petrol car taken from Ashden: 0.135 kgCO2e/km, giving 0.14 ktCO2e 
p.a. This aims to show the emissions savings associated with a distance reduction. CEC should determine the potential distance for business 
travel to be reduced.
24 – Energy Saving Trust: Mileage management guide Vertivia analysis looked at the trends in recorded mileage following the implementation of 
mileage management system.
25 – West Yorkshire Police Case Study
26 – Oxford City Council Case Study

1.4
27– Carbon Trust: Carbon savings estimated from: modelling based on DECC/Defra emission factors and travel survey data.
Reduction in emissions per person assumes the total emissions per person in the UK are approximately 10 tCO2e p.a.. Assumption based on 10% 
of staff working from home (c. 408), who each save 390 kgCO2e per year. Note 10% is arbitrary and intended as indicative only, rather than a 
suggested target.
It is also important to consider the carbon usage of an employee working from home. This is mainly dependent on the level of heating required, 
however there is limited evidence on the change in energy consumption of home workers. The effectiveness is also dependent on the avoided 
emissions associated with each commute e.g. distance, vehicle, number of passengers, age of vehicle, however this data is not available for CEC. 
Using averages from the Carbon Trust, a commuter would have to travel 4 miles to work (one-way) to balance the average increase in home 
energy consumption 180 kg CO2e. The CEC staff survey of commuting suggests that over 60% of staff commutes are over 5 miles.
28 – BT Carbon emissions statement 2012. Using the most recent available data, the 2008 estimate of BT’s total footprint is used to provide a % 
change: 14 ktCO2/687 ktCO2

Page 341

https://carbonliteracy.com/organisation/
https://www.carbontrust.com/media/196392/ctv028-local-authorities.pdf
https://homemcr.org/about/sustainability/carbon-literacy/
https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/reports/E06000049/
https://procuraplus.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Procura__case_studies/Procuraplus_case_study_Rome.pdf
https://www.btplc.com/Digitalimpactandsustainability/Ourapproach/Ourpolicies/UK-Carbon-targets-May-2016.pdf
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport/fleet/fleet-management-toolkit/manage-mileage.
https://www.pwc.co.uk/who-we-are/our-purpose/low-carbon-circular-business/travel.html
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/transport/ecodriving/subsidised-ecodriving-training
https://www.appyfleet.co.uk/
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/reports/4548_EST_A4_mileage_mmt_4.pdf
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/West%20Yorkshire%20Police%20Case%20Study.pdf
http://lowcarbonoxford.org/case_studies/smarter-driving-slashes-fuel-use-oxford-city-council-2/
https://www.carbontrust.com/media/507270/ctc830-homeworking.pdf
http://btexvip05.extra.bt.com/Purposefulbusiness/betterfuturereport/PDF/2012/BT_carbon_emissions_statement_2012.pdf


1. Behaviour Change and Internal Policy – Sources  

28

1.5
29 – Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathways tool (See Supplementary Annex)- there will be a modal shift away from cars- Using the value for 
2050 as staff survey suggests the council are almost at the 2025 level. 
30 – Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathways tool (See Supplementary Annex)- 64% of cars are EV, PHEV or FCV. 
31 – Lancaster University Travel Plan

1.6
32 – TBC by CEC, nominal cost allocated. Dependent on chosen incentive provided e.g. car parking space.
33 – Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathway where 9% of journeys should be by bike (See Supplementary Annex). 4,082 staff so 367 should cycle. 
The most common journey distance at the council was 5-10 miles. Taking the lower distance- cycling 5 miles instead of driving saving 178 
kgCO2 per year per person according to Cyclescheme 178 * 367 = 97,989kgCO2.
34 – Cycling Calorie & CO2 Calculator: Calories burned per week calculated in line with the Harvard University study and are based on a 155lb 
person cycling at a pace of 12-13.9 kmph. 
35 – Emissions from 2019 staff commute non-sharing cars was estimated to be 7,745 tCO2 (see Supplementary Annex). In line with SCATTER 
predictions for the wider borough on the percentage of EV, PHEV or FCV needed: 64% of which 80% are electric. Each switch to electric 
vehicles saves approximately 66% of emissions.

Page 342

https://www.lancaster.ac.uk/media/lancaster-university/content-assets/documents/travel/TravelPlan2022Oct2019.pdf
https://www.cyclescheme.co.uk/health-calculator
https://www.cyclescheme.co.uk/health-calculator


Topic 2: Energy Demand 

Reduction 

29

Page 343



2. Energy Demand Reduction 

Action 2.1: Reduce emissions from council fleet by switching to low-emission 
vehicles
Target: 100% of van and car fleet electrified by 2025 and 15% reduction in emissions from HGV fleet by 
2025.1

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Review and 
update fleet 

management plan: 
Specify that for 

certain categories 
of vehicle, only 

Ultra-Low-Emission 
Vehicles (ULEV) are 

permitted

The Energy Saving 
Trust offer a free Ultra-
Low Emissions Vehicle 

review.2

Strategy development: 
£25,000 plus £5,000 

per annum.3

Conduct a review of a vehicles in 
council fleet.

Assess the vehicles suitable for a 
switch to ULEVs.

Update policy to include ULEV and 
electric vehicles as the default and 

define the criteria for non-
compliance.

Lead Authority: Environment Team

If 100% of CEC fleet 
transitioned to electric it 

could save 261 tCO2e per 
annum. Note that savings 

will increase as grid 
electricity becomes lower 

carbon.8

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits. 

Case study: Leeds City 
Council.

b. Review 
opportunities for 
the installation of 

EV charging points

Included in role of 
travel co-ordination 

officer (accounted for 
elsewhere). 

£50,000 capital 
allocation.3

Strategic plan of the installation of 
new charging points in line with fleet 

changes.

Lead Authority: Facilities 
Management

c. Allocation of 
funding (capital or 

operational) for 
investment in low 
emission vehicles 

and 
implementation of 
more EV charging 

points 

EV: One estimate 
suggests a cost of 
£4.6m per annum.4

However, other 
sources indicate a 

lower whole life 
costing for EVs e.g. 

Comparing an EV and 
ICE pool car over 5 
years saves around 

£3,300. Comparing an 
EV and ICE van over 3 

years saves around 
£3,100.5

Electric charging 
points:

Private: 50kW charging 
point: £17,000-

£33,000.6

Residential: £2,500 per 
charge point (in line 

with funding available 
for residential charging 

points)7

Nominal cost 
allocated: £100,000 

per annum.3

Allocate funding in the next annual 
budget.

Trial sample vehicles in the next 
procurement cycle.

Lead Authority: Facilities 
Management

30

Page 344



Case study: Glasgow City Council 12

Glasgow City Council are aiming for all of 
their fleet vehicles to be emission free by 
2029. This includes the conversion of 23 

gritters to dual fuel hydrogen.

2. Energy Demand Reduction 

Action 2.1: Reduce emissions from council fleet by switching to low-emission 
vehicles
Target: 100% of van and car fleet electrified by 2025 and 15% reduction in emissions from HGV fleet by 
2025.1

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

d. Introduce 
hydrogen into the 

HGV fleet, including 
a demonstration 

for the Refuse 
Collection Vehicles 

(RCV's).

Within existing 
budgets:3

£50,000 cost for 
conversion of an RCV 
with potential savings 

of £15,000 per 
annum.9

Cledford Lane project: Deliver the 
Local Enterprise Grant to 

demonstrate two RCV's and 
associated hydrogen generation 

and storage.

Record data to analyse success and 
opportunity for further roll-out.

Lead Authority: Environment Team 
with ANSA and StorEngy.

Cledford Lane project 
could save 26 tCO2 over 

2 year project.10

Potential 5,982 tCO2
savings over 7 year 

replacement cycle from 
introducing low emission 

vehicles into fleet.10

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

Case Study: Glasgow City 
Council

e. Implement 
strategic plan to 

introduce low 
emission vehicles 

into the fleet 
(including waste 
and highways). 

£1,800,000 total 
capital expenditure.
But potential annual 

savings of £420,000.10

TBC nominal cost of 
£100,000 per annum 

allocated.3

Review Hydrogen RCV trial success.

Assess the potential for further  
improvements in efficiency and the 

application of CNG and Electric 
Vehicles.

Explore the potential of trialling 
other alternative fuels.

Lead Authority: Environment Team 
Monitoring indicators
• Confirm if the asset management plan has been updated and includes ULEV investment
• Confirm if EV charging point assessment has taken place
• Confirm if additional sources of finance for EV investment have been secured
• Confirm if RCV Hydrogen pilot is being successfully delivered and strategic plan to expand developed. 

Case study: Leeds City Council 11

Leeds City Council have electrified 16% 
of their total van fleet. It is estimated that 
these vehicles will travel 450,000 miles 

per year leading to fuel savings of 
£13,500 per year and savings of 52 tCO2

to 2020.

31

Page 345



Case study: West Yorkshire Police 18

West Yorkshire Police introduced 6 low emission pool 
cars, which saved them over £34,000 on private 

mileage claims in the first year.

2. Energy Demand Reduction 

32

Action 2.2: Reduce emissions from council fleet by introducing low emission pool 
cars and pool bikes.
Target: All pool cars are 100% electric by 2025 and 6% of business travel should be by active transport in 
2025.13

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Strategic 
assessment of 
current fleet to 

operate optimal 
number of pool 

cars 

Energy Saving Trust 
offer free green fleet 

reviews.14

Strategy development 
cost of £55,000.3

Conduct fleet review and establish a 
number of pool cars to procure.

Assess the options for the storage, 
operation and management of pool 

cars. Research other council’s or 
similar institutions’ approach to pool 

car management. 

Lead Authority: Facilities 
Management

Employee owned 
vehicles are typically 

older. 50 company cars 
travelling 2,000 miles a 

year would save around 4 
tCO2. (Not including 

savings for low emission 
vehicle).16

Cycling 6 miles instead of 
driving saves 214 kgCO2

per year per person.17

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

Increasing cycling also 
provides health benefits 

for staff. 

b. Provision of 
Cheshire East pool 

bikes and bike 
library.

Feasibility assessment 
and an engagement 

campaign at £10,000-
£20,000 depending on 

scale.15

£5,000 for bike library 
(within current 

budgets).3

Assess the level of demand for pool 
bikes and enquire about the 

potential costs of buying pool bikes.

Develop platform for hire or 
checking out pool bikes.

Lead Authority: Environment Team

c. Communication 
plan to encourage 
usage of pool cars 
and bikes amongst 

staff

Within existing 
budgets.3

Establish relevant staff to share 
communications with

Plan a communication campaign 
and implement

Lead Authority: Communications

Monitoring indicators:
• Confirm if a strategic assessment of current fleet/pool car operation has been performed
• Confirm if feasibility study and/or investment into pool bikes has occurred
• Confirm if communications campaign includes any transport specific programme (including pool 

cars)

Case Study: PwC 19

Alongside their cycle to work scheme, PwC have been 
delivering improvements to buildings including double 
tier bike racks, extra showers, lockers and a bike repair 
station.  The scheme has had over 2000 participants 
since it was introduced. They have also launched a 

scheme which allows staff to borrow Brompton bikes.

Page 346



2. Energy Demand Reduction 

33

Action 2.3: Reduce emissions from staff commuting by encouraging alternative 
transport and car sharing
Target: 73% reduction in emissions from road transport by 2025.20

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Allocate funding 
to improve cycle-
friendly facilities 

Cycle Parking:
Bike stands: £30-£40

Covered parking: 
£1,800 plus stands
Lockers: £620+ per 

locker.21

Shower Facilities: 
dependent on chosen 
method of provision.22

Allocation for facilities: 
£30,000 per annum.3

Assess level of demand for facilities 
as part of staff survey.

Assess different options for 
providing shower and changing 

facilities. 

Lead Authority: Facilities 
Management

If 9% of staff commute a 
5 mile journey by bike 

instead of by car it could 
save approximately 65 

tCO2.23

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

Increasing cycling also 
has health benefits. 

Cycling 5 miles to work 
burns, on average, over 

2,000 calories in a 
week.23

b. Invest in a 
communication 

platform to 
facilitate car 

sharing 

Dependent on chosen 
platform: paper form, 

online, app.

Research different potential 
platforms for car sharing which 
could expand to whole borough.

Carry out cost-benefit analysis for 
potential platforms.

Roll out car sharing scheme.

Lead Authority: Communications

For every sharing 
commuter, there is a 

saving of 1 tCO2 per year. 
If 10% of CE staff who 
drive were to share it 

would save 153 tCO2.24

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

Monitoring indicators:
• Confirm if cycle-friendly facilities have been improved or allocated funding for improvement
• Confirm if CEC have access to a car sharing platform.

Case Study: Ocado 25

Ocado has registered 3,700 members 
onto its Liftshare scheme, and offers staff 
incentives such as free breakfasts, parking 

spaces, competitions and a guaranteed 
ride home. This has led to a saving of 852 

tCO2. 

Page 347



Case Study: Welsh Government 30

In a move towards more sustainable and 
zero carbon buildings the Welsh 

Government (WG) Planning Policy now 
requires projects with a floor area greater 
than 1000m2 to achieve a BREEAM Very 
Good rating. In addition, WG require an 

Excellent rating to be achieved for projects 
where they provide core funding.

2. Energy Demand Reduction 

Action 2.4: Reduce energy demand from new & existing council influenced 
buildings
Target: All new buildings and retrofits built to highest grade of LEED/BREEAM standards (or equivalent) 
to ensure carbon emissions from operations and materials are minimised.
By 2025, 16% reduction in existing commercial heating and cooling demand from 2015.26

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Embed carbon 
reduction into 

Asset Management 
strategy. 

Within existing 
budgets.3

Review Asset Management strategy 
and incorporate a carbon target and 
a way of assessing and monitoring 

the carbon impact of actions. 

Lead Authority: Assets

Not possible to estimate 
a carbon saving but this 
acts as an enabler to the 
subsequent measures. 

b. Policy to ensure 
all new buildings 

are built to a much 
higher sustainable 
buildings standard 

e.g. BREEAM 
Excellent or 
Outstanding

New buildings to LEED 
Gold standard 

estimated to be c. 10% 
additional on capital 

costs although 
operational cost 

savings should more 
than compensate this 

premium over the 
lifetime of the 

building.27

The difference 
between a BREEAM 

‘pass’ and an 
‘excellent’ rating for 
offices is shown to 
incur an increase in 
capital cost of 0.8%. 

However, it is 
estimated that savings 

in operational costs 
produce a 2% higher 
capital cost can be 
paid back within 5 

years.28

Identify sources of finance of 
programme funding

Liaise with LEED/BREEAM and the 
carbon neutral team to agree a 

strategy for implementation. 

Undertake a specific costing and 
feasibility study to understand cost 

vs. benefit.

Define key elements of a standard 
based on current industry best 

practice. Note the scope may also 
extend to embodied carbon of 

construction materials as well as 
buildings in use.

Lead Authority: Assets

The average CO2 saving 
for a BREEAM assessed 

building is 22% and a 
BREEAM Excellent rated 
building is expected to 

reduce carbon emissions 
by 33%.28

Lower operational costs-
Energy efficiency and 

water saving technology 
has a forecast payback is 
typically less than 5 years 
for energy and less than 

2 years for water.29

It also benefits those who 
work within these offices 
through factors such as 

better air quality and 
lighting.29

34

Page 348



2. Energy Demand Reduction 

Case Study:
Cambridgeshire County Council  adopted the Re:fit framework to increase energy efficiency, reduce 
CO2 emissions and improve the condition of its buildings. 
The estimated potential of this scheme is to deliver 1.2 million tonnes of CO2 savings over the lifetime 
of the project. Cambridgeshire County Council’s Re:fit project is available to schools and public sector 
buildings across the county. 

Action 2.4: Reduce energy demand from new & existing council influenced 
buildings
Target: All new buildings and retrofits built to highest grade of LEED/BREEAM standards (or equivalent) 
to ensure carbon emissions from operations and materials are minimised. 
By 2025, 16% reduction in existing commercial heating and cooling demand from 2015.24

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

c. Assess suitability 
of retrofit options 
for each category 

of council 
influenced 

buildings, including 
leisure centres and 

schools. This 
includes efficiency 

and ventilation 
measures only 

(heating supply is 
covered within Low 

carbon supply).  

Dependent on the size, 
complexity, age, 

operations, conditions 
of the existing building 
stock and its assets. 

Investment grade 
audits can be 

commissioned per 
building ranging 
£2,000-£5,000.31

TBC nominal 
additional cost of 

£200,000 per annum 
allocated.3

Carry out an assessment of the 
stock to identify potential 

programmes:
- desktop assessment based on 

available information
- data gap in-fills through site visit

- building performance modelling on 
key areas for improvements

-investment grade audits to identify 
opportunities to gain returns

There is no 'one size fits all' for 
retrofit so would include 

assessment of:
- All Building Management Systems 

(BMS) are optimised, HVAC 
systems are well maintained

- All lighting converted to LED either 
through planned replacement or 

proactive retrofit programme. 
- Insulation to the building fabric to 

ensure heat is kept on the correct 
side of the barrier (various 

measures within this category 
including walls, floors, ceilings 

and windows). 

Explore and research alternative 
options for retrofit and 

improvements to listed buildings 
given the constraints. 

Lead Authority: Facilities 
Management.

A 20% reduction in 
energy used for heating 
would produce a saving 
of around 2,945 tCO

2
32

Lower operational costs 
achieved through greater 

energy efficiency.

Monitoring indicators:
• Confirm if new build and retrofit policies have been updated to reflect a higher carbon performance 
• Confirm how many investment grade audits have taken place 

Case Study: Cambridgeshire County Council 33

Cambridgeshire County Council adopted the Re:fit framework 
to increase energy efficiency, reduce CO2 emissions and 

improve the condition of its buildings. The estimated potential 
of this scheme is to deliver 1.2 million tCO2 savings over the 
lifetime of the project. The project is available to schools and 

public sector buildings across the county.

35

Page 349



2.1
1 – The European Commission proposed an interim CO2 reduction target of 15% by 2025 for all large trucks compared to 2019 levels. 
Improvements beyond the European Commission target of 15% reduction achieved by scaling up existing low emission HGV pilots and piloting 
new technologies.
2 – Energy saving trust Ultra-low emission vehicle review- identifies where plug-in or alternatively-fuelled vehicles could be appropriate and cost 
effective. This review is available at no cost for most private and public sector organisations in England.  
3 – Based on Cheshire East Council estimates as documented within the internal document “Action Plan” 24/12/2019. Such information has 
not been subject to Anthesis’ review or verification. Nominal costs allocated are TBC.
4 – Actual number of Council vehicles not available at time of writing. Therefore, using Ashden 31 Climate Actions method of estimation: Leeds 
has 1,133 vehicles for a population of 474,000. Applying this ratio of fleet to the population of CE (380,790) would mean there are approx. 910 
vehicles. The annual additional whole life costing of EV is around £5k. 
5 – Energy Savings Trust compare EV and ICE pool car. 

6 – CNEX low emission van guide – 50 kW charging point can charge an electric van in <1 hour. Hardware costs of a triple outlet 43-50kW, 
Type 2, CHAdeMO and CCS – £16,000-30,000 
Approximate connection costs – of 1-3 Fast (22kW charge van in 1.5-2 hrs) or 1 rapid (50kW charge in <1 hr) – £1,000-£3,000
7 – Based on Ashden: Local Authorities are able to receive funding for 75% of the cost of residential charge points- up to £7.5k per charging 
point which means Local Authorities must fund the remaining £2.5k. 
8 – Based on Ashden: who estimate that the average reduction from switch to EV is 66% (when charged from the grid). For total CEC fleet 
emissions see Supplementary Annex.
9 & 10 – Based on CEC estimates as documented within the internal document “191122 CEC Carbon Neutrality Projects 22/11/2019”. Such 
information has not been subject to Anthesis’ review or verification. 
Cledford Lane Cost: Based on fixed and high costs for conversions, refuelling, electrolyser and additional PV/Grey water. Conversions, refueller 
and PV will remain assets after two years. Costed annual benefits: Estimated fuel and RTFO. Does not include the residual value of the 
equipment – estimated at £150k – and long term electricity generation beyond the project lifetime. 
Cost: Based on additional investment which my be required to convert and increase specification – based on £30k per vehicle. Cost annual 
benefits: Based on £7k saving per vehicle – half vanguard due to no RTFO and purchase of hydrogen. Estimated 10,000 litres of diesel saved. 
13 tCO2e estimated saving per year for a 2 year Cledford Lane project. Strategic plan savings based upon an average 30% saving given 7 year 
replacement cycle.
11 – Energy Savings Trust case study
12 – Glasgow City Council On Road To Zero Emissions Vehicle Fleet

2.2
13- Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathway (See Supplementary Annex)- modal shift in transport away from cars, were active transport represents 
6% of all travel.
14 – Energy Saving Trust Green Fleet Review evaluates how sustainable a fleet operation is and identifies opportunities to reduce emissions, 
fuel costs and expenditure. There is no charge for public sector organisations. Note that the cost is for the review only and does not include an 
estimate for the cost of pool cars.
15 – Based on Anthesis judgement and experience.
16 – Energy Saving Trust: A guide to managing and reducing grey fleet mileage. Company cars on average are 2.5 years old (132g/km) versus 
under 7 years old (158 g/km) for employee owned. Based on a fleet of 50 cars travelling 2000 miles per year. This does not include the 
additional saving that would be achieved by making these vehicles low emission. 
17 – Cycling Calorie & CO2 Calculator
The distance between Cheshire East Council Headquarters and Crewe Station is approximately 6 miles according to google maps. 
Cycling 6 miles instead of driving saves 214 kgCO2 per year per person according to the CO2 calculator. CO2 emission saved per year is 
calculated based on factors from Transport Direct
18 – West Yorkshire Police case study 
19 – PwC Support for Cycling

2.3
20 – Based on SCATTER assumption that there will be a modal shift away from cars – the share of transport by car should be 62% by 2050. 
The 2050 estimate is used as CE are already at 2025 target. 
21 – Transport for London Workplace Cycle Parking Guide
22 – TBD by council. Options include: Converting current space, purpose built portable building or a partnership with a local leisure centre.
23 – Cycling Calorie & CO2 Calculator
Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathway 9% of journeys should be by bike. There are 4082 staff so 367 should cycle. 
The most common journey distance at the council was 5-10 miles. Taking the lower distance- cycling 5 miles instead of driving saves 178 
kgCO2 per year per person according to the CO2 calculator. CO2 emission saved per year is calculated based on factors from Transport Direct
-Calories burned per week calculated in line with the Harvard University study and are based on a 155lb person cycling at a pace of 12-
13.9kmph
24 – Based on Ashden using data from LiftShare it is estimated that 1 tCO2 p.a. is saved for every ‘sharing commuter’. Based on 75% of staff 
commuting by car alone and if then if 10% of staff share (note this is arbitrary and intended as indicative only, rather than a suggested target), it 
equates to 153 individuals becoming a passenger in a car instead of driving.
25 – Ocado Case Study

2. Energy Demand Reduction - Sources 

36

Page 350

http://www.ukerc.ac.uk/programmes/networking-fund/decarbonisation-of-the-uk-road-cargo-sector.html
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/reports/A%20guide%20to%20ultra%20low%20emission%20vehicles%20for%20Fleet%20Managers.pdf
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Leeds%20City%20Council%20Case%20Study_0.pdf
https://www.glasgow.gov.uk/article/25007/Glasgow-City-Council-On-Road-To-Zero-Emissions-Vehicle-Fleet
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/reports/15-05%204940-EST-Grey-Fleet-Management-Guide-A4-final.pdf
https://www.cyclescheme.co.uk/health-calculator
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/West%20Yorkshire%20Police%20Case%20Study.pdf
https://www.pwc.co.uk/who-we-are/our-purpose/low-carbon-circular-business/travel.html
https://www.cyclescheme.co.uk/health-calculator
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://business.liftshare.com/case-studies/ocado/


2.4
26 – Based on SCATTER pathways tool for high ambition pathway in 2025 (See Supplementary Annex)- 16% reduction in commercial heating 
and cooling demand from 2015.
27 – The Cost of LEED—An Analysis of the Construction Costs of LEED and Non-LEED Banks
28 – BREEAM carbon savings and estimated costs
29 – BREEAM co-benefits 
30 – BREEAM Carmarthenshire 
31 – Based on Anthesis industry experience and judgement. 
32 – Based on Ashden 31 Climate Actions method where they estimate that 67% of energy is used for heating and that Interest free loans 
available to upgrade heating and controls can cut the energy used for heating by about 20%.
Total emissions from council and council owned buildings = 21,977 tCO2 (See Supplementary Annex).
33 – Cambridgeshire County Council case study 

2. Energy Demand Reduction - Sources 

37

Page 351

http://www.josre.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/09/the-cost-of-leed-an-analysis-of-the-construction-costs-of-leed-and-non-leed-banks.pdf
https://tools.breeam.com/filelibrary/Briefing%20Papers/BREEAM-Briefing-Paper----The-Value-of-BREEAM--November-2016----123864.pdf
https://www.breeam.com/discover/why-choose-breeam/
https://www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales/home/council-services/education-schools/modernising-education-programme/sustainable-design-breeam/#.Xez6iej7Q2w
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.mlei.co.uk/projects/cambridgeshire-county-council-buildings-programme/case-study-cambridgeshire-county-council-buildings/


Topic 3: Increase Low 

Carbon Energy Supply

38

Page 352



3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Case study:

Action 3.1: Increase supply from district heating
Target: Use Council Assets to support the development of more heat and power networks in the 
Borough to reduce our carbon emissions from heat and support regeneration and the Local Plan:

i. Large and mixed use developments of over 100 dwellings or non residential development of 10,000 
square metres gross floor space should install a site-wide district heating network.

ii. Smaller developments of 10 or more dwellings or non residential development of 1,000 square 
metres gross floor space should connect to any available district heating network1

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Continue to 
progress district 

heating at:
- Crewe Town 

Centre
- Handforth Garden 

village 
- Alderley park

Revenue from ELENA 
and capital allocation.2

Crewe Town Centre 
heat network capital 

cost £2.95m + £2.65m 
grant funding3

Handforth Garden 
Village heat network 

integration capital cost 
£10.6m + £6.4m grant 

funding4

Alderley Park ambient 
loop heat network, 

capital cost not 
specified.5

Crewe – use feasibility assessment 
outcomes to focus on the most cost 

effective technical and financial 
solutions for operation from 

2023/24 to significantly 
decarbonise heat. 2

Handforth Garden Village – use the 
feasibility assessment outcomes to 

select a likely route to delivery 
including technology and financing 

solutions, to help agree an 
operational year for key 

stakeholders to decarbonise heat.4

Alderley Park – once complete use 
feasibility assessment agreed 

approach to secure grant funding, 
confirming the completion date of 

2024/25 and payback period, 
ultimately as leverage to drive down 
costs whilst optimising low carbon 

heat supply. 5

Lead Authority: ELENA

Potential carbon savings 
of approximately 11.4 

ktCO2e by 2025.8

National capital cost 
projections for district 

heating are widely 
estimating 30-40% of 

capital cost reduction in 
the coming years.3

b. Review further 
opportunities to 

develop heat 
networks 

elsewhere in the 
Borough where 
heat demand is 
high, especially 
linked to asset 
investment and 
regeneration.

An assessment of this 
type typically costs in 
the region of £10,000-
£30,000, but is highly 
variable depending on 

the number of new 
opportunities and or 

reprioritisation 
sites/projects 

identified.6

Develop an energy prioritisation 
masterplan for specific 

decentralised energy opportunities 
which identify:

- major heat loads including anchor 
heat loads, with particular reference 

to existing known sites;
- additional major heat supply plant;

- possible opportunities to utilise 
energy from waste; and

- cooling network routes.

Lead Authority: ELENA

39

Page 353



3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Case study: Southampton District Energy 10

Southampton district heating started in 
1980, saving 12 ktCO2 per year with 26 MW 

of heat, 9MW of cooling and 7 MW of 
electricity from geothermal, tri-generation 
and CHP. Capital cost investment in 2014 

of £13m saving consumers £0.6m in 
energy per year.

Action 3.1: Increase supply from district heating
Target: Use Council Assets to support the development of more heat and power networks in the 
Borough to reduce our carbon emissions from heat and support regeneration and the Local Plan:

i. Large and mixed use developments of over 100 dwellings or non residential development of 10,000 
square metres gross floor space should install a site-wide district heating network.

ii. Smaller developments of 10 or more dwellings or non residential development of 1,000 square 
metres gross floor space should connect to any available district heating network1

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

c. Review planning 
policy to encourage 

heat network 
opportunities

Cost of officer time to 
review policy.

Encourage policies to promote 
district heating projects, including 
providing a requirement for whole 

life costs to ensure economic 
connection for future users.9

Lead Authority: Planning

See above.

Monitoring indicators:
• Report on the progress of current heat network projects. 
• Confirm review of policy and reallocation of budgeting.

40

Page 354



3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Action 3.2: Increase supply from photovoltaics (PV)
Target: To maximise the potential for PV on land, domestic and non-domestic buildings.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Implement a 
community energy 

schemes to 
encourage the take-

up of PV and 
renewable energy 
by communities, 

schools and 
businesses.

No additional cost 
beyond council 

resourcing time to 
facilitate initiative.

Council can invest 
where there is a 
financial return.

Delegate responsibility to council 
team to develop the initiative to 

open collaboration with other land / 
asset owners and public.

Lead Authority: Communities Team

Community financing 
mechanisms emerging 
as attractive return of 
investment. The major 
co-benefit being where 
community is engaged 

their day-to-day 
decarbonisation 

behaviours improve 
significantly.

b. Secure funding 
to invest in PV on 
both council land 

and council 
buildings extending 
any opportunities 

to wider 
stakeholders

Council land – capital 
cost c. £8m, annual 
payback £700,000 

with 6% site yield at 
present council land 

only scale. No 
government tariffs.11

Council buildings –
capital cost £1.5m, 

annual payback 
£150,000 over 10 

years and 50% 
capacity. No 

government tariffs.11

Council land – use present 
feasibility outputs to engage 
stakeholder’s interest in PV 

community financing to extend 
feasible opportunities.

Council buildings – use present 
feasibility outputs to take to 

investors.

Using experiences as a method by 
which to increase uptake of PV to 

potential private roofs (if 
successful). 

Lead Authority: ELENA

PV installed on council 
buildings (1.2 MW 

capacity) and on council 
land (10 MW capacity) 

could save approximately 
21,640 tCO

2
e by 2025.13

Post subsidy solar is 
becoming increasingly 
viable at scale, price of 

PV dramatically 
decreasing, energy 

efficiency increasing, 
especially when 

combined with wider 
renewables systems.

Potential to generate 
income as well as carbon 

benefits.

c. Work in 
partnership with 
key stakeholders 

for PV to 
encourage the 

uptake of battery 
storage.

No additional cost 
beyond council 

resourcing time to 
facilitate uptake.

Off the back of PV engagement, 
facilitate battery storage 

opportunities where both technically 
and financially feasible through 

stakeholder and community finance 
initiative collaboration.12

Lead Authority: ELENA

Increasingly battery 
storage solutions at scale 

can reduce (per kWh) 
lifecycle costs through 

improved pay back. 

Offers protection from 
future fossil fuel price 

increases.

Case study: Swindon Council 14

Swindon developed a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the council, delivering the 

first renewable energy community 
Individual Savings Account (ISA) attracting 

local investment of £2.4m, a widely 
praised project.

41

Page 355



3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Action 3.2: Increase supply from photovoltaics (PV)
Target: To maximise the potential for PV on land, domestic and non-domestic buildings.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits
d. Work with DNOs 

locally to 
understand and 

overcome 
constraints on the 
electricity grid to 

facilitate 
regeneration and 

decentralised 
energy

No additional cost 
beyond council 

resourcing time to 
facilitate partnership.

It is important to develop 
communication channels early with 

the DNO to ensure the electricity 
grid can accommodate the design 

and connection to the grid.15

Lead Authority: Economic 
Development with Environment 

Team

See above.

We acknowledge that 
this measure may be 

relevant to other forms of 
renewable energy supply.

Monitoring indicators:
• Confirm budget initiatives and uptake scheme development. 

42

Page 356



3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Case study:

Action 3.3: Increase supply of renewable energy through the procurement of 
green energy
Target: 100% renewable energy procurement by 2025.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Update energy 
policy to ensure 

remaining supply, 
after the council’s 
own generation, is 

from 100% 
renewable sources.

Estimated costs of 
switching supplier 
£10,000-£20,000.16

Undertake a cost comparison for 
100% renewable energy providers, 
e.g. Good Energy, Ecotricity, etc., 

and switch to the package that best 
suits the council.17

Lead Authority: Facilities 
Management 

Based on replacing the 
whole of the Council’s 

Scope 2 emissions would 
save 5,115 tCO2 per 

year.19

100% renewable firms 
can also connect pre-

existing or prospective 
independent energy 

storage products and 
trade through artificial 

intelligence passing 
savings directly back to 

energy supply.

Investment in renewable 
energies delivers 
operational cost 

reductions over the short-
to long-term with 

additional incomes 
available in PPA and 

export payments

b. Challenge the 
quality/ nature of 

green energy 
provided and 

ensure it provides 
necessary benefits 

Within existing 
budgets.2

Explore pairing with disruptive 
energy providers that offer more 
tailored and holistic solutions for 

energy supply, usage, storage and 
generation e.g. Social Energy.18

Lead Authority: Facilities 
Management

c. Explore the 
potential for a 

Power Purchase 
Agreement (PPA) 
with other local 

organisations, or 
other commercial 

partners. 

Council resourcing 
time to facilitate PPA 

(within existing 
budgets).2

PPA for renewables by combining 
resources with other local 

organisations, will not only increase 
the chances of financial saving, but 
also provide increased opportunity 
to contribute greater ‘additionality’ 
at generation source (renewable 

energy generation that is truly new).

The extent of revenue 
generation/saving will depend on 

the nature of arrangement, whereby 
CEC could simply be one 'off-taker' 

or they could be a supplier to others 
fulfilling the role of an 'Energy 

Company’.

Lead Authority: Facilities 
Management. 

Monitoring indicators:
• Confirm policy review.
• Review potential partnerships with local key partners for a PPA.

43

Case study: Onshore wind PPA 20

In 2019, 20 members of The Energy 
Consortium (TEC), agreed a deal for an 

aggregated PPA to deliver renewable energy 
directly from British windfarms to their 

institutions. The estimated saving based on 
forward market estimates is £6m. 

Page 357



Case study:  HyDeploy 22

HyDeploy 2 is a four-year programme designed to test the 
viability of hydrogen-blend networks before assessing for 

wider deployment. If used nationwide, potential carbon 
savings are equivalent to removing 2.5m cars off the road, 
whilst minimising disruption to customers through use of 

existing infrastructure. Two test regions have been identified 
following backing from two gas distribution networks (Cadent 

in the North West and Northern Gas in Yorkshire and the 
North East). 

3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Action 3.4: Explore the potential for hydrogen energy
Target: To better understand the technical potential in the district for hydrogen energy

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Support the 
trialling and 
adoption of 

hydrogen heat 
technology.

No additional cost 
beyond council 

resourcing time to 
facilitate investigation 

into credibility of 
hydrogen injection into 

gas network. 

Collaboration with the 
gas distributor and 

local university groups 
might be a cost 

effective way to gain 
expert insight.

The potential for hydrogen injection 
into the natural gas network is 

currently being explored through 
trials at a national level, with large 
opportunity for decarbonisation 
whilst being mindful of its slow 
implementation and needs for 

carbon capture and storage in its 
production. 

Exploration of hydrogen energy 
implementation in Cheshire East are 

still  warranted. Key factors to 
consider include: 1) safety 2) 
hydrogen supply 3) costs and 

finance 4) timing 5) availability.

This may also include exploration of 
heating technologies that replace 

conventional gas boiler technology 
(i.e. consistent with Leeds H21 City 

Gate project).  

Lead Authority: ELENA

Based on a 20% 
hydrogen injection/ 

natural gas mix (as is 
currently being trialled in 

the UK) and the total 
footprint for natural gas 
usage in CE accordingly 
being reduced by 20%. 

This would be equivalent 
to a reduction of 

approximately 36 ktCO2e 
per year21 if produced 

using low carbon 
method. 

Monitoring indicators
• Review progress of Northern Gas Network and Cadent pilot projects. 

44

Page 358

https://www.h21.green/


3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Case study:

Action 3.5: Explore the potential of alternative renewable sources
Target: To better understand the technical potential in the district for all other generation technologies.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Explore the 
application of 
sustainable 
biomass by 

engaging with 
industry and 

formulating a list of 
opportunities, 

including:
- Wood biomass 

- Slurry 

£200,000 (additional 
staff member plus 
operating costs).2

A high level review of the application 
of biomass in reducing fossil fuel 

emissions from key emission 
sources to small emission sources 

in the context of the councils 
environment policies, e.g. air 

quality.23

Wood Biomass: Assess the 
potential for energy from waste 

wood. This must include a 
consideration of the potential 

sources (e.g. highways planting) 
and the transport of materials.

Slurry: Given the rurality of CE and 
the high intensity of dairy farms, 

there may be an opportunity to work 
with the CE farms estate to 

generate energy from slurry. This 
requires a full feasibility and impact 

assessment. Research from the 
Cholmondeley Farm Estate24 raised 

the following issues, which CEC 
should work to find solutions 

towards:
- The transportation of slurry

- The treatment of food waste 
impacting the financial feasibility.  

Lead Authority: Rural and Cultural 
Economy.

Potential carbon savings: 
not possible to estimate, 

dependent on the 
generation technology 

and feasibility. 

There are opportunities 
for the private sector to 
work with councils (and 
other entities procuring 

waste facilities or 
services) to achieve the 

necessary scale to 
ensure the alternative 

renewable source 
benefits strong 

commerciality and long 
term decarbonisation in 
line with existing council 

policies.

Wood biomass: this 
could support the 
management of 

neglected forests. There 
is also an opportunity to 

tie this work to the 
natural capital 
enhancement.

Slurry: Potential to 
alleviate the pollution 

caused by slurry, 
protecting waterways 

and wildlife. 

Opportunities for 
business, inward 

investment and job 
creation.24

b. Explore the 
potential for micro-
hydro schemes by 

engaging with 
industry and 

formulating a list of 
opportunities.

Within existing 
resources. 

Capital TBC.2

A high level review of the application 
of micro-hydro schemes as an 
alternative low carbon energy 

source on council owned land or 
whether the council could partner 

on non council land.25

Further explore the potential and 
feasibility of micro-hydro on the 

River Dane and River Bollin.

Provide planning guidance and 
advice for developers wishing to 
install micro-hydro systems.26

Lead Authority: ELENA

45

Page 359



Case study: Cornwall Council 27

Cornwall Council’s Climate Action Plan 
considers alternative fuels, as the next 

step to alternative renewable sources that 
were somewhat exhausted, including fuels 
such as bio-methane, which is expected to 

mature in demand in coming years.

3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply

Action 3.5: Explore the potential of alternative renewable sources
Target: To better understand the technical potential in the district for all other generation technologies.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

c. Explore potential 
for on-shore wind 
on council-owned 

land.

Within existing 
resources. 

Capital TBC.2

This type of feasibility study 
typically involves: 

- Screening of council-owned land 
for potential sites.

- Initial assessment of on-site wind 
resource at shortlisted sites

- Technical assessment of physical 
and planning constraints and initial 

technical issues
- Initial assessment of project costs, 
payment and return on investment

- Risk assessment 

Carry out lobbying activities, public 
consultation and engagement to 

understand and address the 
opposition to onshore wind. 

Lead Authority: ELENA

See above.

d. Support heating 
efficiency through 
electrification of 

heat in less densely 
populated areas. 

Publicising the 
campaign and 

providing advice on 
funding schemes and 

applications would 
require two members 

of staff at a cost of 
£30,000 per year for 
five years. The total 
cost would therefore 

be £300,000. This 
does not include 

capital costs.6

Develop programme for retrofit heat 
pump roll-out to existing homes/ 
commercial properties under LA 
control not connecting to heat 

networks.

While this would be financed 
privately and/ or with use of 

government funding sources, the 
council would have a key facilitating 

role in identifying and publishing 
opportunities. 

Lead Authority: ELENA

Monitoring indicators: 
• Commission an holistic review of alternative technologies assessing the feasibility of alternative 

renewable sources. 

46

Page 360



3. Increase Low Carbon Energy Supply – Sources

47

3.1
1 – Cheshire East Local Plan Strategy 2010-30
2 – Based on Cheshire East Council estimates as documented within the internal document “Action Plan” 24/12/2019. Such information has 
not been subject to Anthesis’ review or verification. 
3 – Reducing the cost of district heat networks 
4 – Handforth Garden Village tender
5 – Alderley Park Heat Network feasibility study
6 – Based on Anthesis judgement and experience.
7 – Crewe AECOM Study 2015
8 – Based on Cheshire East Council estimates as documented within the internal document “191122 CEC Carbon Neutrality Projects 
22/11/2019”. Such information has not been subject to Anthesis’ review or verification. 
• Crewe heat network: 176 tCO2 per year for 25 years, likely start in 2021/22.
• Handforth heat network: 2,200 tCO2 per year, for 25 years, likely start in 2021/22.
• Alderly Park next generation 700 tCO2 per year, 25 years, likely start in 2024/25.
• Alderly park optimisation: 300 tCO2 per year, 15 years, likely start in 2021/22.
9 – Cheshire East Local Plan 
10– Case study Southampton District Heating

3.2
11 – Based on Cheshire East Council estimates as documented within the internal document “191122 CEC Carbon Neutrality Projects 
22/11/2019”. Such information has not been subject Anthesis’ review or verification. 
• Council Buildings: Rough estimate based on Environmental Hub costs for PV. Benefits based on estimated on 10 year payback
• Council Land: Ballpark based on previous projects, depends on site conditions, connection issues, and if battery storage is needed. 

Assessment needed c. £15k, plus devt costs if viable. Benefits based upon finding a site with a yield of c. 6%.
12 – Crowdsourcing funding for PV projects
13 – Based on Cheshire East Council estimates as documented within the internal document “191122 CEC Carbon Neutrality Projects 
22/11/2019”. Such information has not been subject Anthesis’ review or verification. 
• PV on council buildings estimated to save 128 tCO2 per year starting in 2020/21.
• PV on council land estimated to save 7,000 tCO2 per year starting in 2022/23.  
14 – Swindon Council
15 – Energy Saving Trust key recommendation from the Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust case study.

3.3
16 – Based on correspondence with CEC 09/01/2020 on the predicted additional cost for switching supplier in 2020.
17 – Comparing renewable energy supply costs
18 – Social Energy alternative energy supply solutions
19 – Based on replacing the all Scope 2 emissions with zero emission supply (for estimation of Scope 2 emissions see Supplementary Annex)
20 – TEC Case Study

3.4
21 – Assuming that the footprint from combustion of natural gas in the energy demand sector, in the absence of hydrogen injection, would be 
180 ktCO2e p.a. The modified footprint would therefore be 180k * 0.8 = 144 ktCO2e p.a
22– Northern Gas Networks HyDeploy

3.5
23 – Energy Saving Trust – biomass
24 - EA Technology Consulting (2010): Establishment of a New Renewable Energy Policy, prepared for Cheshire West and Chester Council.
25 – Saughton Park micro hydro
26 – Micro-hydroelectricity factsheet
27 – Cornwall Council alternative fuels 

Page 361

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/planning/local-plan/local-plan-strategy-web-version-1.pdf
https://d2umxnkyjne36n.cloudfront.net/teaserImages/Reducing-the-capital-cost-of-district-heat-network-infrastructure.pdf?mtime=20171103092304
http://bidstats.uk/tenders/2019/W14/700186936
https://www.burohappold.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Alderley-Park-DHFS.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/pdf/business/major-regeneration-projects/151201-aecom-crewe-heat-mapping-and-masterplanning-issued-v1-small.pdf
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s70846/Appendix%201%20Publication%20Draft%20SADPD.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/691643/Heat_Network_Case_Study_Brochure.pdf
https://www.current-news.co.uk/blogs/the-green-crowd-how-crowdfunding-could-transform-local-authority-energy-projects
https://theenergyst.com/public-sector-should-invest-in-solar-now/
https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/Cornwall%20NHS%20Partnership%20Case%20Study.pdf
https://lookaftermybills.com/blog/what-is-auto-switching/
https://www.social.energy/about/
http://www.tec.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/_pda/2019/12/13059-CaseStudy-PPA.pdf
https://www.northerngasnetworks.co.uk/2018/11/29/hydrogen-to-heat-homes-14-9m-for-uks-first-trials-on-public-gas-network/
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/blog/what-role-does-biomass-have-play-our-energy-supply
https://digit.fyi/saughton-park-micro-hydro-scheme/
http://media.claspinfo.org/sites/default/files/Hydro.pdf
https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/40176082/climate-change-action-plan.pdf


Topic 4: Natural Capital 

48

Page 362



4. Natural Capital

Action 4.1: Protect and enhance natural capital (council-land) 
Target: Enhance Green Infrastructure to provide natural climate solutions on council land, including tree 
planting and peatland restoration.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Plan and 
develop natural 

climate 
solutions such 
as tree planting 

and peatland 
management to 

sequester 
carbon on at 

least 100 ha of 
council owned 
land by 2025.1

£510,000 (costs 
potentially 

recoverable).2

Better define and understand the 
suitability of land owned or 

controlled by the council for nature-
based solutions. This should build 
on the Green Infrastructure Plan 

2019.3

Develop Natural Capital Valuation & 
Investment Plan (as under target 

4.2.d). 

Develop engagement strategy for 
land users/farmers currently 
operating the land, including 

communication of multiple nature-
based solution option such as tree 

and hedgerow planting and 
restoration/ management of 

ecosystems such as grasslands, 
pasture, and peatlands.

Engage with Local Nature 
Partnership to develop a landscape 
approach to nature-based solutions 

and Green Infrastructure, 
maximizing co-benefits to society.  

Ensure suitability assessment 
considers co-benefits (i.e. beyond 

carbon), such as biodiversity, 
productivity, drainage, as this could 
stimulate both negative and positive 

impacts linked to species and 
location. 

Lead Authority: Rural and Cultural 
Economy

The carbon impact of this 
measure would be 

around 0.221 ktCO2 p.a. 
by 2025.4

Tree planting has 
benefits for biodiversity, 

the environment (e.g. 
flood mitigation, heat 

regulation), individuals 
(e.g. spiritual connection 
to nature), society (e.g. 

recreation) and the 
economy (e.g. increased 

productivity resulting 
from the aforementioned 

factors). 

Monitoring indicators:
• Review land-use study and council budget for natural capital.

49

Page 363



4. Natural Capital

Action 4.2: Protect and enhance natural capital (borough-wide) 
Target: Enhance Green Infrastructure to provide natural climate solutions on non-council land, including 
through tree planting and peatland restoration.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Plan and develop 
natural climate 

solutions such as 
tree planting and 

peatland 
management to 

sequester carbon 
on between 41 and 

1,347 Ha of non-
council owned land 

by 2025.5

The cost of this 
initiative is covered 

under 4.1.a6

Review existing data on land-use 
and carbon sequestration to identify 
opportunities nature-based climate 
solutions, with particular reference 
to the Green Infrastructure Plan3.

Develop Natural Capital Valuation & 
Investment Plan (as under target 

4.2.d). 

Liaise with relevant landowners/ 
managers to identify and secure 

opportunities to implement 
sequestration projects. Also engage 

with Local Nature Partnership to 
develop a landscape approach and 

maximise co-benefits to society.

Promote tree planting via media 
campaign to engage local 

stakeholders including landowners 
and potential volunteers to help with 

nature-based solutions including 
tree and hedgerow planting. 

Consolidate outcomes and, if 
necessary, review options for out-of-

boundary planting.

Lead Authority: Rural and Cultural 
Economy.

The carbon benefit of the  
measure by 2025 is 

between 0.1 and 0.31 
ktCO2e p.a. by 2025. 

However, this is likely to 
be greater in the longer 

term.7

Green Infrastructure and 
nature-based solutions 
offer many co-benefits, 

including for biodiversity, 
the environment (e.g. 
flood mitigation, heat 

regulation), individuals 
(e.g. spiritual connection 
to nature), society (e.g. 

recreation) and the 
economy (e.g. increased 

productivity resulting 
from the aforementioned 

factors). 

Any landowner/ manager 
can potentially be 

involved, creating a 
diverse group of 

stakeholders including 
schools, farmers, 

corporate organisations
and private landowners/ 

individuals. 

Case Study: GM City of Trees3

Greater Manchester City of Trees is a leading example of 
how a tree planting project can address climate change 

objectives whilst engaging the local community and 
providing numerous co-benefits. So far, the initiative has 
planted 459,929 trees and involved 12,538 people. It is 
aiming to plant 3 million trees and bring 2,000 hectares 

of unmanaged woodland back into community use. 

50

Page 364



4. Natural Capital

Action 4.2: Protect and enhance natural capital (borough-wide) 
Target: Plant one tree for every person, halt peat extraction and restore degraded peatlands by 2025.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

b. Develop and 
implement 

restoration and/ or 
management plans 

for 100% of 
peatlands in 

Cheshire East.

The cost of this 
initiative is covered 

under 4.1.a8

Complete land-use mapping to 
identify all potential peatlands for 

restoration and management. 

Conduct ground-truthing to clarify 
the nature of restorations required 

and potential for carbon 
sequestration and other benefits.

Stakeholder mapping to identify 
ecosystem service providers/ 

beneficiaries.

Assessment of costs and benefits 
associated with peatlands and 

communication of these to 
stakeholders.

Engage with Local Nature 
Partnership to develop a landscape 
approach to nature-based solutions.

Assessment of relevant financial 
instruments available and 

communication of these to 
stakeholders.

Implementation of peatland 
restoration schemes, in particular 
through stakeholder facilitation. 

Lead Authority: Planning

We estimate around 7.4 
ktCO2e per annum by

2025 in emissions from 
peatland can be 

mitigated9. However, this 
reflects a slowing of 

emissions, as opposed to 
being a net sink. 

Clean water (including 
drinking water); 

biodiversity; recreation; 
water flow regulation and 

flood mitigation. 

c. Deliver the Green 
Infrastructure Plan 

to facilitate 
investment into 

natural capital and 
to be resilient to 
climate impacts.

Additional staff above.

Implementation phase of the Green 
Infrastructure Plan. 

Review Green Infrastructure 
strategy in line with the carbon 

neutral target. 

Lead Authority: Rural and Cultural 
Economy

51

Page 365



Case study: North West Peatland Restoration 6

Environment Agency recently secured £160,000 funding for six peatland 
restoration projects across six projects across the North West and involves 

the EA working with Cheshire Wildlife Trust, United Utilities and Natural 
England. Projects focus on restoration of upland and lowland peatlands to 
their natural state, increasing their capacity to prevent carbon entering the 

atmosphere, reducing flood risk by slowing the flow of rain water, and 
creating habitats for vulnerable wildlife. Restoration involves blocking 

drainage ditches, building peat bunds and working with the local topography 
to help keep water on the sites, encouraging the typical bog plant species 

and discouraging the dry-loving grasses and birch.

4. Natural Capital

52

Action 4.2: Protect and enhance natural capital (borough-wide) 
Target: Plant one tree for every person, halt peat extraction and restore degraded peatlands by 2025.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

d. Develop Natural 
Capital Valuation & 

Investment Plan
£60,000

The Valuation and Investment Plan 
should build on the Green 

Infrastructure Plan and aims to 
facilitate implementation of 

payments for and investments in 
natural capital and ecosystem 

services.

The plan should focus on mapping 
of natural capital and (potential) 
flows of ecosystem services in 

relation to providers and 
beneficiaries, and valuation of those 

flows. It should then focus on 
identifying and mobilizing 
investment vehicles and 

management systems to support 
provision of ecosystem services 
including carbon sequestration.

. 

This measure will help to 
stimulate investments, 

payments, and 
management 

arrangements key to 
achieving the above 

natural capital targets. 

e. Facilitate 
community 

sequestration 
schemes

£18,000 per year for 
the cost of Mersey 
Forest Membership

Lead Authority: Rural and Cultural 
Economy

. 

f. Work with other 
landholders 

including farmers 
to maximise the 
potential for tree 
planting and soil 

management.

Additional staff above.
Lead Authority: Rural and Cultural 

Economy

Monitoring indicators:
• In 12 months’ time, commission land-use survey to review progress in afforestation and peatland 

restoration.

Page 366



4. Natural Capital – Sources

4.2
1 - This figure is based on the Council’s estimates of land available for natural climate solutions. It is required in addition to the activities 
outlined under 4.2. a. Note that natural climate solutions could include tree and hedgerow planting, but also grassland, pasture, peatland and 
soil management, where appropriate.
2 - Management costs for three full time members of staff to run the programme to 2025 would be £30k * 3 * 5 = £450 k. We assume that the 
direct implementation costs (e.g. saplings, labour beyond that of volunteers, etc.) can be raised through grants and other natural capital finance 
mechanisms.
3 - https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_infrastructure_framework.aspx
4 - Based on approximate cumulative carbon sequestration rates for mixed native woodland, calculated using the WCC Carbon Calculation 
Spreadsheet (2019). Assumptions include: area 100 ha; spacing 2.5m (total number of trees 1,600/ Ha); mixed native species including oak, 
sycamore, birch, aspen, alder, rowan, hazel, goat willow; yield class: 8 (according to UK Forestry Commission’s ‘Carbon Lookup Tables’); no 
forest thinning or clear-fell at any time: claiming carbon from year 0 to year 50; assumed permanence buffer of 20%; planting commences in 
Spring 2020.
5 – Cheshire East Council’s own calculations (see CEC Insetting Options) indicate 140 hectares of afforested land would allow the council to 
offset 50% of its residual annual emissions by 2050. The lower bound of this target range, when considered against the provisions of 4.1.a., 
reflects this objective. The upper bound reflects the more rigorous target of net zero emissions by 2025. See pages 4 and 10 for details. 
Calculations used the WCC Carbon Calculator Spreadsheet as under 4. Note that the higher target of 1,447 Ha is considered additional to the 
100 Ha considered under target 4.1.a. 
6 –The costs of nature-based solutions are highly variable and can be substantial. However, we assume that the staff and Natural Capital 
Valuation & Investment Plan (target 4.1.d) would meet these costs. 
7 - Many natural climate solutions offer larger sequestration benefits in the longer term. For example, trees sequester more carbon in the 
longer term as the they become more voluminous. The sequestration potential of trees in our model is nearly 5x higher in 2035 than in 2025.
8 –Development costs for peatlands are substantial, in the range of c. 30k per 1.5 Ha (Cheshire East Council, personal communication). There 
is around 1,392 ha of peat in Cheshire, most of this being disturbed in some way (Cheshire East Council, 2018). Assuming 700 ha of peatland is 
located in Cheshire East, the cost of restoration could amount to £14,000,000. However, we assume that funds can be raised to cover these 
costs through the Natural Capital Investment Plan and resulting activities. 
9 – We assume that Cheshire East has 350 ha of former peatland that has been converted to cultivated farmland with an atmospheric influx of 
22 tCO2e p.a per hectare and 350 ha of peatland that has been extracted to some degree resulting in an influx of 5 tCO2e p.a per hectare , and 
that by 2025 restoration activities can slow this to 3 tCO2e p.a per hectare. The benefit figure above was therefore calculated as ((350 * 22) + 
(350 * 5)) – (700 * 3). Note that these figures reflect slowed emissions from peat, not negative emissions, which would take longer than the 
time horizon considered here to materialise (Natural England, 2010).
10 - An estimated £60k would be required for consultants and other external advisers to support in the develop and implementation the Natural 
Capital Valuation & Investment Plan. 

53

Page 367

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/planning/spatial_planning/research_and_evidence/green_infrastructure_framework.aspx
https://www.woodlandcarboncode.org.uk/standard-and-guidance/3-carbon-sequestration/3-3-project-carbon-sequestration
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s67330/15%200016M.pdf
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/30021


Topic 5: Reduce Borough-wide 

Emissions/ External Policy

54

Page 368



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.1 Optimise governance, reporting and engagement structures
Target: Better utilise convening power and non-statutory influence within the borough to maximise
engagement of other stakeholders.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Host a Citizens 
Assembly on 

Climate Change
£5,000 (within existing 

budgets).1

Conduct survey of representative 
residents required from a diverse 

range of ages, incomes and wards. 
One or two day-long workshops of 

presentations, with participants 
resolving a number of 

priorities/actions as a conclusion to 
the Assembly. Potential for 

collaboration with educational 
institutions and other local 

networks. 

Lead Authority: Communities Team

May help enhance public 
trust and support by 
collectively agreeing 

workable actions. 

It can encourage stronger 
political unity and/or help 

bypass any future 
political challenges.  

b. Better engage 
with local 

businesses and 
large or relevant 

emitting 
organisations 

specifically the 
topic of carbon 
reduction and 

assess the 
potential for the 

low carbon 
economy. 

£15,000 (within 
existing resources 

and/or grant funding).1 

Research, engagement and report 
write-up delivered by external 

partners; Council responsible for 
engagement thereafter.

This should also include natural 
capital focused organisations such 

as the Local Nature partnership.

Lead Authority: Economic 
Development 

Various commercial 
benefits including cost 

reduction, increased 
commercial resilience, 
reduced absenteeism, 
better employee talent 

attraction/retention.

c. Better report 
local council led 

impacts and 
develop a 

mechanism that 
incentivises others 

to invest within 
borough wide 

carbon reduction 
initiatives. 

Within existing 
resources.1

Establishing a low 
carbon 'inset' fund 

would require more 
substantial resource 

support (i.e. a part 
time fund manager).

Co-develop a "Local Authority Based 
Insetting" scheme that helps to:
a) More transparently report 

council led actions (initially)
b) Incentivise and attract low 

carbon investment in the 
borough.  

Review proposed framework within 
the Supplementary Annex. 

Consider piloting work under both a) 
& b) and seeking endorsement from 

other local authorities. 

Lead Authority: Environment Team

More consistent, reliable, 
transparent reporting.

Retention of investment 
within Cheshire East.

Various co-benefits 
associated with 

decarbonizing (i.e. health 
and economic)

55

Page 369



Case Study: Citizen’s Assemblies and Council-Business Alliances

Camden3 and Oxford4 facilitated a public response to Climate 
Emergency Declarations which encouraged local engagement 

with the agenda. 
London Climate Business Leader's Initiative5 defines new means 
of collaborative action between business and government. This 
encourages those organisations defining emissions reductions 

targets to disclose progress publicly. 

5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.1 Optimise governance, reporting and engagement structures
Target: Better utilise convening power and non-statutory influence within the borough to maximise
engagement of other stakeholders.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

d. Work with local 
farmers and 

consumers to 
reduce impact of 

food and 
agriculture.

Additional staff 
member.1

Review agricultural emissions in the 
borough (see Supplementary 

Annex). 

Develop educational campaign for 
key stakeholders and consumers. 

Lead Authority: Rural and Cultural 
Economy

Based on the Committee 
on Climate Change 

medium scenario for 
dietary change: A 20% 
reduction in national 

consumption of dairy, 
beef and lamb would lead 
to an estimated reduction 

of 67,600 tCO2e in CE.2

This would also lead to 
reductions in grassland 

which could open up land 
for planting forests.2

Monitoring indicators: 
• Review frameworks with local key partners and business organisations.

56

Page 370



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.2 Reduce emissions from domestic housing
Target: Increase standards in energy efficiency through leadership in building standards and 
enforcement of minimum standards.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Better 
communicate 

energy efficiency 
standards, 

behaviours and 
activities in the 
private rental 

sector

There are significant 
existing advice and 

funding sources 
available to meet this 
measure (see right). 
However, a housing 
energy officer will be 

required lead in 
coordinating efforts 
including lobbying 

central government, 
sourcing additional 

funding (c.£50,000 per 
annum).1

Offering advice and financial 
support to those looking to improve 
property energy efficiency through 

retrofits: 
Many schemes currently exist that 

should be leveraged. These include: 
Cheshire Green Doctor advice 

service; Affordable Warmth Grant; 
Health through Warmth; Local 

Energy Advice Programme (LEAP) 
(Energy Projects Plus; Save Energy 
Advice Line (Energy Projects Plus); 
Energy Performance Certificates 

(delivered by Civicance) and ECO3.

Tougher enforcement of legislation 
where appropriate: 

The council should refer to the 
national Minimum Energy Efficiency 
Standard (MEES), which mandates 

that landlords improve all rented 
accommodation currently in bands 

F and G by spending at least 
£3,500.6 Councils are responsible 
for ensuring that these standards 

are met, but research suggests that 
many councils aren't effectively 

enforcing them at the moment, thus 
missing a key opportunity for 
cutting carbon and improving 

housing quality.7

The council should also lobby at a 
national level to increase the 
minimum energy efficiency 

standard considered under the 
legislation to EPC Band C by 2025

Lead Authority: Strategic Housing

Potential carbon saving: 
estimated as 0.4 ktCO2e 

per annum. 8

Nearly half of households 
living in the most energy 
inefficient homes are in 
fuel poverty. Improving 
the energy efficiency of 

private rented homes will 
not only improve comfort 
and reduce energy bills 

but will reduce ill health.9

National Energy Action 
estimates that 10,000 
deaths each year are 

attributable to living in a 
cold home. Moreover, 

work undertaken by the 
Building Research 

Establishment (BRE) 
highlights that cold-

related illnesses from 
privately rented F and G 
rated properties costs 

the NHS £35m per year.9

57

Case Study: Cornwall Council 10

Cornwall Council undertook an education 
and awareness campaign aimed at 

helping landlords understand relevant 
housing standards regulations. They have 

also developed a responsible landlord 
scheme to help with this, as well as a 

'Cornwall Rental Standard' that details all 
key regulations.

Page 371



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.2 Reduce emissions from domestic housing
Target: Increase standards in energy efficiency through leadership in building standards and 
enforcement of minimum standards.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

b. Lead and 
stimulate low 
carbon retrofit 

across the borough 
using social 

housing stock. 

Cost of £309m11

The majority of costs 
are related to the 

upgrading of existing 
stock, as costs 

associated with new 
stock can be borne by 

the developers and 
mandated in planning 

requirements.

There is widespread 
recognition of the need 

for a government-
sponsored vehicle to 

finance such 
investment, but as yet 

no particular 
mechanism has 

emerged.12

Use social housing providers to lead 
to lead in the implementation of low 
carbon homes through a minimum 

of EPC A+/Passivhaus/AECB 
standard by 2025. This should be 

mandated in planning requirements 
at a borough level. 

All existing stock should be a 
upgraded to a minimum of EPC 

band C by 2025. Being 
retrospectively, finance will be 

required to implement this.  

Stock modelling, stock surveying, 
maintenance programme review 

and void programmes can be first 
steps promoted by the council.

Lead Authority: Strategic Housing

Potential carbon saving is 
estimated as 6.1 ktCO2e 

per annum.13

Improving the energy 
efficiency of private 

rented homes will not 
only improve comfort 

and reduce energy bills 
but will reduce ill health.14

58

Page 372



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.2 Reduce emissions from domestic housing
Target: Increase standards in energy efficiency through leadership in building standards and 
enforcement of minimum standards.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

c. Encourage/ 
enable retrofit all 
existing owner-

occupied housing 
stock

Cost of £14.7m15

Retrofit costs (to 
achieve EPC C) around 
£4,385 per home with 
the costs falling to the 

home owner, with 
councils facilitating 

access to grants 
where available. 

Increasing the energy efficiency 
rating of all owner-occupied housing 
to at least EPC C will be challenging, 

as the costs will often be borne in 
part or wholly by the owner-

occupier.  However, the cost will be 
recoverable through energy savings. 

Ensuring this investment case is 
clear and that funding is accessed 

where available or retrofits will 
require 114 staff, as per the 

calculation under costs.8

To retrofit Cheshire East's 120,000 
privately owned homes by 2025, the 

required rate is 20,000 homes per 
year between 2020 and 2025.

Utilise local taxation to stimulate 
retrofit activity.

Consult with bodies such as the 
AECB, PassivHaus Trust, Connected 
Places Catapult for further thought 
leadership on delivering retrofit at 

scale.  

Lead Authority: Strategic Housing

Potential carbon saving 
from this measure is 44 

ktCO2e per annum.16

d. Develop 
policies/Suppleme

ntary Planning 
Guidance to specify 
carbon standards 
for development.

Within existing 
resources.1

Develop desired carbon standards 
for development.

Encourage developers to follow 
guidance and prioritise low carbon 

actions.

Lead Authority: Planning 

Carbon savings 
dependent on carbon 

standards implemented.

The annual emissions 
from a new typical semi-
detached house with a 

gas heating system 
(excluding appliance use) 

will be around 2 tCO2.17

Monitoring indicators: 
• Review learnings and conclusions from updated comms programme. 
• Review uptake of retrofit measures either through BEIS data proxies (RHI, ECO etc.) or council-specific 

means. 

59

Page 373



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.3 Reduce emissions from the commercial sector
Target: Reduce the total carbon footprint relating to Cheshire East’s SMEs by 30% by 2030 (15% by 
2025).18

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Engage 
businesses across 

Cheshire East in 
energy and carbon 

measurement & 
reporting

Establishment of an 
officer team to 

oversee engagement: 
£1,000,000. 19

Embed within 
business support 

programmes at local 
and Cheshire & 

Warrington level.

Raise awareness of reporting 
benefits (“you can’t manage what 

you don’t measure”).

Provide businesses information on 
relevant reporting tools, guidance 
and software. Provide training and 
resources to staff on how to better 

report and lessons learned.

Consider facilitating stakeholder 
sessions to disseminate lessons 

learned from recent ESOS reporting 
or impending SECR regulations.

Lead Authority: Economic 
Development.

The carbon saving 
associated with these 
measures is estimated 

as 9.3 ktCO2e p.a. by 
2025).20

Efficiency measures 
save costs, increases  
business resilience, 

particularly in the 
context of future energy 

price rises.21

In certain circumstances 
investments in energy 
efficiency installations 

may also lead to 
increased asset value 

and/ or improved 
relationships with 
suppliers, lettors/ 

lessees, customers and 
staff.  

b. Encourage 
businesses across 

Cheshire East to 
install energy & 

carbon efficiency 
measures

See above.

Providing advice and assistance to 
SMEs to improve energy and 

carbon efficiency in buildings. This 
may involve more proactively 

encouraging grant opportunities or 
partnering with businesses to 

accelerate plans. 

Develop a new and innovative 
funding mechanism such as 

Authority Based Insetting. 

Utilise local taxation to stimulate 
retrofit activity.

Lead Authority: Economic 
Development

c. Develop policy 
aimed at energy & 
carbon efficiency 
improvements in 

the borough's 
commercial sector

Negligible costs –
Current policy design 

and appraisal 
processes could be 
modified to better 
consider carbon. 

Develop borough-level policy aimed 
at encouraging businesses to 
improve their energy & carbon 

efficiency. 
Key policy levers include:

- Develop options to use business 
rates to 'nudge' businesses to 

improve their energy performance. 
- Cost carbon into public 

procurement. 
- Develop standards with local 

businesses to measure and 
improve operational efficiency.

Lead Authority: Economic 
Development 60

Page 374



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

Case study: GM Existing Buildings 22

Decarbonising Greater Manchester's Existing Buildings sets out a plan for 
addressing the contribution of existing buildings to the city-region's carbon 
footprint. In particular, this is in the context of the 5 Year Environment Plan, 

which set an ambition for Greater Manchester to be carbon neutral by 2038. It 
recognises that reducing the amount of energy used in Greater Manchester’s 

existing buildings will be key to achieving this aim, especially given 95% of 
Greater Manchester’s existing buildings are still likely to be in use by 2050. 

The plan builds on the priorities and actions on buildings in the 5 Year 
Environment Plan, and sets out where Greater Manchester is now and where 

it needs to get to in terms of the energy demand of its existing domestic, 
commercial and public buildings. 

Based on that, it provides a set of recommendations for taking action, 
including on decarbonising commercial buildings.  

An additional important case study is provided by the Carbon Trust's Green 
Business Fund23, which since 2016 has supported hundreds of small 

businesses to identify an average potential saving of £8,230 on their energy 
spend.  

Monitoring indicators:
• Review key partners’ progress with the programme and review new areas for engagement.
• Review new policy changes in line with defined targets. 

61

Page 375



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.4  Reduce emissions from waste by reducing waste going to landfill
Target: 10% reduction in household waste and an increase in recycling rate to 65%.24

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Further develop 
communications/

educational 
campaign to 

reduce waste & 
increase recycling

Within existing 
budgets.1 

Cost of £160,000 
based on estimated 

communication costs 
of a minimum of £1.00 

per household. 25,26

Promote food waste recycling and 
new composting plant.

Communications Plan might 
include:

- Pre and post-campaign 
participation monitoring including a 
post-campaign survey to assess the 

impact of the communications 
activities.

- Printed communication material 
e.g. a new service introduction 

leaflet followed by more detailed 
information packs. Also potentially 
collection calendars, informational 

bin stickers, posters and 
contamination cards. 

- Road shows in local communities 
to explain the new service in more 

detail and answer questions.
- A stakeholder event for local 

media and council members to help 
them understand the new scheme 
and gain first-hand experience of 

the recycling process.
- Advertising to raise awareness of  

the new service using local 
newspapers, bus backs and Adshel

sites.
- Livery on the collection vehicles to 
reinforce the messages about the 

new service.

Lead Authority: Environment Team 

To take Cheshire East 
from its current recycling 

rate27 of 54% to the 
SCATTER target of 65% 

(11% increase in 
recycling) could be 
expected to save a 

around 23 ktCO2e. 28

Increased participation in 
recycling28 has wider 

environmental benefits.

Monitoring indicators: 
• Review effectiveness of comms campaign through analysis of recycling data.

62

Page 376



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.5 Reduce emissions from freight 
Target: 15% reduction in emissions from HGV fleet by 2025.29

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Establish urban 
consolidation 

centres (UCCs)30

Within current budget1: 
Council engagement 
with partners; officer 

time.  

Design 'last-mile consolidation 
centres' to allow low-emission 

vehicles to complete the final leg of 
a journey for freight deliveries into 

Cheshire East towns. 

Consolidation centres are located at 
the edge of a town where goods are 

then transferred from HGVs onto 
smaller vehicles.  

Lead Authority: Highways

Accounting for rurality of 
Cheshire East, assume 

maximum reductions due 
to UCCs does not exceed 
40% of freight emissions; 

c. 78 ktCO2e.30 

Improved air quality and 
road safety, reduced 
traffic congestion. In 

urban areas, studies have 
shown that freight is 

responsible for approx. 
20% of vehicle emissions, 
and UCCs are capable of 

reducing freight 
emissions by up to 

80%.30

Monitoring indicators: 
• Identify and engage with local partners and stakeholders.
• Review feedback with partners and stakeholders.

63

Page 377



Case Study: London Congestion Charge 35

The introduction of a congestion charge in 
London reduced CO2 emissions by 16%. It also 
reduced congestion in central London by 26%.

Case Study: Nottinghamshare Carshare 
scheme 36

Nottingham city council have partnered 
with Nottingham county council and 

others to launch an online portal which 
enables carsharing across 

Nottinghamshire. The site now has over 
3,450 members.

5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.6 Reduce emissions by encouraging a modal shift away from combustion cars
Target: A 6% reduction in car transport share in 2025 against 2015 levels.31

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits
a. Embed carbon 
reduction into the 
Local Transport 
Plan, including 

review potential for 
introducing 
charges for 

polluting vehicles -
Emissions based 
parking permits & 

congestion 
charges.

Within existing 
budgets.1

£45k pa to cover 
officer time.32

Set up costs will 
depend on the system 
chosen; a congestion 

charge could 
potentially generate 

income. 

Run public consultant on potential 
charges

Assess both the carbon and wider 
impact of emission-based parking 

permits

Assess both the carbon and wider 
impacts of a congestion charge 

Lead Authority: Highways

Not possible to estimate 
carbon savings.

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

Reduced congestion

b. Set up a car 
sharing scheme in 

the borough

The cost to set up a 
Liftshare scheme for a 
town is approximately 

£50,000.33

TBC nominal cost of 
£10,000 per annum 

allocated.1

Assess the demand and potential in 
the borough

Assess options for car sharing 
platform

Lead Authority: Highways

Taking 1,000 cars off the 
road can save 

approximately 2 ktCO2e 
per annum.33

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

Reduced congestion

c. Communicate 
and promote car 
sharing amongst 

public

Costs c. £100,000 in 
marketing to get 1000 

cars off the road.34

Staff time: accounted 
for elsewhere.

TBC nominal cost of 
£10,000 per annum 

allocated.1

Develop a communications plan to 
promote car sharing 

Monitor and target communications

Lead Authority: Highways

Monitoring indicators: 
• Review feasibility of introducing vehicle charges.
• Feed back on success of comms programme for car sharing.  

64

Page 378



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

65

5.7 Reduce emissions from transport by providing incentives and infrastructure for 
electric vehicles
Target: 64% of cars are EV, PHEV or FCV by 2025.37

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Encourage taxi 
companies to move 

to low emission 
vehicles by 

supporting grants 
and providing 

incentives

£18,000 per annum 
(staff time) for an 

officer to work with taxi 
drivers.38

£10,000 per annum for 
engagement. Plus 

£50,000 per annum 
capital grants.1

Assess the current uptake of electric 
vehicles and liaise with taxi drivers to 

understand barriers and potential 
incentives 

Provide support and guidance on 
applications for DfT plug in taxi 

grants 

Explore the potential of an older 
vehicle trade in scheme 

Explore potential for incentives to be 
provided by reducing licensing fees 

for electric vehicles 

Lead Authority: Highways

If all taxis were switched 
to electric vehicles, it 

could save approximately 
2.7 ktCO2e.40

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

b. Enable the rapid 
shift to electric 

vehicles through 
putting in place EV 

charging

Staff time to support 
households and 

businesses in private 
installation (£18,000 

per annum).38

Funding is available to 
local authorities at 75% 

leaving £2,500 per 
charge point for the LA 

to fund. Estimated 
need of 168 charge 

points therefore costs 
in the region of 

£420,000.39

£15,000 for strategy 
development. Plus 

£100,000 per annum 
capital.1

Research potential grants and 
funding that are available to local 

authorities

Develop a strategic plan for the 
location of charging points

Provide guidance for home owners 
on installing their own charging 

points 

Lead Authority: Highways

If 30% of vehicles switch 
to electric it would save 

approximately 143 
ktCO2e.41

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.

This can also be 
encouraged amongst 
council staff to reduce 
their emissions from 

commuting.

Case Study: TfL42

TfL are aiming to deliver the greenest taxi fleet in the 
world. They plan to do this through introducing new 

licensing requirements for new taxis to be Zero 
Emission Capable (ZEC), providing grants for ZEC 

vehicles and reducing vehicle age limits.

Page 379



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

66

5.7 Reduce emissions from transport by providing incentives and infrastructure for 
electric vehicles
Target: 64% of cars are EV, PHEV or FCV by 2025.37

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

c. Explore the 
potential to 

commission an 
Electric Vehicle car 
hire scheme across 

Cheshire East

Staff time to research 
and apply for grants 

and funding (£18,000 
per annum).38

Research potential grants and 
existing schemes available e.g. 

Bristol’s EV hire scheme was 
supported by the European Union’s 

Horizon 2020 programme.43

Assess the potential demand for car 
hire scheme in the borough. 

Lead Authority: Highways

See above.

Monitoring indicators:
• Survey taxi fleet. 
• Review number of EV charging points across the borough. 

Case Study: Go Ultra Low Oxford  44

The project has been awarded funding from OLEV (Office for Low 
Emission Vehicles) to cover a trial of charging infrastructure and a 
roll out 100 charge points. Alongside this, they have developed a 
bespoke concession framework where they lease charge points 

to commercial operators.

Case Study: Bristol Electric Car rental 43

Part of Bristol's REPLICATE project includes a fleet of 10 new 
electric cars which available to rent by the public. The vehicles are 

hired out on a pay as you go basis from national car club 
company Co-Wheels. 

Page 380



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

Case study: Newcastle-Gosforth route 46

4.9 km route from Newcastle city centre to Gosforth is an 
exemplar redevelopment for similar urban areas as can be 
found in Cheshire East. Appointment of a Commissioner 

for Walking and Cycling in Greater Manchester has offered 
a focal point through which efforts and projects can be 

developed. 

5.8 Encourage active forms of travel (zero emissions)
Target: Modal share of active transport is 6% by 2025.45

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Further 
encourage cycling 

through 
accelerating 

strategic high 
quality walking and 

cycle routes

Within current 
budgets/grants.1

Variable on type of 
cycle route; range from 

£0.1-1m per km.46

Resurfacing existing 
cycle paths (such as 

those in green areas or 
along waterways) are 

c. £0.18m per km. 

Laying urban cycle 
pathways (e.g. in 

Cheshire East towns) 
c. £0.75m per km                                                                                                             

Funding allocated to improve 
infrastructure, feasibility 

assessment of local factors 
affecting costs, training and 

engagement sessions on safe road 
bike usage and culture shifting.

Lead Authority: Highways

A 5% shift from miles 
travelled by car to miles 

travelled by bicycle saves 
an estimated 49 ktCO2e 

p.a.

Cycling and walking offer 
a return of £5.50 for 

every £1 of investment 
as a result of savings 
arising from reduced 
congestion, as well as 
health benefits due to 

encouraged exercise and 
better air quality.  b. Seek 

opportunities to 
reallocate road 

space to 
pedestrians

Within current 
budgets/grants.1

Cost of officer time in 
terms of conducting 

research into new 
opportunities.

Assess which regions of town 
centres would best serve being 

pedestrianised.47, 48

Use learnings from Poynton shared 
space scheme, particularly around 

surface maintenance. 

Perform an assessment for the 
visually impaired and people with 
disabilities to ensure spaces are 

kept inclusive.

Lead Authority: Highways

Monitoring indicators: 
• Confirm that reviews of cycle routes have been carried out. 
• Confirm that a review of potential shared spaces has been carried out.  

67

Page 381



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.9 Reducing emissions by encouraging the use of carbon neutral public 
transport 
Target: By 2025 88% of buses are EV, PHEV or FCV and rail is 100% electrified.49

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Bus fleet switch 
to EV

Point cost of 
purchasing electric 
buses (c. £500k per 

bus)50

TBC additional cost of 
£100,000 per annum 

allocated.1

Engagement with private service 
providers to match-fund or apply for 
national government/EU funding. A 
review of buses close to 'retirement' 
can be carried out to identify those 

first up for replacement. 

Average lifetime is approximately 8 
years, so by 2030 almost entire fleet 

will become eligible for 
replacement.50

Lead Authority: Highways/TSS

Using bus mileage data 
from DfT for Cheshire 

East and typical carbon 
footprint per unit 
distance of travel, 

emissions saving would 
be 6.4 ktCO2e p.a. if all 

buses were zero 
emissions. 

Including health and 
climate-related costs, 

electric buses are 
cheaper than their diesel 
equivalent by about 7%.50 

This gap will grow in size 
as the grid decarbonizes. 

Improved air quality and 
reduced investment in 

stranded assets. 

b. Optimise total 
bus journey 
mileage by 

strategically 
assessing routes 
and maximising 

service efficiency  

Within existing council 
resources:1

Council to review 
routes/efficiency of 

service

Survey of bus patronage and service 
popularity to define which services 

are redundant/where bus routes 
can be made more efficient 

(applying results of 2017 
consultation). This may mean 
extending some services or 

adjusting routes to encourage more 
people to take the bus. 

Lead Authority: Highways/TSS

Reducing the demand for 
buses will either directly 
reduce emissions (in the 
case of diesel buses) or 

reduce electricity 
demand (in the case of 

electric buses).
10% reduction in bus 

mileage due to efficiency 
savings is a saving of 0.6 

ktCO2e p.a.

Case Study: First Bus 51

First Bus now operate 741 electrified ancillary buses 
across the UK; vehicles are in excess of 30% more fuel 
efficient than the buses being replaced and buses have 

succeeded across a variety of route types inc. hilly routes 
in Sheffield and Bristol. 

68

Page 382



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.9 Reducing emissions by encouraging the use of carbon neutral public 
transport 
Target: By 2025, 88% of buses are EV, PHEV or FCV and rail is 100% electrified.49

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

c. Facilitate the 
decarbonisation of 

rail 

Within existing council 
resources:1

Complex projects 
within the UK have 

estimated costs of c. 
£1.25m per km of 

single track railway. 
RIA Electrification Cost 

Challenge report 
suggests that this is 
likely to be improved 

by as much as 33-50% 
(European rail 

electrification projects 
are significantly 

cheaper)52

Monitor Growth Track 360 project to 
electrify the line between Crewe and 

North Wales; and explore the 
expansion of that initiative to other 
local lines within region. Feasibility 

assessment of electrification of 
lesser-used lines necessary.  

Lobby national government to 
accelerate electrification plans in 

the region.

Support the introduction and 
development of hydrogen powered 

trains. 

Lead Authority: Highways

Electric trains also have 
better acceleration 

potential and saved wear 
on brakes compared to 

diesel trains (HS2 is 
currently scheduled to be 

completed in Crewe by 
2027). Diesel trains emit 

c. 0.075 kgCO2 per 
passenger km. 

Electric trains are 
significantly lighter than 
their diesel equivalents, 
so tracks require less 

maintenance. 

Monitoring indicators: 
• Survey bus fleet.
• Review bus patronage statistics and total mileage travelled by buses. 
• Review update of HS2 from national government.

69

Page 383



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

5.10 Reducing emissions from road transport by improving infrastructure and 
efficiency.
Target: By 2025, improve the efficiency of road transport through smart technology.

Initial Measure Estimated Cost Implementation Benefits

a. Embed smart 
technologies into 

highways and 
regeneration to 

maximise carbon 
efficiency

Requires assessment 
of current highways. 

TBC by council.

Review current infrastructure and 
technology currently employed on 

highways and identify key areas for 
improvement.

Lead Authority: Economic 
Development with Highways

Carbon savings not 
possible to estimate in 

the absence of data of CE 
highways. 

Directly supports the Air 
Quality Action Plan and 

helps to deliver the 
associated health 

benefits.
Monitoring indicators: 
• Confirm the development of a strategy for technology and efficiency of highways. 

70

Page 384



5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy – Sources

71

5.1
1 – Based on Cheshire East Council estimates as documented within the internal document “Action Plan” 24/12/2019. Such information has not 
been subject to Anthesis’ review or verification. 
2 – See Section 5 of Supplementary Annex for full Method
3 – Camden Citizens' Assembly
4 – Oxford Citizens' Assembly
5 – London Climate Business Leader's Initiative

5.2
6 – Energy Saving Trust, 2019
7 – Ashden
8 – Based on an emissions footprint of 510 ktCO2e from domestic space and water heating within SCATTER baseline year inventory. Taken the 
proportion of  private rented sector emissions to be 13% based on borough tenure statistics. It is also assumed that 6.3% of privately rented 
accommodation in the borough is below the required standard and that EPC Band D reflects an average energy efficiency performance 
improvement of 10% (Energy Saving Trust). Thus, the total reduced emissions would be equivalent to 510 * 0.13 * 0.063 * 0.1 = 0.4 ktCO2e p.a.
9- Energy Saving Trust 2019. Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards in the Private Rented Sector. 
10 - Cornwall Council 2015: Cornwall Rental Standard. 
11 – Assumed average retrofit point cost of £17,000 per property, having accounted for economies of scale, based on IET
studies. Taking the number of social housing properties to be 18,176 (Cheshire East Council 2019), the total cost would be 17,000 * 18,176 = 
£309m.
12 - UK's housing stock 'needs massive retrofit to meet climate targets.’ 
13 – Assumed that 75% of 120,000 owner-occupied households were below EPC band C and that their emissions are reduced by 10% for each 
energy band they improve as a result of the retrofits to EPC band C standard. Using EPC data, the estimated banding split of those houses below 
band C are as follows: D – 61%, E – 28%, F – 8%, G – 3%. Given the emissions saving is a function of the number of EPC bandings a household 
improves by, a weighted emissions saving factor is calculated from the average occurrence of each EPC banding i.e. a 10% reduction in emissions 
is modelled to occur in 61% of retrofitted households, a 20% saving occurs in 28% of households and so on. Emissions reduction is then taken as 
(total residential emissions) * (proportion of privately owned houses that reach EPC band C) * (weighted emissions savings %). I.e. 510 * 0.76 * 
0.75 * 0.153 = 44 ktCO2e p.a.. Note that this figure is not net of any future social housing to be built to A+/ Passivhaus standard. 
14 – Energy Saving Trust
15 – As an example, Haringey is funding a team of 15 staff to achieve improvements to C or better in 86,000 non-council owned homes over next 
15 years at an annual cost of £525,000, plus a further team of 12 to support households with accessing funding over the 15 year period at an 
annual cost of £420k (Ashden, 2019). The total cost of the project is £945,000 * 15 = £14,175,000 for 27 staff over 15 years. 
Estimate is based on pro-rata scaling for the 120,000 owner-occupied households in Cheshire East (1.4x more than in Haringey), of which 75% are 
below EPC band C: £14,175,000 * 14 = £14,742,000 for 27 * 1.4 = 38 staff. To achieve this over a five year period, the cost would remain the same 
but 114 staff would be required. 
16 – Assumed that 75% of 120,000 owner-occupied households were below EPC band C and that their emissions are reduced by 10% as a result 
of the retrofits. Emissions reduction is taken as (total residential emissions) * (proportion of privately owned houses below EPC band C) * 
(emissions reductions per house). I.e. 510 * 0.76 * 0.75 * 0.1 = 29 ktCO2e p.a..
17– Taken from Ashden: According to Zero Carbon Hub, annual CO2 emissions from a new typical semi-detached house with a gas heating 
system (excluding emissions due to appliances and cooking) will be around 2.0 tonnes. 

5.3
18 – Note this target is aligned with advice given to Parliament in March 2019 by representatives of organisations including the Committee of 
Climate Change and UK Green Buildings Council (A, B) on strengthening UK commercial buildings energy and carbon efficiency targets. 
19 – Cost describes the capital investment in an officer team to oversee commercial decarbonization. Assuming salary implications of one 
programme manager and five officers over five years, anticipated costs would therefore be £200,000 * 5 = £1,000,000. 
20 – We assume that SMEs in CE account for 45% of energy use from commercial heating/ cooling, lighting and appliances, which according to 
SCATTER total 138 ktCO2e p.a.. The current SME footprint is therefore assumed as 62 ktCO2e p.a.. In terms of the modelled reduction, we 
assumed that UK SMEs could improve their energy efficiency performance by 30% through energy improvements (BEIS, 2019). As such, to meet 
the 30% reduction target, 100% of CE's 20,000 SMEs would need to be improved. We assume here that 50% of those improvements would be met 
by 2025, resulting in a reduction in carbon footprint of 62 * 0.5 * 0.3 = 9.3 ktCO2e p.a. by 2025 (or 18.6 ktCO2e p.a. by 2030). 
21 – Based on Ashden: 31 Climate Actions 
22 – Decarbonising Greater Manchester's Existing Buildings. Report by Greater Manchester Combined Authority, 2019. 
23 - Carbon Trust, 2019. Green Business Fund.

5.4
24 – Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathways tool (See Supplementary Annex)- there will be a 10% reduction in household waste as well as a 65% 
increase in recycling rates
25 – Zero Waste Scotland - Recycling and Transport
“As a rule of thumb, and based on the experience of a large number of UK local authorities, effective communications costs a minimum of £1.00 
per household for ongoing communications." (=total £160,000 for CEC) 
26 – Zero Waste Scotland - Improving Recycling by Communications 
27 – Cheshire East Waste Data
28 – WRAP Waste Cheshire West and WRAP case study resulted in:
- Recycling rates increased from 34% in 08/09 to 48% in 09/10. Overall, recycling increased by 3,302 tonnes, of which 1,389 tonnes was dry 
recycling and 1,913 tonnes was composting.
- Participation in the service rose from 82% to 96% following the introduction of the new service.

- By diverting an additional 3,302 tonnes of waste from landfill to recycling (14% increase in recycling), Cheshire West would have saved 23 ktCO2e 
p.a.. To take Cheshire East from it's current recycling rate16 of 54% to the SCATTER target of 65% (11% increase in recycling) could be expected 
to save a similar amount of CO2e emissions (impact of landfill scenario - impact of recycling scenario = savings of ca. 23 ktCO2e).

Page 385

https://www.camden.gov.uk/climate-crisis
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20011/environment/1343/oxford_citizens_assembly_on_climate_change
https://www.cdp.net/en/cities/london-business-climate-leaders
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/documents/s59721/Cheshire%20East%20Housing%20Strategy%202018_2023%20Draft%20for%20consultation%20v1.pdf
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/energy-performance-certificates
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/about-us/news/minimum-energy-efficiency-standards-private-rented-sector
https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/12849446/Cornwall-Rental-Standard.pdf
https://www.theiet.org/media/1675/retrofit.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2018/oct/11/uks-housing-stock-needs-massive-retrofit-to-meet-climate-targets
https://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/home-energy-efficiency/energy-performance-certificates
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
http://www.zerocarbonhub.org/sites/default/files/resources/reports/Zero_Carbon_Homes_Introductory_Guide_for_House_Builders_%28NF14%29.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmbeis/1730/1730.pdf
http://data.parliament.uk/writtenevidence/committeeevidence.svc/evidencedocument/business-energy-and-industrial-strategy-committee/energy-efficiency/oral/98741.pdf
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://democracy.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/documents/s2203/Decarbonising%20Buildings%20Report%20Cover%20Paper.pdf
https://www.carbontrust.com/client-services/programmes/green-business-fund/
https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/sites/default/files/Carbon%20impacts%20of%20recycling%20and%20transport.pdf
https://www.zerowastescotland.org.uk/sites/default/files/Improving%20Recycling%20Through%20Effective%20Communications_ZWS_0.pdf
https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/waste_and_recycling/waste-strategy-and-performance/waste-strategy-and-performance.aspx
http://www.wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/CheshireWestChesterCouncil.pdf


5. Reduce Borough-wide Emissions/ External Policy

72

5.5
29 – The European Commission proposed an interim CO2 reduction target of 15% by 2025 for all large trucks compared to 2019 levels. 
Improvements beyond the European Commission target of 15% reduction achieved by scaling up existing low emission HGV pilots and piloting 
new technologies.
30 - UCC research paper 

5.6
31 - Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathways tool (See Supplementary Annex)- there will be a modal shift away from car transport, a 6% reduction 
in journeys by car.
32 – Full time officer salary to manage engagement estimated from Ashden. Charges would generate income to offset this salary.
33 – Based on data from Liftshare. Setting up a Liftshare scheme for a town costs <£50,000. Liftshare estimate that it costs an extra £20 in 
marketing to successfully recruit a member to the scheme. For every 5 members (5 x £20) it is assumed an increase of one ‘sharing 
commuter’. For each saving commuter 1 tCO2e p.a. is saved. It therefore costs c. £100,000 in marketing to take 1,000 cars off the road within 
the first year of the scheme. In Year 2, 80% of the commuters will still be sharing at no additional cost. For cost of £100k, would take 1000 cars 
off road savings 2 ktCO2e p.a.
34 – Savings based on Ashden estimates of pro-rata scaling against London congestion charge. 
35 – London demand management and London congestion charge case studies
36 – Nottingham Case Study of a Liftshare scheme. 

5.7
37 - Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathways tool (see Supplementary Annex)- 64% of cars are EV, PHEV or FCV. 
38 – Based on Ashden estimation of 2 days a week of full-time officer salary.
39 – Based on Ashden pro-rata analysis of national charging point levels (Cheshire East has c. 0.6% of national population) giving 168 charging 
points. Cost of installation of these charging points is 168 * £2,500 = £420,000.
40 – CEC projects list indicate 790 licensed taxis across the borough. Average mileage: 42,000 km; emissions factor for petrol car: 0.135 
kgCO2e/km; emissions factor for EV car: 45 kgCO2e/km. (Number of taxis) * (annual average mileage of one taxi) * (emissions factor of petrol 
car) = emissions from petrol taxis. Subtracting off the equivalent annual emissions of a 100% EV taxi fleet gives a net carbon saving of 2.7 
ktCO2e p.a.
41 – Based on Ashden: assume 75% of road emissions arise from cars and vans; if 30% of cars and vans switch to EV and subsequently 
reduce emissions by 66%, then can estimate savings from on-road emissions in 2017 from SCATTER: 961 ktCO2e * 0.75 * 0.3 * 0.66 = 142.7 
ktCO2e
42 – TfL Case Study: Since 01/01/18, taxis presented for licensing for the first time are required to be zero emissions capable (ZEC). The 
threshold for this definition an emissions factor ≤ 0.5 kgCO2e/km and a minimum 30 mile zero emission range. First-time taxi vehicle licences 
are no longer granted to diesel taxis. ZEC taxis with petrol engines need to meet the Euro 6 emissions standards. Between 01/11/20 and 
01/11/22 the age limit of Euro 3, 4 and 5 diesel taxis will be reduced by one year, each year.
43. Bristol Electric Car Rental Case Study
44 – Go Ultra Low Oxford, run by Oxford City Council and Oxfordshire County Council, is trialling six types of charging infrastructure over 12 
months to assess their suitability for on-street charging in residential areas. The project was awarded £816,000 from the Office for Low 
Emission Vehicles (OLEV), which covers the capital costs of the trial and the subsequent roll-out of around 100 charge points. The charge 
points are then leased to commercial charge point operators for four years, with the option to extend the contract by a further four years.

5.8
45 – Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathways tool (see Supplementary Annex)- Modal shift away from cars and a subsequent increase in active
transport to represent 6% of journeys.
46 – Cycling Route Costings
47 – Identifying shared spaces
48 – Rural shared spaces

5.9
49 – Based on SCATTER Level 4 pathways tool (see Supplementary Annex)- shift to electric buses and rail.
50 – Electric buses market review
51 – The Low Emission us Guide 
52 – RIA electrification report 

Page 386

http://www.ukerc.ac.uk/programmes/networking-fund/decarbonisation-of-the-uk-road-cargo-sector.html
https://www.researchgate.net/publication/254324483_The_Role_of_Urban_Consolidation_Centres_in_Sustainable_Freight_Transport
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.centreforpublicimpact.org/case-study/demand-management-for-roads-in-london/
https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/files/30.%20CS-London-United-Kingdom-congestion-charge.pdf
https://liftshare.com/uk/community/nottinghamshare
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils
https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/taxis-and-private-hire/emissions-standards-for-taxis
https://news.bristol.gov.uk/news/new-electric-vehicle-fleet-for-hire-in-bristol-following-funding-boost
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Councils%20in%20charge%20making%20the%20case%20for%20electric%20charging%20investment%20WEB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/742451/typical-costings-for-ambitious-cycling-schemes.pdf
http://content.tfl.gov.uk/review-of-simplified-streetscape-schemes.pdf
http://hamilton-baillie.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/hamilton-baillie-traffic-in-villages.pdf
https://www.sustainable-bus.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Electric-buses-arrive-on-time-2.pdf
https://www.lowcvp.org.uk/assets/reports/LowCVP%20LEB%20Guide%202016%20interactive%20V3.pdf
https://www.riagb.org.uk/RIA/Newsroom/Stories/Electrification_Cost_Challenge_Report.aspx


Figure 11: 2025 Emissions Reduction ‘Waterfall’ Chart for CEC Direct Emissions

15447

+0

-1,616

-2,669

-882
-150 -767

-10 -2,298

-3,527

-3,527

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

tC
O 2

e

Offsetting or Authority 
Based Insetting 

Activities

-10%

-17%
-6% -1% -2%

-3% ->1%

-15%

-23%

-23%

6. Summary of Measures

Introduction

The below chart represents an aggregation of the various council-led potential carbon savings from 
the above Action Plan. 

Key Findings

• Outside of council-led action, there will be nationally led decarbonisation of the electricity grid 
which will reduce CEC emissions by 4,090 tCO2e (a 26% reduction from 2018/19). 

• Council-led actions and achievement of the set out targets in the Action Plan has the potential to 
add further 13% of savings at approximately 2,005 tCO2e. (a 39% reduction from 2018/19 in 
total).

• The residual emissions remaining equals 9,352 tCO2e, which could be offset, by tree-planting and 
other nature based solutions in the wider-borough. 

• If the extent of tree planting and nature based solutions is not enough to offset all residual Direct 
Control emissions, the council may look to explore other borough-wide renewable energy and 
efficiency project as types of ‘Authority Based Insetting’. Note that these should not be ‘netted off’ 
and would not constitute Carbon Neutrality under existing certified standard definitions (i.e. PAS 
2060). Please see the ‘Note on Insetting’ overleaf for further details. 

73

National Grid Savings

Demand Savings

Offsetting/Insetting (see notes below)

Page 387



74

6. Summary of Measures

Green Electricity inset – The remaining emissions from electricity consumption from CEC buildings and 
street lighting is reduced through procuring green zero-emissions electricity. The remaining emissions 
from fleet is also reduced by ensuring the electricity supplying EVs is from 100% renewable sources. 

Sequestration inset- Based on offsetting an arbitrary 50% of the residual emissions through application of 
nature based solutions (i.e. tree planting).

Renewable Energy or Efficiency inset- The remaining residual emissions after sequestration will relate to 
projects that are outside of CEC’s influence and control, but may stand to benefit and realise additional, 
permanent, and verifiable carbon savings as a result of council action. 

Street Lighting savings– Based on national grid decarbonisation (in line with national requirements). 
Reductions reflect the decarbonisation of the national grid (following the BEIS Energy and Emissions 
Projections). This does not include demand reductions as the council have already completed a project to 
switch to LED street lighting.

Owned Buildings Gas savings - Based upgrading the heating system and insulation of council-buildings 
reducing energy consumption for heating by 20% from Ashden estimations. Note this assumes there is no 
direct associated increase in electricity demand not accounted for, which may be the case if heat pump 
technology is installed in place of gas. 

Fleet savings– There are 2 components to this saving: 100% of fleet being electric, which is on average 
reduces emissions from vehicles by 66%, with the exception of HGVs which track the target of 15% 
reduction in emissions from HGVs.

Business Travel savings - Based on reducing the need for business travel by 17%. Emissions reductions 
should be greater than this with a modal shift in travel methods, however in the absence of data providing 
a breakdown of business travel it is not possible to provide a savings estimate.

Owned Building Electricity savings– 93% of  the total saving is based on national grid decarbonisation (in 
line with national requirements). The remaining saving is based on increasing staff awareness of energy 
efficiency measures, reducing emissions by 196 tCO2. This number is based off achievements from other 
councils but CEC should look to go beyond this saving. 

Waste and Water savings- Based on increased staff awareness and campaigns reducing emissions from 
waste by 10%. Savings from water are based on CEC’s own assessment of potential emissions 
reductions.

Direct Control Savings

The key below outlines the basis for direct control savings. However, it is important to note the following key 
assumptions:
• The carbon savings totals may not be complete. There were various actions and measures within the 

Action Plan that could not be quantified.
• The carbon savings are based on the achievement of the overall target of actions that relate to the councils 

direct emissions. Due to limitations in accuracy of savings estimates and the availability of data, the extent 
of actions may not be complete and may not fully map to actions suggested in the Action Plan. 

• There may be some double counting included within the measures. Due to the varied basis of the 
estimates (where often there was limited transparency over the methodology used by third parties), some 
measures may drive the same nature of action. 

• The estimates themselves are based on third party proxies and are inherently limited in accuracy.
• CEC should look to perform more robust estimates of figures included and be sure to understand the 

assumptions made and limitations therein. The estimates are prudent, and not intended to constrain 
ambition and the council should look to go beyond the targets set. 

• Supply and demand side interventions should not typically be added together (to avoid the risk of double 
counting); however have been presented on the same chart to illustrate the need to consider energy supply 
projects in the wider borough as one way of compensating for any unabated Directly Controlled emissions.

• CEC may look to add a 10% contingency should CEC not reduce direct emissions by the extent assumed 
above.

Page 388

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/793632/data-tables-1-19.xlsx


6. Summary of Measures

75

1 – The Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/ present the concept of finite, carbon 
budgets at Local Authority level. This highlights that due to the cumulative impact of CO2 on global heating, the emphasis of action needs 

to be urgent and focused on the short term. “Cheshire East will use this entire budget within 7 years [if unabated].” 
2 – National policy does not yet stipulate how Net Zero should be achieved by 2050 or the trajectory required to get there. If only 

considering the end date of 2050, it may not be commensurate with the science, and irreversible climatic tipping points may occur before 
then.  https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-becomes-first-major-economy-to-pass-net-zero-emissions-law

Note on Insetting

Green Electricity

• Renewable electricity could be purchased to reduce any residual consumption in 2025. However, it is 
important to consider the quality and ‘additionality’ of purchased renewables to ensure that it is 
appropriate to claim a zero emissions ‘market based’ figure for Scope 2 electricity. For further details, 
please refer to the Appendix on Renewables Energy Purchasing within the Supplementary Annex. 

Sequestration

• ‘Offsetting’ or ‘Insetting’ via tree planting and other nature-based solutions: If the council was to aim 
to further reduce the residual 2025 emissions through nature-based solutions by 50%, it would need 
to develop in the range of 141 Ha and 1,447 Ha of land to sequester carbon. 

• The higher end assumes the trees are sequestering the equivalent of the council’s 2025 emissions 
by 2025, whereas the lower end assumes sequestration by 2050. The former is more aligned with 
the science1 whereas the latter is aligned with current national policy2 

• Note existing tree stock and borough wide potential has been considered in the land and agricultural 
workings within the Supplementary Annex.

• It is important to acknowledge the important role of Council land in storing and sequestering carbon. 
Managing and maintaining this function is crucial in order to maintain the base levels of carbon 
storage assumed in this report.

Energy

• This relates to renewable energy generation projects. This could be termed a type of ‘Inset’, which is 
defined here as other projects and initiatives within the Cheshire East Borough, whereby energy 
system emissions could be reduced due to council or action led by other businesses outside of CEC 
(but still within the borough). The term insetting has previously only been used with reference to an 
organisation’s supply chain(s); however as part of this project, Cheshire East have sought to develop 
a version of this better tailored to Local Authorities. 

Page 389

https://carbonbudget.manchester.ac.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/uk-becomes-first-major-economy-to-pass-net-zero-emissions-law


23%

6%

18%

5%
5%

1%

1%

8%

17%

6%

10%

Owned Building Gas (23%)
Owned Building Gas savings (6%)
Fleet (18%)
Fleet savings (5%)
Business Travel (5%)
Business Travel savings (1%)
Waste (<1%)
Waste Savings (<1%)
Owned Building Water (<1%)
Owned Building Water savings (<1%)
Owned Building Electricity (8%)
Owned Building Electricity savings (17%)
Street Lighting Electricity (6%)
Street Lighting Savings  (10%)

29%

23%

6%
1%

9%

5%

26%

2025:
11,357 tCO2e

(-26%)

2025 emissions profile: Grid savings only 
(‘Business-as-Usual’)

The figure represents a business as usual 
scenario where the council do not take any 
further action and just allow the national 
grid to decarbonise (in line with national 
requirements). Reductions reflect the 
decarbonisation of the national grid 
(following the BEIS Energy and Emissions 
Projections).

Figure 12: 2025 Emissions profile, grid decarbonisation only or ‘BAU’’

2025: 
9,352 tCO2e 

(-39%)

2025 emissions profile: Grid savings + Council 
Actions

If the council were to carry out the 
recommended actions and reach the targets 
set out in the Action Plan, then direct council 
emissions could by reduced by 2,005 tCO2e. 
Please note: Due to limitations in accuracy of 
savings estimates, the extent of actions may 
not be complete and may not fully map to 
actions suggested in the action plan. 

Figure 13: tCO2e by direct control activities with reductions 

76Total in the centre of the pie charts represent the total emissions in 2025 with savings 
applied (i.e. the total does not include the displaced, striped segments).

% reduction is in relation to emissions in 2018/19 in Figure 3.

6. Summary of Measures

Page 390

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/793632/data-tables-1-19.xlsx


Disclaimer

Anthesis (UK) Limited has prepared this report for the sole use of the client (Cheshire East Council) and for the intended purposes
as stated in the agreement between Anthesis and the client under which this report was completed. Anthesis has exercised due
and customary care in preparing this report but has not, save as specifically stated, independently verified information provided by
others. No other warranty, express or implied, is made in relation to the contents of this report. The use of this report, or reliance on
its content, by unauthorised third parties without written permission from Anthesis shall be at their own risk, and Anthesis accepts
no duty of care to such third parties. Any recommendations, opinions or findings stated in this report are based on facts and
circumstances as they existed at the time the report was prepared. Any changes in such facts and circumstances may adversely
affect the recommendations, opinions or findings contained in this report.

77

Page 391



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL
1

Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 

Date of Meeting: 16 March 2020

Report Title: FlexiLink-Update on Service Delivery and Performance 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Craig Browne-Deputy Leader

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan-Executive Director (Place)

1. Report Summary

1.1. The Council provides financial support to operate certain bus services 
throughout the Borough. This includes scheduled bus services and a 
flexible transport service known as FlexiLink (formerly Little Bus). 

1.2. These services enable residents to access local services in places where 
commercial bus services do not operate. The Council’s objectives for 
subsidising bus services are, as follows:

1.2.1. To provide passenger services for residents most in need to 
enable access to essential services, including health, education, 
employment, retail and leisure;

1.2.2. To provide bus services which maximise value for money and 
deliver an effective and efficient network of supported bus 
services;

1.2.3. To increase usage of the bus network;

1.2.4. To provide a network of supported bus services which 
complements the commercial bus network in the Borough; and 

1.2.5. To ensure that supported bus services are affordable and 
financially sustainable within the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS).

1.3. In April 2019, Cabinet resolved to return the Little Bus service to Council 
operation.  FlexiLink operations commenced in August 2019, with the new 

Page 393 Agenda Item 8



OFFICIAL

services being operated by the Council’s wholly-owned transport company 
Transport Service Solutions (TSS) Ltd.

1.4. The approach to FlexiLink services was expected to have a number of 
advantages for passengers, most notably;

1.4.1. the provision of a modern fleet with more vehicles operating at 
passengers’ preferred travel times of operation.  

1.4.2. improved management of FlexiLink operations and closer integration 
with the Council’s wider bus planning capabilities

1.4.3. opportunities to increase the use of Little Bus by eligible residents to 
provide greater access to healthcare, social care and community 
facilities.

1.4.4. making a contribution to meeting the Council’s Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) savings targets.  

1.5. This report provides the Scrutiny Committee with an update on the delivery 
and performance of FlexiLink, as it is now 6 months since operations by 
TSS commenced.  Information included in the report are derived from 
records relating to fleet management and passengers bookings.  In 
addition, responses to the annual Customer Satisfaction Survey which took 
place in February 2020 are summarised here.  Further details on the 
findings of this survey will be available in the form of a presentation at the 
committee.

2. Recommendations

2.1 That Overview and Scrutiny Committee considers the report setting out the 
recent performance of FlexiLink services.

3. Background

3.1. FlexiLink is a flexible transport (dial a ride) service which provides transport 
for eligible residents who are unable to access a scheduled bus service due 
to mobility constraints or rural isolation.  Eligibility criteria for FlexiLink 
usage are, as follows;

3.1.1. people aged over 80; 

3.1.2. people registered disabled, and 

Page 394



OFFICIAL
3

3.1.3. people without access to any other scheduled public transport.

3.2. The approach approved by Cabinet included the following key principles;

3.2.1. to operate FlexiLink services through the existing contract with TSS, 
utilising the TSS fleet which provides home-to-school transport 
services. 

3.2.2. to provide cost efficiencies and more journey opportunities for 
passengers by expanding the TSS fleet to 9 vehicles.  To recruit 
additional staff as necessary to operate services and, in so doing, to 
honour all TUPE obligations that arise for staff working for the previous 
operator.

3.2.3. to revise the hours of operation for FlexiLink to coincide with peak 
passenger demand and to integrate with times when school transport is 
required.  Accordingly, since August 2019, the hours of operation for 
Flexilink have been 9.30am to 2.30pm.

3.2.4. introduction of a dedicated vehicle to enable a number of regular 
FlexiLink users attending clubs and group events to return home 
between the hours of 2.30pm and 4.00pm.

4. Update of FlexiLink Service Performance

4.1. Commencing in August 2017, TSS has been operating FlexiLink services in 
accordance with the principles defined by the Cabinet resolution (see 
paragraph 3.2 above).  The key aspects of mobilising and operating the 
new FlexiLink service during the period August 2019 to February 2020 are 
summarised in the following paragraphs. 

4.1.1. Increased journey opportunities 

4.1.1.1. The new FlexiLink schedules deploy a fleet of 9 vehicles.  The 
operational approach reflects long-established patterns of demand 
for dial-a-ride services, with the majority of trips in the morning and 
early afternoon.  

4.1.1.2. It is inevitable that the reduction in operating hours has affected 
some passengers travel arrangements.  We estimate that 83.4% of 
previously-booked trips have been successfully accommodated, with 
74.3% requiring no change in time-of-travel and a further 9.1% of 
non-time dependent trips able to be rescheduled. 

Page 395



OFFICIAL

4.1.1.3. A comprehensive review of the booking process has been 
completed to improve the flexibility and offer to clients. Trips for non-
time dependent purposes such as shopping have been reviewed 
with clients to maximise spare capacity by rearranging and 
combining these bookings where possible. 

4.1.1.4. The journey purposes of FlexiLink users in the most recent period of 
operation are summarised in Figure 1, below. 

Figure 1 – Journey Purpose for FlexiLink users (January 2020)

4.1.1.5. The level of FlexiLink ridership, by locality, is summarised in Figure 
2 (below).  Overall, 83% of booked journeys were completed, 16.3% 
were cancelled by the client, and only 0.7% of requested bookings 
were refused.  There is very little variation in these proportions by 
locality within Cheshire East.  With regard to total patronage, 
FlexiLink ridership remains skewed towards the communities in and 
around Crewe and the south of the borough, though this effect is 
less marked since the new service was introduced in August 2019.  

Page 396



OFFICIAL
5

Completed Cancelled Refused Total

1450 287 10 1747

1105 202 15 1322

880 200 0 1080

477 81 9 567

3912 770 34 4716

Macclesfield, Disley, Bollington, Poynton, 
Congleton, Handforth, Alderley Edge, Wilmslow

Total

Congleton, Alsager, Crewe, Sandbach, Holmes 
Chapel, Middlewich

Crewe, Nantwich, Audlem, Whitchurch, Bunbury

Knutsford, Wilmslow, Handforth, Alderley Edge, 
Chelford, Macclesfield

Figure 2 – FlexiLink Ridership (January 2020)

4.1.2. Efficient use of resources 

4.1.2.1. 12 members of staff were transferred from the former operator to 
TSS under TUPE.  These staff included a dedicated team of drivers 
plus and administrator / booking clerk.  All staff completed a 
company training and mobilisation programme prior to commencing 
their duties.  All transferred staff have made an invaluable 
contribution to the successful operation of FlexiLink.

4.1.2.2. FlexiLink operation by TSS is making a significant contribution to the 
Councils MTFS savings plan.  In FY 2019/20, a part-year net saving 
of £110k will be achieved after allowance is made for set-up costs.  
In subsequent years, a full year effect of £223k is estimated from 
2020/21. 

4.1.2.3. The projected saving enables the Council to meet its MTFS target 
for the service, with an additional £73k saving contributing to the 
Council’s Home to School transport budget from 2020/21 onwards.  
Savings on Home to School transport arise from greater utilisation of 
the dedicated fleet of vehicles leading to a reduction in overhead 
costs.  No other changes to the Home to School transport service 
arise from this proposal.

4.1.3. Vehicle Fleet and Branding

4.1.3.1. As part of the re-branding of the service, a modern minibus fleet is 
provided with an average vehicle age of 2-3 years.  The vehicles are 
fully wheelchair accessible and are expected to meet the particular 
needs of service-users.  This compares favourably with the vehicles 
that were operating when the service was procured under contract.

Page 397



OFFICIAL

4.1.3.2. The FlexiLink fleet has been branded to ensure it is readily 
recognisable by passengers and the wider community.  Figure 3 
(below) illustrates the new branded vehicles.

Figure 3 – FlexiLink branded vehicle

5. Customer Survey 2019/20

5.1. As part of the operational performance monitoring of FlexiLink, the annual 
survey of customers was undertaken in February 2020.  The following 
paragraphs summarise some of the key results.  Further details will be 
provided to the meeting in the form of a presentation. 

5.2. Clients were asked to rate their level of satisfaction with FlexiLink in a 
number of key areas.  219 responses were received to this question, as 
follows;

Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied
The reliability of the service 82% 18% 0% 0%
The comfort of the vehicles 
used 72% 26% 2% 0%

The courtesy of the Driver 97% 3% 0% 0%
The overall service provided 
by FlexiLink 76% 22% 2% 0%

5.3. Clients were asked to rate their level of satisfaction with FlexiLink in a 
number of key areas.  213 responses were received to this question, as 
follows;

Page 398



OFFICIAL
7

Very 
Satisfied Satisfied Dissatisfied Very 

Dissatisfied
The customer service and 
proficiency of the office staff 70% 24% 5% 1%

The efficiency and ease of 
booking travel 66% 26% 6% 2%

5.4. Overall, clients were asked “Since FlexiLink replaced Little Bus in August 
2019, overall how has the service changed?  204 responses were received, 
as follows;

Got better 32%

Got worse 12%

Stayed the same 49%

No reply 7%

5.5. Overall, responses to the customer survey indicate that service users 
perceive a general improvement in service quality since August 2019.  
Levels of client satisfaction are high across a range of attributes.  Areas of 
dissatisfaction will continue to be closely monitored to ensure that these are 
addressed, wherever possible, and that there is no further deterioration.  In 
many instances, customer dissatisfaction is closely related to requests for 
travel that our outside the hours-of-operation for FlexiLink.

6 Ward Members Affected

6.1 All Wards and all ward members. 

7 Access to Information

7.1 The background papers for the proposals are available by contacting 
the report author. 

8 Contact Information

8.1 Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Richard Hibbert 

Job Title: Head of Strategic Transport & Parking Services

Email: Richard.hibbert@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 399



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 

Date of Meeting:  16 March 2020

Report Title: Place Performance Scorecard 2019/20 Quarter 3

Portfolio Holders:  Cllr T Fox - Planning

Cllr N Mannion – Environment and Regeneration

Cllr L Crane – Highways and Waste

Cllr M Warren - Communities

Senior Officer: Executive Director - Place

1. Report Summary

1.1. The report and the attached scorecard provide an update on the latest 
available performance data for the Place Department for 2019/20 (relating 
to quarter three)

2. Recommendation

2.1. That the Scorecard be received and noted for information.

3. Reasons for Recommendation

3.1 It is good practice to present an update on the performance issues relating 
to the department on a quarterly basis.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. There are no further options to consider.

5. Background

5.1 The Place Department Scorecard was developed and launched in 2017/18, 
following engagement at directorate management team level and review by the 
Corporate Leadership Team.  It is also reviewed by Environment and Regeneration 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on a quarterly basis.

5.2 The Scorecard provides an accessible summary of performance against targets 
within the Place Department.  The key performance indicators included in the 
Scorecard support delivery of individual Team Plan objectives across the 

Page 401 Agenda Item 9



OFFICIAL
2

department, and contribute to overall monitoring of the Council’s journey towards 
achieving its six corporate outcomes.

6. Implications 

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. There are no legal implications arising from this report.  

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. Regularly reporting Scorecards is managed within the directorate and 
the Business Change service and is covered from existing budgets.  
Changes to performance requirements, or reacting to current 
performance levels will be recorded within relevant Team Plans and 
any associated budgetary impact will be included in the annual 
Business Planning Process or reported as part of the quarterly 
performance reporting cycle to Cabinet.

6.3. Equality Implications

6.3.1. There are no equalities implications arising from this report. 

6.4. Human Resources Implications

6.4.1. There are no human resources implications at this stage.  

6.5. Risk Management Implications

6.5.1. The directorate performance reporting process supports the Council’s 
wider performance management arrangements and provides 
opportunities for the Council to identify and focus on areas for 
improvement to support achievement of its strategic ambitions.  Timely 
performance reporting mitigates risk of the Council not achieving its 
outcomes by providing the opportunity to review performance outputs 
and trends, identify areas for improvement, and introduce corrective 
and/or proactive actions wherever necessary to address areas of poor - 
or under - performance. 

6.6. Rural Communities Implications

6.6.1. There are no implications for rural communities.

6.7. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.7.1. There and no direct implications for children and young people at this 
stage. 

6.8. Public Health Implications

Page 402



OFFICIAL
3

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for public health at this stage.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. Performance measures from Directorate Scorecards form a supporting role 
in production of the quarterly performance reports to Cabinet.  The 
Directorate Scorecard approach enhances the process of performance 
reporting to Members.

8. Access to Information

8.1. Background information can be inspected by contacting the report author.

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Frank Jordan 

Job Title: Executive Director Place 

Email: Frank.Jordan@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 403



This page is intentionally left blank



Place Scorecard - 2019/20
PI Ref Team Measure

Corporate 

Outcome
Polarity Portfolio Benchmark

Year-end

2018/19
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Target 

2019/20

RAG and 

Direction of 

Travel

Comments 

PEN001
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Processing of Major planning 

applications within time
4 High is better Planning

Establishing 

benchmark; 

ranked 2nd in the 

country in terms of 

volume of apps 

94% 100% 95% 100% 90%
J

Processing of major applications remains high.

PEN002
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Processing of 'Non Major' 

planning applications within 

time

4 High is better Planning

Establishing 

benchmark; 

ranked 2nd in the 

country in terms of 

volume of apps 

91% 93% 90% 92% 90%
J

Performance remains at a very good level and well above national targets but slightly below our internal target level. 

Performance may be raised further with improved IT networks and systems. The challenge of attracting, retaining and 

developing planning officers are also factors that place limitations for overall performance on the high volume smaller 

scale planning applications.

PEN006
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Average level of customer 

satisfaction with Planning
4 High is better Planning

Under 

investigation

New measure 

for 2019/20
N/A N/A N/A 75% New measure for 2019/20. Residents' Survey carried out in Q3, results will be analysed and reported at Q4.

PEN009
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Net Housing growth in the 

Borough
4 High is better Planning N/A 3,062 N/A N/A N/A 1,800

J
Annual measure; 2017/18 final net figure of 3,062; an increase from the previous year's 2,321.

PEN010
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

% of inspections completed 

against the annual scheduled 

animal welfare inspection 

programme

5 High is better Communities N/A 81% 100% 100% 100% 100%
K

All inspections required during the quarter were completed.  The team are continuing to work with the new animal welfare 

legislation which has introduced additional burdens to both business and the service.

PEN011
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

% of Food Safety A-D 

inspections completed against 

the annual programme.

5 High is better Communities N/A 100% 81% 66% 83% 100%
J

215/260 inspections scheduled for Q3 were completed.  Year to date this equates to 93% of all scheduled A- D rated 

premises having been completed by 31.12.2019 as inspections outstanding from previous quarter allocations have been 

caught up. During this period our focus remains on the higher risk A-C premises and new premises where risk is unknown 

leaving D and E-rated premises to be picked up when resource allows. 

The food standards inspection programme is ongoing - 62% (8/11) High risk inspections for the full year have been 

completed and 37% of the Medium risk inspections for the full year have been achieved. Qtr focussed on unrated/new 

premises and the continuance of alternative strategy work.

PEN012
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

The % of Food Safety E rated 

premises that receive 

intervention activity

5 High is better Communities N/A 76% 70% 46% 58% 100%
J

38/65 scheduled inspections of E rated premises were completed = 58%.  Year to date this equates to 49% of all scheduled 

E rated premises having been completed by 31.12.2019.  Work was also completed on the backlog of E-rated premises with 

a further 111 inspections from the backlog list being completed in year.  This leaves 131 inpsections from the backlog list 

remaining. 

PEN014
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Total number of Air Quality 

Management Areas in 

Cheshire East

4 Low is better Communities N/A 17 17 17 19 N/A
Two further AQMA's were finalised in QTR 3.  These relate to Lewin Street, Middlewich and Chelford Road, Knutsford.  Both 

AQMA's are declared for a breach of the annual mean for nitrogen dioxide.  

PEN015
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

% of Air Quality Management 

Areas with an associated Air 

Quality Action Plan

4 High is better Communities N/A
100%

(Draft)
100% (Draft) 100% 100% 100%

K
The CE Action Plan has been produced and approved by Defra.  This includes all 17 AQMA’s bringing performance to 100%.  

As a result of the declaration of two further AQMA's, the Air Quality Action Plan will need to be updated in line with 

statutory timescales.

PEN016
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Number of visitors to libraries

(Cumulative data)
1 High is better Communities CEC Data 1,443,113 341,298 741,118 1,084,661 1,500,000 

L

Q3 saw a decrease in visitors compared to the previous quarter, and also a slight decrease compared to the Q3 point in 

2018/19 (when numbers stood at 1,087,676).  Earlier this year, the number of Cheshire East Children participating in the 

Reading Agency’s national Summer Reading Challenge this year was 7,262 an increase of 11.2% on the previous year and 

our best year to date.

PEN017
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Average level of customer 

satisfaction with Libraries
1 High is better Communities

Under 

investigation

New measure 

for 2019/20
N/A N/A N/A 75% New measure for 2019/20. Residents' Survey carried out in Q3, results will be analysed and reported at Q4.

PEN018
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Increase usage of Council-

owned Leisure Facilities by 1% 

per year

(Cumulative data)

5 High is better Communities CEC Data 3,607,231 929,488 1,786,656 2,677,282 3,643,303
J

Q3 performance saw an increase on Q2, an increase on the 2.63m  recorded at Q3 in 2018/19, and ahead of the targeted 

annual 1% increase.

PEN021
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Average level of customer 

satisfaction with Leisure 

Services

5 High is better Communities
Under 

investigation
80% N/A N/A N/A 80% 2018/19 Baseline Year.  Target of >80% for 2019/20 (survey in Autumn 2019)

PEN022
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Residual household waste 

collected per household (kgs)
4 Low is better

Highways and 

Waste

Q2 Mean across 

43 authorities in LG 

Inform 

Benchmarking: 

111kg

492kg
125kg 

(Estimate)

120kg 

(Estimate)

125kg 

(Estimate)
<530kg

L
Draft performance subject to DEFRA approval.  The amount of residual waste per household remains relatively constant 

between 120-125 tonnes per household per quarter.

PEN023
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

% household waste recycled, 

reused and composted
4 High is better

Highways and 

Waste

Under 

investigation
52% 57% (Estimate) 55% (Estimate) 51% (Estimate)

Exceed 

national target 

of 50% L
Draft performance subject to DEFRA approval.  Our recycling rate continues to be above the national target for 2020 and 

will be increasing in Q4 when food waste is collected in the garden bin.

PEN024
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

% of household waste sent for 

energy recovery
4 High is better

Highways and 

Waste

Under 

investigation
42% 40% (Estimate) 40% (Estimate) 42% (Estimate) 45%

J
Draft performance subject to DEFRA approval.  95% of our residual waste goes to energy from waste which is around 40% of 

all the waste we manage. This represents a significant change in our waste management with landfill reduced to a 

minimum 

PEN025
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

We will increase the tonnage 

of materials re-used by 1% per 

year

4 High is better
Highways and 

Waste

Under 

investigation
1,408 tonnes

399 tonnes 

(Estimate)

400 tonnes 

(Estimate)

400 tonnes 

(Estimate)

1% higher than 

previous year

(1,495 tonnes) K
2018/19 outturn updated following year-end reporting based on updated EA figures.  Draft performance Q3 subject to 

DEFRA approval.  Reuse at our household waste recycling centres and by our third sector partner continues to slowly 

increase.

PEN026
Environment and 

Neighbourhood Services

Average level of customer 

satisfaction with Waste 

Management

4 High is better
Highways and 

Waste

Under 

investigation

New measure 

for 2019/20
N/A N/A N/A 75% New measure for 2019/20. Residents' Survey carried out in Q3, results will be analysed and reported at Q4.

PIH001 Infrastructure and Highways

Delivery of the capital 

programme on time and on 

budget

2 High is better
Highways and 

Waste
N/A

71%

(5 out of 7)
0 0

25%

(1 out of 4)

100%

(4 out of 4) J
The amber rating relates to the fact that, owing to external factors for 2 projects, gateway reviews cannot be progressed:

• North West Crewe Package – planning submission required from partner developer

• A500 Dualling – awaiting Government approval

OFFICIAL

P
age 405



PI Ref Team Measure
Corporate 

Outcome
Polarity Portfolio Benchmark

Year-end

2018/19
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Target 

2019/20

RAG and 

Direction of 

Travel

Comments 

PIH004 Infrastructure and Highways

Average level of customer 

satisfaction with Highway 

service

2 High is better
Highways and 

Waste
NHT Annual Survey 46% N/A 47% N/A TBC

J

This year, NHT sent out over 406,000 questionnaires on behalf of 110 authorities across the country. From the 5,000 surveys 

sent out by NHT on behalf of Cheshire East, the Council received 1,437 responses, a rate of 29%. Overall satisfaction 

increased by 1% to 47%; however, compared against other authorities, this is low, with the average overall NHT satisfaction 

rate being 53%.

The survey consists of six themes, however not all themes are relevant to the Highways service: Accessibility, Public 

Transport, Walking & Cycling, Tackling Congestion, Road Safety and Highway Maintenance.  With this in mind, this year in 

the Highway Service Contract’s Performance Management Framework, the measure PI 5.1 ‘Customer Service within 

Highways Service’ is based solely on the 45 Key Benchmark Indicators (KBI’s) of which the Highways Service has control.  It is 

thought that the increased satisfaction could be attributed to one or all of the following factors:

• The service has adopted a strategic approach to carriageway patching to address ‘pothole farms’ and problem areas.  

A greater level of investigation is now undertaken to ensure that the right treatment is implemented, at the right place and 

at the right time.  In addition, the Council has changed the materials that it uses, increasing the durability of repairs.

• The £4.6m pothole fund awarded by the Department for Transport.

• This year within our Performance Management Framework we have included a Service Indicator to monitor the Network 

Average Speed using data provided annually by the Department for Transport (DfT). The DfT reports on the average speed 

on local A-roads in England, of which 32 routes fall within the Cheshire East network. In 2018, the average speed across the 

32 locations was 28.5mph, a 0.6% increase from 2017’s average of 28.3mph.

Recently the Council sent out a Residents' Surveys to households across Cheshire East. All questions asked as part of the NHT 

'Highway Maintenance' theme have also been included in the survey. We will analyse the results to establish improvements 

or alternative ways of working based on this feedback. A further update will be provided when results are available.

PIH005 Infrastructure and Highways
Customer satisfaction with 

Parking Services
2 High is better

Highways and 

Waste

Under 

investigation

New measure 

for 2019/20
N/A N/A N/A TBC New measure for 2019/20. Residents' Survey carried out in Q3, results will be analysed and reported at Q4.

PIH006 Infrastructure and Highways

Average subsidy per 

passenger using local 

supported bus services

2 High is better Deputy Leader
Under 

investigation
£2.30 N/A N/A N/A £2.10 New measure for 2019/20, reported annually.

PIH007 Infrastructure and Highways
% repudiation of highways 

insurance claims 
2 High is better

Highways and 

Waste

Under 

investigation
94% 94% 97% 96% 94%

L
The slight reduction can be attributed to a seasonal increase in the number of claims, especially due to the floodings that 

the borough experienced, which are still under investigation. 

PIH009 Infrastructure and Highways

Percentage of actionable 

carriageway & footway 

defects identified by Safety 

Inspectors in comparison to 

notifications from other 

reporting routes

2 High is better
Highways and 

Waste

No direct 

benchmarking. 

Performance 

monitored at 

monthly Ops 

Board meetings

75.9% 76.3% 75.7% 71.0% 76%
L

During Q3, 4,779 out of 6,699 (71%) actionable defects on the network were identified by the Safety Inspectors during the 

programmed routine inspections of the network in comparison to 1,920 (29%) of defects reported via other reporting 

channels.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

Figures include all actionable defects i.e. potholes, uneven flags, chipped kerbs etc.                                                                                                                                                 

PIH010 Infrastructure and Highways
Potholes repaired within code 

of practice timeframes
2 High is better

Highways and 

Waste

CEH approved 

business plan. 
96.6% 90% 90% 95.2% 91%

J
The target of 91% is based on a review of the last three years data excluding mitigation.                                                                                                                                                              

In Q3, out of the 6,639 defects identified on the network as a safety risk,  6,320 were repaired within the appropriate 

timeframe resulting in a 95.2% response rate. Out of those 6,639 defects, 3,435 were pothole repairs.  

PIH011 Infrastructure and Highways

Civil Enforcement Officer 

Penalty Charge Notices 

cancelled due to issuance 

errors (lower result is better) 

(Cumulative performance)

6 Low is better
Highways and 

Waste
2.0% 1.09% 0.71% 0.88% 1.08% <1.5%

L
15,436 PCNs were issued during the period April - December 2019, and 166 were cancelled due to issuance errors.

PGE001 Growth and Enterprise

Capital Receipts across assets 

and farms disposals

(Cumulative data)

6 High is better
Environment and 

Regeneration
Against target £4,808,789 £580,785 £3,806,966 £3,848,966 £7,092,000 

L

The capital receipt target has been adjusted down to £6,446k. Q3 did not bring in significant receipts with the largest being 

a deed of release of covenant for £35k not a building disposal.  We are expecting a further £2.237m in before year end 

primarily from farms although it should be noted that none of the 4 anticipated to be disposed of are without delivery 

challenges. 

PGE002 Growth and Enterprise

Income across non-

operational assets and farms 

estates

(Cumulative data)

6 High is better
Environment and 

Regeneration
Against target  £2,513,85 £881,072 £1,619,952 £2,297,323 £2,135,209

J
The target is going to be significantly overachieved as income includes £22.5k from Royal Arcade (not forecast and to be 

used to offset holding costs from delay in handing over to Developer) and as at Q3 £715k additional rent from investment 

portfolio (which is to be put in reserve to offset capital repayment costs that will take the future income below target). 

PGE003 Growth and Enterprise

Home adaptations for older 

and/or disabled residents 

(Majors + Minors + Preventions)

(Cumulative data)

5 High is better
Environment and 

Regeneration
Against target 2,361 624 1,293 355 Major

2,100

(500 majors,

1,200 minors 

and 400 

preventions)

L
Q3 total of 600 is a slight decrease on Q2,  comprising 119 major adaptations, 463 minor adaptations and 18 preventions.

The Q3 cumulative total of 1,893 is significantly ahead our in-year target, and our performance at Q3 in 2018/19 (of 1,476).

PGE004 Growth and Enterprise
Increase the supply of new 

affordable housing
5 High is better

Environment and 

Regeneration
Against target 727 119

76

(195 

cumulative)

122

(317 

cumulative)

355
J

Projections indicate the annual target of 355 will will be achieved.

PGE005 Growth and Enterprise

Maintain the number of long-

term empty homes in Cheshire 

East to less than 1%

5 Low is better
Environment and 

Regeneration
Against baseline 0.97% N/A N/A N/A <1%

L
Annual target met in 2018/19.

PGE006 Growth and Enterprise

Increase number of 

preventative and relief actions 

taken in order to reduce levels 

of homelessness in Cheshire 

East

(Cumulative data)

5 High is better
Environment and 

Regeneration

Against target 

(Cumulative)

651 

preventative
251 577 876 875

L
299 positive outcomes to prevent or relieve homelessness in Q3 taking us to 876 in total - exceeding our yearly target.

PGE007 Growth and Enterprise

Households helped to achieve 

affordable warmth

(Cumulative data)

4 High is better
Environment and 

Regeneration

Against target 

(Cumulative)
311 87 121 363 500

J
Q3 and Q4 are always the busiest when people need their heating on, so a strong increase during Q3.  The Council has 

commissioned a service who we anticipate will result in us achieving an increase in figures in 2019/20 compared to the 

previous year.

OFFICIAL

P
age 406



PI Ref Team Measure
Corporate 

Outcome
Polarity Portfolio Benchmark

Year-end

2018/19
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Target 

2019/20

RAG and 

Direction of 

Travel

Comments 

PGE008 Growth and Enterprise
Total cost of corporate office 

buildings
6 Low is better

Environment and 

Regeneration

Establishing 

benchmark
£1,613,022 N/A N/A N/A £1,580,762 

J

Delamere – £399,553

Cledford – £88,100

Macc Town Hall – £566,727

Municipal Crewe – £219,373

Westfields – £339,269

The Facilities Management Team, both through its maintenance and improvement programme, seek to reduce energy and 

carbon emissions by the introduction of more energy efficient equipment, the introduction of combined heat and power 

(CHP) and photo votaic (PV) technologies.  PV has been installed on Westfields, Crewe Lifestyle Centre and the 

Environmental Hub and consideration is currently being given to other, suitable, buildings.

PGE009 Growth and Enterprise

Carbon Management - CE 

Buildings - Reduction in tCO2 

Emissions (Electricity & Gas)

4 Low is better
Environment and 

Regeneration
Against target 8,306 tonnes 7,975 tonnes 7,676 tonnes Pending 8,322 tonnes

J

Rolling 12-month performance figure, reported with quarter lag due to time needed to process billing.  Q2 2019/20 result 

therefore a rolling 12-month figure ending Q1 2018/19.  Consumption levels continue to reduce across the corporate estate 

helped partially by a mild winter. Also CO2 emission factors have reduced for electricity as higher volumes are generated 

via wind rather than from gas or coal power stations.

PGE012 Growth and Enterprise

Protect CE rural and urban 

character through ensuring the 

ease of use of 80% of the 

Public Rights of Way

4 High is better
Environment and 

Regeneration
N/A 86% N/A N/A N/A >80%

J
Annual measure.  Adaptation of former Best Value indicator, based on a minimum 5% random sample of lengths of rights of 

way; 2018/19 performance was an increase on 2017/18.

PGE015 Growth and Enterprise
Overall growth in the Visitor 

Economy
2 High is better

Environment and 

Regeneration

Establishing 

benchmark

2017 

(latest figures 

at August 2018) 

actual of 

£921m

N/A

2018 

(latest figures 

at October 

2019) actual of 

£963 m

N/A N/A £971m
J

The value of the visitor economy in Cheshire East is on track to hit £1bn by 2020; an ambitious target set out in the  Cheshire 

East Visitor Economy Strategy 2016-2020. (RAG rating based on 2020 target.)

The latest figures show a 77.1% increase in the value of the visitor economy to Cheshire East since the Borough came into 

being in 2009. Overnight stays in 2018 injected £207m into the hotel industry – an increase of 3.4% on the previous year, and 

figures show more people are staying overnight than ever before. The economic impact of day visitors also continues to 

surge to £712 m; an increase of 4.8% in 2018. Added to this, employment in the sector increased by 1.9% in 2018 to a record 

11,780 FTEs (full time equivalents).

With continuing investment in the Borough’s heritage attractions and with HS2 on the horizon; this could lead to a further 

boost in numbers as the projects develop.

OFFICIAL

P
age 407



T
his page is intentionally left blank



FORWARD PLAN FOR THE PERIOD ENDING 30TH JUNE 2020

This Plan sets out the key decisions which the Executive expects to take over the period 
indicated above. The Plan is rolled forward every month. A key decision is defined in the 
Council’s Constitution as:

“an executive decision which is likely –
 
(a) to result in the local authority incurring expenditure which is, or the making of 

savings which are, significant having regard to the local authority’s budget for 
the service or function to which the decision relates; or

 
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an 

area comprising one or more wards or electoral divisions in the area of the 
local authority.

 
For the purpose of the above, savings or expenditure are “significant” if they are 
equal to or greater than £1M.”

Reports relevant to key decisions, and any listed background documents, may be viewed 
at any of the Council’s Offices/Information Centres 5 days before the decision is to be 
made. Copies of, or extracts from, these documents may be obtained on the payment of a 
reasonable fee from the following address:

Democratic Services Team
Cheshire East Council
c/o Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach Cheshire CW11 1HZ
Telephone:  01270 686472

However, it is not possible to make available for viewing or to supply copies of reports or 
documents the publication of which is restricted due to confidentiality of the information 
contained.

A record of each key decision is published within 6 days of it having been made. This is 
open for public inspection on the Council's Website, at Council Information Centres and at 
Council Offices.

This Forward Plan also provides notice that the Cabinet, or a Portfolio Holder, may decide 
to take a decision in private, that is, with the public and press excluded from the meeting. 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 28 clear days’ notice must be given of any 
decision to be taken in private by the Cabinet or a Portfolio Holder, with provision for the 
public to make representations as to why the decision should be taken in public.  In such 
cases, Members of the Council and the public may make representations in writing to the 

Page 409 Agenda Item 10



Democratic Services Team Manager using the contact details below. A further notice of 
intention to hold the meeting in private must then be published 5 clear days before the 
meeting, setting out any representations received about why the meeting should be held in 
public, together with a response from the Leader and the Cabinet.

The list of decisions in this Forward Plan indicates whether a decision is to be taken in 
private, with the reason category for the decision being taken in private being drawn from 
the list overleaf: 

1. Information relating to an individual
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including to authority holding that information)
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office 
holders under the authority

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal and professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings

6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes (a) to give under any 
enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a 
person; or (b) to make an order or direction under any enactment

7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation of prosecution of crime

If you would like to make representations about any decision to be conducted in private at 
a meeting, please email:

Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer 
paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Such representations must be received at least 10 clear working days before the date of 
the Cabinet or Portfolio Holder meeting concerned.

Where it has not been possible to meet the 28 clear day rule for publication of notice of a 
key decision or intention to meet in private, the relevant notices will be published as soon 
as possible in accordance with the requirements of the Constitution.

The law and the Council's Constitution provide for urgent key decisions to be made. Any 
decision made in this way will be published in the same way.

Page 410

mailto:paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk


Forward Plan

Key Decision 
and 

Private 
Non-Key 
Decision

Decisions to be Taken Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-17 
Well-Managed 
Highway 
Infrastructure

To seek authority for the 
Executive Director Place, 
in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for 
Highways and Waste, to 
approve amendments to 
the Council’s Highway 
Inspection Code of 
Practice and Adverse 
Weather Plan to ensure 
that they accord with the 
document ‘ Well-Managed 
Highway Infrastructure’.

Cabinet 4 Feb 2020 Paul Traynor N/A

CE 19/20-37 
ASDV 
Programme 
Review and 
2020 Business 
Plan 
Endorsement

To consider a report of the 
ASDV Shareholder 
Committee on its strategic 
review of the 2020 
business plans for Orbitas 
Bereavement Services 
Ltd., Transport Service 
Solutions Ltd. and ANSA 
Environmental Services 
Ltd.

Deputy Leader of 
the Council

Not before 4th 
Feb 2020

Vicki Godfrey Fully exempt 
- para 3

P
age 411



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-42 
Congleton 
Leisure Centre 
Redevelopment 
Project

To seek authority to enter 
into the construction 
contract with Rock 
Merchanting (T/A Pulse 
Fitness) for the 
redevelopment of 
Congleton Leisure Centre.

Portfolio Holder for 
Communities

Not before 
10th Feb 2020

Paul Bayley Fully exempt 
- para 3

CE 18/19-68 
Medium Term 
Financial 
Strategy 2020-
24

To approve the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 
for 2020-24, incorporating 
the Council’s priorities, 
budget, policy proposals 
and capital programme. 
The report will also include 
the capital, treasury 
management, investment 
and reserves strategies.

Council 20 Feb 2020 Alex Thompson, 
Director of 
Financial and 
Customer 
Services

N/A

CE 18/19-54 
Crewe Station 
Hub Area Action 
Plan - 
Publication Draft 
Plan

To seek approval for a 
further six week 
consultation period on the 
Crewe Station Hub Area 
Action Plan.

Cabinet 10 Mar 2020 David Malcolm N/A

P
age 412



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-23 
Crewe Hub 
Station Update

To approve the outputs of 
the Crewe Hub Station 
solutions stage project 
development work, 
approve the strategic 
outline business case for 
the enhanced Crewe Hub 
Station and its supporting 
evidence base and funding 
and financing strategy, 
progress the Hub station 
design to detailed design, 
and seek necessary 
Government commitments 
on funding.

Cabinet 10 Mar 2020 Hayley Kirkham N/A

CE 19/20-24 
Municipal Waste 
Management 
Strategy 5 Year 
Review

To consider the updated 
waste strategy and 
authorise officers to 
undertake consultation 
and, subject to the 
outcome of that 
consultation, any 
necessary actions to 
implement the strategy.

Cabinet 10 Mar 2020 Paul Bayley N/A

P
age 413



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-38 
Alliance 
Environmental 
Services Ltd. - 
Final Phase

To approve the expansion 
of Alliance Environmental 
Services to include the 
delivery of street cleansing 
and horticultural and 
associated services on 
behalf of Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council 
and High Peak Borough 
Council. 

Cabinet 10 Mar 2020 Fully exempt 
- para 3

CE 19/20-41 
Re-procurement 
of Low Value 
Construction 
Services 
Framework 
2021-2025

To establish a replacement 
framework agreement for 
low value construction 
services and to delegate 
authority to the Executive 
Director Place to award 
the framework contracts to 
providers following a 
selection process.

Cabinet 10 Mar 2020 Andy Kehoe, 
Head of Assets 
and 
Regeneration

N/A

CE 19/20-45 
Department for 
Transport 
Funded 
Highway Safer 
Road Fund 
Schemes

The Council has a number 
of Department for 
Transport Safer Road 
Fund schemes valued 
between £1M and £5M 
(index-linked) to be 
delivered on the highway 
network. The Cabinet 
report will seek approval to 
deliver these schemes 
through the Highway 
Service Contract.

Cabinet 10 Mar 2020 Paul Davies N/A

P
age 414



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 18/19-60 
The Minerals 
and Waste 
Development 
Plan

To seek approval to 
consult on the first draft of 
the Minerals and Waste 
Development Plan. 

Portfolio Holder for 
Planning

March 2020 David Malcolm N/A

CE 19/20-25 
Cheshire East 
Carbon Action 
Plan

To receive the draft 
Carbon Strategy for the 
Council to achieve its 
carbon neutral aims by 
2025 and to encourage all 
businesses, residents and 
organisations in Cheshire 
East to reduce their carbon 
footprint; and to authorise 
officers to undertake 
consultation and revise the 
strategy prior to its 
adoption and 
implementation.

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Ralph Kemp, 
Corporate 
Manager for 
Commissioning

N/A

CE 19/20-30 
A500 Dualling - 
Acquisition of 
Land

To authorise compulsory 
purchase powers for the 
acquisition of land and 
rights required for the 
construction of the 
scheme.

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Chris Hindle N/A

P
age 415



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-32 
Environment 
Strategy

To seek approval of the 
Environment Strategy 
following public 
consultation, and to 
delegate authority to the 
Portfolio Holder for 
Environment and 
Regeneration to make any 
further revisions to the 
Strategy.

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Paul Bayley N/A

CE 19/20-34 
North West 
Crewe Package 
Infrastructure 
Agreement

To seek authority to enter 
into an infrastructure 
delivery agreement and 
other necessary legal 
arrangements. 

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Chris Hindle N/A

CE 19/20-35 
North West 
Crewe Package 
- Land Assembly

To seek authority to 
implement compulsory 
purchase order powers 
following further detail to 
allow the Council to make 
a fully informed decision 
and give proper 
consideration to the use of 
CPO powers.

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Chris Hindle N/A

P
age 416



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-36 
Middlewich 
Eastern Bypass 
- CPO Powers 
to Acquire 
Revised Land 
for the Scheme

To authorise the use of 
compulsory purchase 
powers to acquire the land 
and rights required for the 
construction of the 
scheme, reflecting the 
revised land requirement 
that has now been 
established.

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Chris Hindle N/A

CE 19/20-44 
Vulnerable and 
Older Persons 
Housing 
Strategy 2020-
2023

To consult formally on the 
draft 2020-2023 
Vulnerable and Older 
Persons Housing Strategy 
for a period of 8 weeks.

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Karen Carsberg, 
Strategic Housing 
and Intelligence 
Manager

N/A

CE 19/20-47 
Loan to 
Cheshire and 
Warrington 
Local Enterprise 
Partnership

To approve a loan to 
Cheshire and Warrington 
Local Enterprise 
Partnership to stimulate 
development on the 
Enterprise Zones; officers 
be authorised to take all 
necessary actions to 
progress the loan 
agreement and establish 
governance processes.

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Paul Goodwin N/A

P
age 417



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-48 
Procurement of 
a Housing 
Development 
Framework

To authorise officers to 
undertake a procurement 
exercise to establish a 
housing development 
framework to commission 
the development of mixed 
tenure housing on 
identified Council-owned 
land; and to authorise 
officers to award and enter 
into a framework 
agreement with housing 
providers, identify and 
approve appropriate 
Council-owned land assets 
to be taken through the 
framework, and approve 
and award financial 
contributions to enhance 
development opportunities.

Cabinet 7 Apr 2020 Karen Carsberg, 
Strategic Housing 
and Intelligence 
Manager

N/A

P
age 418



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-31 
Proposed 
Expansion of 
Wilmslow High 
School

Subject to the School 
Organisation Sub-
Committee approving the 
proposed expansion of 
Wilmslow High School at 
a meeting to be held on 
6th April 2020, Cabinet 
will be asked to authorise 
the Executive Director 
People to enter into a 
construction contract to 
facilitate the provision of 
additional places at 
Wilmslow High School. 

Cabinet 5 May 2020 Val Simons N/A

CE 19/20-43 
Appropriation of 
Land for 
Planning 
Purposes at the 
Garden Village, 
Handforth

To authorise the 
appropriation of Council-
owned land for planning 
purposes at the Garden 
Village, Handforth.

Cabinet 5 May 2020 Geoffrey Dyson Part exempt - 
paras 3 and 
5

P
age 419



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-46 
Support for 
Syrian 
Vulnerable 
Person 
Resettlement 
Programme and 
Unaccompanied 
Asylum-Seeking 
Children and 
Asylum Seekers 
Dispersal 
Programme

To update Cabinet on the 
four programmes under 
support, which are:
 Syrian Vulnerable 

Person Re-
settlement

 Unaccompanied 
Asylum-seeking 
Children

 Asylum-seeker 
Dispersal

 Community 
Sponsorship 
Resettlement

and to seek approval to 
extend the current 
programmes following a 
request from Government 
for further commitment 
from local authorities.

To delegate authority to 
the Executive Director 
People in consultation with 
the Executive Director 
Place to determine the 
appropriate allocation.

Cabinet 5 May 2020 Jill Stenton N/A

P
age 420



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number
CE 19/20-51 
New Homes 
Bonus 
Community 
Fund - Review 
of Round 1 and 
Future Options

To consider a review of 
round 1 of the New Homes 
Bonus Community Fund 
and to consider the options 
for the future of the Fund.

Cabinet 5 May 2020 Jill Stenton N/A

CE 19/20-21 
Site Allocations 
and 
Development 
Policies 
Document

To decide the next steps in 
progressing the Site 
Allocations and 
Development Policies 
Document to public 
examination.

Cabinet 8 Sep 2020 Jeremy Owens N/A

CE 19/20-49 
Council Tax 
Base 2021-22

For Cabinet to consider 
the Council Tax Base for 
Cheshire East and identify 
any changes to the 
calculation of the tax base 
for 2021-22 with a view to 
recommending the amount 
calculated to Council.

Council 16 Dec 2020 Paul Manning N/A

CE 19/20-50 
Medium Term 
Financial 
Strategy 2021-
25

To approve the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy 
2021-25 incorporating the 
Council’s priorities, budget, 
policy proposals and 
capital programme. The 
report will include the 
capital, treasury 
management, investment 
and reserves strategies.

Council 17 Feb 2021 N/A

P
age 421



Key Decision Decisions to be 
Taken

Decision Maker Expected 
Date of 

Decision

Proposed 
Consultation

How to make 
representation 
to the decision 

made

Private/
Confidential 

and 
paragraph 

number

P
age 422



OFFICIAL

Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Date of Meeting: 16 March 2020

Report Title: Work Programme 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor C Browne – Deputy Leader

Councillor T Fox – Portfolio Holder for Planning

Councillor N Mannion – Portfolio Holder for Environment and 
Regeneration

Councillor B Roberts – Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste

Councillor M Warren – Portfolio Holder for Communities

Senior Officer: Interim Executive Director of Corporate Services

1. Report Summary

1.1. To review items in the work programme listed in the schedule attached, 
together with any other items suggested by committee members.

2. Recommendation

2.1. That the work programme be reviewed.

3. Reasons for Recommendation

3.1 It is good practice to review the work programme and update accordingly

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. There are no further options to consider.      

5. Background

5.1 The schedule attached has been updated following the last meeting of the 
committee.

5.2 Members are asked to review the schedule attached to this report, and if 
appropriate, add new items or delete items that no longer require any scrutiny 
activity. When selecting potential topics, Members should have regard to the 
Council’s new three year plan and also to the general criteria listed below, which 

Page 423 Agenda Item 11



OFFICIAL
2

should be applied to all potential items when considering whether any Scrutiny 
activity is appropriate.

5.3 The following questions should be asked in respect of each potential work 
programme item:

 Does the issue fall within a corporate priority;

 Is the issue of key interest to the public;

 Does the matter relate to a poor or declining performing service for 
which there is no obvious explanation; 

 Is there a pattern of budgetary overspends; 

 Is it a matter raised by external audit management letters and or 
audit reports?

 Is there a high level of dissatisfaction with the service;

5.4 If during the assessment process any of the following emerge, then the 
topic should be rejected:

 The topic is already being addressed elsewhere

 The matter is subjudice

 Scrutiny cannot add value or is unlikely to be able to conclude an 
investigation within the specified timescale

6. Implications 

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. There are no legal implications at this stage.  

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. There are no financial implications at this stage

6.3. Equality Implications

6.3.1. There are no equalities implications at this stage. 

6.4. Human Resources Implications

6.4.1. There are no human resources implications at this stage.  

6.5. Risk Management Implications

Page 424



OFFICIAL
3

6.5.1. There are no risk management implications at this stage. 

6.6. Rural Communities Implications

6.6.1. There are no implications for rural communities.

6.7. Implications for Children & Young People 

6.7.1. There and no implications for children and young people at this stage. 

6.8. Public Health Implications

6.8.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. All. 

8. Access to Information

8.1. The background papers can be inspected by contacting the report author.

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Katie Small 

Job Title: Scrutiny Officer 

Email: katie.small@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Page 425

mailto:katie.small@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Work Programme Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 25.02.2020

OFFICIAL

Date:16.3.20
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Date:16.3.20
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Date:15.6.20
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Date:21.9.20
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Date:19.10.20
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Date:16.11.20
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Date:14.12.20
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Date:18.1.21
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Date:15.3.21
Time: 
10.00am
Venue: 
Committee 
suite, 
Westfields

Item Purpose Lead Officer Portfolio Suggested 
by

Scrutiny role Corporate 
priorities

Date

Environment 
Strategy and 
Carbon Action 
Plan

To consider the draft 
Environment Strategy and 
Draft Carbon Action Plan 
following consultation 
before a final decision is 
made.

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Deputy 
Chief Executive

Environment & 
Regeneration

Executive 
Director of 
Place and 
Acting 
Deputy 
Chief
Executive

Pre-decision 
Scrutiny

Cheshire is 
a Green and 
sustainable 
Place.

16 
Mar
2020

Review of TSS 
Commissioning 
including Flexi-
Link Service

To review Flexi-Link Service. Executive 
Director of Place 
and Deputy 
Chief Executive

Communities Committee Performance 
Monitoring

Cheshire 
East has a 
strong and 
resilient 
economy.

16 
Mar
2020

Environment and 
Regeneration 
Performance 
Scorecard Q 3 –
Quarterly review 

To provide a quarterly 
review of performance on 
areas which fall within the 
remit of the committee.

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Deputy 
Chief Executive

Planning/Communities
/Highways and 
Waste/Environment & 
Regeneration/Deputy 
Leader

Committee Performance 
Monitoring

All 
Outcomes

16 
Mar 
2020

P
age 427



Work Programme Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee Updated 25.02.2020

OFFICIAL

Item Purpose Lead Officer Portfolio Suggested 
by

Scrutiny role Corporate 
priorities

Date

of performance
Cleaner , Greener 
Crewe to include 
Fly tipping and 
rubble charge 
review

To receive an update. Executive 
Director of Place 
and Deputy 
Chief Executive

Environment & 
Regeneration

Executive 
Director of 
Place and 
Acting 
Deputy Chief
Executive

Performance 
Monitoring

Cheshire is 
a Green and 
sustainable 
Place.

15 
June 
2020

Highway drainage To receive a report in 
respect of highway drainage 
including the process for 
cleaning gullies.

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Deputy 
Chief Executive

Environment & 
Regeneration

Executive 
Director of 
Place and 
Acting 
Deputy Chief
Executive

Performance 
Monitoring

Cheshire is 
a Green and 
sustainable 
Place.

15 
June 
2020

Vulnerable and 
Older Persons 
Housing Strategy 
2020-2024

To receive an update on 
Vulnerable and Older 
Persons Housing Strategy 
2020-2024. 

Executive 
Director of Place 
and Deputy 
Chief Executive

Environment & 
Regeneration

Executive 
Director of 
Place and 
Acting 
Deputy Chief
Executive

Pre-decision 
Scrutiny

People live 
well and for 
longer.

15 
June 
2020

Possible Future Items/briefings notes
Waste Strategy and Household Recycling-Date TBC
Air Quality Action Plans-Date TBC

P
age 428


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	6 Call In of Cabinet Decision-CE19/20-17 Well Managed Highway Infrastructure
	App1CallinrequestWellManagedHighwayInfrastructure1402202_Redacted v1 (2)
	Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure - report (final)
	WMHI Appendix 1 - Legislation Guidance Local Docs
	WMHI Appendix 2 -Proposed Network Hierarchy
	WMHI Appendix 3 Part 1 -  Resilient Network
	WMHI Appendix 3 Part 2 -  Resilient Network 2019
	WMHI Appendix 4 - Inspection Frequency Options
	WMHI Appendix 5 Part 1-  Inspection Policy
	WMHI Appendix 5 Part 2 -  Inspection CoP
	WMHI Appendix 6 Part 1 - Winter  Policy
	WMHI Appendix 6 Part 2 -  Adverse Weather Plan 2020-21 (2) (3)
	Congleton AHG
	Crewe AHG
	Knutsford AHG
	Macclesfield AHG
	Nantwich AHG
	Poynton AHG
	Wilmslow AHG
	WMHI Appendix 7 -  EIA
	WMHI Appendix 8 - Risk Register v2
	WMHI Appendix 9 - Public Consultation Consultee List
	WMHI Appendix 10 - Public Consultation Consultee List
	WMHI Appendix 11 - AHG Responses  list of roads Final Draft
	Post Call in Briefing -Post CLT 2.0 (002) (2)
	Appendix A Consultee List (2)
	Appendix B - WMHI Summary Report-21-09-2018 (2)
	Appendix C-AHG Responses (2)

	7 Environment Strategy and Carbon Action Plan
	Appendix 1 - Environment Strategy 2020-24 v1.1
	Appendix 2 - Environment Strategy Consultation - Summary report v1.0
	Appendix 3 - Carbon Action Plan (2)

	8 Review of TSS Commissioning including Flexi-Link Service
	9 Performance Scorecard
	Place Scorecard Q3 2019-20

	10 Forward Plan
	11 Work programme
	WorkProgrammeEnvironmentandRegeneration - feb2020 (004) (2)




